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Hand, to write and fend me the Particulars of this Day’s Acion, and a Return (which I yet ex-
pe& to give me fome Pain) of your Killed and Wounded. Once more | give you Joy, and
add my moft hearty Thanks; and 1 beg that you will prefent thefe in the ftrongeft Terms (they
cannot exceed my Feelings) to the Officers and Men of your Army. I &
am, &c. .
Paft Eleven 20th September 1781, Warren Haftings.

Num. 98.

To Edward Wheler Efquirc.
Sir,

1 moft heartily congratulate you on the Succefs of our Arms in the Conqueft of Pateeta, for the
Particulars of which I refer you to the inclofed Letter from Major Popham. I underftand that
large Reinforcements, both from Lutteefpoor and Ramnagur, oppofed him in the Field. It was
intended to attack both Pateeta and Lutceefpoor at the fame Time, and the former by an inftant
Affavlt. Major Crabb, with a ftrong Detachment appointed for the latter Service, marchcd on
the Night of the 15th by a large, and, as it has fince appeared, fcarce practicable Circuit,
towards a Pafs which lies behind, or to the South of Lutteefpoor. A Letter received this Mora-
ing mentions his Arrival on the Plain which adjoins to the Pafs, after a March of Three Days,
inftead of One, as was expeted. It is the Road to Bidjeygur, and faid to be the Repofitory of
ali the Rajah’s Ammunition. Major Popham marched at Two of the fame Night, nor did he
reach his Ground with his whole Line until Ten, and then found the Place too itrong to attempt
it, without a regular Approach and battering Cannon, It fell at Six this Morning. 1 regard this
Victory as a decifive Turn of our public Influence; but the greateft Proportion of my Joy is
derived from the Confideration that it was gained with little Bloodthed, an Advantage which I
attribute, as I expeéted it, to the fuperior Skill and known Compofure, nor lefs Humanity,
of Major Popham. Major Crawford arrived here Yefterday Morning, much haraffed, but with-
out Lofs or Impediment on his Way.

_ Chunargur, 1 have the Honour to be, &c.
aoth Seprember 1781, ‘ Warren Haftings.
| Nuwm. g9:
To the Honourable Warren Haftings Efquire, Governor General, &c.
Honourable Sir, |

As my Anfwer to your Favour of the 16th, which I did not receive until the 23d, the Day I
wrote the Reply, and alfo my Anfwer to Major Palmer’s Letter, dated the 15¢h, which I re-
ceived the 21ft in the Morning, and anfwered it diretly, are flopped at Buxar with the other
Letters, 1 have engaged two People, to whom I am to give One thoufand Rupees, to deliver this,
and bring an Anfwer froth Chunargur. Should they get fafe, you may, Sir, intrult them with
any Letters, and I will forward them., Major Crawtord's 2d Batzalion, together with the Major,
marched from hence the aad in dic Mbrning, I immediately fenc Orders to Captain Maxwell
to crofs over from Manjee, and join Major Crawford at Buxar, which he accomplithed. 1 have
acquainted General Stibbert with what I'have done, and the Neceflity of ordering up immediately
another Regiment and Four Six Pounders as foon as.poflible. I have acquainted him with the melan-
choly Accounts I have heard of your Situation, lofing 'your Boats, and Major Popham's Regiment
being almoft deftroyed. You may reft affured, Sir, there thall not be any Thing left undone by me for
your Service, that | willnotdo. 1 have ordered Captain Salt’s Troop to march to join Major Craw-
ford as foon as poffible, Mrs. Haftings having figniied to me that fhe would fend the Fifty Body
Guard to join them. I hope you will approve of this, as it cannot be attended with any bad Con-
fequence, whatever good fo fmall a Body of Cavalry may do. 'I have got out One Six Pounder from
the Magazine, the only one ferviceable there, and am training up fome of the Sepoys to work it,
Two from each Company, not having any other People here. Our Arms are very bad, but I
am in Hopes the Boats will arrive with the new Arma in a few Days, - Every Thing at prefent is
quict in thefe Parts.  Mr. Greeme made a Requifition the 24th Inftant for a Battalion, but 1 was
obliged 1o refufe him on account of this Regiment having unferviceable Arms and Acccoutre-
ments, ;nd alfo as it has been fo fhort 2 Time incorpomeg. This I flatter myfelf you will ap-

rove of. ' T
P Dinapoor, : * 1 have the Honour to remain, 8c.
Avguft 26 1781, B ' - Ahmuty,

- To the Honourable Warren Haftings Efquire,.
ear Sir, o : e
I have the Hapginefn to inform you we are in Poffefion of Patcets, and I belicve with little

Lofs.. When the Enemy heard our Attack, a large Body pofted on the Hills to the Left of our
_Rear, made for the Camp) but the Eumpe'un Gz?:adhu’ud Light Infantry, whom I had kept
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as a Corps de Referve, moved towards and totally routed them. Their Cavalry at the fame Time
made a Motion, with fome Infantry, towards the Right of our Camp, on which a Gun was fent
through fome high Grals to an Out Poft, and by firing Two or Threce Rounds, obliged tiiem 1o
fily. Could I have afforded a few Sepoys from the Camp, or had the Cavalry done any Thing,
Numbers of the Runaways muft have been deftroyed. 1 juft hear very few ot our Sepoys have
been killed, and not an Officer hurt. The Enemy has fuftained great Lofs. HMad you not better,
Sir, difpatch Major Crawford’s Corps to relieve Major Roberts’s ?

I am, &c.
Camp, 20th September 1781, W. Popham.

Nus. 101.

Journal of a March over the Binde Rills from Chunargur ¢0 Lutteefpoor; delivered 1o the
Governor General by Major Crabb, wbo conduiled it.

Saturday, 15th September 1781, The following FExrralt of Orders, ifued by Major Popham,
reccived from the Brigade Major’s Office at Half paft Five in the Afternoon.

« The 1t Battalion of the 6th Regiment, the 7th Regiment with 4 Guns and 1 Howitzer,
¢« Lieutenant Polhill’s Corps and his Two Guns, to march this Evening at 7 o’Clock ; the
« Ammunition for the Guns to be carried on Bullocks. This Detachment to be commanded by
« Major Crabb, who will receive his Orders from the Commanding Officer at 6 o’Clock.”

The Ammunition and Stores being ready at Ten, the Detachment marched by the Right, over
broken Ground, to the Bank of a Nullah; the Water too deep to admit of the Guns crofling
without taking off the Limber Boxes, which were carried on the Lafcars Heads : this occafioned
a Delay of I'wo Hours.

Sunday 16th. The Rear Guard being croffed, 1 moved on over a Plain with low Jungle about
one Cofs, with a Hill on the Right, to the Foot of a very fteep and rupged Pafs, with deep
Gullies and thick Jungle on each Side . Near the Top were two rﬁarp Turmngs, which increafed
the Difficulty, and addéd fo much to the Delay, that the Sun was rifing by the Time the Guns
had gained the Top; the Jungle continuing very thick, but low, for near a Cols, which opened
an extenfive Plain, tolerably well cultivated, and Two inconfiderable Viilages in it. About a
Cofs from the Entrance on this Plain, a very narrow but decp Nullah delayed us for Two Hours.
About jths of a Cofs further on, met with a River, the Bed and Banks of it exceedingly rocky ;
ﬂaward. of-an Hour and Half was employed in crofling it; moved along the Bank under a ftecp

ill about a Mile, the Road full of ﬁock and large Stones; re-crofied the River, which was
more difficult than before, the Bed of it full of very large Rocks, and the Bank very high,
through which it was neceflary to cut a Road for the Guns. About 2 o’Clock, every Thin
being crofied, the Detachment moved forward through a thick Jungle, with broken Ground ang
Hills on each Side, to the Bed of a {mall River full of Rocks; on the oppofite Side a fteep Pafs,
which with much Labour we got through. The Cattle being much fatigued, the Sepoys were

ut to the Drag Ropes, to get on the Guns, which delayed us until near 4 o’Clock. A great
carcity of Water prevailed; Hircarrahs were lent out in Search, but none was to be found
nearer than Three Miles in our Front, where they difcovered a Lake; a thick Jungle between
Two high Hills all the Way to the Water, where it became more open, The Cattle being fo
much fpent with getting up the Hills, it was Sun-fet before we got neat enough the Lake to
halt, which I did, with it on my left, and a very high Hill on my right Flank, having been

upwgrc}s of 20 Hours on the March; and the Diftance from Chunar I judged to be about
Six Cofs.

Monday rth. The Detachment got under Arms at 4 0’Clock, and marched through = thick
Jungle ; crofled the Bed of a fmall River, the Banks fomewhat fteep, the Road narrow, but
tolerably good, to the Foot of a long and fteep Pafs, wich a very deep Gully clofe on the Right;
the Afcent very difficult, from the Number of large, flat, fmooth Stones, where the Cattle
could not hold with their Feet. With the Affiftance of the Sepoys, about Ten o’Clock we
gained the Top, and moved on over a Plain with large Trees, the Ground in many Places rocky,
but level.  About a Mile from the Top of the Hill came to a River, the Bed uiy it full of very
ln%: Rocks, over which, with much Labour, we got the Guns. At 1 0’Clock moved on over
rocky Ground, the Country opening. About One Cofs from the River entered an extenfive
Plain, ncar the Village of Koradee, Several Villages appeared on the Plain, the Inhabitants
whereof fled on our Approach. The Country n:gpeared to be well cultivated; the Road over

the Plain led through Rice Fields. At Sun-ict encamped. The Diftance this Day about
5“ Cofs. '
Tuefday 18th. At Three o’Clock put the Detachment in Motion, and marched for the firit
Part over a Plain full of fmall deep H%k's, which rendered it difficult and dangerous for the
Cattle ontil Day-light, when we entered a thick Jungle, with many decp dry Nullah$, which
retarded us very much, being obliged to cut R}oads for the Guns, there not appearing tht_:r leaft
3 H race
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Trace of a Road. About 2 0'Clock entered a very large Plain, with feveral fmall Villages on
it; tie Inhabitants fled to the Junf.glc on our Approach. About 3 0’Clock encamped near a
large Lake, and employed the Smiths and Carpenters in repairing the Bullock Yokes, and the
Pindes of Two Guns, This Day’s March about Five Cofs.

Wedoefday 1gth.  Got under Arms at 4 0o’Clock, and marched over a Plain, the Road lead-
ing through Swamps and Rice Fields, with high Banks, which retarded us much, Paffed
through the Village of Muddoopoor, a large Village, which feemed to have been a Place of fome
Note, but deferted.  Here the Hircarrahs brought Intelligence, that a large Body of the Rajah’s
Troops were encamped about 3 Cofs in our Front, near the Village of Lora, with fome Guns,
The Road between us for a Cofs was a very thick Jungle. I moved on and took poft near the
Jungle, with a large Lake on my right Flank, and a rifing Ground and Village on the Left;
from hence I faw the Fortrels of Bidjeygur, which appeared very high, and above 8 Cofs ditant.
The Day’s March above Five Cofs.

Thurfday 20th. At Daylight the Detachment marched, entered the Jungle, which continued
for a Cofs 1n fome Parts very thick, where I expe@ted to be annoyed by the Enemy. At Sun-
nfe the Advance Guard got clear of the Jungle, when I difcovered the Enemy, sbout 2,000,
drawn up in a good Situation, with their Guns on the Right (immediately oppofite the Road out
of the Jungle) on a rifing Ground, and a fmall Bank thrown up in their Front; a Tope, and
the Village of Lora, on their Left; a deep Morafs in their Front. They began to cannonade on
the Approach of the Troops on the Plain, and continued it brifkly, untl the whole had cleared
the Jungle, and formed the Advance Guard. Returning in with One Gun as foon as the Line
was tormed, 1 advanced as brifkly as the Ground would admit, firing the Six Pounders, until I
had got near enough for the fmall Arms to do Execution ; at the fame Time I direéted Licutenant
Polhill from the Right to advance Two Companies, and fecure the Guns of the Enemy; buc
before he could execute the Order, they retreated, leaving their Guns, Ammunition, and about
150 dead, and about 20 wounded, through a Jungle, to Lutteefpoor, ubout Four Cofs. Having
no Means of carrying away the Guns and Ammuaition, 1 deftroyed it, rendering the Guns ufelefs,
and burying them. The Road to Luttecfpoor led through a Jungle, and over a very fteep and
rugged Hill, where no Water could be got, prevented me from purfuing further than Suckroot,
an inconfiderable Village, about a Cofs from Lora, on a fmall Plain, wﬁerc 1 encamped to bury
the Dead, and collect the Wounded, amounting to 34, of every Denomination. This Day’s
Diflance about Two and Half Cols.

Friday 21ft. At 4 o’Clock the Detachment marched over a good Road, but jungly for about
2 Cofs, whzn we got to a dry Nullah, the Defcent very rugged, the Afcent ftill more fo; the Road very
narrow anc winding, and full of very large Stones and Rocks, over which the Guns were lifted; with
much Labour and Time we gained the Summit, from whence we faw the Fort, diftant about
Three Miles, The Side of the Hill leading to the Town was yet worfe than' what we had pafied 3
the Road from the Foot of the Hill to 'the Fort was very narrow, with athick Jungle on cach
Side, but pretty level. At Noon I entered the Town of Lutteefpoor, which had been evacuated
while the Troops were getting down the Hill; about 800 of the Rajah’s People having been all
the preceding Night plunderingit.  They left behind them Six Pieces of Cannon, and a great
Quantity of Ammunition and Stores; Three Pieces of Cannon were found on the Hills, intended
to defend the Entrance from Patecta. The Fort ftands in a Bottom, with high fteep Hills on
Three Sides, with thick Jungle all round clofe to the Ditch, which is deep on the Pateeta Side,
where the Wall is of Stone : the other Sides of the Wall are compofed of Part Stone and Part
Mud, with Loop Holes. The Guns were mounted on wooden Swivels in the Centre of the
Baftions. The Citadel has a deep Ditch and a high Stone Wall (with Loop Holes) in many
Places much cracked almoft from Top to Bottom, and very wide, :

Num. 102, .
To the Honourable Warren Haltings Efquire..

Honourable Sir, ; _ N o
I fhould do g:at njuttice in not acknowledging how much I am indebted to the Qfficors and
T'roops of the Detachment, for the Steadinefs they obferved in the A&tion of the soth, as well
as the Readinefs they thewed in affiting to furmount the Difficulties on the March, .. -
Lieutenant Fireworker Baillie of the Artillery in particulat 1 beg Leave to recommend to your
Notice for the very great Attention he fhewed in his particular Department, = =

. Lutteefﬁm, " Lhave the Honour to be, &¢. S
25th September 1781, J. W, Crabb, Msjor ad Brigade.
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Return of the Killed, Wounded, axd Mifling in tbe Attack of the Fort at Pateeta, the 20th of
September 1781,

Corps. Commanding Officers. Killed, Wounded.
Grenadier Corps, Major Lane — 6 Sepoys et
19th Regiment, Major Balfour -— 2 Ditto 5 Sepoys
goth Regiment, Major Roberts = 2 Ditto 4 Ditto
55th Regiment, Major Humphries - 1 Ditto 1 Ditto

Total 11 10
Num, 104.

To Edward Wheler Efquire.
Sir,

On the 20th Major Crabb defeated and routed a Body of the Enemy on the Plain above the
Pafs of Suckroot ; their Lofs was 150 Men and 3 Guns, and much Ammunition : Qurs fmall.
The Rajah that Evening fled from Lutteefpoor : His Men followed his Example; and Yefterday
at Noon Major Crabb took Pofieflion, the Place being totally deferted. 1 was Yefterday in
Major Popham’s Camp, and vifited the Fort of Patecta and its Intrenchment. They are both
contemptible, but in their actual State abfolutely impregnable againft an Attack, had they made
any Refitance. The Fort, though fmall, is of Stone, with 4 Towers, a parallel Rampart, and
Towers, and a Ditch of great Depth furrounding thefe, and the Town itfelf guarded by an
Intrenchment extending far beyond it; and the Space between, Hills, Rocks, and Jungle almoft
Impenetrable. At One o'Clock we had the Satisfaltion to receive, by a regular Salute of 21
Guns, the inftant Information of the Poffeflion of Lutteefpoor by Major Crabb. 1 have taken
upon me to grant a Brevet Commiflion of Major to Captain Lane, who commanded the Grena-
diers of the Army, and performed diftinguifhed Service. 1 this Inftant receive an authentic Con-
firmation of the above Intelligence from Major Crabb. ' :

_ I am, Sir, &c.
Chunargur, 22d September 1781, Woarren Hattings.

Num. 105.

To Licutenant Colonel Blair.
My dear Colonel,

It is with much Satisfattion that I now give you an Account of oure Arrival at Lutteefpoor,
after a moft fatiguing March as ever Troops experienced, over Hills, Rocks, Rivers, and
through Jungles. It does much Credit to the Abilities and Knowledge of Bundoo Khan, his
being able to conduct us by fuch a Road without lofing our Way. 'Ishc only Circumftance is,
that he has been deceived in the Length of the Cofes, cach of which are at lealt 4 Miles. We
yefterday were oppofed at Lora Suckroot by a Body of the Rajah’s Troops, fomething lefs than
2000 Men in Number, and Three Pieces of Ordnance, which we difperfed and took. Their
Guns, Tumbrils, and Ammunition, for want of Means to bring with us, were deftroyed. One
fmall Gun and Limber we have now with us, The Quantity of Ammunition found in Lutteef-
poor is confiderable. Tlhe Place, in confequence of our Succefs Yefterday, was evacuated by
the Rajah in the Evening. The People who did not attend him remained only to plunder his
Houfe, which they have done, and deftroyed what was valuable, and of no Ufe to them. I
do not believe there was one Man in the Fort when Major Crabb marched in. The Intention
of our March, in the main Point, has, I hope, anfwered the Governor’s Expeftation—the
expelling the Rajah from a Place of Strength, and preventing his taking Poffeffion of the Ghauts
leading to Bidjeygur. Under his prefent Alarm, it appears to me, that if Meafures are fpeedily
taken to inveflt that Placc, little Refiftance will be made. 1 was, during the whole March,
under much Concern for the Succefs of the Expedition, as I confidered myfelf partly anfwerable
for the Confequences, though T had not the Command 3 and 1 fhall be much pleafed to find it
has met with the Approbation of the Governor, who, I hope, will do me the fuﬂ'icc to believe
1 have done all in my Power to forward the Expedition, I have to requeft you will mention
Bundoo Khan to the Governor. I am much fatigued, and have hurt my Foot a gaod deal by
walking, otherwife in perfect Health, [ will refer you to Bundoo Khan for the Particulars of
our Expedition, till 1 have the Pleafure of fecing you,

. Dear Colonel, &c.
" Camp at Luttecfpoony,
23t Seprember 1781, ac Nighe Thomas Blair.



( 216 )

ArpINDpIX.

Num. 106,

To Major James Crawford.
Sir

If yolx have not already detached any Part of your Battalion to Patna, 1 defire that you will
not, but keep your Corps entire, and ftation it near the Frontier of Bidjeygur; obeying fuch
Orders as you fhall receive from Major Popham, who will foon be in that Quarter. 1f you
weaken your Corps, you will be expofed to an unequal Conteft with Cheit Sing’s whole Force,
which will now be afembled there, I will be accountable to the General and to the Board for
the Deviation from their Orders,

Chunar, I am, Sir, &c.
22d September 1781. Warren Hattings.

Nuwm. 107.

To Lieutenant Colonel Ahmuty.
Sir,

I have received your Three Letters. I have the higheft Senfe of the Zeal which you have
thewn for the Service, in the Orders given for the Reinforcement of Major Crawford’s Regi-
ment, and of the Cavalry, and for their fpeedy Difpatch; and I beg you will accept my parti-
cular and moft hearty Thanks for your perfonal Attention to myfclg The Hircarrah to whom
you promifed a Reward of 1000 Ruﬁecs deferves as many Lafhes; he accompanied Major
Crawford, and was exattly Three Weeks on the Way. Major Popham took the Ficld on the
t6th. The Forts of Patecta and Lutteefpoor are in our Pofieflion, the Enemy routed, and
the Rajah fled to Bid‘);cy ur. 1 requeft that you will inftantly remand the Detachment from
Major James Crawford’s Battalion, as he will be elfe in Danger from the Rajah’s whole Force
affembled in his Neighbourhood, and his Corps united will be effentially neceffary for co-operating
with Major Popham in the Reduction of Bidjeygur. “

Chunar, - Yam, Sir, &c.
22d September 1781, Warren Haftingse

NUM. 108,

5 To the Honourable Warren Haftings Efquire, Governor General, &e.
ir, |
The fol'owing 'I‘rooPs, Major Crabb’s Regiment of Sepoys, Captain Thomas Blair’s Batta-

lion, Licutenant Polhill’s Corps, being Part of the Vizeer's Body Guard, in all about Seventeen
Hundred Sepoys, Six Guns, Two Tumbrils, and One Howitz, being ordered on Detachment
ynder the Command of Major Crabb, to attack the Fort of Lutteefpoor from the Hills and
Pafs to the Eaftward of it, we began our March from the Encampment in the Neighbourhood
of Chunar about 10 0’Clock in the Evening of the 15th Inftant; croffed the Jurgar Nullah, in
- which there was Three Feet Water; ‘the Banks of that Part fteep, which detained the Troopa
till paft Eleven before the whole croffed. From thence the Detachment proceeded to Fool-
waurce Ghaut, which is over the Hill. The Afcent over the Hill is not very fieep, but the
large Stones in the Way, and the Want of a fufficient Number of Bildars, retarded the Guns
exceedingly., With the Afliftance of the Officers and Sepoys, the whole of the Ordnance and
Tumbrils were got to the Taop of the Hill by Daylight. The Defcent to the Plain is very
littles for fome Diftance the Road Jevel, imall Villages st a Diftance from each other, the Inha-
hitants of which fled, on our Ag)proach, to the Hills. Pafled the Village of Dowau on our
eft, which is about zl‘w\m Cofs from Chunar ; fome fmall Juongles and broken Ground. Pro-
ceeded on to Byrah, about One Cofs. It is a fmall Village, with a little round Brick Tower on
the Bank of the Goordowr River, where the Troops fhould have croffed; but on Examination
finding it unfordable at that Part, turned to the &ft through & Tope, and marched to Putpur
Ghaut, the Road Part of the Way very bad; the Paffage might be' defended by a few Men
againft the whole Detachment. The Guns were obliged to be unlimbered, and the Tumbrils vn-
loaded, to bring them over the River; the Rocks at the Bottom of it very large; from :the Eaft
Side of it, thick Jungles for Two Miles. When the Troops came oppofite w Byrah Village, the
Diftance round 1o crofs at Putpur-Ghaut about Two ‘Cofs out of the dire®@ Road, = Encamped
about Five o’Clock in the Afternoon. at Bulleeah-Ghaut, below Suttecfgur Hills,«0n a Spot
pretty clear of Jubgle, diftant from Chunar about FourteenMiles, -

17th September. At Daylight marched by the righty tolerable Road; a fmall Nullsh now
and then; no Viliagea to be feen for Two Cofs—Ponfillah-Ghaur; the Hill ‘neither high nor
difficult to afcend ; & fmall Village to the right, named Nicargw s all the Way Jungle, not
very thicky Ditance Three Cofa: Came ujat’x the Plains, Koradée, which is Two Cofa;
marched to Cerfee Village, which is about Two Cofs, and encamped #t & 0'Clock in the Evening,
Left Simraw, a large Village, on the right; the Country flat and well cultivated, From Bullecah-
Ghaut to Cerfee is about Eight Cofs. : eh

2 3
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18th September. At Day-light croffed the Field, and entered the Borviah Jungle; feveral
Nullahs and broken Ground ; fome fmall Villages ; the Road bad till out of the Jungles; near
to Borriah, where the Country is open and cultivated : At the Edge of the Juogle ferprited So-
bau Sing, a Relation to Cheit Sing; encamped for the Day : Diftance from Cerfee T'wo Cots.

19th September.  Marched at Daylight; to avoid fome Water and bad Ground wene out of
the dire@ Road Two Cofs; encamped in the Afternoon in a clear Spot of Ground, at a fmall
Village named Butt, Diftance in a dire®t Road from Borriah about Three Cols.  The Troops
marched about Six Cofs this Day., In the Evening faw feveral of the Enemy’s Horiemen mount-

ed as our Troopers; from my Hircarrahs received Intelligence of the Enemy being at Lora, with
Three Guns and about 2000 Men.

20th September.  Murched by the right; Two Guns in Front of the Body Guard, One in Front
of the 7th Regiment, One Gun and One Howitz in the Center, One Gun in the liear of it, One
Gun in the Rear of the tft Battalion 6th Regiment,  The knemy were diawn up on a Piece of
Ground free from Jungle, but divided by fome Ditches.  The Cannonade comumenced on their
Side. The Detachment formed in their Front in the fame Order as they marched @ the Guns as
they came up returned the Fire,  Soon after the whole was formed, we advanced on the Enemy,
who fired fmartly from their Guns and {mall Arms, till the Line was within T'wenty or I'hirty
Paces of their Guns, when they ran away.  Their Guos were immediately taken, Three Com-
panies of the Rajah’s Sepoys, and fome Matchlock Men, retreated behind a Tank oppofite che
Center of Captain Blair’s Battalion, who opened and marched round Two Sides of ir, and gave
their Fire, which did great Execution, and totally difperfed the Encmy, who no longer made any
Stand, but ran as faft as poflible ; the Troops purfued the Enemy fome Way, Falwed to colleét
the Dead and Wounded; the later were provided with Pullankeens, Dooleys, &c. when we
marched on to Suckroot, about One and Half Miles 1rom the Fieid of Batle, and encamped tor
the Day, ‘The Rajah’s Troops were commanded by Mylier, the Commandant of his Sepoys,
and Sewpurfaud Sing. The former rode 1o Lucteetpoor in great Hafte, chrew himielt ar bis
Mafter’s Feet, and entreated him to make his b fcape immediately 5 that a very large rorce, with
Artillery, was clofe in his Rear, and would inevitably take him alive. fle at the fame Tima
accufed the Rajah of having deceived him, or being fo himielf, refpe&ling the Englith Force
which he went againft. It appears the Rajah’s People bad no certain Information of the Deili-
nation of the Detachment prior to its Arrival at Koradee, or of its Strength titl the Engagement
commenced. Their Hircarrahs leeing the advanced Guard followed by Two Guns, concluded it
was the whole Force, and the Followers of the Camp were taken for fome of Qwfan Sing's
People, whofe Head the Rajah had ordered to be brought to him, and the others to be killed and
keft, as if of no Confequence.  T'he Rajah received the melancholy Account of the Defeat of his
Troops before Noon, and evacuated the Fort before Three, He was followed by Numbers
fome continued all Night to plunder, and left the Place the next Moming.

21ft September. Major Crabb marched with his Regiment, Three Guns, and the Howirz,
at Four o'Clock ; at Six o’Clock Captain Blair’s Battalion, Licutenant Polhill’s Corps, with the
mmnining‘ Guns, Tumbrils, &c. foilowcd; the Road good till we came to Tarrapatill, where
there arc large Stones and broken Ground, from theace the Koad very good through Trees, till
we come to Supdur-Ghaut, which, from the Slope and large Stones, is exceedingly difficule
for Guns to pafs, Came to a fmall Village of about Ten Huts; crofled the Gurriah Nullah 3 no
Water in it.  The Road to the Fort throu?h Bamboos and other thick Jungles. Arrived at Luc-
teefpoor. The Gate being open, and the Place evacuated, Major Crabb took Poffeflion of it about
Ten o’Clack. The Remainder of the Detachment arrived foon after, when Two of ourfGuns were
brought into the Fort, and light Cartridges taken out of the Rajah’s Magazine, a royal Salute
was fired, and the Union Flag hoifted on the higheft Part of the Works. T'hree Guns were fired
on the Hill which overlooks the Fort, and had been placed there to prevent an Enemy from pof-
feffiog themfelves of a Spot which gives them every Advantage over the Fort, which is com-
manded from it. Several Picces of Ordnance, and a very confiderable Quantity of Powder and
Ammunition ready made up, were found in the Place.

I fhall be glad if the foregoing Accounr of our March is fufficiently correét to convey a general
Jdea of the Roads, Rivers, and Paffes. . The Diftances are right, fo far as I am able 10 judge
without having meafured them. - Troops marching by that Route without Guns would find the
Diftances probably lefs than I have made them, a8 we were frequently obliged to leave the dire@
Road to avoid Scones, broken Ground, and other Impediments to Artillery.

Lautteefpoor, - : I have the Honour to be, &c.
2gth September 1781, Thomas Blair.
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Num. 109.
GENERAL ORDERS.

The Governor General having himfelf bad an Opportunity of furveying the Fort and Intrench-
inents of Pateeta, defires to publith to the Army the Senfe which he entertains of the great Zeal
and Abilities of Major Popham, in planning fo difficult an Attack; and of the great good
Conduét of Majors Roberts and Gardiner, and of the Officers of the Detachment, for their Af-
fiftance in the Lxecution of it. The Governor General exprefles his particular Satisfa&tion at the
firm and intrepid Behaviour of the Grenadiers under the Command of Captain Lane; to whofe
gallant Example, followed and fupported by the fteady Courage and Difcipline of the reft of the
Troops, it may principally be attributed that a Place of fuch great Strength has been reduced,
and almoft without Lofs. ‘

T'he Governor General, in Teftimony of the Merit and Conduct of Captain Lane, promotes
him to the Rank of Major by Brevet.

Chunargur, 22d September 1781,

Num. 110.

To the Honourable Warren Haflings Efquire.
{Tonourable Sir, 4

Tt 15 with refleétive SatisfaQion I acquaint you that our Endeavours to reduce this Place, and
difperfe the Army of the Rajah Cheit Sing, have been attended with complete Succefs.,

My Intention was to have affaulted the Town on my Arrival before it the 16th Inftant; butl
had certain Intelhgence that a confiderable Body of the Enemy, with fome Cannon, were within
the Place, ftrongly intrenched. 1 judged it prorer te encamp till I could gain proper Informa-
ton of the Strength of the Works, more efpecially as great Part of the Attillery and one Regi-
ment were far in the Rear, and not likely to reach me till late in the Day. About two Hours
atter the Camp was pitched, the Enemy began a Cannonade from the Town, which obliged us
to file oft to the left, out of the Range of their Shot, ‘I'his done, we received no further Mo-
leflation during the Day. In the Courfe of the Night I meditated an Attack with the whole Line
on their Works; but my Hircarrahs brought Accounts that the Town was defended by a deep
‘I'tench and high Parapet, {lanked with Towers, on which there were Guns mounted, and the
Jungle behimd very thick, with a Number of Troops ; which obliged me to lay afide hazarding
fuch an Undurtaking till better acquainted with the Place. I now gave Orders for a Battery,
and Major Gardiner fixed on a Spot about a thoufand Yards from the Works ; but foon after, on a
nearer Obfervation, he judged proper to take Poffeflion of a Tank, the Banks of which would
prove an excelicnt Shelter for the Troops, and effeCtually command the 8. E, Face of the Town,
diftant between Eight and Nine hundred Yards, This Poft being gated with lictlc‘()pgoﬁ’tion, a
Battery was furmcf,‘and the Eighteen pounders carried down., On the ‘19th a fmart Cannonade
was began, which continued at Intervals during the Day.; fome Shells were alfo thrown ; how-
ever, it was impoffible we could know what Exccution was done, as the Thicknefs of the Jungles
obftruéied the View ; yet it being obferved that our Fire obliged the Enemy for the moft parc to
quit their Intrenchments and retire further into the Woods, it was judged by Major Gardiner
and myfelf, that an early Affault next Morning, juft before the Dawn of Day, might be arc-
tended with immediate Succefs, and though not complete, would gain us a Lodgement within the
Works, from wience the Fort might with Eale be battered. _

- "T'his being determined, and Captain Lane’s Corps of Grenagliers already at the Battery, .at Ten
o’Clock at Nighe the following Orders were iffued: B

* The native Grenadiers of the Line, with the 1ft Battalion of the 1gth, 2d Battalions of the
« goth and 34th Regiments, to affemble at the Southermoft Battery at Twelve o’Clock To-nigh:
“ Major Roberts to command this Detachment, and regulate it as he thall judge neceffary for the
¢ Attack of the Town a little before Break of Day To-morrow Morning: The remaining Corps
*« of the Lioe to clofe the Center (leaving their Quarter and Rear Guards ftanding) as ivod as
< the above Detachment marches off, and there lay on their Arms. The Piquetts of the Bacalion
« ordered for the Actack, to be relieved immediately by the remaining Battalions. Major Balfour
¢ to reheve Major Roberts:immediately, and Major Roberts to wait on thé Commanding Officer
“ tor his further Inftructions.” ‘ s ST i

Major Roberts,- agreeable to Orders, began the Attack jult before the firft Dawn 5 at the fame
‘Time 2 heavy Fire was kept-up by Captain Hill, fiom ‘Major Gardiner’s Southérmolt Hattery,
which fecured the Jungles to the left of the Attack, and added to that ‘Panic which feized the
Enemy immediately on the Entrance of the Grenadiers, who, with the reft of the Traops, ruthed
~ on, and {oon made the Victory complete.’ ‘ : o

White thofe fuccefsful Approaches were miaking on the Town, & Party of the Enemy fallied
from behipd the Hill in the Rear of the Battery with Two fmall Guns, in Hapes that by employ-
ing our Attention that Way, the Affault on the Town would be difturbed; but they were foon
routed by the cool Intrepidity of & Serjeant and One Company of Sepoys. Foiled here, th:g
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moved round the Hills till they came round the left of our Encampment, where they fvemed 1o
meditate an Attack., On their Motions being oblerved, the Furopean Grenadiers and Liche (n-
fantry were ordered, if poffible, to throw themfelves in the Rearand cut them o, This Meature
was too loon noticed by the Einemy, whoimmediately run away in great Confufion,

By this Time Major Roberts had driven the Encmy from the T'own and every Pofl, fo that
they had now nothing left but to move with their Baggage and Cannon without the Place rowards
Ramnagur , which they cfleéted as to the firfk Objeét; but the only Piece of Ordnance they hal
faved from the Town, was taken by Licuwenant Hamilton, who had Advice, and was lonye in
Purfuit of it; for they had the Folly to fire it from a Diftance at the Line as they were gaina
the Ramnagur Road, which led Licutenant Hamilton to it. i

[Tad Almaus’s Cavalry obeyed Orders, the Knemy’s Baggaze muft have allo been taken; but
nat a Man of them would move 500 Yards from the Camp,

The Returns of the Killed and Wounded on our 5ide, with thofe of the Cannon, &, twken,
will thew how fortunate we were on this Service; during wieeh the Behaviour of buti Oitieers
and Men was fuch as merits the moft fincere Acknowledpgmends,

Majors Roberts and Gardiner, Captains Lane and Hill, were particelarly ative, and 1 fio) a
real Pleafure in doing them the Juflice to recommend them to your particular Attention.

Camp at Pateeta, Iam, &c.
22d Seprember 1781, W. Popham, Mujor.

Num, 111,
To the Honourable Warren Haftings Efquire, Governor Geoeral, ec.

Honourable Sir,
Enclofed 1 have the Pleafure to tranfmit a Copy of a Letter I have reccived from Cuptain

Maxwell, commanding the Battalion at Burragong, with which he has fent me Copies o1 tie
Letters written by Baun Sing Roy and Shew Perfhaud Roy, to Futteh Saw.  Thefe contain ample
Proofs of their Guilt; one of them is a dire@ Information to him of the Muarch ot the Troops
from Burragong, and an Invitation to avail himiclf of the delencelefs State of Fuilypoor, by
coming to that Diftrict.

I have, in confequence of thefe undoubted Teftimonies, wricten Captain Maxwell to fiize the
Perfons of Baun Sing Roy and Shew Perthaud Roy, and keep them in clofe Continement,

I bave not complied with Captain Maxwell’s Propofal for difarming the Country People, a3
fuch a Meafure could not be put in Execution without caofing a general Alarm throngiout the
Diftrict, and greatly obitructing the Cultivation; befides which, as no Crime is alleduzed againit
any other Perfon, ! conceive there is no Neceflity for a@ing with fo much Rigour which would
involve the Innocent with the Guilty, and ftill leave it doubtful on whom Punithmenr oughe to
be inflited, Though I have deemed it improper to authorile Captaid Maxwell to ditarm the
People, in which I hope tor your Approval, I have recommended o him to ufe every ln-
deavour to difcover if any other Perfons, and who, were concerned with Baun Sing Roy and Shew
Perfhaud Roy, in their villainous Attempts.

The Punithment of Futteh Saw’s Abettors, within the Diftri& of Fuflypoor, will doubtlels be
productive of good Confequences, by awing thofe who are fecretly attached to hims but icis in
vain to expe@ his Apprehenfion whillt he receives Proteétion in a neighbouring Country. 1 am
well informed, that he is now in the Dominions of Rajah Cheit Sing, and that be has been
there ever fince he was driven out of Huffypoor by Lieutenant Hutchinfon, in the Month of

February laft.
Chuprah, 1 have the Honour o be, &c.

19th Avguit 1781, Charles Grazme,

To Charles Grame Efquire.
Sir,

In confequence of your polite Attention to my Reprefentation, refpecting the Trearh ry an!!
traiterovs Correfpondence of Baun Sing Roy and Shew Perfhaud Roy wuh our declared Faoeay
Rajah Furteh Saw; of their having given him the mofl perfe&@ Intelligence of every Movement
or Step taken to entrap him from this: Station; of their having fupplied him with Moncy, an.l
your turning them out of every Employment, I was further induced to attempr the obtaining the
cleareft Proof of their Guilt, as | could not deem the Punithment already infli¢ted on them
(although the moft in your Power) by any means adequate to their Crimes,

Some Time ago, when I had the Honour of mentioning this Subject, and acquainted you with
the Hopes 1 had of obtaining the original Letters from thofe Mcn to Rajah Futteh Saw, you
was pleafed to exprefs your Satisfaltion thereat, and offered your Afiftunce, if this could be
effefted, of laying the whole before the Honourable the Governor General and Council for their
Decifion. - I have now the Pleafure to acquaint you, that the Encloled are exact Copics of sthe
orfginal Letters, attefted upon Oath, at this Time in my Pofieffion. Should further Proof of
their Guilt be deemed neceffary, I can take upon me to &romiﬁ:, that the Man employed in car-
rying Money from Baun Sing Roy to Rajah Futteh Saw (hall be produced. _—-

mu
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I muft further beg Leave to lay before you, that while the Country People, fo entirely attached
to the Interefts of Kajah Fucteh Saw, are permitted to keep Poffeflion of Quantitics of Arms,
which 1 have the moft certain Information is the Café, he can never be at any Lofs for an armed
Force to enter and plunder the Country with. For this Reafon T would humbly propofe my
being aythorifed to difarm every Man in the Country, as the only Deftruction to his Hopes, and
Means of fulfilling the Intentions of the Honourable Board, in his prefent Situation, protected and
countenanced as he is by Rajah Cheit Sing in his Country, where he now watches for the firit
favourable Opportunity of returning to his old Praices.

I have to requeft you will be {o obliging as to laythefe Circumftances before the Board, accom-
panied by this Letter; but thould that prove inconvenient, that fyou will be pleafed to acquaint me
{o, and I will then do it myfelf through the Commander in Chief.

1 have the Honour to be, &c.
Burragong, _ Robert Maxwell,
17th Auguft 1781, Captain commanding at Burragong,

Num. 112,

To the Honourable Warren Haftings Efquire.
Honourable Sir,

Bundoo Khan, who conduéted me through the Hills, has requefted from me a Certificate of his
Conduét; I do myfelf the Honour to recommend him to your Notice, as a Perfon whom I have
every Reafon to believe well affected to Government.

I have the Honour to fubfcribe myfelf, with Refpe&,
Luttecfpoor, Honourable Sir, &c,
211t September 1781, J. W. Crabb, Major,

Noum. 113.

To the Honourable Warren Haftings Efquire.
Honourable Sir, :

I had the Honour to addrefs you Yefterday from Lora, and I now advife you of my having
this Morning taken Poffeffion of the Fort of Lutteefpoor, the Rajab having evacuated it Yefterday
Afternonn, and pufhed acrofs the Hills to Bidjeygur with moft Part of his Followers; thofe remain-
ing, amounting to about Seven or Eight hundred, followed his Example. . At my Approach 1
found ore of the French Soldicrs, who informs me, the reft were inhumanly maffacred about the
4th Inftant; that he received a Wound and pretended to be dead, until the barbarous Rafcals
had quitted the Place, and then he crawled out to the Hills, where he lay concealed for feveral
Days. I was unfortunate for me the Rajah efcaped ; but the many Difficultics I had to encounter
rendered it impoffible to reach this carlier. * The Roads, from their Badnefs, have fhaken all my
Gun Carrisges fo much, that it is neceflary for them to be taken to Pieces, and have a therough
Repair, before they can leave this. 1 have given the neceflary Orders refpeting ft. 1 found here
Four Guns of different Calibres. There appear to be a good many Stores; Particulars of them
fhall be taken, and forwarded with all Expedition. I have alfo found a Cohorn here, which was
1 believe taken from Mirzapoor; it feems in good Order. Your Letter of the s7this juft
arrived, brought by the Bearer. Bundoo Klian has bebaved much to my Satisfaction in con-
duing the Detachment. He was miftaken refpefting the Diftance, as alfo the Situation of this
Place from the Pafs mentioned; but I beg leave to recommend him to your Natice. 1 hope
the Roads will be opened between this and Chunargur, :

Lutteefpoor, : I have the Honour to be, &c.
2tft September 1781, J. W. Crabb.

Nuu, 1140

- To the Honourable Warren Hattings Efquire.
Honourable Sir, _ o - -

1 had the Honour to inform you of the Evacuation of this Place, and my taking Poffeflion the
Morning iof the atft. = At'that Time 1 could only fing four Guns, bus fince have giﬂnmmd Five
more, togethier with alarge Quantity of Stores and. Ammunition s every Houfe simolt paduces
Stores, or Materials for making them. 1 have the Flonour ro prefent you enclobedtia Return of
the Killed and Wounded of my Detachment, on’ the ;Mor,nin?‘oﬁ the 20th, -ogar Lora, in an
A&ion with a Party of the Rajah's Troops, to she Number of ‘sbous a0 ‘of @il Sorrs, with
their Guns.  Their Lofs amounged in Killed and Wounded to near a0, The-Gups fell into my
Hands, together with the Stores stiached to them, which for want iHFageT was pécellitated
to deftroy, having rendered ufelefs aad buried them, AT _ ‘

_ Yeftterday Morning I received Orders from Major Popham to fead the 1t Battalion of the ¢h
Regiment and the Vizeer’s Body Guard to join lim at Patecta, and remaia here with my Regi-
went, the Four Guns and Howitz, till further Orders, .. = SR, 1”'.@.
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I have great Satisfaltion in informing you, that Half an Hour ago Contoo Bauboo and Mr. Barnet
applicd for and received Admiffion into the Fort, having Yefterday Morning been difmiffed from
Bidjeygur by the Rajah. Thefe Two Gentlemen are, from Fatigue of Travelling, and Joy at their
Efcape, incalyable of proceeding further before To-morrow, when I thall give chem all the Affitt-
ance in my Power towards forwarding them to Chunar.

The accompanying Letters were found in an old Houfe Yefterday.

The Difficulties the Detachment has experienced on the March from Chunar to this Place,
were fuch as induced me to form a Narrative, which 1 fhall beg Leave wo offer for your Perufal in
Two or Three Days Time. 1 have the Honour to be, 8ec.

‘ Lutwefgoor, ‘ J. W. Crabb,
23d September 1781, ‘ Major commanding a Detachment.

Num, 115.

Return of the Killed, Wounded, and Mifling, of the Detachment, commanded by Major Crabb,
in the A&ion of the zoth of September 1581, :

£l .
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Num. 116. ’
To the Honourable Warren Haftings Efquire.

Honourable Sir, ‘ : o ‘

At the Defire of the Rannee, who reprefented Cheit Sing’s People having entirely ‘deferted
Banaris, and which was confirnied by my own Intelligence, ‘1 have fent an Officer with a Com-
pany of Sepoys along with fome People of hers to proclaim the Reftoration of her Authority, and
give Confidence to thofe who are well inclined to vur Government ; as alfo to take charge of the
Gentlemen’s Effets, the greateft Part of which 1 underftand to be ftill there. The Officer is alfo
particularly inftrufted to affift the Rannce’s People in apprehending the Aumeen Dyaram, who it
s faid is ftill lurking in the Town. Though this Step exceeds my Orders, I fatter myfelf ir will
meet with your Approbation, as the delaying it till I could have received your Orders might have
proved fatal to the Tranquillity of the Town, which feemed to require the immediate: Appear-
ance of fome Perfon on the Part of Government, The Inhabitancs of this Place are returning
faft, and the Rannee acquaints me, that the People whofe Names 1 trouble you with in the en-
clofed Lift, have all fent Offers to her of coming in immediately ; and the-requefts ‘me-to beg you
will be pleafed to let her know whom you would chufe her to receive, as fhe will not venture to
give any of them Affurances of her {'roteflion without your previous Approbation. I requeft to
be favoured with your Commands on this Head, and will now only take the Liberty of adding,
that I think the People in general feem to be fenfible of their Error, and that the Tranqguillity of
the Country may foon be reftored.

Ramnagur, ' : _ 1 have the Honour to be, &c.
23d September 1781. - ‘ A. Baltour,
P. S. There are many Things found here which I fuppofe belong to the Gentlemen with you,

but I cannot afcertain. exaagy to whom ; 1 fhall collcét them all in ¢he Fort, and' take care of
them till they can be ¢laimed. .

Num. 517, ‘
GENERAL ORDERS

" The Governor General returns his Thanks to Major Crabb, for the Spirit and good Conduét

with which he bas executed the Service committed to his Charge, and exprefles his entire Appro-

bation cof the Behaviour of the Officers and Troops under Major Crabb’s Command.” - ;
Chupargur, Scptember 24th 1781, e e

& | , {Num. 118, T |
Tranfiation from the Perfian of a Proclamwtion iffued by (e Governor Gegeral’ ":h‘e‘““z“sth‘of
C Bnptemb«: 1981 e BT T

Be it known to the Zemeedars, Aumiils; Reyots, “and “all she fohabitants of the Zemeedary of
Banaris, &c. That whereas Rajah Chelt Sing, by many ‘Aéts of Rebellion and -Perfidy, and the
Murder of a Number of Fnglith Officers, Sepoys, and other Dependants of the Government of
the Company, who were unarmied, has totally forfeited -his Right to the Zeieedary of Banaris,
&c. and become amenablé to the Jultice. of the Company s it is therefore made-known and
proclaimed, that Cheit Sing, and ‘his Brother, Soojaun Sing, and sheir Dependants, have, from
this Period, no further Right or Inverelt in ithe Zemeedary of the faid Province; and all the
Zemeedars and Regors aye requiredito withhold their Obedience and Submiffion fromi him{ other-
wife they will be punithed accirdingly.=wAnd wherers, by, the Sedition of Cheit Sing, the Gountry
has falles into'Confplion nd Alatms, Affurances of Proteétion are hereby given to thé Zemeedars,
and other {nhubitants -of chis:Coudtry; .and they are hereby .invited to repair to. their ‘former
‘Places of Refidence, md‘w&l&;e their wuak:Occupations in perfeét Security : And, left any thould
c‘ptcmi;t.@rp_hehénhdq  jon acoount of their Mifdemeanors, it is.declared, that the pat Qfences .
of ‘all ‘the Inhabitants 'of thia Country -who Ihall conform t0 this Order, are .pardgned:
further, tevery Zehjeediry' and Aumil who-Thalf; Wihin . the ‘Space of One Montl, .12
‘Preféncelof the Governot General, oF to Major Willikm. Pophats, Commander of the ¥
Field, ufdi shiké thelr Submilliom; Mball be pardohalls and fuch 15, on sorouse gf B

otd, at by obher fid Revfap, connos rfon, syl end afgfe Xouk
b o il X
: tison Sing we, exep
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Al of Sedilion and. even BloodDied. ob. maby of:the Xepeodacti g
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“8Buch Perfons s, svailing thémlves of thefe Troubles, fhall hwveip
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Num. 119.

5 To Major Crabb.
iry

1 duly received your Letter, informing me of the Succefs of your Expedition; and return you
my warmeft Thanks for the Spirit and Judgment which you exerted in the Conduét of it.

Captain Blair and Bundoo Khan have given me a minute Detail of the Difficulties and Fatigues
which you encountered in your March; and I am truly fenfible of the Zeal and Perfeverance which
you have fhewn in furmounting them.

The Defeat of the Rajah’s robga at Lora, befides the immediate Confequence of the Evacua-
tion of Lutteefpoor, is likelﬁ to be produftive of the cgood Effeét of fpcedily terminating the
Difturbances occafioned by the Defection of the Rajah Cheit, Sing.

Be afiured that I fhall aiways retain a proper Senfe of, and defire to acknowledge, the Service
you have performed. :

Chunargur, I am, Sir, &c.
25th September 1781. Warren Haftings.

Num, x20.

s To Colonel Morgan.
ir, :

In my Letter to you, dated the 24th Inftent, Iacquainted you, that as the Nabob expected his
Rerurn to his Capital would put = Stop to the Difturbances which have lately arifen in his Country,
it was unneceffary for you to proceed to Lucknow with your Brigade, as I at firft directed. From
a fubfequent Converfetion with the Minifter, I find there is a Probability that'the Nabob may be
decrived-in his Expettations, and ftill require your Affiftance; I have therefore directed Mr. Mid-
dleson, on the Nabob's Application to him in Writing for that Purpofe, to apply to you for the Aid
of fuch a Force as the Nabob may requirc; which I requet you will be pleafed to furnith on
Mr. Midd leton’s Requifition. o

" Ramnagur, - Iam, Sir, &c.

asth September 1781, Warren Haflings.

‘ Nuwm. rsr,
T'o the Honourable Warren Hattings Efguire.
“Honourable Sir, o . .

1 was honoured laft Night with your Letters of the a4th Inftanc; and beg leave to affure you,
it is the Summit of my Ambition to merit your Approbation of my Condutt; and the Compli-
ment you paid the Troops which I fent you heightened my Satisfaétion with additional Pleafure,
In confequence of your Letter of the 1gth, defiring me to halt at this Place, 1 immedately ordered
that Part of miy Brigade that had croffcd over the %oqu. £ recrofs; but in order to lofe no Time,
1 thall dire&tly magch towards Lucknow, -and agreeable to your Direftions fhall diret Colonel Sir
John Cumming to crofs immediately a¢ Khaunpoar, and proceed to Lucknow with Two Regi-
ments and Four Guns, and to comply with fuch Requifitions as the Nabob or the Relident make
to him for AfBitance to eftablith Tranquillity in- his Excellency’s Dominions. But | have the
Plealure to inform you, ‘that I learn, beth by Letters written by Gentlemen at Lucknow, and
from my Intelligence Writer there, that the Commotions have fubfided, and they entertained no
Alarin but from the Situation of ‘Chupar; and I am ready to conclude, that the Brigade’s halting
here operared in fonse meafure o produce that good Effet ; and | am now conccrneg I feni to you
itwt Excrg® from Mr. Blane’s Letter, as [ spprehend it was written without a right Confideration
of Circumftantes, ‘and caufed ‘you fome unneceflary Adarm. Capuain Law will crofs the River
o«morrow Morning with silithe Cavalry fit to ferve on. a&ive Service, and I have given bim In-
frultiohs to vt all Expedition, on his 'Way down to Chunar, I fhall march on this Side the
‘Water up to Khauapoar. I will wiite to.Mr. Middleten 1o leg me know if the Afliftance of my
~Troops is wabiced, ‘and (hall be prepared to afford him any Aid,. cither with my whole Force or
any Pare of ir, hould the Detachment with Colonel Sir John Cumming not prove fufficicnt for
- qitfling any “Difttitbances in the Nabob's Countryy,but in the prefeot State of the Country [
e no doubt of G |

' Colonel Gumming's Force being enough. - As the Exigence of Affairs does not

ttefingy I'have left ic wCakmgF Cumming’s Option,  either to proceed with the
go and command at the Station of Fuuch Ghur with the Two Regiments he
er Orders from me. = |

I have the Honour to be, &c. |
J. Morgan.
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Num. 122.

To the Honourable Warren Haftings Efquire.
Honourable Sir, .

I have the Honour to enclofe a Capy. of & Second Letter received from Major Lucas, fince the
A&ion of the yyth with Futich Saw, by which you will fee that be narrowly c.fcaped being taken
Prifoner,  Wifhing to reduce as foon as poffible the increafed Expence attending the kecping in
Pay the Body of Burkandaaes raifed for the Defence of thefe Diftricts, I had written to Gavindram
Miffer to fend them in here to receive the Arrears that were due to them; but previous 1o the
Reccipt of my Letter, a Plan for attacking Futcch Saw’s Intrenchments had been formed. . They
accompanicd the Battalion, and did. not difappoint the general Expeétation of their being fer-
viceable on the Occafion; for they diftinguifhed themfelves greatly. I received this Morning
another Letter from Major Lucas,’ wherein he fays, * Don’t determine any Thing .about the
« Peons till you hear from me again; there is fomething in Agitation that may require their
« further Services.”” In confequence of this { have refolved not to recal them immediately, and
hope you will approve of it. o

S I have the Honour to be, &cc. S
Chuprah, ~ Charles Greme,
21t October 1781. -

Nuwm. 123.

~ To Mt, Charles Grzme.
Dear Sir, . _ - « S

1 have been favoured with your’s of the 16th. By this, Chuprah muft be relieved from their
Fears of Futteh Saw, who I now find has got a moft complete Drubbing, and had a very narsow.
Efcape himfelf; for, contrary to Cuftom, he was in his Trenches, bus walked off on fecing us
advance fo firmly, When he arrived on the Banks .of the Jerry, he mounted & favourite Horle,
who was alarmed at the Fire, and had nearly thrown his Mafter into ghe River, who was abli
to difmount, and get upon an Elephant, and had juit got clear, with about Twenty or Thirty
Favourites, when my Grenadiers and fome of Durjoo Sing's People arrived at the River, wh
Depth or Rapidity did not prevent their following immediately ; and had they known the fhort
Di&ncc the Rajah had got in proper Time, it is mare than probable he muf.d‘hgvcfdleninto
our Hands. is Lofs in killed and wounded, from ‘every Account, feems to be nearly 300.
Moft of his principal Men fell in the Trenches ; Sittabarie, and a Commandant formerly in the
Nedjeeb Battalion, faid to be fent here by Cheit Sing, and his Colours taken, befides feveral
others whofe Names 1 do not recolle@. From the Number of Matchlocks, Tulwars, &c. 8:c.
picked up by our Followers in the Jungles about and in the River (which is confirmed by fome
Fakeers who ftood on the Banks), many of them muft have perithed therein, as it was barely
fordable in a particular Spot, and very rapid. It is fuppofod he bad 3ooo Men ' in the Treaches,
and thae hehas not been able yet to colled 30’9;‘ﬁ?;itgq’tﬁihiqﬁ.{wmw}g;.:MM;'l’ hope, be now
completed. "The Lines we attacked muft not be deemed common demporary Intrenchments ; the
Rampart at the Baftion way about 14 Feet High frotm.thoOuthde; and it's yery.evident the whole
was mrended as a Fort, which in a little Time would’ have proved very troublefome,  His
Headmen often urged a Night Attack, which we expeéted for fome Time, and have ot been
able to frip fince we left Suvan; fo that it became abfolusely ncpcﬁr{ to diftorb this troublefome
Neighbour, which 1 had determined fhould tske place on'the Arrival of the Gun. Enclofed is
a fmall Sketch; I had procesded with my Batalion' 204, d. where we teceived a fevere Fire,
which neither the Gua nor. Platoom could flacken. -¥ere 1 was joined ‘by the Auniil, who
e L T L

joo Sing, while Captain Bruee sdvanced with his Baralion oh the Jungle; fo thit th
0 - rme::qichﬁnd'wmi'm ial ' e

3
>

Trenches were flormed e guch End wich equal Soce, s e heame e, Paverty oamed
to reign: among them, ford faw - dothing buts few tem ,.,‘ry’"Hqtj‘;."_*'thd"fﬁhbﬁliﬁg:ﬁdﬁhj men-
tioning hus been picked mp, el T i i E

To-smorrow | murch sbowe 5 Coft NV E. to « fifpeBed Place; ardl hope to be enabled 1

to Burragong in & few Days. - The Aumiil has behaved' véry well op evéry Occalion,, -
1 hope you ase truly fenfible ofthe eiftmtial Service phrfomned by th ,

fuffered excesdingly, and hepe they ‘may receive fome VK of F)
Hircarrahs are fent 0 all Qitdrters; no Incélligence s ‘

will be eafily fowndy R g 0 T

I find our Sepays- hive not Riffed absruch as T
o or Theee in Dunges,

Camp Hufiy

15th Olaber 4781
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Num. 124.

Tranflation of & Letter found in Lutteef the 6th of Olober, aud forwardsd to the Governor
General 4y Captain Thomas Blair,

On Thyriday, after my Arrival at Banatis from Buxar, I went to Shewallah-Ghaut with a View
of reprefenting to you feveral Circumftances which I had learned concerning the oppofite Party 3
but as they had got in before me, I was deprived of an Opportunity of fecing you. 1 was prefent
at the Place where your Friends and People were fitting, and where they affembled together ; and
when you went into the Boat, nowithtaoding it was my earnet Deflire to bave accompanied you,
yet I had no Opportunity of doing it. The enfuing Day, the Paflage of Boats to and fro was en-
tirely obfiructed, and | was, afeaid to fend you Intelligence from this Place, left the Letter fhould
have fallen into the Hands of the Enemy. They remained afierwards Four Days at this Place
with a few Men, and if you had then u’tqmrwd to retaliste an them, you would certainly have
taken Two Pigeons in One Trap; but as all your Actions are accompanied with good Yortune,
there is no Doubt but the Eaemy will be foon overcome. "For Two Days the Hircarrabs of the
oppofite Party came to my Houfe to make Enquiries; but, by the Blefling of God, no ill Confe-
quence enfucd.  Now that you have taken this heavy Burthen upon yourfelf, you muft truft en.
tircly in God, and fhew, on all Occafions, the utmoft Fortitude. The Alliance of feveral Chiefs,
at a Time Jike this, is very neceffary, and may be ealily accamplithed ; yet you muft avoid forming
any Connection with a Cgict'of fuch Conlequence as may aftcrwards himfclf attempt an Inter-
ference in your Affairs, Whatever Qrders you give, muft ,proccrd from your own Deliberation,
I am at prefent perfectly idle here, and I am very folicitous of an Interview with you, that I may-in
Perfon communicate to you my Opinions on feveral Points which have occurred to me. By a Let-
ter from Bulwunt Row, | underftand that you with me to inform myfelf concerning the Arrival of
Hyder Beg, and to write you on the Subjeét.

I will affuredly make every neceffary Enquiry, both about Hyder Beg and the Nabob Affof-ud
Dowlah, and communicate to you the Refult. I have already fent confidential Perfons to both, and
whatever I may in confequence learn, fhall be communicated to you hereafier.  Meanwhile the
Matter is bricfly this: You muft never entercain Hopes of the Awachment of Hyder Beg; his
whole Strength and Power depend on the oppofite Party ; yet it is proper you fhould attempt to
conciliate the Favour of the Vizcer, by telling him, thar you are delirous of reprefenting feveral
Circumftances to him; that you with to perfuade him vo detach himfelf from tEc oppofite Party,
and te refulme his former Authority over you. Without knowing your Sentiments on this Subjeét,
it is not in my Power to aét fo of myfelf,.

It is-however at all Events advifeable, that if the Vizeer fhould entirely embrace the other Party,

ou fhould neverthelefs wait upon him perfonslly, and reprefent to him whatever you may deem
advifeable, I beg you will believe me to be in every Refpect firmly attached to you. Major Hannay
with One Battalion has left Gooruckpoor, and Letters have been fent to Khaunpoor for Troops
from thence; you fhould therefore retaliate on them as foon as poflible. If Hyder Beg, without
your Confent, fhould attempt to join the oppofite Party, it is proper you fhould ftation a fuitable
Force on this Side of the Fort of Chunar, 1o prevent his-croffing the River. Yefterday Rajah Go-
bind Ram and Lalla Bucheraje went and had an Interview with Hyder Beg. Whac more fhall |
fay ? The Objek of Hydor Beg is certainly to manifelt his: Attachment to the oppofite Party.

Parrll

NuMm. 125.

s _ To Edward Wheler, Efquire.
ir, S

My Continuance in this Quarter, and the Events which have happened, have given mean _O‘F-
portunity of becoming acquainted with the Sitvation  of the Tmors beyond the Provinces; and I
am concerned to fay, that in their Equipment they are extremely defeltive, particularly in fmall
Arms apd Accoutrements; the laft Supplies feat from Fore William to Chunar are entirely ex-
pended ) the Indents from the Board upnn the Magazine there having exceeded the whole Quan-
tity originally fupplied, Popham’s Detackment iy indeed amply furnithed ; but thofe un-
der Colonels Cummiing and Muir are very deScicns, I bave net been infouned of the Condition
of Coloncl Morgan's Brigade, bus sm afraid it is not much fuperior to that of the others. .

1 cannot afcertain the precife Quangity of Arms and Artillery which may be required, nor is it
material; but.the Neceflity of baving in Store ac Chunar fuch a Supply as may be equal to the De-
mands of soy probable Service on this Side of the Caramnafla Is evident, and the immediate
" Waot of them is E’r\tﬁnf s I thevefore earneftly intreat your immediate Orders for tranfporting fuch
a Proportion of {mall Arms sad- Accoutrements, and of Ficld Artillery, 12 and 6 Pounders, as
may be .adaped o this Service, and can be fpared from Fort Willism and the Provinces, by
Waser, baefooe the Swelling of the River fubfides.

ARATy \ 1 have the Honour to be, &c.

' 'mm &8‘!. | Warren Haftings.
g L
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APPENDIX,

Num. 126.

To the Honourable Warren Haftings Efquire, Governor General, &c.
Sir,

I was only Yefterday favoured by the Receiptof your Letter of the 3d Inftant. 1 have for fome
Days paft been colleéting the Papers which have been thrown out in the Streets and Houfes in
this Place.

I have the Pleafure to affure you, that the Trouble I have taken to colle& the Reyots of the
Pergunnahs of Lutteefpoor and Pateeta has been attended with Succefs. In moft of the Villages
I have diftributed fmall- Flags, and given them Beetlc and a Hircarrah, and to fome a Sepoy to
prote& and encourage them. The Reyots are again enployed in their Ficldsy but few or none of
the Zemeedars or Aumils have yet come in, Iexpe® the late Rain which we have had will,
with the favourable Report of the Reyots, induce them to return to their former Habitations.
You may be affured, that nothing (hall be wanting on my Part to protect and encourage them. The
Aumils of Lutteefpoor and Patecta fhall have every Affiftance which 1 can poflibly give them.
In the Jungles a little Diftance from this, I have diicovered a fmall fortified Place, in which, it
appears to me, the Europeans were put to Death: Some of their Hats, Shoe-brufhes, and
Pieces of their Coats, were found In it. I have not been able to difcover any Remains of
their Bodies.

I fend you Shujah ud Dowlah’s Agreement with the Rajah, which was found Yefterday. Iam
collecting all the Papers into One Room. Two Moonfhees, who take Bauboo Owfan Sing’s
Name, came to take all the Papers with them. As they had no Letter with them, 1 defired they
would get a proper Authority for taking Poffefion of them, before I could deliver them : 1 fhall
be glad to be favoured with your Direétions refpecting them,

Lutteefpoor, I have the Honour to be, &c,
8th O&tober 1781, Thomas Blair.

Num. 127,

< To Edward Wheler, Efquire.
ity

I beg Leave to introduce, through you, to the Notice of the Board, an Inftance of Zeal and
Attachment to our Government, which, from the peculiar Circumftances under which it was
exhibited, merits both a Place in our Records, and a public and warm Acknowledgement.

It will be remembered, that a principal Objet of my. Journey to thefe Provinces was to obtain
and facilitate an Interview at Banaris with Dewaugur Pundit, the Minifter of Rajah Moodajec
Booflah, for the Purpofe of effeéting a final Adjultment of the political Concerns of -our Govern-
ment, and that of Berar, The Death of Dewaugur Pundit, the News of which reached me
‘Two Days before my Arrival at Banaris, and which I regtet with the moft fenfible Concern, dif-
appointed all the Hopes which I had conceived of forming by his Means a folid and latting Alli-
ance with the Court of .Berar. o
- I was attended in my Journey from Calcutta by Beneram Pundir, the Vakeel of Moodajee
Boofla, with his Brother Biffumber Pundit. ‘The Vakeel, during his long Refidence with me in
that Capacity, had given me conftant Proofs of a fincere Difpolition to promote the Interefts of
our Government, whillt he exerted himfelf to advance thofe of his Mafter,

When I retreated from Banaris, Beneram Pundit and his Brother, on the firft Intelligence of
my Departure, followed, and, unattended by a fingle Servant, joined me in the March, refifting
all my Intreaties, and even Injun&ions, to return to Banaris, where their whole Family refided,
and where they might have remained in Fcrfe& Eafe and Security,
~ On my Arrival at Chunar I found mylelf in great and irremediable Diftrefs for want of Moncy.
The Troops were fome Four, and others Five Months in Arrears, and as Cheit Sing had the
Country on all Sides at his Devotion, 1 had pot the fmalleft Profpe@ of obtaining Supplies, until
the Motion of our Troops from different Quarters fhould open a Communication, 1t was with
Difficulty that 1 found Means to raife fo fmall 8 Sum as 2500 Rupees, -to diftribute among the

“Sepoys for their preffing Neceflities. I muft add, though foreign from my immediate Subject,
that the Sepoys bore their Diltreffes without exprefling ¢che lealt Impitience under them,

Being accuftomed, from my Experience of the Inteteft which Beneram Pundip had slways
taken in the Succefs of our Affairs,and as & kind of ‘Acknowledgment of it, to/treat him with
a greater Freedom of Communication than other Perfons in his Situation, 1 ocewfionslly mention-
ed 0 him, withdut'any Expettation '0f Thougin ‘of obtaining sny Relief frodithim;- the Difii-
cultics under which I laboured for‘the Want ‘of prefent Subfiftence. *. Fie-iaftantly, and with
fome Eagernefs, teplicd, That hix Family at Banaris were in Polfflon, 0f 8 Lack ‘of Rupees,
colletted in'Specie, of which he made me.the inRant Offér, propofipg:that'a Bartalion of ‘Sepoys
fhould be fent tp bring it away; his Brother at the fame Time offering % sccompany the Efcorr,
and ‘to deliver the Money. - {-th'mkfully accepted the Offcr, and fhoyld have adoptéd the Mode
they -recommended for bringing away the Money, had I not been fearful of expoﬁa%ihlnr

_ C o Faouly
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Family to the Vengeance of Cheit Sing; and as my Dewan had been left at Banaris, [ hoped
by his Means to procure the Treafure to be tranfported to Chunar, and 1 received their Orders
for the Delivery of it to him. But in this Expedient 1 was difappointed, for the Dewan was
fo concealed, that my Letter could not reach him, and Gopaul Dols, the Banker, through whofe
Agen'cy the intended Plan was to be effected, was about the fame Time apprehended and carried
a Prifoner to Lutteefpoor, where the Rajah refided ; neither could 1 at that Time devite any
other Contrivance to avail myfelf of the Afliftance which had heen thus gencroufly prefied upon
me, When 1 returned to Banaris, Beneram Pundit renewed the fame Tender; and although
my Ditrefs for Money was not then equal in any Degree to that which had beiore prompted him
to make it, I agreed to accept it, willing to furnith an incontrovertible Proof of his Sincerity
in the Firft Offer, and ftrengthen the Tefimony which I have herein given of his fteady Attach-
ment to our Government. The whole Sum, amounting to One Lack of Banaris Sicca Rupees,
was received between the joth of September and 1t of Oétober : I have granted to Beneram
Pundit a Bond for the fame, at the uiual Rate of Intereit, and in the ufual Form, except that
it has only my Signature to it. I hope and requeft that the Board will be pleafed to confirm it.
“Banaris, I have the Honour to be, &c¢.
13th October 1781. Warren Haftings.

Num. 128.

To the Honourable Warren Haftings Efjuire.
Honourable Sir,

I do~myfelt the Pleafure to acquaint you with my Progrefs fince T left Khaunpoor.

You no doubt heard of my fudden March from thence for the Saferv of Lucknow, and a few
Days afterwards of my hafty unexpected March for the Relief of Lieutenant Colonel Hannay,
whofc Situation, from his Letters to me and Mr. Middleton, was beyond Defeription, and which
authorized the March immediately neceflary.  He was ftationed at Sakrora, about 30 Cofs from
Lucknow; and to get to him 1 had Four unfordable Rivers or Nullahs to crofs, and all the
Country almoft between the Goompty and Gogra had moflly revolied, and were affembled in
a very confiderable Body, headed by many of the difuffeéted Rajahs, which I had to remove be-
fore 1 could poflibly attempt to crofs the Gogra s in all which I was very fuccefsful, and relieved
Lieutenant Colonel Hannay the 6th in the Morning. The Rebels who had occafioned fuch
Commotion in that Country, and had occalioned him calling for Afliftance, were then affembled
at Bopaul Ghaut, on the Banks of the Teerah Nullah, which I was informed was fordable ;
and that they were determined to maintain their Ground. I halted a Day, and got an Addi-
tion of Two 6 Pouuders and Two hundred of the difaffe€ted Horfe. I marched, and found
them pofted as defcribed, acrofs the Nullah, with Two Guns well ftationed for their Defence,
which they had taken fomewhere or other. In this Situation, I advanced the Grenadier Com-

anies with the Four Guns immediately to the Banks of the Nullah, with an Intention to have
ordered the Grenadiers and Two Guns over; but 1 found the Intelhgence which 1 had received,
of its being fordable, premature, and it might have been anended with that Confequence that
I might have fuffered exceedingly, This was an Accident I could not forefee, and which took
me nearly Half an Hour to correét in finding our a Place were there was the leaft Probabilicy
of fording, and at this Place the talleft Men could only get through. I then ordered the Gre-
nadiers with Two Guns down to the Ford (having previoully provided long and thick Ropes
to enable me 10 drag the Guns through any Nullah where I might not meet with Boats), while
the other Two Guns were covering their Crofling. This obliged the whole to give way, lcav-
ing their Guns and Two Tumbrils, with near 100 fhotted Cartridges, 8c. &c. From the firft
ot my Arrival at the Ghaut, until they gave way, was near an Hour. 1 had only Two Men
killed and Four wounded ; of the Enemy, I found on the Spot between 60 and 70 killed, and
many more lay fcattered about at a Diftance, which they had endeavoured to carry off; the greater
Part of their Wounded were likewife moved away, owing to the Difficulty and Delay that I met
with in getting acrofs the Nullah. They are a Set of the moft obftinate People I ever mec
with; for fuch of the Wounded as were not taken away refufed the Affiftance which I offered
them.  Could I have poflibly got acrofs fooner, and the Horfemen had recovered from their
Panic, there muft have been very great Carnage.

It is impofiible to afcertain their Numbers; it was fuppofed they confifted of Ten thoufand and
upwards, Horfe and Foot 3 bue the irregular Manner in which they were drawn up, prevents my
forming any Judgment. )

This Circumitance of the Intclligence refpelting the Ford was unfortunate; however, I have
taken care in providing fuch People as will inevitably prevent the like happening again. They
were Natives of this Country ; and I am almoft certain ic was done on Purpote, for the Hircarrahs
that &drvied me to the Ghaut I have not feen fince,

To deferibeto your the Situation of Colonel Hannay’s own Sepoys, and which called mg to his

o Relief and Affiitance, 1 fuppofe you will be acquainted with, cither by himfelf, or from Mr.
Middleton 5 and as 1 have entered upon the reftoring this Country, and a Regiment will be ne-
ceffary, 1 beg the Favour I may not be relieved.

Camp near Goonda, N . I have the Honour to be, &c.
October 13th, 17814 6 F. Naylor.
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Num. 129.
General Orders sffued by the Governor General @4 Banaris rbe 1928 O&tober 5981,

The Governor General having received a minute Detail from Major Crabb, of the March and
Occurrences of the Detachment lately under his Command, in an Enterprize againft Lutieefpoor,
(which Detail has been bitherto delayed by the Indifpofition of Major Csabb) repeats, in a parti-
cular Manner, the general Thanks which Le gave to the Detachment on the firft imperfect Account
of their Succefs.

It is with extreme Satisfaction that the Governor General obferves the Spirit and Perfeverance
with which the Troops furmounted the many and great Obftacles which oppofed their Progrefs
through the Mountains, and the Gallantry with which they attacked and defeated a RRrong De-
tachment of the Enemy after a moft fatiguing March.

The Governor General entertains the highe(t Senfe of the Zeal and Abilities with which Major
Crabb has conduéted fuccefsfully an Expedition attended with uncommon Difficultics from Nul-
lahs, Jungles, and other Impediments. :

T'he greateft Commendations are alfo due to the Officers of the Detachment, for their able and
attive Affiftance in this arduous Expedition.

The ftrong Recommendations which Major Crabb has given of Lieutenant Fireworker Baillie,
for his diftinguithed Attention and Ativity in the Management of the Artillery under his Charge,
affords the Governor General the Pleafure of 2 Second Qccalion of acknowledging the Services of
that Officer in the fame Campaign, and publifhing his Thanks for them.

Num. 130.
General Orders, November 8th, 1981,

The Stations of Futtehghur and Daransgur to be immediately and totally withdrawn, and the
Troops from both to proceed immediately to Khaunpuvor, where they are to remain wnder the
Command of Colonel Morgan until further Orders. ‘ -

The Detachment, commanded by Colonel Muir, to encamp at Etaya until further Orders,
All Recruiting for any of the Corps beyond the Provinces, to be immediately fufpended.

A Regiment of Sepoys from the Station of Khaunpoor to be Rationed at Lucknow, under the
Orders ol the Refident, and relieved every Three Months, -

All Britith Officers holding Commands, or employed in the Service of his Excellency the Nabob
Vizeer, are hercby recalled to their Duty in the Company’s Troops.s they are fielt to repair with
their Corps to Lucknow, where they are to difcharge all Arrears due to the Troops under their
refpedtive Commands, and fettle their Accounts with the Paymatter General of the Vizeer's Efta-
blithment under Britith Officers, after which they are immediately to proceed to the neareft Station
of the Company’s Forces, and wait there until they receive the Orders of the Commander in Chief
refpecting their future Deftination in the Corps of the Army,

Nuwm, 331, - o
To the Honourable Warren Haftings Efquire.
Honourable Sir,

The Mutineers came to Terms with the Rajah the Day before Yefterdny 3 they receive Four
Lacks and quit the Service, L ¥
Yefterday a Leter:from Cheit Sing came to the Rajah, requefting his Affitance; on its being
read, the Rajah exprefled his Attachment to you. o IR
The: Rajsh is in good Health. ' - S
- - L have the Hanour to be, 8¢,

«8th O&ober 1781, - " F. B. Thomet,

e P pors bt orm 25 App xmwmgfm drigi
: TmmjmfﬂMfm Lettoy, w»(:_«#u-dtbg[a s,
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A P P E N D I X

P AR T L
Containing A FFIDAVITS

FIRST PARCEL
Num. 1. A,
Afidavit of Major Faton, commanding the Fort of Buxar.

Ifaac Eaton, Major of Infantry, in the Service of the United Company of Mcrchants of Fng -
land trading to the Eaft Iodies, maketh Oath and faith, T'hat the annexed Papers, refpectively
marked * N° 1. B, C, D, E, and F, are, as they purport to be, Copies of Letters relpectively
written and received by this Deponent; and that he did believe, from the beft Information which
he had received at the Time of writing the Letters purporting to be written by him this Depo-
nent, that the Subjeét Matter thereof was true, and fill believes the fame to be true.  And this
Deponent further faith, ‘That he hath at diverfe T'imes written feveral Perfian Letters to the Ra-
jah Cheit Sing, containing Complaints of a like Natvre; and that he hath not to this Hour been
able to procure Redrefs from cthe faid Rajah, either on account of the Complaints contained in
the annexed Letters, or in the faid Perfian Letters; thar the iid Rajah had at different Times
inveigled the Sepoys under the Command of this Deponeat to defert and enter into his Service 4
and that, from the general Condué@ of the faid Rajah and his People, this Deponent verily be-
lieves the faid Rajah was difaffeCted to the Englith Government, and withed the Subverfion
of the fame, And further this Deponent faith, that he hath commanded the Fore or Gantion of
Buxar, on the Froniiers ot the Company’s Pofleflions, and next adjoining to thole ot the Ze-
mecdary of the faid Rajah Cheit Sing, for the Space of Three Years and Half, and, trom his
Office and Situation, had frequent Experience of the Difpolition of the faid Rajah, and of his
People.

S}v)vorn this gth Day of December Ifaac Eaton.

in the Year 1781, before me

E. Impey.
NUM. I. Bo

To Thomas Graham Efg; Company’s Refident at Banaris.
‘Sir,

From the many contemptuous and difrefpe@tful Letters and Meflages received in anfwer to the
differcnt Applications made by me to the Fougedars, Aumils, Zemeedars, &c. of Cheit Sing’s
Country, on various Subjeéts, I find myfelf obliged to addrefs you in this public Manner, in
Hopes of Redrefs from your Reprefentation to the Rajah; and in order to fhew you their Difin-
clination to afiift the Company, or oblige me, I fhull here mention the Heads of two or three
Circumftances as I bave had occafion to write to them upon. About Sixteen or Eighteen Months
ago, a Boat with Two Twenty-four Pounders, belonging to the [fonourable Company going to
Chunar, was funk a little above Beerpoor on the Ground belonging to the Village ot Seerpoor : In
confequence [ applied to the Zemeedar of Beerpoor to aflift me in endeavouring to weigh the Boat,
at the fame Time promifing & Reward to fuch People as he could let me have. Inftead of comply-
ing with my Requeft, he returned me an infolent Anfwer, faying, He bad feen many Fringees , who
was be? (meaning me) s that be was Rajab Babadre's Servant, not mine, and would therefore give me
no Affifance wishout bis Qrders,

1 then wrote to the Fougedar of Imaumabad; who made a Shew of Afiiftance, by fending
Thirty or Forty Men, - As they could be of little or no Ufe, I collected together, from Buxar
and Bowjpoor, as many as I poffibly could, with whom 1 went and examined the'Spot, and found
it impracticable, from the Rapidity of the River, at that Time to weigh the Guns, had [ been
fupplied with the Number of People required.  On my making known to the Board the Impof-
fibiiity of their then being got at, Iwas ordered to fix a Buoy to the Boar, and poft a Guard on
the Banks neareft to the Place, in order to prevent its being cut away, in Hopes the Courfe of the
River might alier {ufficiently this Seafon to admit of their being taken up. I gave the Command
of the Guard to a Naick, who formerly refided at the Village of Secrpoor, as I thought him the
likeliek Perfon to get the Aflitance of the Country People when I might wane them. The
Naick came to me about 8 Month or Six Weeks ago, and informed me the Buoy and Maft were
cut away in the Night by fome of the Mullabs cither of Seerpoor, Beerpoor, or Barrow ; that if
lmould)ﬂ’wmit him.to go and refide amongft thofe Peaple for a Weck or a Fortnight, he would
find out who cut it away, and by what Aqthority, as he had Reafon to fufpe® the different Ze-
meedars, baving previoully heard that fuch a Thing was in Agitation. 1 permitted him to’go ;
afld in Ten Days he returned, and informed me, "T'wo Mullahs belonging to one of the Villages

® N. B. The Marks of Reference are different from thofe of the origina) Manufcript.
3§ M o told
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told him, they knew the People, but it was as much as their own and their Families Lives were
worth to divulge 1t, as the Zemeedars had threatened the Life of any lfcrtqn who thould inform
the Fringees, adding, the Guns would be ufeful to themiclves, as the Englith would not pofiefs
the Country long. I wrote to the Fougedar Buckt Sing Toukaury, of Serinja Pergunnah, and
Meer Auflin Ally of Imaumabad Pergunnah, to deliver up the Mul!ahs of the different Villages,
at leaft thofe who had cut away the Buoys. In confequence 1 obtained an Order on the Zemec-
dars and Cutwalls for their being delivered up; but the Cutwall of Imaumabad refufed, faying,
He did not know me; that if | wanted them, orany Thins elfe, 1 fhould fight him for it before [
fhould have it; at the fame Time colle®ting a Mob, he drew his Sword, and made a Cut at one
of my People, which hc defended with his Firclock, or would moft probably have been killed.
Upon this being reported to me, 1 fent a Party of Sepoys, with Orders not to make any Difturb-
ance, but if any Refiftance was made, to bring the Cutwall a Prifoner to me.  Before the Sepoys
could get there, the Mullahs were fent; but thofe who gave the Informarion to the Naick, and
which were the People I wanted, were not among the Number; upon my inquiring where they
were, | was told that one was dead, and the other gone to Calcutta.

The Practice of drawing their Swords upon my People is very frequent. Whenever I have
occafion to fend them into the Country, cither for Provifions, Bamboos, Straw, or any other
Article I may want for my Garrifon, or the Troops under. my Command, although I write to
tiem in the moft polite and civil Manner for the fmalleft Article, and never fuffer any Perfon
under me to take the Value of a Straw without paying for it; notwithftanding which, they will
not fupply me with any Thing by Confent, but, on the contrary, abufe my People in the mot
grofs Manner ; and frequently, when the Gentlemen belonging to this Station have fent their Ser-
vants to purchafe Things, they have been beat in a moft cruel Manner,

The Zemeedars of Narainpoor, Beerpoor, and Choufah, make a common Praitice of ftopping
Boats, although they have regular Rowannahs and Paflports from Government. On my fending
to know the Reafons for their detaining them, they make ufe of the moft difrefpe&tful Inve&ives
againft the Company and me; particularly the Zemeedar of Narainpoor, who not long ago con-
fined one of the Chowdries of Buxar for Nincteen Days in Irons, and made him pay for another
Man Fifty-three Rupees. Upon my writing him on the Subje, to know why he confined him,
he drew his Sword on the Sepoy I fent, and returned a verbal Anfwer, that if the Chowdry
came on his Side the River, he would cut his Nofe and Ears off, and make him pay as much
more.

Indeed, from the many Inflances 1 have experienced of the Infolence of the feveral Zemeedars,
and the many Complaints I have made to their different Fougedars of them, 1 have every Reafon
to believe: they are encouraged by them. I fhall therefore conlider myfelf obliged by your pro-
curing for me from the Rajah, an Order for fuch Articles as I may have occafion for, on my
paying the cuftomary Prjce, as by that means it will prevent any further Trouble.

: 1 have the Honour to be, &¢c.
Buxar, - | ~ 3 - Ifaac Eaton, Capt. commanding.
23d May 1779. : ‘ S :

Num. 1. C.

. To Francis Fowke Efq; Company’s Refident at Banaris.
ir,
_,On the 27th Auguft 1did mylelf the Pleafure of addrefling you on a Subje&, which I conceived
of great Mument to the Company, or at leaft to me, us it ftruck at their Authority as well as
mine 3 but it not being taken notice of by you, 1 thould fuppofe it had not come to hand, and
therefore 1 enclofe a Copy, and beg you will on Receipt hereof interelt yourfelf with the Rajah,
to give me ample Satisfattion for fuch Behaviour, otherwife, in Support of my own Confequence,
1 fhall be obliged to apply to the Board for Redrefs, or for Leave to do myfelf Juttice ; for ac
prefent the Inhabitants of this Country are in fuch a rebellious State, that within a Mile of me
they refufe to fell the fmalleft Article wanting cither for myfelf or for the Troops under my
Command, notwithﬁandin&yl addrefs them in the moft polite Manner, by Letter, for the moit
crifling Thing. 1t is but Yefterday the Zemeedar of Narainpoor treated me with the greateft
Contempt, by throwing ¢ Letter I fent him on the Ground, and treading on it. ‘The Contents
were to requeft he would fend T'wo or Three Dockaundars with Grain, &c. &¢. for the Ufe of
Caprain Crawford’s Detachment.  "The Zemeedar st the fame Time made ‘ufe. of the grofiett
Abufe againft me and the Peaple 1 fent, celling ‘them be could raife Four bundred men 3 that if the
Fringees mwanted any Thing, they foonid figbt for s, “This Kind of Conddft;, ¥ ‘atn foon put an
End to, will be.productive of Bloadihed y for it is impoffible In ‘my Skuwtion, Jet what will
be the Coa\‘e%u:nc‘c. vo fuffer it, :or the People under my Commai ‘be fpit at as they pafs
through the Country, and myfelf infulied at my ‘Fort Gates., . Youf fpeedy Reply will ‘much
o , - 8ir, &e.
3d Noveémber 1780, | '

Haic Eaton, Captain commandiig.
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Num. 1. D.
To Captain I, Eaton, commanding the Fort'of Buxar.

Parr 1L

Sir,

1 have but this Moment received your Favour of the 3d Inflant T am athamed to fay, that the
Original of the Copy which you inclofed, came to hand in due Time. All I can fay in Excule
for my Inattention, is a bilious Fever, trom which I am now only recovering, and which, during
its Continuance, totally incapacitated me for any Kind of Bulinefs.

I will immediately apply to the Rajah in the Manner you delire, and reprefent to him the Pro-
pticty of punifhing and reprefling the Infolence of his Servants, and the Necefiity of their affifting
the Commander 1n obtaining Supplies for his Garrifon : However, I think I can venture to pre-
di&, that a Recrimination is all the Redrefs I fhall be able to procure; and I am convinced that
the Interference of the Supreme Council is become abfolutely neceffary to put & Stop to thete
Enormitics. The Moment | receive the Rajah’s Anfwery; I will give you the Subftance
of it. -

The Inclofed will inform you of what has already paffed upon this Subject.

As 1 have heard nothing from the Board upon this Subjeét, I conclude that my Letrer has been
paffed over amidft the Multiplicity of Bufinefs in which the General muft have found himfelf
involved on his Arrival at the Prefidency. I remain,

Sir, &c.
Banaris, ‘ F. Fowke,
8th November 1780. Refident.

Num. t. E.

S To Francis Fowke Efq;
ity

I have received your different Favours, and have feen the Perwannah, which I am afraid will
have little or no Effe&, as the whole Country {eems to be in a State of Ferment.  So lately ago as
the 14th Inftant, Three Gentlemen, who were proceeding to join the Army, were infulted by the
Zemeedar of Beerpoor, who not only beat and bruifed their Servants, and afierwards robbed
them, but cut one of the Gentlemen with a Tulwar acrofs the Forehead, and other Parts of the
Body, in fo dangerous a Manner, that he was fent off from Buxar Yefterday Morning, to have the
Affiftance of the Medical Gentlemen at Patns ; but as there is every Appearance of a Fratture, 1
am much afraid he will not recover. The other Two Gentlemen, after this fhocking Accident,
returned here, and propofe remaining with me until they hear of Mr. Baffer (the Gentleman
woundcde\ whether he recovers.

Both the Gentlemen fay, the Stroke was made by the Zemeedar himfelf; upon which I imme-
diately difpatched a Serjeant and Thirty Sepoys, who are jult now returned, having brought
along with them a Parcel of Black Fellows from Beerpoor; but as I have not as yet had Time
to enquire into the Particulars, I am uncertain whether the Scrutiny will be attended with the
defired Succefs: I am however refolved to keep the People I already have in Confinement,
Prifoners, until I am able to get to the Bottom of this infamous Affuir. ] requeft you will in-
form the Rajah of my Refolution, that he may take the proper Steps 10 have it cleared up; as
this is not”the only Inftance of the daring and rebellious Spirit of the Natives in Cheit Sing’s
Diftri®ts. The Inclofed will fhew you a new Species of Fraud and Extortion, committed by Myup
Sing, the Paranparaha Zemeedar, who takes upon himfelf the Colleftion of Duties on Boats
_pafling his Station.  The Serang, from whom he {queczed Money, has given me the inclofed Ac-
count of the Mauer, drawn up by himfelf, and to which I refer you; and am,

Sir, &c.
Buxar, ‘ ' Ifasc Eaton,
17th November 1780, . €aptain Commanding.
| " Num. 1. F.
To the Honourable Warren Haftings Efquire, Governor General, &c. Council.
Gentlemen, :

As [ have ever confidered it as an effential Duty incumbent on me, as commanding at this
Station, to give every Information in.my Power, refpe@ing the proper and regular Manner of
diftriburing Juftice, and preventing oppreflive A& and Irregularities, to the Honourable Board ;
T'have embraced this Opportunity of communicating a Piece of Intelligence, which, from the fla-

rant Circumftances and daring Spirit'of the Natives in this Part of the World, requires the moft
ious Avtention of the Honourable Board. ‘

So ‘very' latcly as the 14th of the ¢urrent Month, Three Gentlemen, viz. Enfigns Irvinc,
florne, and Bafiet, being on their Way to join the Army, were ftopped by thefe Freebdoters at
Beerpoor, ‘s Village diftant from Buxar only Three Cofs. The Zemeedar, at the Head of a
numerous Gang, endeavoured and was very affiduous in picking a Quarrel with the Gcngz?en’s

Ants,
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Servants, Two or Three of whom they cut down with Tulwars, and afterwards robbed a Bapgage
Boat. Not vet fatisfied with fuch cruel and barbarous Treatment, the Zemeedar (as 1'wo of the
Gentlemen inform me) made a Stroke at Mr. Baffet with a Tulwar, and cut him fo defperately
acrofs the Forchead and other Parts of the Body, that he was brought back to Buxar, and imme-
diately fent away to Patna to have the Affiftance of the Medical Gentlemen at the Statioq, though
with very little Iopes of Recovery. The other Gentlemen are at prefent with me waiting the
Iffue. Immediately on receiving the above fhocking Account, I difpatched a Serjeant and ‘Thirty
Sepoys in Queft of the Offenders ; and Yefterday the Detachment returned, and brought a Num-
ber of People Prifoners along with them, which 1 will lofe no Time in_examining, and taking
every other Step neceffary to get to the Bottom of fo daring an Infult.  So foon as 1am able to

inveftigate the Matter thoroughly, I will take the earlieft Opportunity of addrefling the Honour-

able Board with the Refult of my Enquiry.

As this is not the only Inftance of the daring and infolent, I may almoft fay, rebellious Spirit of
the Natives in almoft every Diftriét of Cheit Sing's Country, I have officially made repeated Ap-
plications to Mr. Fowke, the Refident ac Banaris, to reprefent thofe Grievances to the Rajah, but
hitherto without Effeét.

Genera) Coote likewife addrefled Mr, Fowke, in confequence of my Complaint, a Copy of
which 1 fend inclofed; alfo Mr. Fowke’s Anfwer to the General. Some fhort Time afterwards,
1 had a Sccond Occafion to addrels Mr. Fowke on a Second Infult; a Copy of which I likewife
inclole you, with his Reply.

Since writing the above, 1 have joft had a Third Comlglaint preferred to me againft thefe Peo-
ple, by a Serang that was ftopped by Myup Sing, the Paranpara Zemeedar, who threatened to
murder him, if he did not immediately pay 100 Rupees Duty on a Boat belonging to Major Duff,
which he at that Time had charge of{ and was conduéting to the Prefidency. The Account, as
wrote by the Scrang himfelf, and delivered by him to me, 1 have inclofed for your Perufal,

All thefe Circumftances, properly confidered, will evidently fhew the great Neceflity there is of
fpeedily falling upon fome Means to put a Stop to fuch outrageous Condu, as at prefent there
is no Safety for the Traveller either by Land or Water.

I have the Honour to remain, 8.
Iaac Eaton.

APPENDIX.

[SECOND PARCEL,
Num. 2. A.
Affidavit of Major Palmer. .

William Palmer, Major in the Service of the Honourable the Eaft India Company in Bengal,
maketh Oath, and faith, “That about the latter End of the Month of June laft, the Honourable
Warren Haliings Efquire, Governor General of Bengal, difcourfing with this Deponent on the
Subjet of his intended Journcy to Banaris and Lucknow, declared one of the principal Objets
of it to be to exa&t from Rajah Cheit Sing a Fine or Contribution of Fifs Liacks of Rupees, as a
Punifhment for Breach of Engagements with the Government of Bengal, and for A&ts of Mife
conduét in his Zemeedary., The Governor General further declared to this Deponent, That he
knew the Ability of the Rajah to contribute fuch a Sum to the Exigencies of Government, and
that he the Governor General was determined to convert the Faults committed by the Rajah into
a public Benefit. The Governor General further declared to .chis Deponent, in the fame Con-
verfation, That an Offer from the Rajah, but indirettly, had been made to him of Twenty
Lacks of Rupees for the public Service, as a Retribution for his Failure of Engagements; but
that he the Governor General was refolved to infift upon the firt-mentioned Sum of Fifty Lacks
of Rupees ; and if the Rajahthould abfolutely refufe the Demand, that he the Governor General
would deprive himm of his Zemeedary, ‘or transfer the Sovercignty thereof to the Nabob Vizeer,

' Swaorn before me this ‘ ' _ ‘
4th Day of December 1781, |
o . E.Impey. SRR
[Num.a. B, .. =
Atteftation of David Anderfon Efguire,
"+ To the Honourable Warren Haltingi Efquire.

I Ghednte 1. yor Commands, cveyed i me thzgh Myjor Faoet, £l esdeev
_In qbedience to ydur Commands, cofveyed to me thraugh Mujor Palmer, I'fiull endeavour to
répeat, us w:ll:lsllau‘ veateinber, 'the Porport of what ioumglgafbdm infonin me before your
Departure from Calcutes, of “your Intentlonis regarding Cheit Sing ; ‘but #s ‘fo’long an Interval
hes fince clapfed, my RecolieQion, which ‘has never been Rrengthicndd by s Communication,
 After enumerating fome of the Refources which you expedled to'fikid up the Country for the
Relief of the Company's Exigencies, you mentioned to me the Coddult of Cheit Sing, """

R | ‘ ' ' ' . You

W. Palmer.] f
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‘You obferved, that he owed his Elevation tothe Company ; that he wasallowed to enjoya very cons
fiderable Income, the Revenue exa@ed from him being much inferior to the Produce of his Dif-
tricts, and that his Territories were maintained and defended by the Englith Army: That on
thofe Confiderations, it had been reckoned equitable that he fhould contribute on an Emergency to
the Support of Wars carried on by that Government under which he held his Zemeedary, and to
which he was indebted for its Prote&ion. Accordingly you mentioned, thata Sum had been
demanded from him; that, after fome Difficulties, he had agreed to pay it at a certain Period ;
that, trufting to his Promifes, you had made an Affignment on him for the Ufe of Colonel
Camac's' Detachment 5 and that Coloncl Camac, relying on his Puntuality, had returned a
Bill for a lefs Sum, which had been fent to him by Mr, Middleton ; but that this Confidence had
nearly proved fatal 1o the Detachment, -and actually did prove the Caufe of retarding the Expe-
dition: That Cheit Sing, in {pite of all the Reprefentations which were made to him, delayed fo
long the promifed Payment, that the Officers of the Detachment were reduced to the Neceflity
of felling their Plate: That you therefore determined to call him to an Account, and oblige
him to make an Atonement for his Conduét in this Inftance, and the Wait of Attachment he had
in general fhewn to our Government, by paying a confiderable Sum of Money to the Relief of
the Cempany’s Exigencies; that if he confented, you were defirous of eftabliining his Pofieflion
on the moft permanent and cligible Footing ; but if he refufed, you had in your Power to raife
a large Sum for the Company, by accepting of an Offer which had been made for his Diftrict by
the Vizeer.  You minuted the Particulars of Cheir Sing’s Conduét in an Account whi¢h you
drew up in Calcutta, of the State of the different Powers of Hindoftan; though I do not believe
that in that Paper you exprefled the Intentions you had formed; and I remember you told me,
that you had communicated to Mr. Wheler your Intentions regarding Cheit Sing ; and 1 believe
(though 1 cannot pofitively recolleét) you faid he had concurred in them.

1 am, with the greatelt Refpect, &c.

Mahdajee Sindia’s Camp, near Dutteah, D. Anderfon,] 9

the 14th January 1782.

THIRD PARCEL.

Num. g. A, |
Affidavit of Captain Davy.

Captain William Davy, private Perfian Tranflator to the Honourable Warren Haftings Efquire,
Governor General of Bcnﬁ &c. maketh Qath, and faith, That he underftands the Perfian
Language, and that the Englith Papers marked Num, 3. B, C, D, E, F, G, H, ], K, L,
M, N, O, P, Q, R, S, T, U, hereunto annexed, are reflpeitively true and faithful Tran{lates
of the feveral Perfian Papers, marked, 1 A, 2 A, 34, 44, 5A, 6A, 7A, 8 A, d9 A, 104,
1A, 124, 134, 144, 15A, 16 A, 17A, 18 A, 19 A, likewife htrcunto annexed, according
10 the beit of this Deponent’s Skill and Belief.

- Sworn before me this 1ath William Davy.
Day of December 1781,

E. Impey.
 Num.3. B.

Tranﬁzdon of the Declaration of Hyder Beg Khan, attefed before Chief Fufice Sir Elijah Impey,
Co November 26th 1781,

 When I arrived at the Seray of Saumee, the Gov. General, Mr. Haftings, was in the Fort
of Chunar. I was detained at the Seray by the Swelling of the River Burnau. The Vakeel of
the Rajah Cheit Sing came to me, and delivered to me thus the Meflage of the faid Rajah.— [
[Cheit Sing] have not been in _any Manner deficient in my Obedience to the Gendemen of
.h‘»gthaukghhe.Englfx_ﬂl]-—-The Governor General arrived at Banaris,—At the Inftigation of Owfan
Sing, Mr. Markham brought Two Companies, and put me in Arreft.

About Twelve o’Clock my People, firetching forth their Hands, brought me out from thence—
For the Safety of my Life I came to Kamnagur, and from thence to Luttecfpoor.—After that,
a Force came from Chunar to Ramnagur.~—~Owfan Sing wanted to feize upon Ramnagur. My
People ftood upon_their Defence; an Enogagement followed, and the Troops of the Governor
General were cut off. 1 am now determined not to pafs by aught which may be in my Power
to exceute. Do you (i. e. this Deponent) write thus to the Vizeer of the Empire, ¢ That if
Support is given to me, 1 will colleét togecher an Hundred thoufand Men, I will go even to Cal-

cuery, -apd.J will totally annihilate the Englith Government.” I replied to the Vakeel, * that this
Condudl, and thefe Declarations, would be produitive of Evil to the Rajah.—~When the Com- -

jes came to confine the Rajah, he fhould have gone:that Moment to the Governor General.—
Beaple fay ‘that be hefitated whether he fhould, or not, attend the Governor. If the Governot
Generdl had had any ill Intehtions towards him, he would have called together the Company’s Forces,
who ‘were ftationed in different Parts—To what Purpofe was it to come alone to Banaris? Or he
' 3 would
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would have feized him upon the Road. Such Intentions on the Part of the Governor Geaeral,
from this Retrofpection, are not to be conceived. If a Mafter and a Ruler exerts his Authority,
ftill there is no Caufe for Fear and Apprehenfion. On thefe Subjetts, with which you are
unacquainted, 1 will communicate Circumftances as they are. His Elighnefs is, in his Life and
in his Fortune, joined and united with the Company; and the Englith Gentlemen, The whole
of his Dominions is from them (or is theirs), nor does he with that there thould be any Diftin&ion
between his and theirs. Such Regard more efpecially does he pay to the firm and perfe&t Friend.
fhip which always fubfifted between the Governor General and his Highnels the late Nabob,
that he never will be led to deviate, even the Poiat of & Hair, from the Seatiments and Withes
of the Governor.  As foon as his Highnefs hcars thefe Things, he will march immediately with
his Forces to meet Mr. Haftings. Notwithftanding the Governar General has repeatedly wristen
to the Vizeer to forbid him, yet his Highnefs wiﬁ now come oo his own Determination. The
Englith Forces too are near at hand, they will fpeedily arrive, and the Punifhment will be fevere.
It is not well for the Rajah; he will be torn up by the very Roots.— To threaten alfo that which is
out of his Power to exccute, is improper ; the Rank of the Rajah is nothing more than that of a
Zemeedar 3 no one will pay regard to his Attempts, and a fmall Force will be fufficient to
chaftife him. Far better will it be for him to lay afide fuch Thoughts as thefe, to implore Par-
don of the Governor General, to give up his Forts, and fend back to him the Boats and the
whole of the Baggage; or rather, it would be better that he himfelf fhould go alone, and with
his Hands bound, into the Prefence of the Governor.’ - '
Again he brotht this Meflage from the Rajah: * I can no longer rely with Safety on the
Englith. If you fay thus, do you interpofe, obtain Pardon for my Faults, and take upon your-
klt to feutle the Subfidy.” [ faid in'Reply, ¢ Your Crimes have been too great; you have ac-
tacked the Troops of the Company. I cannot prefume to take upon myflf to fettle your Affairs,
and to obtain Pardon for your Crimes, . If you have aftually refolved on a Change of Conduét,
recurn the Boats and the Baggage, and give wp Ramnagur, Lutteefpoor, and Patecta. Supporced by
fuch Proofs, I will once endeavour to obtain a Pardon for you; to grant or to refufe will reft with
the Goveinor General.”  The Perlon who brought the Mcflage faid in* Anfwer, ¢ The Intentions
of the Rajah are to feize upon the Fort of Chunar, and to extend his Government as far as Cal-
cutta, and you tell him to deliver up Ramnagur, Lutteefpoor, and Patecta!’ I faid, ¢ Then the
Rajah, it appears, afpires to the Empire, yet his Rank is only that of a Zemeedar! thefe Attempts
will draw down Delfrué'tiou upon-him; he will be extirpared in a Moment.” After this Conver-
fation, he promifed to return the Boats, but he never performed his Promife. An Animofity to
all the Englifh, plainly and evidently appeared from the Language of the Rajah’s Vakeel ; he re-
Ecatedly faid, that he would go even to Calcutta, and that he would expel the Englith, nor would
¢ be deficient in aught which he had the Power to execute. When he found that he had no-
thing to hope from my Interpofition, he began to a&t hoftilely towards me alfo. He denied me
Boats to crafs the Burna, and he direéted the Tribe of Gurkbunfee to attack me in the Night.
During the few Days that 1 continued there, we were obliged to keep ourfelves ready for Aéion,
and be upon our guard Dy and Night: - In the'Neéighbouthood of' Jounpoar, the Peaple of the
Rajab wounded feveral of the Stragglers béldngigg to the Cavalry in his 'a],‘;lghnefo"a Service, who
were coming to join me, and carried off fome Horfes,  And the People : {fitioned at Azumgur,
who came in to me, fet forth, That Nadir Shah, ‘the Son of Azum Shah, Zemeedar of Azum-
gur, which was formerly under the Government of Cheit Sing, had, by Directions from the Rajah,
gone to Azumgur and raifed Diturbances, And the Vakeel of Cheit Sing, in the Courfe of -
his Converfation, faid, that the Rajah had fent Forces towards the Carramnaffa, and even to the
Walls of Pasna; and that Leteers were gone to the King, to Nujjuf Khan, and o Sindiah, Zaulim
Sing, formerly expelled from Amurde%. was at Budlapoor, ‘in the Government of Cheit Sing:
He allo went to Amurdeh, in the Territories of the Nabob, and raifed Difturbances. It appears
that the People of Budlapoor accompanied Zaulim Sing, Such were the Reports communicated
to me by the People of that Place, Finding it impraicable to crofs the Burna, where I was,
without Boats, I marched from thence, and crofling ' higher up, 'where the River was fordable, I
proceeded to join the Governor Geberal, i TR o ‘
This Account of what'l heard, and of what I faw, I have truly and faithfully related. There
may be a Difference between the Idioms of the Hindoftan and " Perfian Lianguages, but there.is
none in the Senfe. I {wear by the Almighty, ‘that I have truly wrote, without Diminution ot Ad-
dition, .11 that I heard and 41l that I faw, and nothimg but the Trath, ' ° "~ -~ = - Jed o0

“Hyder Beg, That which in wrireep laitrue,

~” Sealed with his Seal. "
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o /! o Juflice Sir Elfiéh Tmpey, December of
Withou the Means of Efcape, T.was obliged %0 put &

Brother take thelier in the Hiodoo
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Eight Days. At length a Fakeer, for the fake of the Reward, went to Girdhauree Laul, the
Brother of Diaram, Aumeen of Banaris, and faid, that for a Recompenle he would feize and de-
liver toe up. The faid Girdhaurce Laul gave Five Rupees to the Fakeer, and fent Five-and-
twenty Peadahs alrms with him, who took me from the Temple, and confined me for twenty-two
Days in the Aumeen’s Kutcherree, My Pen is unable to defcribe the Ignominy, and the Severi-
ties which they inflicted upon me. After that, I was confined for Four Days at Ramnagur, and
at length, on the 27th of Ramzan, in the Twenty-third Year of the Reign, [ was tied Hand and
Foot and thrown upon a Dooly, and fent away from Ramnagur to Lutteefpoor. On the Road,
near to the Houfe of the Chowdry Sewan, I faw a Number of Ladders made of Wood and Bam-
boos (about Forty or Fifty) lying on the Ground. I enquired of the Peadahs who guarded me,
what thofe Ladders were intended for. They replied, that they had been intended for the Garden
of Mehadew Dofs, but it was ordained, that the Englith Gentlemen fhould live: They made their
Ffcape, otherwile Bauboo Soojaun Sing would not have left one of them alive.  Having heard this
Reply, 1 remained filent,

o Moonthy Gore Perfhaud.
Num. 3. D.

Tranflation #f tke Depofition of Hurry Ram Pundit.~Tbe Deponent fworn befare Chief Juftice
Sir Elijah Impey, December 2d 1781,

The Rajah Cheit Sing, having refle€ted on his Condut, determined with his confidential
People, that it was necelfary he himielf fhould go to meet Mr. Haftings, buc that he fhould go
from the Place where he was, with fuch a Force, and with fuch Preparations, as would cnable
him to act both by Land and by Water, and imprefs the above-mentioned Gentleman with an Idea
of ‘his fuperior Strength; for that Mr. Haftings had with him but a {mall Numoer of Troops, and
if he fhould have entertained any ill Intentions toward him, on obferving the Number and Force
of his Followers, he would be led to refle®, that nothing could be effected, and confequently be
deterred from making the Attempt; therefore he gave %nformation and particular Diceétions to
all his Soldiers and Attendants, that he was going to meet Mr. Haltings, and that they thould
hold them(elves in Readinefs to proceed: That he fhould go by Water, for which Purpofe, a
Fleet of Boats was prepared ; for the before-mentioned Gentleman (the Governor General) would
come by Water, and confequently his Fleet of Boats would ¢ome with him; therefore it was
neceflary, that he (the Rajah) fhould have a Fleet of Boats alfo, that his People might always be
near at hand: That a Body of Cavalry moreover thould proceed by Land, and Tents be pitched
at Two Places between Ramnagur and Buxar; for ar all Events he muft meet the Governor Ge-
neral. Accordingly, on the xégth ot Shaubaun, the Rejah fet our from Ramnagur, by Water, to
meet Mr. Hattings. The Jemmadars and Huzzarries, Jaafir Khan, Dillall Khan, Juttoo Khan,
Zubburduft Khan, Lulloo the Son of Kauna Mull, Rambukh, Baulkithen, &c. all together near
Five hundred Horfe; dlfo. Jemmadars of Foot, with Matchlock Men, 8cc.- near Two thoufand,
proceeded along the Southern Bank of the Ganges. And by Water, the Rajah was attended by
a Fleet of Boats, in Number about a hundred and Forty, in which were embarked Suddanund
Buxey, Golaum Hoofltiv Tay, Mirza Fyz-ullah Beg, Bauboo Doorgbijey Sing, Munntar Sing,
Purtaub Roodur Sing, Doond Bahadre Sing, Ahlaud Miffur, Meer Hooflein Ally, 8c. Sheakh
Mazhommed Aumeen, Commandant of ,:h'egScpoy Battalions, Dabee Sing, Mahommed Moraud,
Dhun Sing, and Hukkoomut Sing, Soubadars, with T'wo Companics of Sepoys, Huzzooree
Peadahs, and Matchlocks, in all about 2000 Men. . Godur Mull and Bullum Dafs, who were
ftationed at Ghauzipoor, juined by Orders from the Rajah, who afterwards arrived at Buxar, and
had an Interview wich Mr, Haltings.

ST o Written by Hurry Ram Pundit,

[Num. 3. E.

Tranflation of tbe Depofition of Jewan Ram Moonthy, in the Service of the late Licutenant
Stalker.—The Deponent fworn before Chief Juftice Sir Elijah Impey, December 2d 1781.

Afesr the Arrival of Mr. Markham at Shewallah, 1 went in and paid my Reipe@s to m
Matter; who afked me, if 1 knew whether Mr, Markham would come there or noc? 1 replied,
Jt was reported fo, but that it depended on his Inclinstions. Mz, Stalker then told me, I might
go, but afterwards ordered me to ftay, 1 continued there, and faw Doorgbijey Sing fitting with
the Rajah in the center Apartment, and Suddanund :Buxcy and others whifpering to the Rajah.
Shortly after, News wad brought to the. Three Gentlemen fitting in the adjoining Room, thac
there were Difputes without, " Mr, Stalker, went without the Jauli (or Firft Wall) and afked the
Sabadgr Bithun Sing, why he had ordered the Bayonets to be fixed? The Subadar replied,
that Numbers of the Rajah’s. armed Servants had come in, and that they paid no regard to

- Comipany’s Orders,  After which, Mr, Stalker advanced further out, and afked of the
younger Mowllavy and me, who amongft thofe Péople was the Chief? I anfwered Bauboo
Mypnent: Sing, Mr. Stalker fent for. Munnear Sing, and ftrongly enjoined him to appeafe his
Bgﬂﬁ:m eaquire, why they attemipted to difpute and fight with his Sepoys.  Munnear Sing
replied, ** Whas Power have they, that any one of them fhould prefume to fighe? WcF‘I‘s:lo,

actner




236 -
( 3 ) Arpenpix,

Father and Son, are defirous to go to the Rajah.” M. Stalker anfwered, ¢ Very well, but you
muft ftay here between your People and mine, that they may not come to Blows.” After that
a Letter arrived from the Governor to the Rajah, which Mr. Stalker, having quieted and foothed
the People, prefented to him: The Rajah then got up, and went out of the Burradurri to the
adjacent Baftion, to perform his Devotions. )

At this Time Information was brought to Mr. Stalker, thac the Rajah's People oppofed and
refufed Admittance to another Company of Sepoys who had brought Provifions, a ‘T'able, &c.
for the Gentlemen. Mr. Stalker again went out, and calling to Suddanund Buxey, afked the
Caufc of this Oppofition ; and told him to fend Direélions (to the Rajah’s People).  Suddanund
faid he would go himfelf, Mr. Stalker replied, ** No, fend One of your Servants,” While the
Man was going out to filence the People, Mr. Stalker returned within the Jauly, Doorgbijey
Sing was gone from thence no one knew whither. Cheit Ram, Mr. Markham’s Chubdar, in-
formed Mr. Stalker, that he had a Mefiage to deliver to the Rajah from the Governor General,
Mr. Stalker faid, ¢ Deliver it.” He, the Chubdar, faid, ¢ At the Place where the Rajah was
at his Devotions, the Governor fays your People want to quarrel and fight; it will be better if
you forbid them, for every Sepoy is as an European, and every European is as a (or the) Com=
pany; if a Drop of their Blood is fhed, you fhall be plundered and deftroyed.” At this Period,
there was a Report of Guns at the Gate of Shewallah; the Ation was commenced, At this
Time, Mr. Stalker and Cheit Ram went towards the Rajah. Munnear Sing and others cut
down Cheit Ram, pulled Mr. Stalker back, and pufhing him on one Side, began the Slaughter.
The Rajah efcaped through a Window by a Rope made of Turbans, got into a Boat, and
went off, His People, by the fame Means, drew up Swords and Shields as a Bucket is drawn
up from a Well, and began to cngag. I ftood near the Jau{}y behind my Mafter; when my
Mafter was killed, ! fied toward the Place where the Rajah’s Vicuals was drefled. [ continued
there a fhort Time, and faw the Rajah's People jump from the Walls and the Trees with their
Shiclds and Swords, and advance, Afier this I affumed the Chara@er of one of Cheit Sing’s
Servants, fled with bis People, and came to the Prefence. The Gentlemen after this went to
Chunar, and I thould have asrived the next Day, but I was plundered on the Road and con-
fined in the Fors of Pinders. Disram took away from my Houfe Two Tangon Hotfes, and
placed his Seal and a Guard upoa the Door.  After the Flight of the Rajah, the Zémeedar of
the before-mentioned Fort fet me at Liberty. Without a Mafter, every way difconfolate, to
whom can I communicate my Diftrefs? 1 now hope for Favour and Support from the Almighty,

and from you.
Jewan Ram.] £

Nvas. 3. F.

Tranflation of tbe Depofition of Bifben Sing.—Tbe Deponent fuworn before Chief Juftice Sir
_ Elijah Impey, December 2d 1781, SR ‘

1 had Two Locks of Mufkets fixed on my Ears, ' Bauboo Soojaun Sin%_ fent for me by Ram
Kithen Hircarrah to come into his Prefence,~FHe faid, “ Deliver up the Trunks of Gold Mo-
hurs which the Governor delivered over to your Care when he went to Chunar.,” 1 fet forth,
That I did not know any thing about fuch Trunks. He then gave Orders to the Sepoys to
prefs the Locks hard, (faying) that without Severity I would not be prevailed upon to give them
up; and then the Blood ran from both my Ears. | ‘

S “ e a Written by Bithen Si

- the 4¢h of the Mo:g: Ramzan, Year 23d.
Num. 3. G,

Tranflation of the Depofition of she Moonthy Patnimul.—fbe Deponent fworn before Chief
. © " Joftice Sir Elijah Impey, 2d December 1781, 4 :

The Depofition of Patnimul Moonthy. On the lat Day of the Month of Ramazan, in the
Year of the Reign Twentythree, the Gentlemen went ©o Chunar, 1 was unable to accompany
them for want of a' Conveyance.” Withoum Remedy, I remained in the Houfe of ‘one -of the
Inhabitants for Eight Days,  The Aumeen Disram daily canfed s Proclamation, 10, ¢his ' Pur-

rt, tobe M’hmu%‘h the Ct(’t “In the Wk‘df WhOMfOGMIPCrtOﬂ be o %9 the
E:-th Gentlemen msy be feereted, $et the Owner bring ‘him to the Auvmeen’s | or

deliver bim uf mrmmmwg: ere Paron balingig
Gorerentof e R, iy Hoa sad Fropry ol be achroped, e o ey Bl e

ript open.”l
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Num. 3. H.

Tranflation df the Depofition of the Moonthy Gore Perfhaud.—Tbe Deponent fiworn before
Chief Juftice Sir Elijah Impey, 2d December 1781,

When the Gentlemen marched for Chunar 1 was not informed of it. I knew it about Four
Gurries after. In Terror for my Life, I fecreted mgclf in the Houfe of Baubso,Duffan Ram,
1 continued undifcovered for One Dayj the nexe Day the faid Bauboo Duflan Ram fuid to me,
¢ To-day there has been a Proclamation through the City to this Purport, Whoever bas fecreted
a Follower of the Englifb in bis Houfe, le¢t bim produce and deliver bim wup, otberwife, on Difcovery,
bis Houfe /ball be feized, and be bimfelf foall be feverely punifbed. 1 cannot keep you in my Houfe,

from my Houfe to fome other Place.” Without Remedy, I put on the Habit of a Fakeer,
and took fhelter in the Temple of Arnapoorna.

Gore Perfhaud.

Num. 3. L

Tranflation of ke Depofition of Doond Sing, Commandant.—Tbe Deponent fworn before Chicf
_ Juttice Sir Elijah Impey, November 26th 1781,

In the Month Phagun a Jemmadar and a Havildar, in the Service of Soojaun Sing, the Bro-
ther of Rajah Cheit Sing, came to me, and faid, * Soojaun Sing has fent for you.”” I afked, ¢ On
what Account has he fent for me *—they replicd, ** We do not know.”—I faid, * Iam a Ser-
vant to the [inglifh, 1 will not go to him.” They [then] faid, ¢ He has fent for you, to take you
into his Service.”--I anfwered, ¢ From my Youth to .this Day 1 have been the Servant of the
Englith; 1 have never gone to any Rajahs or Bauboos, nor will 1 go to them.” When thofe
Peopic returned to Soojaun Sing, they faid, ¢ Doond Sing, the Commandant (i. e. this Depo-
nent), refufes to come.” The Rajah Futteh Saw alio wrote to the Rajub Cheit Sing, to place a
Guard over my Houfe at Banaris, in which Cafe 1 fhould Sbc obliged to) join him with my Se-
poys and Guns. This Information was given to me by the Jemmadar Chaint Sing. 1 faid, * My
Houfe, and my Wife, and my Children, may be deftroyed.—Still I am the Servant of the Eng-
lith, and | am faithful and loyal. By the Bleffing of God, in a fhort Time we alfo fhall go to
Banaris and plunder that Rajah, and we will fpoil the Rajah Futtch Saw alfo.” At Sukroreh I
was infc\rmccf that a Guard was placed at my Houfe.

Tbe Commandant Doond Sing mot being able to write, cither in Perfian or Hindee, bas made bis Mark.

Num. 3. K.

Tranflation of the Dcpoﬁzion of the Moonfby Mahommed Moraud.—7be, Deponent fworn before
Chief Juftice Sir Eljah Impey, Nov. 26th 1781.

On the 19th of Ramzan the Captain* iffued Orders to all the Subadars for marching towards
Banaris, and direCted them to get in Readinefs. The next Day we marched to Burragong.
The Captain had mounted his Horfe to proceed, and 1 was in the Rear in Search of a Conveyance
for my Baggage, when Five or Six Sepoy Grenadiers and others came and furrounded me, and
demanded their Pay, in confequence of which a grear many more of the Sepoys came and
clamoured for their Pay, and ill ufed me; and they brought me down from the Bungala, and
beat me feverely with the Butt-ends of their Pieces, and charged Bayonets even to my Breaft, fo
that my Life was in Danger. A Hircarrah carried Information of this Affair to the Caprain, who,
on receiving it, turned back and arrived immediately. ~ All the Sepoys then turned their Clamours
againft the Captain, ufing infulting Language ; and they furrounded .him and faid thac uniefs
they received  their Pay they would not fet him at Liberty—that if I fhould pay them, well; if
not, they would carry me to Baunfy, whicl-is near to Kunkooa; and that, when they fhould receive
the Whole of their Pay from me, they would fet me free.—-They moreaver placed a Guard with
fixed Bayenets over the Captain, and pointed Bayonets. to his Breaft to ftab him; and they ruthed
upon us feveral Times, fo that we gave up ourfelves for loft, In this Situation the Capeain ordered
them back, and gave them Threc Months Pay s and then propofed to them to march with him to
Banarts, The Sepoys anfwered infolemly, thar they would not on any Account go to Banaris.
Without Remedy, the Captain marched.from thonee with the Battalion, and arrived at Gooruck.

oor. He halted there. s few Days, purchafed Grain for the Sepoys, and marched from thence
Eydeay of Baunfy.  We- halted Six Days st Baunfy on account of the heavy Rains; we af-

. sersbiggie:matched from thence; and sfter encountering’ & thoufend Diftreffes arrived at Bufkoreh.
The paft Events, which are known to cvery one, 1 have thus related. ‘
‘ ‘ : : : . Mahommed Moraud,
and fealed with his Seal.

e

* Captain Williams,
30
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Num, 3e L.

Tranfation of ¢b¢ Depofition of Doond Sing, Commandant.—~Tke Deponent fworn before Chief
Juttice Sir Elijah Impey, November 26th 1781, _

It appears from the Letter of Ram Sing Jemmadar, ftationed at Mutcholi, that the Rajuh
Ajeet Mull, the Rajah Futteh Saw, and Genoo Roy, had engaged themiclves to each other
by Oath to crofs the Rivers Gogra and Surjoo, for as much as they had received a Letter from
the Rujah Cheit Sing, and the Sum of Fifteen thoufand Rupees, to cut off the Englith in the
Diftriét of Surwur, and drive them out; and L.etters have arrived from Fuueh Saw, to all the
Zemeedars, great and {mall, to withhold the Colie@ions, and not to pay a fingle Daum 15 the
Enghth; and the faid Futteh Saw fent near Two hundred Men, with Martchlocks, into che
Jungle of Burragong, and near to Kunkooa, After Three Days, the Three Rajahs crofied the
River, and encamped in the Jungle; and it was reported from all Quarters, that the Zemeedars
had fhut up all the Ghauts on the Rivers, and funk all the Boats; and | wrote an Account of
thele Things to Major Macdonald and Captain Williams, and told them that there were greac
Dijturbances in the Country, and that there were Reports alfo that the Rajahs would crofs the
River. And | wrote thefe Things to Major Macdonald, that he might inform the Colonel that
the Road to Banaris was fhut up, for fear the Caprain fhould march from that Quarter towards
Banaris; it was alfo reported among the People, that Three Gentlemen had been killed at Ba-
naris, Afier fome Days the Captamn arrived at Kunkooa, and after a Halt of Three Dayrs,
gave Orders for marching, and direéted all the Sepoys to get ready, and about Nine o’Clack in
the Morning on the Sixth of September, he marched, and came to the Bank of the River Khau-~
khi; it then rained exceflively.  When we arrived at the Khaukhi, the Captain ordered the Troops
10 be croffed over the River; agreeable to Orders, I croffed them over, When, afler a thou-
fand Diftrelfes, we had croffed the River, the Captain faid that there were many Rivers in the
Road, and no Boats on any of them; that the Ghauts were thut up, and no Grainto be procured
on the March for the People; how then would it be.poffible to pas the Guns and Troops through
fuch a Country? It would be better, he faid, to go to Banaris by Way of Buxar; therefore we
again croffed the River Khaukhi, and encamped after marching Half a Cofs from it. = He (then)
gave Orders for marching toward Khunkooa. Moving from the Khaukhi the Caprain with the
T'toops srrived at Khunkooa; he then told all the Subadars and Jemmadars, thar the Rajah
Futteh Saw, with his Force, was pofted on the Road, and that it was neceflary 1o atrack and
drive him from thencey that he would halr a few Days at Nuddy Kaunoon, and then march to-
ward Banaris. It was now known that the Sepoys of the Battalion bad faid, ¢ Let them give us
our Pay, and wherever they go, we will go with them;” 1o which the Subadars replicd, ¢ they
might tuke ic wherever they found it.” ~ The faid Subadars neither confined thofe Sepoys, nor
informed me of the Circpmitance, I received the information from Chaint Sipg Jemmadar, The
Subadar of Grenadicrs ftationed & Sepoy behind his Hackery, aad told him, he might either pro-
€t and convey it to his (the Subada's) Houfe, or he might leave it t0 be plundered by the
Country People. The Sepoy told him to fet his Mind at relt, for that he would convey it fafe
to his Dwelling. At Night, after Twelve o’Clock, 1 made my Keport to the Captain, who
ordered me to_go with Bukhtawur Sing, Subadar to the Sepoys, to fatisfy and explain to them,
that he would give them their Pay when they arrived ar Burragong. In the Morning we march-
ed a fmall Diftance toward Burragong,  Firt, a Sepoy pulled off his Coat, and drew his Bayonet
on the Captain; the Subadars and Jemmadars did not interpole or check him; the Caprain faid,
I will pay this Sepoy and difmifs him—do you marchian.” I obeyed his Orders, and marched ;
but the Sepoys quitted their Colours and their Guns, and afiembled st Khunkooa, The Su--
badars and Jemmadars faid nothing {10 preveat: 5h¢fxi{. " Seeing the Situagion of Things, 1. dire®ed

“the Jemmadar Kihaul Sidg to" take wich him Twelve Sepoys, and go fo the Captais, shat he
“might kibow how Things were. * After which, Qrders from the Capuain came,  to return back and
join him; 1 went back, and faw that the Sepoys had mutinied viclently that they had drawn
their Bayoncts, and were threatening the Capuiiny’ poreover, Thren of the Sepoyy Jgaded their
Pieces to fire at him, and they demanded Fout Months Pay ; and moft of the Sepoys.faid, #* Let
him pay us all our Arrears, and he may go where he pledfes;” when the Seyays had segived
their Pay, they {aid, one and all, * 'W¢ will not’ go'wo Burragangy we. will go gorthe Beg
at Fyzabads if e will rewin -ug, we will fig acry o i
the Rajilk Cheir Sing, and . Seadh
dats 1o tell the Captain.to march,
ftationed at Nuthlgle were: cobiggy e £oh 4 (G ‘hy
“ L.et the Captiin. tarch, we islimeer the Compdnics. on*the Road
~ laleed tilt the Fwo Companies artivedi he then Rge Hyrdeaul Sing, C
1o 12l thedy chat the People (i, e, the T'wo Comptnies) were fatigned
Duy, that thole Péople might raceive 'their Pay alfo; and then |
pitwied. o Jilten vo Hordeadl Sing: :  The Capram chen feut or the
10 go und perfusde the Sepoys to make ooe-Hale, vhag e migh

The Sepoys were prevailed. upon 20 hals by the Subiadgrs, asd-

pever;. the: Capain
pdant, to the Scms,
st they lhould hajt One
dd march.  The:Sgooys
tbadars, wd*toid th¥n

e Two Companies thelr Pay.
thie “Captain paid fh.e?'-‘&gri?;;
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The next Morning the Captain fent a Man to the Chucklahdar, and dire@ed him to march alfo,
He fent Word, that he was colle@ing Cartle for the Baggage, and that he would march as foon
as he had got them; it was afterwards heard, that the Chucklahdar had given Twelve thoufand
Rupees to Futteh Saw——the faid Rajah demanded Twenty thoufand from the Chucklahdar, pro-
mifing to proteft him—And it was currently reported through the Country, that Saadut Ally
Khan was the Nabob, aad that the Englith Government was overthrown.  After chis we marched
from Kunkooa; the Captain purchafed Grain for the Sepoys; the Waters were out from the
beavy Rain ; and whoever loitered behind was plundered by the Villagers,  'When we arrived at

Baunfy, we were obliged to halt Six Days on account of the Rains; after that we marched and
arrived at Bufkroreh, but there were many Rivers and Nullahs in the Road,

Deond Sing, Commandant, not knowing to write eitber Perfian or Hindoo, has made bis Mark.

Num. 3. M.

“Tranflation of the Depofition of Ahlaud Sing, Subadar, fatiencd in the Fort of Gooruckpoor.
—~Tbe Depunent fwaorn before Chicf Juftice Sir Elijah Impey, 26th November 1751,

I had confined under my Guard, in the Fort of Gooruckpoor, Onc hundred and Fifteen Bur-
gomauls, Inhabitants of Surwaur, On the 15th of Ramzan, the Rajah of Gooruckpoor, the
Zemecdars of Oulooleh, Bechouly, &c. &c. great and fmall, likewite all the Inhabitants of
Gooruckpoor, with $Six thout2nd Matchlocks, and great Numbers of Country People, armed with
Clubs, at Four Gurries of the Ni&ht furrounded the Fort, and made an Atack by Surpnfe
but the Sepoys on Guard at the Baltions were uwake; they began to fire, and an Aétion imme-
diately followed,  Seeing that the Country People were in grear Numbers, T went to each of the
Baftions, and enccuraged the Sepoys, and called them to me into the Body of the Place, and
formed them cogether. 1 left » Havildar and Ten Sepovs at the Rung Mahul, o protedthe
Baggage; but it was Night Time; the Country People made an Aflavlt with Ladders, and
entcred the Fort, and both Parties fought refolutely, At this Time they placed Y.adders againit
the Inner Fort, toward the South, and entered upon the Baltion: 1 frized ao advaniageous Op-
portunity (attacked) and killed Seventeen of the Epemyon the Baftion, and wourded feveral
others, About Half after Ten at Night they made an Attack vpon the Weflera Ballion: As there
“was a Straw Chupper gn-that Baltiop, ] took Shelcerunder it, and threw down, with all my Force,
a Part of the Brick Battlement on the Efienry, by which Four of them were killed ; One oiher fell
by a Mufquet Ball; and they retreated. A Third Time, about Three o’Clock in the Morning,
the Country People raifed a great Shout, and attacked us again: 1 was then engaged on the Inner
Fort Battion: Scubunfe Havildar was pofted, with Twelve Sepoys, to guuard the Burgomauls;
they ruthed upon him in a Body, and Seubunfe called out to me, with a loud Voice, thac the Bur-
gomauls had attacked him: I gave him Orders to put them all to the Swordy he inftantly ftruck
off the Heads of Eighteen Burgomauls, and threw them out, and he wounded feveral others. The
Morning now broke, and I entertained a Hope that the Knemy would fiy, and that the People of
the Town would certainly join me ; but the Country People, the Fougedar, 8¢, were all united
with the Rajah ; they Difted up their Arms, and faid, The Doway * of the Naibob Saadut Ally
Khan, and the Begum, has fptead thropgh the Country; for the Rajah Cheit Sin
deftroyed all the Enghfh, and Letters have come to the Rajahs to put the Dependants of the
Linglith to the Sword, wherever they may be found: And he faid, “ Where will they go? the
Country is mine; I am a Bhonear Rajah, how long will they (be able to) oppofe me# In
fuch Difcourfe T'wo Gurries of the Morning had «paﬁ‘cﬁ away, [From the Laftern to the Weftern
Gate, within the Mahul, thcl furrounded the lnner Fort on all Sides, and the A&ion was renewed.
We continued engaged for Five Pahr (Fifteen*Elours) with the Enemy, without tafling either
Food or Water. At this Time, Furhaud Beg came from the Rajah Bhonear to make Propofals,
of ‘which he informed me by Ooc of my People. The Havilder Superfaud faid, ¢ Perhaps
st the Rajah has fent him to tupport.us; no Matter, let him be called;” fo I fent for him, and
he came up to the Gate of the Inner E\q\rﬂt, and when be faw me, he fiid to me, * You have no
Mafters; the Englith are all killed, and the Colonel and Mt. Gordon are confined by the
. Begum,” - T gave him infulting Langpage in Reply to this, ;s0d  told him to tell chis Story to
- the Sepoys who were with me ; and he did repeat it, “with a loud Voice, to the Sepoys; and faid
to them, ** You have no Malters ; give up the Burgomauls, that they may enter into the Rajah’s
- Service, or go where they. think, proper.””  In Reply we faid, “ The good Fortune of our
- Mafers is on our Side, and while we have Life 'we’ will fight s and we will not give up the
ng:;gﬁmpu." At this Jun@ure’ Selamut Khan Jemmadir of Grenadiers, with Nine
- Sepuys; oanexpetedly acrived ig the Tows from Nevownsh: My People from the Inner Fort faw
that & Company had arrived near o the Cutwill's Chubbootre ; they gave a loud Shout, and faid,
TR Mipany of Grenadiers is arrived fw‘m Kunkoon,” and their Spirits were raifed; and we
‘ Gage of the Furt, and Selamut Khan joined us. The Bravery and Refolution of Selamut

g has
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Khan are not to be defcribed.  When the Enemy beheld the Arrival of Selamut Khan Jemmadar,
they turned their Faces to Flight: I purfued them with my People through the Weftern Gate, and
many of the Enemy were Killed and wounded, and Numbers were kilied and Numbers were
drowned in the River ; and, by the Blefling of God, weobrained the Vitory. I returned into
the Fort, and immediately fecured Perhaud Beg and Fyz-oolla Beg, who had come to make Pro-
pofals about the Burgomauls; I wrote an Account of the Whole of this Affair to the Colonel,
and to the Captain®,  After a few Days, an Order came from the Colonel to Munnowur Khan,
direCting, that if the Rajah Muftapha Khan had been put to Deach, welly if not, firike off his,
Head. Munnowur Khan fhewed me the Order. I faid, ** The Order is not written to me; I
will write to the Colonel on the Subje@. ” Andit was underftood from the Country People, that
the Captain was marching towards Banaris, (but) that the Grenadier Sepoys had mutinied, and
demanded their Pay; that the Captain gave them Three Months Pay, and propofed to them to
march with him to Banaris : The Sepoys all anfwered, that they would go to Bungulla, and deliver up
their Arms at the Gate of the Begum ; in confequence of which,athe Captain was obliged to give
up his Intentions of going to Banaris, and return to Gooruckpoor; and he gave Orders, that the
Head of Muftapha Khan fhould. be ftruck off; and he was beheaded accordingly ; and a Pro-
clamation was made through the Town, that thofe who were guilty of fuch Crimes would meet
with the fame Punithment. The Capuain halted for fome Days, and brought up Grain for the
Sepoys. At this Time, the Brother of Seobaun Sing, Pulwaun Sing, with a thoufand Match-
locks, and others, Country People, was at Gooruckpoor 3 and they raifed an Outcry, and faid
that the Englith thould not remain in the Town, and they prepared for Aftion; fo the Captain
croffed the Raubty. A Bullock Man belonging to the Artillery, who returned into the Town to
buy Fodder, they put to Death. Marching from thence, in Four Days the Caprain arrived at
Baunfy. The Ranny of Baunfy came to fee him, but her Son prepared for Hofhlidies ; he faid,
“ They have firuck off the Head of our Rajah at Gooruckpoor, and I will be revenged.” We
marched f-om thence; and the Rajah of Bulrampoor, with his Pcople, had thrown up an In-
trenchment acrofs the Road ; and he faid, * It is the Begum’s Orders, that you thall not march by
this Road,” ‘With the greateft Hazard and Caution we marched from thence, and arrived ac
Koonda, and the Country People retired into the Feort. - o
This is a true Account which I have fet forth, | y

- : Ahlaud Sing.

Nuvm. 3. N.

‘Tranflation of the Depofition of Denoo Sing, Subadar.—~%e Deponent fworn before Chief Jultice
Sir Elijsh Impey, November 26th 1781, :

*On the 16th of Ramzam, an Order came to me from the Commandér of the Battalion, that a
Jemmadar and Scpoys belonging to the Company of Dut Sing were coming 1o me; that I hould
deliver over to him'the Fort and the Gun, gnd the Burgomapls, dnd that I myfelf thould march
and join Mr. Gordon ‘at Taundeh. On the 13th the faid Jemmadar and S?pay.s, joined me ac
Dummooreah Gunge ; and, bting relieved on the fame Day, on the:t4th of the faid Month [
marched towards Taundeh, The Zemeedars and Villagers forrounded us all the Way from Dum. -
mooreah Gunge to Ruddouly, and they faid, * The Government of the Colonel is at an End;” but
they had not the Refolution to attack s, - They alfo faid, ** The Rajah Cheit Sing bas cut off the
Eoglith Forces at Banaris; deliver up your Baggage, it /is the Order of the Begum.” In this
Situation'I replied, ¢ The Baigzge'hgionWm {8, ‘and we have Ammunition to defend ity if any
one choofes to attack jt, let him come.” . 'We lay the whole Night on our ‘Arms at Ruddouly.
We marched the next Morning, and arrived at Buftyy but got no Intélligence of Mr. Gordon to
enable us to join him.  Ghuffoor Beg, ‘Subadar 8F the Nabob’s Artillery, told me that Bauboo
Dhun Sing, with a-thoufand Magchiocks, had taken Polt in the Jutigle of Bufty, and that he had
moreover funk all the Boats on the River, T halted Six 'Fours at Butty, fearching after Boats; at
laft 1 procured a very fanall one, and when T was abotz o crofy, the Subadar Bejy Sing arrived, after .
a March of Twenty Cofs, in which March o Sepoy and ‘Three ‘Horfes were killed, and Four
Sepoys wounded. .Bcjy,.Si:?-dgﬁmd 1 would ftop for T'wo or Three Gurry, till his Peaple had age

theit Vidtumls, for they had marched Tweaty Cofs. | At the Time shat Beiy Sing's. Sepobs’ hid
untied their Commurbunds. hidaﬁge ;bf:ir&:m:i;:fhm dntty. People, with Bauboo DG %
came and furrpunded us i the Village of Bult ience of eloived s upon.
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madars were imprifoned at Taundeh by Orders from the Begum ; that many of the Sepoys had
deferted, and feveral had been killed : When [ heard this News, and that the Ghauts on the River
were fhut, and that the Rajahs, with Six thoufand Matchlocks, had furrounded Ahlaud Sing in the
Fort of Gooruckpoor, with an Intention to fet the Burgomauls at Liberty 5 I determined to march
to Gooruckpoor: On the Road, News arrived that through the good Fortune of our Mafters, all
the Country People had been put to Flight, and that Ahlaud Sing had obtained the Victory ; in
confequence of which I went to Mukhur, and there 1 faw that all the Pergunnah Aumils of that
Country had taken fhelter in the Monument of Kubbeer Daus; from them I learned, that it was
the Begum’s Orders to cut off all thofe who were conneéted with the Englith in Surwar, where-
ever they might be found. T alfo heard that the Rajah Cheit Sing had defiroyed all the Englith
Troops, and that Three of the Englith had been killed ; it was alfo reported, that the Authority
of the Nabob Saadut Ally Khan and the Begum was eftablithed throughout all the Country, 1
marched from Mukhur, and arrived at the Fort of Gooruckpoor.  After this 2 Letter came from
Bauboo Aject Sing to Ahlaud Sing, to this Purport, ¢ Dcliver over the Burgomauls to me, and
1 will caufe you to be conduéted wherever you think proper to go; or (if you think proper) enter
into my Service, for you have no Mafter; why will you give yourfelves up to Deftruétion 2 We
and Ahlaud Sing fent a verbal Anfwer, That the Fartune of our Matters was on our Side; if he
thought proper he might come; that while we had Life we would not give up the Burgomauls,
but that we would puc them all o the Sword, We wrote an Account of thefe Things to the Co-
lonel, and received the following Anfwer, that we fhould maintain our Po&t in the Fort, and that
we thould march toward him with the Captain (when he arrived). It was now known that the
Captain intended to march to Banaris by the Road of Nuddi Kaunoon; but that the Grenadiers
had mutinied, and obliged him to return. It was alfo heard that Futteh Saw, and Genoo Roy,
and Rajah Aject Mull, &c. had refolved to attack the Caprain, becaufe Letters had come from
the Rajah Cheit Sing to all the Zemeedars, to this Purport, ¢ Wherever there are Dependants of
the Enghith, kill and drive them out.” It was moreover reported, that when the Captain marched
to Kunkooa, on his Way to Banaris, the Grenadiers made a Difturbance, and demanded their Pay »
That he gave Three Months Pay to the Sepoys, to prevail upon them to march with him to Ba-
naris, but that thofe Cowards would not confent; they faid, * We will not go to Banaris: We are
the Servants of the Begum and Saadut Ally Khan; we will deliver up our Guns and our Arms at
the Gate of the Begum.”— Without Remedy, the Captain was obliged, by the Difobedicnce of his
Troops, to march to Gooruckpoor, where we joined him; moreover Pulwaun Sing, the Brother
of the Rajah Soobaun Sing, came with a thoufand Matchlocks, and he and the ?nhabimnts of
Gooruckpoor raifed a Clamour, demanding that the Captain fhould march from thence, and they
killed the Brother of the Chowdry of the Bullock Men, who went into the Town to buy Fodder.
At this Time Half the Troops had crofled the Raubty, when the foregoing Accident happened ;
the Captain marched by the Way of Baunfy. After our Arrival at Bauniy it rained Six Days
without Intermiffion. The Ranny of Baunfy came to fee the Captain, but her Son flood prepared
for Hoftilities. After Six Days, we marched from thence to Purtaul Buckra, from thence to
Dummoorea Gunge; marching from thence, we halted at Chunderdeep for Two Days; when
we marched from thence the Captain went on in Front; Hurdeaul, Commandant, was in the Rear;
a Skirmifh enfued between him and the Country Pcc;plc ; Two of them were taken Prifoners, and
One was killed by a Mufket Shot. We marched from that Place to the Nullah of Attroleh,
Three Cofs to the Weftward; we marched from Attroleh, and were oppofed, near Bulrampoor,
by about Two thoufand Country People; but when the Battalion and Gun were drawn up front-
ing them, they gave way and fled; the Road cleared, we marched, and encamped at the Nuddy
Koaubch ; we continued there One Night, and marched to Gonedeh. When we arrived at Go-
nedeh, the Country People quitted our Rear.  This is a true Account which is written,

Denoo Sing,

Num. 3. O,

Tranflation of tbe Depofition of Ram Sing, Jemmadar.—3be Deponent fworn defore Chief Juftice
Sir Elijah. 1mpey, November 26th 1781.

The Rajah Futteh Saw, and Genoo Roy, aud Ajeet Mull, united themfelves all Three to-
gether, and bound themfelves by Oath y and thefe were the improper Refolutions which they had
agreed to; that they would ercfs the River Gograh, and eftablifh their own Authority there, for
Letters had arrived from the Rajah Cheit Sing at Banaris, in which he faid, * All the Englith are
cut off; the Government of the Englifh is overturned ; I have taken Pofleflion of the Country;
do you, the Zemeedars, eftablifh your Authority alfo in thofe Diftridts.”—It was likewife publicly
reported, that the Rajah Cheie Sing had fent Fifteen thoufand Rupees in Specie to the faid Zemee-
dars, to taife Men, and kill and drive out the Dependants of the Englifh wherever they might be.
It was alfo reported that Colonel Hannay and Captain Williams were in Confinement ; the Rajah
Fuygh Saw canie to inform himfelf of this ; but not obtaining any certain Intelligence, returned,

determsined to go to Kunkooa, to cut off the People and plunder the Place. At this Time

the Captain rénurned from Lucknow, and arrived at Kunkooa. I alfo arrived at Kunkooa agree-
abjy to Orders. In the Evening he informed ‘2 the Subadars and Jemmadars and Sepoys, t}:mt
‘ 3 they
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they were to march towards Banaris the next Day. In confequence of which the Sepoys went to
the Subadars and faid, that they had no Moncy. The Subadars replied, their Pay was in the
Sirkar, if they could get it they might take it. Early the next Mprmm[% we marched, the Com-
panies faced to the Right.  Four or Five of the foremoft Grenadiers ftept out, furrounc}cd the
Captain, and fad, * Giveus our Pay and we will go with you;” the Captain replied, ¢ You are
only Four or Five Men, take (your Pay) and I will pay the Battalion when we arrive at Burra-
goog,” which is only Eight Cofs from Kunkooa. The Battalion had gone on about a Cofs.  On
hearing the above, Numbers of Sepoys returned, and loaded their Picces, and fixed their Bayonets,
and pointed them at the Captain ; in confequence of which, he recalled the whole Battalion, and
told them to take their Pay and march with him to Baunaris: to which they all‘agrccd ;'g)uc when
the Caprain had given them Three Months Pay, the Men who were the Mutineers raifed a Cla-
mour, (and faid) ¢ we will take our Arms and the Gun to the Chuckladar, and receive our Pay
from him, for the Chuckladar is a Servant of the Begum’s, and we alfo are the Begum’s Ser-
vants, and Saadut Ally’s.” The Captain faid to the Commandant and the Subadars, ¢ 1 have paid
them all, what then is the Caufe of this improper Behaviour ? but what he faid had no kiffect upon
them ; however much he urged them to march to Banaris, they fill refuled, and ooly faid,
that they would go to Bungulla, and aitend the Begum and Saadut Ally Kian; and that if the
Captain attempted to efeape, they would puta Guard over him, and deliver him up there.  With-
out Remedy, the Captain marched this Way,  T'hat which was true has been written.
Ram Sing.

NUMO 3. I,.

Tranflation of the Depofition of Hurdeal Sing, Commandant.—7he Deponent fworn before Chief
Juttice Sir Eljah Impey, November 26th 1781,

The Servant Hurdeal Sing, Commandant of Major Macdonald’s Battalion, gives the following
Account. I was ftationed in the Pergunuah of Beelpoor, in the Dilliiét of Narrain Butrool, with
Two Companies of Sepoys of Captain Williams's Battalion, Three hundred and Fifty Nejecb and
Sehbundy Men, and One Gun, and aéted in the Bufinefs of the Sirkar agrecably to my Orders.
From the 15th of Ramzan | received feveral Letters from Mahommed Shuffee Khan, the
Chuckladar, and from the Captain, who were then at Kunkooa, to march fpeedily with my
Force and join them, for that the Power of the turbulent Country People and Rajahs was be-
come exceflive, At this Time 1 collefted together the People who were flationcd at different
Places ; and on the 1gth of the faid Month, notwithftanding the Waters were very much out in
the Road, I marched toward Kunkooa. 'When I arrived at Ram Kolah, which is about Fifteen
Cofs from my Sitvation, 1 heard, from the general Reports of the People, that the Rajabs Ajeet
Mull, and Futteen Saw, and Genoo Roy, who had been expelled from their Zemeedaries, and
refided with the Rajah Cheit Sing in the Country of Banaris, had all Three, by Orders from
Saadut Ally Khan and Rajah Cheit Sing, marched from thence, and croffed the Gograh, and taken
Pofleflion of their Lands; and that the Raiah Cheit Sing had aflifted the faid Rajahs with Five and
twenty thoufand Rupees to drive out the Englifh, [direging] that they fhould drive them and all
their Dependants out of their Diftricts. ‘When I came to the next Stage, I heard that the
Grenadiers, who were with Captain Williams at Kunkooa, had mutinied, and confined the Cap-
tain, and cruelly beat his Moonfhy; that they had got their Pay, and intended to go off to the
Vizeer; and that no one attended to the Orders of the Captain. As the Companies with me
had been informed of thefe Circumftances, I foothed and perfuaded them not to think of acting
in fuch a Manner; that Y’ay was never withheld ot loft in the Englith Scrvice ; that they would
receive every Daum of that which was due to them ; but that it would. be improper for them, ac
that Time, to act as others had done. ‘The Sepoys affented to what 1 bad faid, and, notwith-
ftanding the Oppofition of the Country Peopleon the Road, we arrived in Safety, and with the

reateft Expedition, at Kunkooa, and attended the Captain and the Chuckladar, and [ then
aw with my own Eyes what 1 had before heard on the Road,” The Captain faid, when
I went to him, * You have without Doubt heard how Things are here; what are the Inten-
tions of the People with you ? I faid in Reply, that.the People along with me, both the Se-
poys, the Nujjeeb, and the Schbundy Men, had no other Intentions but thole of tbeying bis Or-
ders ; and that he might, at all Events, ‘make himfelf ¢afy as to thole Men. The Caprain then
faid, « It was my Intention to have talcen the Grenadier Companies, .and the Two Guns, and to
have marched to Banaris, and joined the Goverior, by the Way. 'of the Nuddy Kautoon ; and
to have chattifed the Three Rajahs, with whom 'we fhould have falien in on the Roud ;s but the
Grenadiers would not confent to'thit 3 do you inquite of ‘thern what xheir Inventions'ate.” Agrees
ably to the Orders of the Captain, I went at Night to the- Line to the Subadars and femmadars
and Sepoy Grenadiers, and -afled what theEy withéd for'and intended. The' Sepoys all replied,
¢ If the Captain refolves to march to the Kaftward, not one of us will go with him ; moreover,
we will march ¢ifly To-morrow Morning to the WeRtward, to the ! ey ‘whoever chufes to go
that ‘Way may sccompany us.” . The Two Grenadier Subudars the told me t0 go 10.my Teat,
for that thefc Matters 'tgc Two Companies had ‘already talked upon with the Captain, 1*.%:3&
endeavoured to prevail upon the Sepoys and Subadars, and twid them 1w continue, and fet N§“ mil‘
4 ‘ T . MInas
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Minds at Reft; that I would go and fpeak to the Captain; that, if he approved of it, he would
take them with him, and march to the Weftward ; that at all Events, it would be better 1o ooy
him. At laft | foothed and appeafed them, and went to the Caprain and told him what had
paffed.  After this, the Captain ordered me 10 go to Mahommed Shuffee Khan the Chuckladar,
.and tell him to prepare to march. 1 went to the Chuckladar, and delivered the Metl e
anfwer, the Chuckladar, who had fent a Perfon named Munthan KRam, on s Part, to the
Rajahs Aject Mull, Futteh Saw, and Genoo Roy, before mentioned, on a private Bulinefs, made
the Want of Cattle for his Baggage an Excufe; and defired that we would halt Two or Three
Days longer, and that he would then colle® Bealls of Burden, and march.  The faid Chockla-
dar :0ld me the next Day, and rold the Captain allo, that a Man of his was returned, and had
brought Information, that Four Companies of Sepoys and Four Guus were come from the Ra-
jah Cheir Sing, to the Afiftance of the Rajahs Ajset Mull, Futteh Saw, and Genoo Roy ; and
moreover, that they would crofs the Gograh and join them them that Day. At lenpth, Two
Days after my Arrival, our whole Force marched toward Gooruckpoory and, notwithitunding,
the Rajahs and the Country People molefted us on all Sides on the March, and the Waters
and Nullahs were out, yet in Six Days we arrived in Safety at Gooruckpoor.—There | heard from
the People, that Orders from the Begum had arrived to all the Rajahs of Pergunnahe, not to
permit any Englifh Gentlemen, or any of their Dependants, topals in Satcty through their feparate
Diftricts ; and that they had {urroonded Ahlaud Sing, Subadar, who was ftationed with a few Sc-
poys in the Fort of Gooruckpoor ;. but that, through the good Fortune of our Mailers, the
Enemy was repulfed, and obliged to retire; that no Englifh Letters, or others, or tlircarrahs,
were permitted to pafs ; and that, if the Country People difcovered any Englith Letters or others
in the Hands of Hircarrahs, they fcourged them with the greateft Severitv.  [n confequence ot
thete (Accounts) the Captain fent for me, and faid, * The eople have raifed great Diturb-
ances in the Country; beyond this no Grain will arrive, therefore we mufl buy Grain here, and
carry it with us.,” In the Space of Eight Days Grain was procured for the March, and Bul-
locks got together, and in Four Days, notwithftanding the heavy Rains, we croffed the Raub-
ty, anfmarchcd towards Sukroreh: trom the Day that we arrived at Bauniy, for Six Days, fuch
heavy Rains fell, both Day and Night, that no one had the Power to ftir trom his Place.  With-
out Remedy, we halted during that Time, and on the firft Day that the Rain fublided we
marched, and in Two Days arrived at Dummoorea Gunge, At that Place there was a Nul-
Jah in the Road, which was overflowed by the Rains and ftopt our Progrels ; and we were at latt
obliged to halt there One Day to make a Bridge, over which the Troops were pafled. While
we were croffimg, the Country People fhowed themfelves, but were repulicd and obliged to rewrear.
We proceeded from ihence the next Day, and March after March to Bulrampoor.  As the
River Kuwannah croffed our Way ac that Place, we were obliged to halt there for One Day 5 at
Jaft we paffed that River in Safety, and by repeated Marches arrived at Sukcorch.  This Account,
knowing it proper, is written according to the Truth. :
Hurdcaul Sing,
fealed with his Seal,

o . Num. 3. Q ‘ .
Tranflation of the Depofition of Bejy Sing, Subsdar.—7hs Deponent fworn before Chief Juftice Sir
Elijah Impey, November 26th 1781.

On the 13th of Ramzan I received Orders from Mr. Williams to join Mr. Gordon at
Taundeh, and to deliver over the Gun and the Burgomauls to Kaumdar Beg.  Agreeably 1o Or-
ders [ delivered over the Gun and the Burgomauls to Kaumdar Beg, and fet out. When 1|
arrived at Naurood the Hooly Rejoicings had commenced 5 and the Country People gathered
together on all Sides, and furrounded me. Making an Effort, I pufhed on from thence about a
Cofs ; but the Enemy were now. increafed to a prodigious Number.  Till Nine o’Clock at Night
they continued to infult us ; and when the Moon got up they began to fire with Matchlocks ; and
they faid, ¢ You have ftruck off the Head of the Rajah Juggut Sing; where will you go ?——we
will itrike off your Hcads in Return. It is the Orders of the Begum, that whoever firikes
off and brings in the Head of an Englithman, fhall reccive a Reward of a Thoufand Ru-
pees; and for the Head of a Subadar or jemmadar a Hundred Rupees; and for every Se-
poy’s Head ftruck off and brought, that a Reward of Ten Rupees fhall be given,”—The At-
tack continued through the Night; One Scpoy was ‘killed, and Seven Men and Three Horfes
wounded, of my Party. The Country People faid, ¢ Give up your Baggage, and Arms, and
Coats, and go naked where you pleafe:” But I ftood firm, and we fought with them, and
matched on, Night by Night, to Baunfy, where we were quitted by the Enemy. Having
m&;nﬁmn Sing Subadsr at Baunfy, we marched from thence with him. This which is re-

ated is teue, _
o Bejy Sing,
and fealed with his Seal.
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Num. 3. R.

Tranflation of the Depofition of Merun Moonfhy so Mr. Gordon.—7b¢ Deponent fuworn before
Chief Juftice Sir Elijab Impey, November 16th 1781,

I Merun, &c. confidering God and the Prophet of God as prefent, do fwear upon the facred
Koraun to the following Fafts which I give in Writing :==That on the 7th of the Month of
September, Mr. Gordon, with Four Companies of Sepoys, and a hundred Horfe of the Ruf-
fauleh of Ruzza Beg Khan, did march trom the Ghaut Jehoora for Taundeh; and at that
Time, from our fetting out till our Arrival at Taundeh, Thoufands of Country People aﬁ'crpblcd
together, and awempted 1o cut off the Troops and the Baggage ; fo that there was a continued
Attion, both with Swords and Mufketry, all the Way.—But as the Order of March was well
regulated, and the Sepoys were not deficient in Firmnefs and Refolution, many of the Enemy
were killed ; and on this Side, not a fingle Article of the ProFcrty of any one was plundered ;
Mr. Gordon conduing them all, together with the whole of the Baggage, in perfect Safety
to the Nullah of Teerah, which runs beneath Taundeh. On our Arrival there he intended
to crofs the Nullah, and encamp at Taundeh; and he gave Direftions for the Troops to
pafs over. When they were about to crofs, (it appeared that) all the Boats were on the
oppolite Side of the Nullah; and the People of the Taundeh Fougedar, whofe Name is Shum-
fheer Khan, flood Guard over the Boats, and faid, ¢ It is the Orders of the Fougedar, that
the Boats fhall not pafs over to that Side.,”~—When Mr. Gordon heard of this, he wrote a
Letter to the Fougedar, and fent it by a Hircarrah. The Contents of the Letter were: « 1
am a Servant of the Nabob, and am going to join the Army by his Orders; where is the
Propricty of fhutting up the Ghaut, and refufing to permit People to pafs @’—The faid Hir-
carrah took the Letter, and went to the Ghaut, and endeavoured to get over, but the Fouge-
dar’s People would not allow him to crofs.—When I faw that they would not permit the
Hircarrah to pafs over, I gave Mr. Gordon's Letter to a Seivant of the Fougedar’s, who had
fwam over to our Side of the Nullah to fee one of his Friends; and I told him to convey it,
by fome Means or other, to the Fougedar. He put the Letter in his T'urban, and fwam back
acrofs the Nullah, and delivered it to the Fougedar, who read the Contents, but returned no
Sort of Anfwer. At the Time when the Letter arrived, Mirza Ruzza Beg Khan, Ruffaulehdar,
who by chance had arrived alone on fome Bufinefs, and had croffed over before this Affair, was
ficing by Shumfhbeer Khan, and is an Evidence that the Letter arrived. The faid Mirza de-
clared to me, and confirmed it by Oaths, that the Letter came to the Fougedar when he was
orefent; and that, although he endeavoured to perfuade him, it was to no Purpofe. At laft
¢ fent for Three Guns, and fome Tomuns of Matchlock-Men, who were ftationed at T'aundeh;
and he pointed the Guns acrofs the Nullah at the Troops, and ftationed the Men at the Ghaut,
and ordered them not to pgrmit a fingle Perfon to crofs. In confequenge thereof the Fougedar’s
People ftood at the Ghaut, and ufed infultin%’]l.mguagc; and faid, that if any one attempted to
crofs the River, they would fire upon him. hen Mr. ‘Gordon faw this, that no Anfwer to his
Letter had come from the Fougedar, and that his People were inclined to Hoftilities, he dire&ted
me to go aad explain Things to Shumfheer Khan, and petfuade him to defift from fuch impro-
per Condu&. According to the Orders 1 had received, I went to the Ghaut, and demanded a
Boat, and faid that 1 was fent by Mr. Gordon to the Fougedar on Bufinefs, and defired that they
would allow me to crofs over alone; but they would not liften to me, or fend a Boat to carry me
over. Without Remedy, I returned to Mr, Gordon, -and informed him of the Behaviour of the
People at the Ghaut. He faid, “ I they will not give you a Boat, it is no Matter; mount an
Elephant, and {wim him over.”~I obeyed, and mounted an Elephant, and went and endeavour-
ed to pufh the Elephant into the Nullah. The Fougedar's People at once levelled their Pieces
at me, and faid, ¢ Beware—if you drive the Elephant into the Nullah, we will fire vpon you,
and kill you.” Per Force | returned to Mr. Gordon: It was now almoft Sunfet. When the
Country People faw this Affair, that the Fougedar of Taundeh was our Enemy alfo; that he
had fhut up the Ghaut, and would not permit us to pafs, they charged us on all Sides, Our
Sepoys fecing Thoufands of th Country People affembled on one Side, the Ghaut fhut up, and
Shunifheer Khan difpofed to Hoftilities on the ather; and being alfo much exhaufted by the Skire
mifthing and Labour on the March, gave up their Refolution and Firmnefs at once ; and throwing
afide their Arms and their Coats, difpofed themfelves to- Fnght 3 and notwithftanding Mz. Gordon
ufed every Means of Perfuafion, bothto the Sepoys'and the Officers, no one cither eard or
obeyed him, until Mr. Gordon was left with only Ten Men and the Baggage; all the #éft' were
fled. At this Time Cally Perfhaud, u Bengaly of Mr. Scott’s, who was ftationed at ‘the Kooty,
by a thoujand Intreatics and Supplications, obtained an Order to fend One Boat from the
Fougedar, and fent it over. Mr. Gordon then faw that none of his Peaple had remained with
him; that continuing there alone was to no Purpofe, and therefore was obi to crofs over. All
'his-B:P%agc, and the Baggage of his Servants and Followers, was plundered ; that which they
carried bver with them when they croffed, and delivered into the Flands of the Fougedar'se
People, who promifed to proteét it, was afterwards taken by them, snd never returned.  Some
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Days after, fome Firelocks were produced from the Houle of the Fougredar; and manv of the
Pcople’s Liffects were feen there ; but the Fougedar’s Men did not deliver thens up. 1y fhoe,
this is the Subftance of the Athair which happeoed at Taundehy and T have wrote this Account
upon Quth, that whoever reads it may know it wo be true,  Wiitten with my own Hand.
Moonthy Merun,

Num. 3. S.

Tranflation of ¢he Depofitions of Meer Ahmud Ally, Subadar ir rle Bartalion of Caprain
Williams, and Doond Sing, Subadar.—Tle Deponents fwern bofore Claet Juflice Siv Llygah
Impey, November 26th 1781,

We, Mcer Ahmud Ally, Subadar in the Batralion of Caprain Williams, and Doond Sing,
Subadar of Grenadicrs in the Barralion of Myjor Macdonald, do fwear (one) vpon the facred
Koraun, and (the other) by the Ganges, &c. to the {Truth of the) following Depofition,
which we give in\Writing: That on the 7th of the Month of September, Mr. Gordon, with Four
Companies of Sepoys, and a hundred Horte of the Ruflauleh of Rugza Beg Khan, did march
- from the Ghaut of Jehoorah toward Taundeh, and we (the Deponents) were along with tim,
From our fetting out, till our Arrival at Tsundeh, Thoufands ot Country People furroundcd us
on every Side, with Intention to cut off the Troops and the Baggage; fo that we were continu-
ally engaged both with Swords and Small Arms the whole Way ; but as the Order of March was
well regulated, the Encavy could not fucceed in their Attempts upon the Army.  After fkir-
mithing throughout the whole March, by which feveral of the Knemy were killed, we arrived in
Safety, about Two o’Clock in the Afternoon, on the Bank of the Nullah of Tecrah, which runs
beneath Taundeh ; after our Arrival there, Mr. Gordon wanted to crofs the Nullah, and hale in
Taundeh, and he gave us Orders to crofs the Nullah,  We attempted to pafls over, bur the Fou.
gedar of Taundeh, by Name Shumtheer Khan, hearing that Mr. Gordon was about o crofs
the Nullah, prepared Three Guns, and Three or Four Tomuns of Matchlock Men, who were
flationed with him, and pofted them at the Ghaut, and they pointed the Guns toward the Troops
ot Mr, Gordon ; and the Fougedar gave Orders not to permit a fingle Man belonging to that
Gentleman to crofs.  Although Mr. Gordon wrote a Letter to the faid Fougedar, it made no Sore
of Impreffion upon him. At laft the Evening came. It happened that Ruzza Beg Khan had
arrived alone on fome Bufinefs, before this Affair, and crofied 6ver to Taundeh. The Cavalry
belonging to the faid Ruffaulehdar, before any one elfe, fwam their Florles acrofs the River, and
fled.  The Sepoys feeing Thoufands of Country People advancing, on one Side; the Ghaut
fhut up by the Fougedar Shumfheer Khan, who would allow no one to pafs, on the other; and
that the Cavalry who accompanied them were difperfed and gone, gave up at once their Steadi-
nefs and Refolution, and taking off their Coats, and throwing down theit Arms, turned them-
felves to Flight, until Mr. Gordon was left with only Ten or Eleven Men, for all the reft had
fied. At this Time Cally Perthaud, Mr. Scott’s Bengally, who refided at the Kooty in Taundeh,
by a thoufand Supplications and Entreaties, obtained an Order from the Fougedar tor One Boar,
which he fent over.  Mr. Gordon was then alone on the Bank ; he was forced two crofs; and all
the Baggage belonging to himi and his Followers was plundered.

Meer Ahmud Ally, and Doond Sing.

Num. 3. T.

Tranflation ¢f tbe folemn Declaration of the Ranny Golaub Kooer, made on the xath Day of
November 1781, before Chief Juftice Sir Lilijah Impey.

On the 27th of Shabaun, Sunday, the Chiefs who came to Ramnagur from Luttecfgur, ap-
pointed by Rajah Cheit Sing, were Mocundy and Ram Bukfh, Bhemun Sing, and Culhian
Sing, and Baul Kithen Huzzarry, and Sirdar Sing, a Follower ot Ramjewun, and Ram Sheweh,
a Follower of Ajayb Sing, and Dildar Hooflein Khan, and Nuzzur Afhniff, with their own Pacties.
On the next Morning, which was Monday the 28th of Shabaun, the above-named Chiefs had
an Lugagement at Ramnagur, with the Companies which came from the Fort of Chunar; at
Two Pahr and a Half of the Day, (§ paft One P. M.) thofe Companics were defeated, and
the Intelligence was immediately fent w Lutteefgur; and at One Pahr of the Night, (Nine
o'Clock) Bauboo Soojaun Sing having left Luttcefgur, with Gholaum Hooffein Khan, and Fyz.
Oolla Khan, arrived that fame Night at Ramnagur, when T'wo Gurries of it remained.

Tuefday the whole Day he was employed in Preparations, and in ftationing the above-men-
tioned Chiefs, and in Joading Bamboo Ladders on the Boats, and Guns upon the Pinnace.  And
he gave Orders to the Chiefs and the Troops, that at Twelve at Night, on Wednefday, they
fhould crofs and attack the Governor General, and the other Englith Gentemen who refided in
Mehadew Daus’s Garden, Al the Inhabitants of Ramnagur, as well as I, faw and heard thefe
Particulars. ‘ ‘

(The Ranny's Signature,)
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With refpet to Cheit Sing’s having, from of old, an improper Correfpondence with the
Begums at Lucknow, and the Rajah of Bheraich and Gooruckpoor, the Declaration of the
above Ranny is as foliows:

Since Two Years, on account of the Enmity of Cheit Sing to me, I bad left Ramnagur, anl
refided in another Dwelling; and Cheit Sing had always alted towards me with fuch Enmity and
Oppofition as cannot be delcribed ; how, therefore, fhould he have acquainted me wich his
Correfpondences 2—-but I have heard from Report, that he had in many Places improper Cor-
refpondences.  However, it is very plain that he had Enmity towards the Governor General ;
becaufe, whenever be learned any thing to the Prejudice of the Governor, trom the Letters of
his Vakeels, or the Reports of ill-deligning Perfons, he ufed to rejoice :—This is known to all
the Inhabitants of Ramnagur. Accordingly, when the Governor General was lately coming
from Calcutta towards this Quarter, the Kajah and his Companions ufed to fay, * the Gover-
nor has been difplaced, and is making his Efcape to Hindoftan,” Bcfides, from the Rajah’s
going to Buxar to meet him wich the greatelt Preparations his Intention plainly appears.

Ranny Golaub Kooer.

APPENDIX.

Nom. 3. U.

Tranflation of ¢he Depofition of Gudgerauge Sing.—Tbe Deponent fworn before Chief Juftice
Sir Elijah Impey, November 12th 1781.

I Gudgerauge Sing, the ancient Kelladar of Ramnagur from the Time of the deceafed Rajah
Bulwant Sing, do declare and give in Writing without Referve (confidering God to be preient
and a Witnefs) all that I have done, feen, or heard, to the following Effect :

On the Day that the Engagement happened berween the Forces which came from Chunar and
the Troops of Rajah Cheit Sing, I was in Readinefs in the Fort of Ramnagur, with the Bur-
kandazes with their Matches lighted, When the Chunar Army had been defeated, a Budgerow
from the Weftward came ncar the Ghaut of Buxey Suddanund.  Ilaving obferved it from the
Fort, 1 wenr out by the Wicket Gate, which is to the Southward, with Seven or Eight Burkan-
dazes; the Rowers, and other People belonging to the Budgerow, on fecing this, leaped into
the Water, and the Gentleman was killed by the Stroke of a Sword from the Men who accom-
panied me.  About this Time I received Intellipence that the Rajah’s Cavalry, who oppofed the
Chunar Army, had fled; upon this 1 was greatly confufed, and was defirous of carrying the
Budgerow under the Forr, but the People of Buxey Suddanund took pofieflion of the Budgerow,
and declared that they would keep it, as it had come to their Ghaut. 1 wo Burkandazes brought
from the Budgerow Two Mufkets and fome Cloths, and One of my People took One Mufker,
whillt the Burkandazes took more Cloth and Arms. From thence I went to my Charge in the

Fort,

My further Depofition is as follows:

On the Night of the fame Day that the Army from Chunar was defeated, about Two Ghurries
of the Night remaining, Bauboo Sacjaun Sing arrived from Lutteefgur at Ramnagur. 1 heard
from feveral Perfons, that the faid Bauboo had given Orders 1o his Troops and Chiefs, to make
a Night Attack on the Governor General and the other Gentlemen who were in Mahadew Dafs’s
Garden.  Accordingly, he employed his Troops in bringing Bamboo Ladders, and loading them
on Boats, and cvery one was preparing for the Attack.

1 {wear, that whatever is written in this Paper is true.
Gudgerauge Sing.

FOURTHN PARCEL

Num. 4. A,
Affidavit of Captain Davy.

Captain William Davy, private Perfian Tranflator to the Fonourable Warren Haftings Efquire,
Governor General of Fort William in Bengal, &c. &c. maketh Oath, and faith, That he under-
" ftands the Langusge fpoken by the Deponent, Hindoo Sings and that he faithfully and truly ex-
plained to the faid Deponent the Contents of the annexed Affidavit, in. che Hindoftan Lapguage,
being the Language of the faid Hindoo Sing, before he the faid Hindoo Sing had fwotn the
fame. ‘ ' L
Sworn before me, this 12th Day of ' _ Williem Davy.

December 1781,

E. Impey.

, Num. 4. B |
Afhdavit of Hindoo Sing, Adjutant ¢ Buxar.

The Deﬁoﬁtion of Hindoo Sing, Adjutant at Buxar, fays, That the People under the Govern-

ment of Cheit Sing gave many Proofs of Difaffeftion to the Englifhe—That about Two Mb:r}ths
7 _ before
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before the Arrival of the Governor General at Buxar, Two Sepavs belonging to the Port of
Buxar obtained Leave of Abfence, and did not return—That Soojaun Sing, the hother of the
Rajah Cheic Sing, took them into his Service, and made one of them a Havildar, aud the other
a Nuick—That he received undoubted Information, which was afierwards contirmed by Deicrtions
from the Garrifon, that Soojaun Sing tutored the Two Dcferters to enuce away rthe Fnghth
Sepoys from Buxar, promifing to make them Havildars and Officers it they would enter into his
Service ; in confequence of which, Seven Sepoys deferted, and entered into the Service of the faid
Soojaun Sing; and that many more would have followed, but that proper Meafures were taken to
prevent them.  The Deponent alfo fays, That long before this, when Sir Lyre Coute was on his
Way to Lucknow, Three ScFoys were fent to purchafe Grain at Balleah, in the Country ot the
Rajah; that they applied to the Fougedar of the Place for his Affittance in purchafing the Grain,
which he not only refufed, but he caufed them to be beaten almoft to Death; thar cheir Tur-
bans and Bayonets were taken away ;3 and that no Satisfaction could ever be obtained for this In-
juftice and Infult to the Englith Government, nor was the Foupedar called to Account for his Con.
du. The Deponent further fays, That when the Rajah came to Buxar to meer the Governor
General, he had with him a Fleet of Boats, in Number Fighty or Eighty-five, on which were
embarked, according to the Information which he obtained, T'wo thoufand or Two thoufand
Five bhundred Men, Scpoys and Matchlock Men, with Four Guns; that he came to, and
encamped on, the Northern Side of the River, oppolite to Buxar ; and that he had feveral Bodics
of Cavalry on the Road, on the fame Side of the River—Says, that the Rajah came to Buxar to
fee the Governor General 3 that he brought with him only Fifty or Sixty People, but that they
were ali his Relations and particular Friends, on whom he depended; and that they were
all armed.  The Deponent further fays, That when Hoftilities commenced between the Rajah
and the Enghfh, the Sepoys and others who happened to be in the Rajah’s Country, were
all deiven out, and the Road on both Sides the River fo completely fhut up, that no Individual
could pals—That Four or Five thoufand Matchlock Men were to be colle@ed by Two Brothers,
Deir Sing and Beir Sing, at Serinjah, agreeahle to Orders from the Rajah 5 and that the faid Rajah
wrote Direttions to the faid Deir Sing and Beir Sing, and to the Kelladar of Serinjab, to reduce
the Fort of Buxar, and to eftablifh his Government in that Country,

The Deponent further fays, That about Twelve Months ago Three European Gentlemen were
attacked at Beerpoor, in the Country of the Rajah, about Five Cofs from Buxar; that Oneof the
Gentlemen was defperately wounded 3 that a Serjeant, a Jemmadar, and Fifty Scpoys, were fent
from Buxar to feize the Zemeedar, but without Effe@&——That Comnplaints were made to the Ra-
jah, but no Redrefs could ever be obtained.

Hindoo Sing,.
Sworn before me (the Contents being firlt
explained to the Wimefs by W. Davy

Elquire, in the Hindoftan Language) the

9th Day of December 1781.

E, Impey.

FIFTH PARCEIL.

Nuom. 5. A,
Affidavic of Cuptain Davy.

Captain William Davy, private Perfian Secretary to the IHonourable Warren aftings Efquire,
Governor General of Bengal, &c. &c. upon Oath, faith, That he is acquainted with the
Language fpoken by the Perfons who made the annexed Depofitions ; that he received faid Depo-
fitions verbally, from each of faid Deponents his feparate Depofuion; and that he bas readered
them faithfully inte Englifh, to the beft of his Knowledge and Judgment; and that he has
faichfully explained to faid Deponents, in their own Language, to cich his proper Depofition,
the Contents of faid annexed Depofition, ‘

Sworn before me this 3d Day of
December 1781,
E. Impey.
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Arernmx.

Num. 5. B.
Affidavit of Sheakh Mahommed Aumeen Meyher.

Depofition of Sheakh Mahommed Aumeen Meyher, late a Commandant in the Service of Cheit
Sing.— Upon his Qath fays, e was the Servant of Cheir Sing 5 that be commanded a Battalion
of Fleven hundred and Fitty Sepoys in his Service 3 that he accompanied Cheit Sing when he went
to Buxar to meet the Governor General 5 that there was with Cheit Sing at that Time, the fol-
lowing armed Force, T'wo hundred and Twenty-eight Sepovs under the immediate Command of
this Deponent, Six hundred Matchlock Men under the Command of Seuperfaud Sing, and
"T'hree hundred Peadabs, or Sword Men, called Huzzoory or Guards ; that the above-mentioned
‘L'roops accompanicd the Rajah in Boats; and that the faid Rajah Cheit Sing was alfo attended by
a Body of Six hundred Cavalry, under different Leaders ; that the Cavalry marched down on the
Southern Bank of the Ganges, and direéted their Movements by the Motion of the Fleet of Boats
in which the Rajah and his Infantry were embatked @ ‘That when the Rajah Cheit Sing arrived at
Ghavzipoor, he was joined by Bullum Dafs the Aumil, and the Dewan Ruggoobur Dial ; and
that when he proceeded on from thence, a Detachment of Cavalry and Matchlock Men (ftationary
Troops at Ghauzipoor) in Number about Five hundred, accompanied the Rajah, marching along
the Northern Bank of the River in the fame Manner as the Troops on the oppofire Side, moving
when the Ileet moved, and haltng when that halted 5 that the Rajah arrived, and encamped on
the Northern Side of the Ganges, oppofite the Fort of Buxar; that the Governor General ar-
rived at Buxar the next Day; that the Rajah crofled the River, and waired upon him; that he
returned to his Camp, and about Three o’Clock in the Afternoon put his People and Fleet in
Motion, returning as he had went, and the T'roops on the Banks of the River accompansing the
Boat<; that the Governor General proceeded the next Morning, and came up with the Rajah at
Zemeneeah, about Twenty Cofs from Buxar ; that the Rajah again waited on the Guvernor Ge-
neral on board his Boat, and that the Governor General then proceeded on befare the Rajah, the
Rajah following at the Diftance of Four or Five Cofs, until they reached Banaris 3 thar the Go-
vernor General went to the Garden of Mahadew Dafs, and the Rajah to Shewallab Ghaur, his
armed People taking their Siations in their Neighbourhood ; that his (the Deponent’s) People
did not arrive with the Rajah, but that he joined him with Fifty Sepoys, and took his Station ncar
to Shewailah 3 that T'wo Companies of Sepoys alfo joined the Rajah from Ramnagur,—The De-
ponent farther fays, That on the Day that the Three Gentlemen and the Two Companics of
Eaglith Sepoys came to the Rajah, and the Circumitance of his Arrclt was known, the Rajah's
People (who were then ftationed round Shewallah) to the Number of about Four thoufand, were
armed and prepared for Action; that at this Time Munnibar Sing, Seuamur Sing, and Nunkoo
Sing, went to the Rajah: That the Dilturbance and Difpute at the Gate ran high, and encreafed
every Moment: That the Huzzaories, Peadahs, and others, with their Arms, got upon the
Chuppers which were creted againit the Wall on the Outfide; that the Matchlock Men fired
vpon a Company who were without Shewallah ; that the Deponent counted Seven Matchlocks
which were fired, and faw a Sepoy fall by the Firft Shot; that the Moment the Firing was
heard, the Rajah’s People forced their Way Sword in Hand into Shewallah, and cut the Gen-
tlemen and Sepoys to Pieces; that the Rajah Cheic Sing efcaped during the Confliét to Ram-
nagor, and from thence to Lutteefpoor.

The Deponent further fays, That after the Detachment from Chunar was repulfed near Ram-
nagur and obliged to retreat, Soojaun Sing and the Buxey Suddanund arrived with T'roops at
that Place, and that by Orders from the Rajah they prepared Scaling Ladders, &c. in order to
make a Night Aflault on the Garden of Mahadew Dafs; that Boats were prepared, and Guns and
‘Lroops marched down to the Ghaut of Aufi Sungum; that the Sepoys belonging to the Depo-
nent refufed to crofs the River until they had obtained fome Refrefhment, having been without
Food for Two Daysy that the Night pafled away without any Thing being done, and that the
Governor General on that Night quitted Banaris, and arrived at Chunar ; that Soojaun Sing and
Suddanund Buxey wrote 8 Complaint to Cheit Sing againft the Troops under the Command of
the Deponent the next Morning 3 and that Soojaun Sing fent a Company of his own Sepoys to
take pofleflion of the Garden of Mahadew De!‘J 3 that they plundered the Property of the Gen-
tlemen at that Place, and returned to Ramnagur, , P S

The Deponent further fays, That the following is, to the beft of his Memory, a true Lift of
the Forces with Rajah Cheit Sing; thofe on the regular Etablithment, thofe newly entertained,
and thofc who came in to his Aﬂ%ﬁano‘e. : SR :
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PartlIL
Lift of the Eftablifhed Forces in the Service of Cheit Sing.
Cavalry, Sepoys, Matchlock Men, &c.

: Number.
Cavalry —_— — — — 1,700
Body Guards, or feleét Troops, Cavalry and Infantry —_ —_ 700
Scpoys — — —_ — 1,150
Matchlock Men — —_ — — 1,800

Horfes 300 .
Atfached fo Bul'lum Dans _— — Foot %o o} Total 800
With Soojaun Sing — — Cavalry and Infantry 500
Sepoys and Artillery Men with Two Guns — — - 340
With Muanear Sing —_ —_ Cavalry and Infantry 700
7,690
Troops entertained aftcr the Arrival of Clieit Sing at Lutteefpoor.

Firft, entertained at Lutteefpoor —  Matchlock Men and Sword Men 2,000
Second, — Nujjeeb —  Sword Men from Lucknow — 1,000

| pmean— 3’000
Troops affembled from different Places.

Infantry ahd Cavalry with Juggurdeave Sing — -— 500
Matchlock Men arrived with Bukht Sing, by Orders from Rajah —_— 1,200
D° with Gooman Sing, {ent for by the Rajah — —_— 500
D° from the Fougedar of Bidduwy — - — 1,000
Raujpoots of the Tribe of Kugbunfic from Kurraukut — —_— 2,000
With Dillun Sing, Fougedar of Mukurun Baudfhaahpoodmate -~ — 1,500
Cavalry and Iniantry arrived with Ruzza Rool Khaun — — 300
Raujpoots collected from Agoree and Purwah by Dea Lutchoo —_ 500
D* of the Tribe of Cummur colle&ted by Soojaun Sing — — 1,000
Sword and Matchlock Men with Ranju Awun — — — 2,000
11,500

O e e

Total Troops in the Service of Cheit Sing  — 22,190

"T'o which are to be added Hufbandmen and Adventurers who took up Arms, making the fore.
going Numbier amount to near 40,000 Men.
(Signed) Sheakh Mahommed A umeen Mhiur.
Sworn (the Contents being firft explained to
the Deponent by William Davy Efquire)
this 3d Day of December 1781,
(Signed) E. Impey.

NUM:’ 54 C.

Depofition of Sheakh Hoffein Oolla, Jemmadar, relative to the Aétion at Shewallah Ghaut, a:
which Perind he was Havildar and Orderly with Licutenant Stalker.

The Deponent upon his Oath fays, He was one of thof: who attended Mr. Markham and Licu-
tenant Stalker when they went to the Rajah Cheit Sing at Shewallah Ghaut, with about Fifty or-
derly Sepoys, armed with Swords only; that a fhort Time after, Two Companies of Sepoys
arrived under the Command of Licutenants Scott and Symes; that Mr. Markham returned from
the Rajah’s with ‘about Thirty of the Orderlies ; that he, the Deponent, continued during the
whole of she fucceeding Tranfalion near to Licutenant Stalker ; that he faw Lieutenants Scott
and Symes enter-Shewalish with their Swords drawn, and fhortly afier obferved Guards pofted in
different Places, from which Ke difcovered for the firft ‘Time that the Rajah was in Arreft; that
after the Departure of Mr. Markham. there were prefent Mefilrs. Stalker, Scott, and Symes, with
Seven or Eight Sepoys {Orderlies) attending juft without the Apartment, where they were feated
with the Rajah; that feveral of the Rajah's People; all armed, to the Number of Forty, were
feated without the Purdahs; chat Centries were poited round the Building; and that the T'wo
Comgpanies remained without the laner Gate; that many of the Rajah’s Peons, to the Amount of
. about T'hree hundred, were aflfembled in the fame Place ; that feveral Notes were fent off by
© Lieucenant Stalker, and One Note received by hims that about Twelve 0'Clock at Noon the
Rajah defiged Permiflion to perform his_ Ablutions, which was refufed, unlefs he would fend for
" Water and perform them on the Spot, which he ‘did accordingly; that before this Period, the
Rajab’s People between the Outer Gate and ‘h.l;; which led immediately to the Building, gigdc

o T C : Two
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ArpENDIX,
Two diffcrent Attempts to force their Way through the Inner Gate, but were kept back by the
"T'wo Companies who were pofted there; that Lieutenant Stalker once went himfelf to the Gate,
and ftruck One of the Rajah’s People, who was endeavouring to force his Way in; that the Rajah’
"People appeared to be highly irritated, and that the Subadars of the Cumpanies found it neceflary
to fix Bayonets——Says, That Mefirs. Scort and Symes accompanied Licutenant Stalker on this
Occalion, but that he, the Deponent, continued near the Rajah with Three or Four Sepoys, by
Orders from Licutenant Stalker ; that he neverthelefs faw what pafled through the Stone Latrice,
which furrounded the Building ; that at this Period she Rajah fent his Buxey to forbid his People
from making any Difturbance, and the Affair fubfided ; that the Gentlemen returned to the Ra-
jah.  The Deponent further fays, That after the Rajah had finithed his Ablutions, he retired to
a Stone Pavilion, or Sort of Baftion, to perform his Dcvotions; that Three or Four orderly Se-
poys were directed to attend him ar a fmall Diftance, to obferve his Motions (the Officers conti-
nuing in their Places) ; that at this Period a Chubdar (named Cheit Ram) came from Mr. Mark-
ham, and delivered a Meflage to Mr, Sralker; and that the faid Chubdar afterwards went to
the Rajah Cheit Sing, who was ftill at his Devorions ; that he appeared, by his Manner and the
Loudnefs of his Voice, to be fpeaking infultingly and paflionately to the Rajah ; that at this Pe-
riod a Report of Matchlocks was heard, and One of the Subadars, Bithen Sing, called out to the
Officers, that they were fired upon by the Rajah’s People from the Outer Wall; that the Gentle-
men ftarted from their Seats, and drew their Swords ;. that Lieutenant Stalker rufhed forward to-
ward the Gate, and that Licutenants Scote and Symes attempted to follow him; that the Mo-
ment the Firing commenced from the Outer Wall, the Two Companics were attacked by the
Three hundred Peons in the Space between the Two Walls with them; at the fame Inftant the
Ofticers and their Orderlies were attacked by the Forty of the Rajah's People (faid to be within
the Building at the Beginning of this Depofition) ; that the beforementioned Subadar Bifhen Sin
forced his Way through the Inner Gate, with about Twenty Sepoys, to the Affiftance of the Oi-
ficers; that the Paffage was foon ftopped up by the Number of Dead and Wounded in the Gate-
way ; that after the Communication was cut off, the Aétion ftill continued both within and
without ; the Two Companies ftill fired upon from the Quter Wall; that the Deponent law
Lieutenant Stalker defend himfelf with great Refolution with a Sword, which he had taken from
One of his Sepoys ; that the Deponent himfelf in a fhort Time received feveral Wounds, and
fell; thar he fainted, and therefore has no further Knowledge of what pafled during the Remain-
der of the A&ion, or how the Rajah made his Efcape; that when he recovered his Senfes he
faw Licutenant Stalker lying dead near him, with many of the Sepoys; that hg heard a Firing,
which one of the Wounded told him proceeded from a Company of Sepoys, who were driving
off the Rajah’s Matchlock-men; that he, the Deponent, continued on the Ground the whole
Night, but was removed the next Morning to the Garden of Mahadew Dafs,

‘ ‘The Mark of Sheakh Hoffein Oolla, Jemmadar.
Sworn before me (the Contents being firlt ‘

explained to the Deponent by Will,

Davy Efquire) this 3d Day of Decem-

ber 1781. :
E. Impey.
Nuwm. 5. D.
e Depolition of Bithen Sing, Subadar, relative to tbe Aftion at Shewallah Ghaut.
Upoh bis Oath, fays, That in the Morning of ~» Licutenants Scott and Symes gave Or-

ders that Two Companies of Grenadier Sepoys fhould be got seady ; that the Companies were im-
mediately paraded, and that the above Gentlemen marched with-them to Shewallah, where the
Rajah Cheit Sing refided ; that Licutenaat Symes with One Company. took FPoft within che Firft
Gate ; that' the Company under_ Lieutenant Scott ftationed themiefves at‘the Inner Gate; that
Licutenant Stalker ordersd him to poft a'Guard: of a2 Havildar and T'welve Sepoys at the fmall -
Gate leading to the River, and another Guard at the Gate opening from thence into Shewallah;
that he pofied Guards as bve was drdered, “and that he fent out-a Huvildar to fee what Number. of
" Men were in the neighbouriog Gardens and Cantonments, and what they were about; thit: the
Havildar brought back Information, that the Rajat’s People were all arming themfulyes, ‘snd
loading their Matchlocks; that he communicated .¢his ‘Intelligence 1o Litutenant Suailker; and
added, that the Rajah's People were certainly preparing to strack them - that at this Petiod the
Rajah’s Buxey arrived; that he went in to Cheit Sitig, and that he faw him make, a Motion with
his Hand as one ftriking witly & Sword ;' that the Deponent faw this from the InnerGate where he
was ftanding; that Cheit Sing's -People became  turbulent, t‘xclqim'{‘ni ‘on alt Sides, that they
(the Englith) had made their Rajah a*"?‘ﬁ-fqner. and calling out toattack thém i that he found ic -
neceflary to order the Sepoys to fix their Bayonets, and that e fens Informiation to Licutenant
Stalker, that they were about to be affauted ; in confequence of which, L.ieutenant Stalker came
-out to thie Place where Licutenant Symes was pofted with hils Company; that Lieutonsnt Symes,
pointing to the Rajah’s People with his Hand, told Licutenant Scalier, that thofe People were
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going to attack him; that Lieutenant Stalker (poke to the Rajal’s People, and returned, and
that the Clamour in fome meafure fubfided; that at this Junture Munnear Sing, and his Son
Nunkoo Sing, and Seuamur Sing, arrved, and feated themiclves by the Rajah; that at this
Inftant, an Hircarrah brought Intelligence to the Rajah, that another Company of linglith
Sepoys were coming from Murwarry, and that they were arrived near ac hand; that ac this
Period, one of the Rajah’s Matchlock Men fired at the Company which was advancing ; thar the
Moment the Report of the Matchlock was heard, the Rajah’s Peopie within, who were alarmed,
became very turbulenty the Noife and Confufion increafed, and Licutenant Scott came out and
enquired into the Caufe of it; that the Action immediately commenced within, and that Licu-
tenant Stalker called out to the Deponent to enter with his Company ; that he attempted to
obey the Orders which he had received, but that the Attack at that Inftant began without the
Inner Gate alfo; that it was no longer poflible to enter with his Company ; but that he neverthelels
forced his Way in with about Twenty Sepoys; that Mohun Sing, Subadar, the Moulavy, and
Cheic Ram (Mr, Markbham's Chubdar), were firft cut down; that Munnear Sing ftruck at Lieu-
tenant Stalker with his Scymetar, but without Effect; that Licutenant Stalker made a Thruft at
Munnear Sing with his Sword, without kffet alfo; that Licutenant Stalker threw the Sword
from his Hand, and took a Scymetar from one of his orderly Sepoys, with which he conunued
the Adion; that Nunkoo Sing afterwards made a Stroke at Licutenant Stalker; that the
Rajah’s People, who were now affembled in grear Numbers both within and without, charged
the Englith Sepoys Sword in Hand, and continued the Attack till Lieutenants Stalker and Scot,
with alFthe Sepoys, were cut down; that the Deponent’s Arm was ftruck off by the Blow of a
Scymetar ; that he reccived feveral other Wounds, and at laft fell, and that he continued there
among the Dead and the Wounded, until a Company of Sepoys came and carricd off thofe who
remained alive. ‘ '
Bithen Sing, Subadar.
Sworn before me (the Contents being

firft explained to the Deponent by

W. Davy Efquire) this 3d Day of

December 1781,

E. Impey.

Depofition of Ruggoobur Sing, Orderly Sepoy to Licut. Stalker,

The Deponent (upon his Oath) fays, Fle went with Licutenant Stalker and Mr. Markhaw
to Shewallah, where the Rajah Cheit Sing refided, and that he went with them into the Prefence
of the Rajah ; that fhortly after Two Companics of Sepoys arrived, with Two Gentlemen, whofc
Names the Deponent does not remember, being a newly enlifted Sepoy; that thofe Two Of-
ficers came in and continued with the Rajah and Lieutenant Stalkgr; that he the Deponent
was diretted by Lieutenant Stalker to attend, with Three other orderly Sepoys, in the Apartment
where the Officers were itting with the Rajahy that the relt of the orderly Sepoys remained
without the Purdahs, which were let down in the Front of the Apartment; that he is unac-
quainted with what pafled without the Gate, where the Two Compunies were, or what People
were there on the Part of the Rajah. The Deponent does not recolledt, nor can he, he fays,
relate the Circumftances 'which K;ﬂ"cd before the Attack comnmenced; but in Reply to a Quel-
tion put to him, Whether Mr, Markham’s Chubdar, Cheit Ram, fpoke to the Rajuh ? he fays,
that faid Chubdar brought a Note to Licurenant Stalker at the Time when the Rajuh’s People
without were endeavouring to enter; that he delivered the Note to Licutenant Stalicer 3 that ac
this Time the Noife and Confufion at the Gateway was very great ; that the Chubdar went from
Licutenant Statker toward Cheit Sing, who was then fitting at the Place where he performed
his Devotions ; that he'tqld him to order his People to delift; that he (the Chubdar) was Cheit
Ram, and that th®¥Rajeh was but Cheit Singy and that if he did not take his People defil,
he would confine him ~~Says, Fle was an Ear Witnefs to the foregoing ; that it was at this Mo-
ment the Firing was heard, and the Attack began; that Lieutenant Statker’s Hircarrah had his

" Sward; that he called to this Deponent to give him his Sword, which he did, and ftood behind
Licutgnant Scalker by his Orders, with the Seabbard in his Hand, until that Officer fell; that he
was foonafrer cus down himfelfy that he was deprived of Senfe, 2nd knows nothing of what paffed
afterwards, ' R ' ,

U . The Mark of Ruggoobur Sing, Sepoy.
Sworn before me (the Contents being '
firt explained to the Deponent by

“W. Davy Efquire) this 3d Day of
December 1781, - ‘

i E. Impey.] : o4



Arpenpix.

SIXTH PARCEL

Num. 6. A,
Affidavit of Captam Davy.

Captain William Davy, private Perfian Tranflator to the Honour:ble Watren Haftnnp Efquire, .
Governor General of Fort William in Bengal, &c. &c. maketh Oath and faith, That he underftands
the Perhan Language, and that the Paper hereunto annexed, is & true and faithful Tranflate
of the Perfian Verfion of the original Hindoo Depofition, both hereunto annexed, to thc belt of
this Deponent’s Skill and Belief, :
William Davy.
Sworn before me this 12th Day

of December 1781,
] E. Impey.

Num. 6. B.

Tranflation of #be Depofition of Contoo Dofs, rendered into Englith from 4 Perlian Vetfion of the
Original #n the Hindoo Language, written by Bunny Mull Moonthy, according to the Interpret-
ation ¢f Bauboo Juggut Sing.~—~7be Deponent, and the Writer of the Perfian Tranflate, jworn
before Sir Elijah Impey, one on the 2d, and the other on the gth of December 1781.

On the Firft of the Month Ramzan, Wednefday, in the 23d Year, Bauboo Soq;aun Smg,
appointing Diaram Aumeen, fent him to Banaris; Diaram came, and made a Proclamation
through the City, that whoever protected in his Houfe the. szcndancs of the Engh{h or the
Property of the Englith, Ihould be eonfidered as a Criminal, and his Houfe be feized..

Wnttcn by Cou:uo Dafe

SEVENTH I’ARCEL.

Num. 7. A,
- Affidavit of Captuin Davy.

Captain ‘William Davv, rivate Perﬁan ’Iranﬂator to the Honourablc Warren Haftings Efq.
Governor Gieneral of Fort William in Bengal, &c. &c, maketh Oath and faith, That he unders
ftands the Hindoftan Language, being the Language of the Deponents Dadjoo Sing and
Gobindram Miffer; and that he faithfully and truly cxplamcd to -the - faid Deponerits the -
Contents of the annexed Afﬁdavi:, in the Ilmdoﬂtm Mngttage. bcfore they - hnd fwvm thc

fame.
N W. Davy
Sworn bciore me this amd Day -
_of Drcember 1781,
Warren Ha&mgs.

Ntm. Fei B,
s Afdavit of Datjoo Sing tnﬂ‘%ﬁdﬂmﬁ Mifier,
: Dad 00 Sm and Gobihdram ' Mxﬂer, mnkc Oath, _gegor ‘m,(the‘mf'r of their Reli-
gion, aJnd fay.gi'r'hat about the 12th of the Montﬁ%ﬁuﬂwﬁwf P qli) \gﬁ%;ecmvﬁd

a Perwannah orLamtfmmtheRqahmtrﬂi y, dated e e of B 0 5 snd
" thar, about the 18th of the Momﬂi mww the vfald D ‘fecond ‘Pe; ktu!fx

or Laetter from the fid Rajah/Cheic Sing,: B K el ”.nr tha:
both thofe: Pcrwanmln or Liersers s and {hgvm by
him to the De

¢ L>00 o.read Fequaﬂuor
Letters were. xmm&iau y fent to M. Gmm ' ‘ vl

And thefe Deponents. furchet fay, That Haylag .
Charaéter, marked Nom. 5 D and ﬁm 1E, they dnewbe:
Dcponem D-ﬂJoo $ing reccived as sforefaid froni
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NUH. 7 C.
Affidavit of Captain Davy,

Captain William Davy, private Perfian Tranflator to the Honourable Warren Haftings Efq. Go-
vernor General of Fort William in Bengal, 8c. &c. maketh Oath and faith, That he underftands
the Perfian Llniun , and that he received from Gomauny Lall, a Hindoo, who he believes un-
derftands both the Hindoo and Perfian Languages, a verbal Interpretation in Perfian of the an-
nexed Papers, written in the Hindoo Language: And the Deponent further faith, That the
Englith Papers hereunto annexed, are true and faithful Tranflations of the faid Hindoo Papers,
roade from the verbal Inte?retation in Perfian of the faid Gomauny Lall, to the beft of this
Deponent’s Skill and Belief.

W. Davy.

Sworn before me this 12th Day
of December 1781,

E. Impey.

Num. 7. D.

Tranflation of a Letter from the Rajah Cheit Sing fo Dadjoo Sing, written in the Hindoo
Lﬂt ¢ and Charaller.—T'bis Verfion made from the verbal Interpretation of Gomauny Lall,
¢ Hindoo Moonfhy.

Complimentary Introduétion.

Great Mifunderftandings have come to pafs between me and the Englith; I therefore dire®
you, with your People, to join me the Moment you fee this Ordery every Encouragement and
Support fhall be given you by me—Let your Mind be at Reft, and come with S

ed.
Wherever you meet with either Europeans or Sepoys, plunder and cut them og'e--Couﬁder this
as particularly enjoined.

Wricten the 4th of the Month Baudoon.
Superfcribed by Cheit Sing in his own Hand, ¢ Tke Comtents ‘;ppnw »
‘The Cover direlted to Dadjoo Sing, and fealed with the Seal of the Rajah Cheit Sing.

Num. 7. E,

Tranflation of a Letter from the Rajah Cheit Sing, ¢2 Dadjoo Sing, twritten in the Hindoo

and Charaller ~Tbis Verfion made from the verbal Inmerpretation of Gomauny Lall,
s Hindoo Moonthy.

Camplimentary Introdution.

It appears that you are united with the Englith—I therefore write to you, that living as you

do :fndfcr my Proteftion, the taking part with shem will be attended with bad Conféquences to
yourfelf,

I direét that, immediarely on the Arrival of this Order, you join the Rajah Futteh Sing, and
fee the Baemy, in this only you will find your Advantage~=Confider the above as moft %ri&ly
enjoined.

Writien the 10th of the Month Kawwar.

If you afl according to thefe Orders, you will obtain Honour thereby,

[Superfcribed by Cheit Sing) < The above is Sriftly enjoined.”

‘The Coves direhed to Dadjoe Sing, and fealed with the Seal of the Rajsh Cheic Sing.

EIGHTH PARCEL

' N"ua 80 Ac
~ ARdwit of Colonel Blair, commanding the Fort of Chunar.

‘The Afidgvit of Lieutenant Colonel William Blair, taken before Sir Elijah Impey, Knight,
Chief Jufkice of the Supreme Court of Judicature ac Fort William in Bengal.—This Deponent,
on his Oath, faith, That on the 21ft of Auguft 1781, to the beft of his Recollection, about
8 0'Clock in the Morning, and fomething near an Hour after he had iffued Orders for the
2d Batealion of .the 6th Regiment to crofs the River, and march with all pofible Expedition to
Banffris, & Man was brought to him, who faid he had fome particular Intelligence to deliver;
that upen bearing what he had to fay, he acquainted the Deponent that he had left Kamnagur
in the Night, and that it was there decmnmsed to attack the Fort of Chunargur the folllqo.w;:ng

39 gnt,
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Night ; Le mentioned feveral of the Leaders Names, whom the Deponent does not remember,
and faid, chat Ladders had been prepared at Pateeta for that Purpofe, 4and that a confiderable
Force was expetted to join thofe at Ramnagur, The Deponent further faith, That at the Time
this Fellow gave him the above Information, he was going to the. Beach to fee the Battalion
paraded, and to expedite the Boats; and that he faw the fame Man upon the Road as he was re-
turning from the River Side.  Lieutenant Colonel Blair further faith, Thata fhort Time before
Dinner, on the fame Day, another Man was brought to him with Intclligence, who was drefied
like a Fakeer; he feemed a middlesaged Man, and appeared very folicitous for the Safety of the
Englifh : His lInformation correfponded with the former, as to the Time that the Fort was to ba
attacked ; the Forces he faid could not in all confift of lefs than between Twenty and Thirty
thoufand Men, with Artillery; that they were to be led on by the Rajah in Perfan, and were to
come from Lutteefpoor, Ramnagur, and Pateera. The Deponent remarks, that this Man fpoke
fo much more than merely anfwering Queftions that were put to him, that this, joined to his
feeming Anxicty for the Safety of the Englith, created in the Deponent’s Mind great Doubts of
his Veracity, though he did not totally reje€t his Information, The Deponent here obferves,
that this Man, andgalfo the Perfon that delivered the firft Intelligence, were perfect Strangers to
the Deponent, and every Perfon about him ; and that, among other Queftions, he afked him
what was his Inducement to come to him with fuch particular Information ? to which he anfwered,
That he was a poor Man and expefted a Reward, The¢ Deponent then told him, that if he
called upon him next Day, he would moft undoubtedly reward him accordingly. The Deponent
further faith, That as far as he recolleéts, between Three and Four o'Clock the fame Afternoon,
he was ubferving the laflt of the before-mentioned Battalion crofling the River, his Jemmadar
Hircarrah came to him, and told him that it was the general Belief every where, that a large
Army was upon the March, and it was fuppofed would reach Chunar that Night, and-that vaft
Numbers of the Inhabitants were flying' the Town i that he the Deponent warped -the faid
Jemmadar Hircarrah to beware of bringing or fpicading falfe Intelligence, as he. fhould .anfwer
for it with his Life; his Anfwer was, that he iﬁokc -nothing of himfelf. The Deponent, -after
having feen all she Batralion acrofs the River, and begun 'their March, ordered the Jemmadar,
Hircarrah to attend him to Camp, That as the Deponent was on the Road, he mgt a young
Man feemingly much out of Breath, but could not underfand what he ‘had ;w, fay, till -he
reached the Camp, when he called Captain Blair to-interprer for“Him,” The Information this
Man gave was, that he wasan Inhabitant of Pateeta, and ‘ufed frequently to come to Chunar
upon his own huﬁncfs; that the Deponent’s Jemmadar Hicarrah knew him, which was acknow-
ledged by the Jemmadar himfelf. He faid, that when he left Pateeta, there was about Six
thoufand Men getting ready to march towards Chunar, and that he_underftood that a very large
Body was 1o follow from Lutteefpoor. ‘The Deponent further faith,” That, upon refleting rpon
the various Intelligence he had received through the Day, he thought'it nécelfary: g}?,m vaint
Captain Sparks and Captain Blair with his Appichenfions of sn Attack: bﬁng‘mﬁ":n* Night ;
that he the Deponent faw Out-pofts placed,. and ,gave -every ‘neceflary Inftrultion to prevent a
Surprize, and to oppofe the Enemy ‘with Vigour, ‘as he was confcious that every Thing depended
upon be‘m%{ahle 10 keep the Field, The Deponent'after this, when the Troops were turned out
at Roll-calling, directed Captains Blair and Sparks to thank their Men' in the Name of the Go-
vernor General for their late gallant Behaviour at Ramnagur, lamenting at the fame Time the
great Lofs thac they bad:fufteined by being imprudently led into'a Place where they . could not
aét, but that he the Depunent was confident they coild i the fair Field beat any Force that the
Rajah could bring againft them ; that the Mcn exprefied a perfet Confidence and Readinefs to
oppofe the Enemy if attacked, and the Chaffeurs exprefied 1he greaioft: Exgernefs to emibrace the
firlt Opportunity of revcnﬁin‘ the Death of their Companions dad:Commsndant 5 asé’ théy ‘re-
mained vpon their Arms & Igig‘ht with the uimoft Cheerfalnofs. |The Deponent: further fdich,
That when the Governor General artiyed at Chunargur next Morning, ‘dnd that he: was tokd the
Danger ‘that threatened him and ‘all the other Gentlemén ac Banaris, which he waa' perfe@ly
ignorant ‘of beforey it then crowded on his Mind, ‘as.no. Enemy had made the leaft Attempt
tither upon the Camp or Fort, that all thefe Pieces of Intelligence, which had been brought in
the Day before, were entirely calculated for the. Purpofe of detaining the Troops from ‘beifgfent
10 Banaris, and thereby favouring the Defign of atracking the Governor ‘and Gentlemoh thiere s
and the Deponent fays, that he is the more induced to- this Belief, as he'was not able newt Day,
or any Time fince, to find the People that brought the, Deponent;ahis’ ntell » though
every Endeavosr was made todifeaver them, ~ LT e W mm

Sworn.before me this sd Diiy of®
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Num. 8. B.
Afidavit of Captain M‘Dougall,

‘The Affidavit of Captain Patrick M‘Dougall, taken before Sir Elijah Impey, Knight, Chief
Juftice of the Supreme Court of Judicature at Fort William in Bengal. This Deponent, on
his Oath, faith, Thaton the Evening of the 21ft of Auguft laft, after having crofied the River
with his Battalion, in order to march to Banaris, agreeable to Colonel Blair’s Orders, feveral
People came and acquainted him, that there were Two thoufand armed Men pofted in the
Neighbourhood of Beety-bur, to oppofe his marching to Banarisy and not doubung this Intel-
ligence to be well founded, and Night "approaching, took every Precaution to guard againft
a Surprife, and oppofe the Enemy; but meeting with no Oppofition on his March there, or
returning to Chunargur, therefore concluded the Information to have been groundlefs.

Sworn before me this 2d Day Patrick M‘Dougall.
of December 1781.

E. Impey.

NINTH PARCEL

Num. g. A.
Affidavit of Nathaniel Middleton Efquire.

Nathaniel Middleton Efquire, on his Oath, faith, That he left Lucknow on the 1gth Auguft
1781, and joining the Nabob Vizeer at about Ten Cofs diftant, proceeded with him towards
Banaris, with an Intention to meet the Governor General, who was expected fhortly at Lucknow:
That about Three or Four Days after his Departure, he heard of the Difturbanee at Banaris, and
of the Maflacre of Three European Officers, with a Number of Sepoys, at the Inftigation of
Rajah Cheit Sing, which prevented the Governor General’s fitting out for Lucknow, as he had
intended; and on his Arrival at Doudnagur, on the 24th of the fame Month, he received im-
grfgq:@cconnts, through the Channel of the Vizeer’s gublic Intelligence, of the Retreat of the

overnor. Gieneral and  his Party to Chunargur; and the fame Account, as well as many others,
fet forth, ‘that the Rajah Chelt Sing had ifflued his moft pofitive Orders to all the Zemeedars and
Officers of his Government, to put every European to Death that they could !ay hold of; to feize
and feverely punith any. Natives who thould be found in the Service of or eonne@ed with the
Englith; and in general, to ufe every Means in their Power to promote an Infurretion through-
out the Country; for which they fhould be liberally rewarded : That Be had alfo written Perwan-
nahs, or Letters, to mn&y of the Zemeedars of the Vizeer's Country, encouraging them to raife
Difturbances in their refpe@ive Diftricts, and to aflit him with Troopsy for which he promifed
them Jarge Sums of Money: That this Report was made to him repeatedly, through various
Channels, and implicitly credited not only by himfelf, but he firmly believes by the Vizeer and
-every Man in his Retinue: That in confeguence of thefe Occurrences, the Vizeer, who had left
Lu&ng,w\_mith«.,a,nryﬁ,fmtll Force, determined to wait for Reinforcements before he proceeded
and accordingly, fummoning his Troops from all Quarters, halted at Huffanpoor until they joitied
‘bim; That on the 318t of faid Month he, this Deponent, in Company with the Vizeer, left Huf-
fanpoor, and proceeded” towards C‘hunatﬁur: That on his Arrival at or near the Village of
Gopee Gunge, he heard from foveral different Perfons, whofe Names he does not at prefent re-
colle?, that a Number of dead Bodies were feen, fome in a Well fituated near the Road Side,
and others lying on the open Plain, partly covered with loofe Earth, or Sand, that had becn
throws over them : That thefe Bodies were fuppofed and gencrally believed to be the Bodies ot
Danck Hircarraby, and other Travellers dependant on the Englith, who bad been feized and
murdered in cosfequence of the aforefaid Orders of Rajah Chcic Sing: T'hat this Deponent did
not fee the Bodies, but-had not a Doubt of the Truth of the Story, as it was mentioned by
feveral Perfons at the Time they were pafling the Place, and aferwards by others who had (top-
ped to fee them s That in a fmall Mud Fort and Village near the Place where the Bodies were
difcovered, he, this Deponent, heard from Almas Ally Khan, a principal Farmer of the Nabob
Vigeer's Revenue, that there were feversl bundred-armed Mea aflembled in the Service of Rajah
't;:Sing; but for what particular Purpofe he did not learn: That fome Days after bis (this

cpongnt 3) Arrival st Chupar, be was informed by Two Hircarrahs, who brought hic an Ex-
pm the Aumil of ‘Tlahishad, that in pafling through Gopee Gunge they bad feen the dead
Two Europeans, who they fuppofed had been murdered by the Inhabitants of that
¢ bie heard at the Time, .and belicved, and does fill believe, that much Encourage-

d Jome a@ual Aid in the mifing of Trdops, was given Rajsh Cheit Sing by Behar Ally
i Jewar Ally Khan, the Two principal Eunuchs and Counlellory of the Vizeer's Mother
abads. and ghat their Conduét, as well as that of their Dependants, during the Continuance
iturbances ac Banaris, manifeited a firong Difaffetion to the Englith: Thac he further
heard
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heard from his own News-writer ftationed at Fyzabad, that a Vakeel, or Agent, frdm Rajah Cheit
Sing had been received at that Place, and allowed to remain under the Proteion of the faid
Eunuchs; but for what particular Purpofe, or what was the Nature of his Commiffion or Nego-
cistions, this Deponent has not been able to difcover. -
Nathaniel Middleson.

Sworn this 27th Day of No-
vember 1781, before me,

‘ E hﬂpﬂyn

Num. 9. B.
Affidavit of Licutensnt Colonel Alexander Hannay.

Alexander Hannay Efquire, Lieutenant Colonel, commanding a Corps of his Excellency the
Vizeer Affof-ud-Dowlah’s SeR:ys, on his Oath, declares, to the beft of his Remembrance and
Belief, the following Circumftances refpecting the State of the Country he was ftationed in, and
the Reports that prevailed there during the Months of September and O&tober 1781 :«~That, in
obedience to Orders he received from his Excellency the Nabob Vizeer for that Purpufe, on the
28th of Auguft 1781, he iffued Orders for forming a Detachment, confiting of One thoufand
Sepoys, Four Guns, and Five thoufand Horfe, from cthe Troops under his Command, to affemble
at Akberpoor, on the Road leading to Jowanpoor: That Eight Companies of Sepoys, T'wo Guns,
and about One hundred Horfe of the faid Detachment, were ordered to crofs the Gogra at the
Chowra Ghaut, and proceed to Akberpoor: That Two Companies of Sepoys, Two Guns, and
the Remainder of the Horfe, were ordered to crofs at Fyzabad, and encamp on the Rumna until
the Arrival of the Deponent, who was from thence to march them to Akberpoor, the appoiated
Rendezvous of the Detachment : That the Deponent arrived at Fyzabad on the Evening of the

th of September, with the Intention of purfuing his March to Akberpoor the next Morning s
&u_t was detained, from the Horfemen av_ix;g ren feduced into the Tomp, where they were
tampered with by the Servants and Agents of the Begums to decling prpceeding further with
him: That the Subadars of the Two Companies of Sepays reprefented 0 him, that Guards weee

laced (faid by the Authority of the Begums), to prevent the Sepoys, or any ope conneéted with
fhc Englifs, from entering the Town; and u'p,on nquiry, it :&Sutlﬂ%nym Lepiefentation
was true : That the Depanent learnt from various, and what he deemed Information to be de-

nded on, that the Agents of Rajah Cheit Sing were publicly fuffered to raife Troops in Fyzgbad;
f:d that thc'Eunuclsggf both Begums encouraged (ﬁ:‘ People to enter inta his Service, :::;&cw-
larly Jewar Ally Khan, who was r:srcfcn;cd to have ﬁom into the Choa;‘k for this Purpafe: That
the Deponent was credibly informed, that Two or Three Days before his Arrival &t ‘yzabad, a

Man named Sheakh Khan, had marched from thence, in order to join Rajsh Cheit Sing, with

about & Thoufand Horfe and Foot, and thas feveral other Degachmepe ’?u;l “helgee procesded

from thence with the fame Delign. Thefe Traofactions were of %o public Notoriery, and fo gene-

rally believed, that the Depopent deemed it his Duty to reprefegt their Im bar ety to the Bo
Hemoer,

: thel 10 e How

Begum *, but could obtain no Anfwer, On the Evening of the 8th of | the Dﬂ%
received a Letter from Licutenant Gordon, who was on his March to join him at Ak l:anor.
informing him that he had been attacked on his March from Chowsah Cg!’x ut by grest Badses of
Men, afiembled to oppofe him; and that on hia Arrival ax Taundeh, the Condug ::'Shumlhecr
Khag, the Begum’s Aumil of th‘qt-Plpce‘,l:jd{ effeled the Lofe of his meﬁgt. 23 appears
g?f?ﬁtbe following Copy of his Letter to the Depongnt, relating the Circumitances of that unhappy
er. ' - o .

of a Letter frem Licutepant John Gordon #0 I'.ieutenaﬁt Colonel Hannay o 4 od ot
Copy Y . from Taundgh, #¢ 30/b ¢f Beptember 381, - ’ m _ "‘,
s ] had the Honour o write you on the 8th Infisnt, scquainting you with the Difser which
* happencd to my Detachment; and 1 now beg leave to lay before - pow the Particulars of thws
" e A g, o b G, i Choort, i s Pt G o S
" Ie y on th, ot wran, w t WI’ ! ' Y,
« and about Eighty Horfe (i all near 400), 1 faw that the Country wes di 5 DY Fowge,

“ however, fim dged to be quite fuflicint to join ﬂ«Akbemaw vory Anend,
* rrupti S SNt BRI .

“ On

a Nu whiere 1 'had fent Boses e

oppofcmym 1 immedistpdy made whas I judged 2o -De. she bal):

o ms sl the Behavious of - thie Men did: chem grode Coedity Sop Juring. the -whidls.

« of the March of Bight Coft, 'we wero ardoked, and oftw, Sorsiiiid, by incrodible’ W

“ bersof Prople, yer'we conftratly beat them .o, Killing und ‘vieiitifing ‘many of (hem s 4

® T Nabob Vinser's Muther,  caliol in thi Narvstive Nivanh
5

4%
“
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s arrived, with very little Lofs, about One o’Clock in the Afternoon, at the Teerta Nullak,

* which runs by Taundeh, bringing the whole of our Bazar and Bugyage in the moflt compicte

¢« Safety. I now imagined myfc?f in a Friend’s Country, and intended croffing the Nullah, thac

* my People might halt for the Day, and refreth after their fatiguing March: For this Purpole

‘“ 1 ordered my’ Bazar and Baggage to be fent over, and Part of the Sepoys to ftand to their

‘“ Arms: A great Number og our Enemies were ftill in Sight ; but judge of my Surprife, when

¢ I was informed that the Boats were all on the other Side of the Nullah, and that none of
‘“ them were permitted to crofs. I immediately wrote to the Begum’s Aumil, Shumfheer Khan,

* acquainting him, that I was marching with the Vizeer’'s Troops, by his Orders, to join him;

¢ that | was aftonithed at his ftopping the Ghaut, and deflired he would fend Beats tor che

¢ Tranfport of my Detachment,, To this no Anfwer was made; but immediately Three Guans

‘“ were brought near the Ghaut, and pointed to us; and a Number of Nujjechs were polted on

¢ the Banks of the Nullah, who threatened to fire if any Body paffed. it 1 proper o remark

 here, that near the Ghaut there were a great many large Boats belonging to Mr. Scorr, whole

¢ Gomaftah, notwithftanding his moft earneft Entreatics, was prevented from fending them by

¢ Shumfheer Khan; and even the Plunder of his Fatory and his Life were threatened, 1f he

¢ attempted it.——When I found this to be the Cafe, I took poficflion of a very ftrong Ground,
* furrounded on Three Sides by the River and Nuilah; on the Fourth Side, where only I could
‘¢ be attacked by the Country People, I ordered the Sepoys to make a Breall-work, by piling,
“ up Planks, of which there were a great Number ; and as | had Athwunition and Provifions,

“ | intended to wait chere until I could procure Boats, or difcover a Ford. While 1 was thus
*“ employed, I found that Mahommed fluzza Beg, the Jemmadar of llorfe, had Iwam acrots
¢ the Nullzh, and procured Permiflion for his People to follow him, which they immediately
*“ did. No Aniwer coming from the Fougedar, I delired my Moonthy to go to him, and ex-
¢ plain the Matter; he accordingly went to the Gbhaur, and demanding a Paflage, he was
¢ rctufed, and infulted in Terms the moft opprobrious to the Englifh.  He returned 3 and telling
“ me this, I ordered him to take an Elephant and fwim overy but when he atteripred to enter
¢ the Nullah with the Animal, the Nujjcebs pointed their Matchlocks at him, and obliged him
“ to defift: The Sepoys fecing this, and that the Horfemen were periitted to fwim acrofs,
 naturally imagined that the Objeftion was to the Englith only, and their Adherents; they
¢ thought it fafeft to abandon me, whom they muft have concluded to be devoted, and,
 throwing down their Coats and Arms, they followed the Lxample of the Horfemen in
* {fwimming acrofs the Nullah, making a Merit with Shumfheer Khan of giving me up to my
¢ Fate. One of the Subadars reprefented to T wo others the Folly of their fuffering for One Perfon,
* and propofed to them to deliver me up to Shumtheer Khan, or to the Country People; but
“ this %ropofal they rejeéted with Scorn: The Defertion however was almeft complete; for in
¢ a lirtle Time, of the Four Companies, not Twenty Men remained, including Officers. It
¢ was now almoft Evening, when Mr. Scott’s Gomaltah, with great® Difficulty, at laft obtained
“ Permiflion trom the Fougedar to fend One Boat ; but it came 100 late to reader any effectual
‘¢ Service; for with the few Sepoys who remained, Command was at an end; and, as woft of
“ my Servants had gone off, my Baggage was left a Prey to the Badditti, who foon carried off
¢ and deftroyed it.  Some Things, which a few of my Scrvants brought with them, they gave
¢ in Charge of the Fougedar’s People, to take care of them; but they referved them for them-
¢ felves, or rather for the Fougedar; and though many of my Things were feen in his Houle,
4 ] never could recover a fingle Article. I am ftill in Mr. Scoti’s Fa&tory, whic} there is every
¢ Reafon to think will be attacked, as Numbers of People are affembled in the Neighbourhood
¢ for that Purpofe ; and as the Fougedar pofitively refufes to grant the leaft Afliftance, God knows
¢ what may be the Confequence : However, as it is evident that Shumtheer Khan was the fole
¢ Caule of this Difattcr,? hope that exemplary Punifhment will be inflicted on him, and if 1
“ furvive I doubt not but I fhall be reimburied for what 1 loft by his Villany.

‘ ¢ | have the Honour to be; &c.
¢« J. Gourdon, Licut.”

"The Deponent further faith, That both from Obfervation and Information, he doth believe
that a general and univerfal Infurre@ion took place, before the 15th of Septembgr, m all the
Country to the Eaftward of the Gogra, from ‘Mnngce to Baraitch, and on us Weitern Banks
from the Borders of the Banaris Diftricts to the Extremity of Kheirabads thar it was created
~and fomented by the Agents of RujahCheit Sing; difaffeCted People at Fyzabad, and about che
‘Vizeer's Court; and that the Expulfion of the Englith was its Object. In the Diitricts of
“Guoruckpoor, and indeed in all the Pergunnahs below Fyzabad, it was generally afferted, and
the Déponent never heard ‘the Affertion contradiéted, that the Rajsh Cheit Sing furnithed the
principal Zemeedars, particolsrly the Rajahs’ Futeeh Saw, Genoo Roy, Ajece Mull, Zalim
" Sing, and:Perty Pall Sing, with confiderable Sums’ of Money, in order to fubfilt the Force they
Ac&,!lle'\&édfbn ‘this Occafion; and thac ‘he - granted them oftenfible Certificates under his Seal, en-
"gaging to diftharge wharever Expence rthey might incur in the Service of the Infurrection.
Thefe Certificates "and Perwanmahs they received, or preteaded to have received, under the
Scal of the Vizeer, confirming them in their hereditary Zemeedaries; and appomtingi\ thcxln
' 3 T umils
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Aumils on the Dart of the Sirkar in their refpeétive Pergunnahs, gained them an unbounded,
Influence over the Inhabitants. The Aumils of the Country in general -were obliged to fly from
their Stations ; the Nujjecbs and Sebundy joined the Infurgents, or cifperfed; all Ferry-boats
were funk or deftroyed s many of the Dauck Hircarrahs were flain, and the reft obliged to fly,
which effe@ually cut off all Correfpondence, as well as Communtgatlon, lqd 'che Country
remained in a State of Diltra@ion which cannot well be defcribed, until the Beginning of O¢to-
ber; when the News of our Succefs at Banaris, and the Nabob’s Return to Lucknow, calmed
the Tumule.
Sworn this 26th Day of November Alexander Hannay.
1781, before me,
E. Impey.

Num. 9. C.
Affidavit of Major M*Donald.

John M‘Donald, Efg; Major commanding the Nabob Affof-ud-Dowlah’s Third Battalion of
Sepoys, on Oath faith, That he the Deponent was ftationed at Amora, to aflift the Aumil in col~
leéting the Company’s T'unka, alfo to proteét the Subjelts of his Excellency the Vizeer from the
Depredations of Zalim Sing, the Rcbef Rajah of the aforementioned Place Amora, alfo the At-
tacks of others his Adherents: "That the faid Deponent had been detached by Lieutenant Colonel
Hannay, fome Time in February 1780, with a Body of Horfe and Foot, in Purfuit of the above-
mentioned Rajah Zalim Sing, who, befides fequeftering the Rents of the Pergunnah, had com-
pelled the Inhabitants to quit the Diftrié; and further, wantonly, and without Caufe, mur-
dered Two of the principa? Cannoongoces of the Pergunnah aforefaid. The Deponent could not
come up with the flying Rajah, but followed him until he took to a large J ungﬁ:, that bounded
the Country of the Vizeer to the Eaftward, and is the Weftermoft Limit of the Zemeedary of
Cheit Sing, Rajah of Banaris. Zalim Sing was there rcceived in the moft friendly Manner, and
Protettion promifed him. On this, the %)cponcn: fent proper Spies to watch the Motions of
Rajah Zalim Sing, and returned himfelf with the Troops to hisjStation at Amora: That the
Deponent learned by the Spies left about Zalim Sing, that he was allowed to refide openly under
the Protection of Cheit Sing, and had Villages, alfo Lands, afligned for the Maiatenance of
himfelf and Followers. o

About the Twentieth of Auguft laft, the Deponent was informed, Cheit Sing had, after
putting to Death Three Englith Officers and Two hundred and Fifty Sepoys, fled from Ba-
naris, and cpenly fet up the Standard of Rebellion, inviting all Perfons, who could procure
Arms, to repair to him, and by fghting under his Banner, extirpate the Fringies. The Road
by which the Poft ufually travelled from Banaris, became impaflable from the numcrous Parties,
it was {aid, Cheit Sing had fent out, to cut off all Communication betwixt the Honourable
Governor General and the different Stations of the Army. As the Deponent could not obtain any
authentic Account of the State of Affairs, he thought it beft to fend out Perfons to all Parts for
Information, that he might judge from the State of the Country how Matters ftood at the Place
of the greateft Moment. The Country of the daring Rebel Cheit Sing, and the City of Fyza-
bad, feemed to the Deponent the moft likely Places to furnifth the wilhed Intelligence. In
the latter Place it was reported, firft, that the Honourable Warren Haftings Efq, had been
maflacred at Banaris ; then, that he had been cut off on his Way to Chunar; at laft it was faid
the Honourable Governor General was in Chunargur, but muft foon fall into the Flands of the
Banaris Rebel, as no Relief could poffibly reach the Place in Time to fave it; and that thorty
the Deftruttion of every Englithman in: thefe Parts would be effefted. From the Banaris Dif-
triét the Deponent learnt, Cheit Sing had fummoned the Zemeedars of bis Raje to join him
with all the Troops they could raife, promifing prefent Pay to thofe bearing Arms, and a Re-
miffion of a Year’s Rent to all who repaired to his' Standard. Many Rebels who had fled the
Company's and Nabob's Territoriea, and taken Refuge in his Zemeedary, were furnithed with
Money, and joined by fuch Zemeedars, belonging to the aforefaid Banaris Rebel, as lay too far
diftant from the principal Scene of Adtion, to make & Diverlion both towards the Company's
Lands and thofe Parts of his Exceliency’s Dominions under the Charge of Englith Offiers; and
endeavour to cut them all off, and thereby prevent any Affitance. bewg, fent from either Goo-
ruckpoor or Bphraich. His Excellency the Vizeer: repaired 1o Sultanpoor, about this Time,
which preverted the Rebel Zalim Sing, .allo Perty Pall Sing, the Rebel of Bufty, from quit-
:in%‘th‘c Jungle y ‘but they were bufy in ,t‘mking the ‘fecellary Preparations, by of Men,
thie’ Money faid to be fent them by, Cheit Sing jn Fysetad : The Khajahs *

wit e Vizeer’s
Grandmother, as'well as thofe of the Bow Begum, were railing Men -unde ious Pretences,
and making ;viqr‘y Preparation; ¢ tiz ht be necellary’ either for o?'énﬂg ar_defenfive Wa, -

Dering the Timeé the Nabob_ lay ‘entamp e, che Deponeny’y e
and il ufed in Fyzabad, by the Peons, . %, and other Serviangs of Jewar Ally Khan and abe.

TwoB!gums, a1 were all who mtdﬁufeOfP:hCEnghfh ame, or mtc‘duppnf;d to have any Can:
| “Eunuchs, '

4t Sultnp

: ‘s Peaple were infuited..

ne@ion
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ne&ion of the Kind but on its being known there that his Excellency had moved towards Chunat,
no onc who was a Servant of the Englifh could ge: Admittance into the City but by Stealth, or in
Difguife ; even the Duack from Lucknow was not allowed to pafs through as formerly, but obliged
to make a large Cireuir, and the Hircatrahs put on different Appearances to pafs unnoticed to
Amora, After the Departure of the Nabob r}:om Sultanpoor, as before mentioned, the Rebels,
who had been driven from the Province of Gooruckpoor, began moving towards the Gogra. The
Zemeedars of Amora, where the Deponent then refided, alfo thofe of the adjacent Pergunnahs,
held frequent Meetings, and fcemed gig with fome great Plan,  On or about the 2gth of Augutt,
the Deponent received a Letter from Lieutenant Colonel Hannay, informing him, that his lix-
cellency the Nabob had written to him (Colonel Hannay) to join him immediately with a thou-
fand Sepoys, Four Guns, and Five hundred Horfe. Four hundred Sepoys of the Deponent’s
Battalion were ordered for this Service ; alfo his Battalion Guns, and a hundred Horfe that be-
longed to the Amora Sration, were withdrawn, to make up the Number requirced by his kxcel-
lency. No fooner was this made public, than the Zemeedars abfented themielves; and the De-
ponent learnt from all Parts of the Country, that every Man was getting ready his Arms, and
that Cheit Sing’s Name was in every Body’s Mouth ; that every Rajah in the Country had de-
- clared for him : That the Deponent endeavoured to get fome Nujjeebs to fupply the Place of the

Troops called awar; but all in vain; every Attempt was rendered abortive by the Machinations
of the Khajahs belonging to the Two Begums at Fyzabad ; and every Soul in that City feemed,
from their Conduét and Converfation, to look upon the Englifh as on the very Eve of Extermi-
natien, forbidding any one to ferve the Fringies, but to repair to Cheit Sing and Saadut Ally—
Nay, every Method and Way were tried to feduce the Scpoys from the Deponent’s Battalion,
which, however, did not fucceed while remaining under his Eye, but had the defired Effeét upon
the Nu%feb and Sebundy. After the Sc?oys, Guns, and Horfe had crofled the Gogra, there
was an End to all Government in that Part of the Country where the Deponent rcﬁcﬁ‘«d. Not
an Article of any Kind was to be had; and but for the Deponent’s having forefeen the Situation
he fhould be in, and provided accordingly, he would have been under the Neceffity of leaving
his Sration from the Want of Provifions. Thus furrounded on all Sides by lurking Enemies
(for there was no knowing who to treat otherwife) the Deponent knew not when or from what
Quarter the Blow was to be ftruck; but on the 8th of September it broke out in all Parts.
All Out Pofts were driven into Camp; the Roads in an Inftant fecured by armed Parties;
Hircarrahs murdered, Sepoys attacked, and the intended Deftruttion of every Englithman
openly declared, not only throughout ‘the' Pergunnah, Towns, and Villages, but even in the
City of Fyzabad. ' To fuch Lengths was it carried by the Pcople of Jewar Ally Khan, and
other Khajahs belonging to the Begums, that the Women of the Deponent’s Camp, that were
fent acrofs the Gogra to be out of the Way of Danger, being obnoxious from: the Conncion,
were refufed that Protetion which the Sex in every Country meets with, but particularly in
Hindoftan claims as a Right. From the above Date, the Deponent was confined to the Limits
of his Camp, nor had he any Road open but that to Rye Ghaut oppolite Owd, at which Place
Lieutenant Colonel Hannay then lay with a very fmall Force; while the Country around him,
alfo the City of Fyzabad, feemed ready to commence Hoftilities. On the 1oth of September,
Rajah Zalim Sing, accompanied by other rebellious Rajahs, appeared with a numerous Force
on the Banks of the Gogra oppofite to Amora. 'The Deponent’s Spies brought him Intelligence
from the Rebel’s Camp, that his, the Deponent’s Property, likewile that of all his Camp, was
already ‘divided; that the Deponent’s Horfes, Camels, &c. Things worth Notice, the
Rajah Zalim Sing referved to himfelf ; the ret was to be given up to thofe who could get it
Moreover the Deponent faith, his People informed him that Rajah Zalim Sing had produced a
Paper, which he, the Rajab, faid was a Sunnud from the Nabob, reftoring hitn to his Zemce-
dary, appointing him Colle¢tor of the adjacent Pergunnahs, Bulty and Nagger, alfo that he had
the Nabob's Direétions to drive the Fringies out of his Diftriéts; that he only waited for the Size ®
(Boats being already provided, from Fyzabad, which the Deponent knew abfolutely to be the
Cafe) to crofs the Gogra, and carry the Nabob’s Orders into Execution,  Further, that his Ex-
cellency had altered his Sentiments regardin% the Part he was to take in the prefent Conteft,
that his Excellency fet out with the Intent of adhering to his Treaty with the Company, but
that Mirza Saadut Ally wrote him he was to blame if nﬁe gave any Affiftance ; that now was the
Time to fhake off the Englifh Yoke; that ir might not be’prudent to declare himfelf at once 4
that he had only to ftand neuter, and, under Pretence of defending themfelves, direé his Subjeéts
to rake Arms, and endeavour to prevent the Jun&ion of the Englith Forces, when the Matter
would work of itfelf: Further, to direct the Aumils to fend no more Supplies of Noney, which
would caule the Sepoys to leave the Englifh Service for want of Pay, while themielves would
bave Plenty -of Money. In the City of Fyzabad the fame Langua%‘c prevailed as to the Money
Part, and Stoppage of the Tunka, until the Nabob Szadut Ally Khan thou%!u proper to iffue
the Grants, During the Night of the 1oth of Sepremibet Rajah Zalim Sing croffed the Gogra, and
advaced within Four Cofs of  the Deponent’s amp‘; on the Eveningof the xith the afurefaid
Rajah- puthed Three Pofts to within a Mile of the Deponent’s Lines, and was to have moved from

¢ Fortunate Hour. b
is
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his Camp with his main Body when the Moon rofe. Thus fituated, it was thought expedicnt,
for the Safety of both Parties, that the Deponent fhould join Lieutenant Colonel Hannay while yet
a Paffage was open ; accordingly, about 'I'wo io the Morning of the 12th of September, the Depo-
nent quitted his Camp at Amora, and marched to Rye Ghaut. The Deponent was fearcely out of his
Camp, when the Rajah’s People rufhed into it, feizing all they could find, and murdered fome
unhappy Perfons who had neglected to move in Front of the Deponent’s Party.  The Deponent
reached Rye Ghaut at Sunrife of the 12th. As foon as it was known at I'yzabad, that Zalim Sing
was in Pofleflion of Amora, the whole City was in an Uproar from Joy; and the Deponent heard
the Report and faw the Smoke of Guns that were difcharged at Fyzabad, he believes on the
Occafion.  The Deponent faith, He believed the Reports as before related at that Time, and till
is of Opinion the Threats therein contained were intended to be carried into Execation had
the League been fuccefsful; nor did the Deponent then (or even at this Moment) doubt but
what the Begums at Fyzabad and their Khajahs were in a League with Cheit Sing the Banaris
Rebel; and the Deponent is of Opinion that the Whole of the Difturbances that happened in the
Parts where he refided, took its rifc from the Rebellion of Rajab Cheit Sing; and the Deponent is
further of Opinion, that it would not have extended itfelf fo wide in the fhort Time it really did,
had it not becn a Matter pre-concerted, and brought to light by mere Chance, ere properly ripe
for Exccution: And the Deponent further faith, That he is of Opinion, from the many Conver-
fatins he the Deponent has held with feveral Perfons, Inhabitants of the Rebel Cheit Sing's
Country, that the Rebellion has been meditating even fome Years; that the Deponent was in-
formed the Matter was abfolutcly debated in the Year 1779, and prevented only by the Voice of
a Perfon about the Rajah, to whofe Judgment much Deterence was paid by the Rajah Bulwant
Sing, Father of the Rebel.
J. Macdonald.

Sworn before me this 27th
Day of November 1781,
E. Impey.

NUM« 90 D'
Affidavit of Captain David Williams,

David Williams Efquire, Cag;ain of the Firft Battalion of his Excellency the Vizier Affof-ud-
Dowlah’s Sepoys, on his Oath declares, to the beft of his Remembrance and Belief, the fol-
lowing Circumftances refpe@ing the State of the Country he was ftationed in, the Reports that
prevailed there, and his own Situation in it, during the Months of September and O&ober
One thoufand Seven hundred and Eighty-one. Upon icaring that the Rebellion of Rajah Cheit
Sing at Banaris, had become of a very ferious Nature, he deemed it requifite to repair imme-
diately to his Station at Gungowah, in the Diftrict of Gooruckpoor ; accordingly he left Lucknow,
by Dauck, on the Firft of September, and reached Sakrora the fame Evening; on the Sccond,
he arrived at Amora, and ‘on the Third at Gooruckpoor.  Upon the Road berween Bufty and
Meergunge, a Sepoy belonging to. Major M<Donald’s Battalion overtook him, and gave him .
Information that the Rebels had artacked a Poft in the Jungle, which they had carried. On his
Arrival at Gooruckpoor, the femmadar who commanded in the Fort acquainted him, that the
Rajahs Futteh Saw, Genoo Roy, and Ajeet Mull, had reccived a very confiderable Sum of Moaey
from Rajah Cheit Sing, to enable them to commence Hoftilities in Gooruckpoor, and in the
Company’s Diftricts, and that they had croffed the Gogra, and alfo, that they had Promifes
of confiderable Sums of Money and Supplies of Men upon commencing their Operatians.
The Fourth, in the Evening, he arrived at Gungowah, and had the f{ame Reports confirmed to
him by his Commandant, and moft of the People of that Place. QOn the Fifth and Sixth, he
got all Things in Readinefs to proceed, agreeable to the following Orders from Colonel Hannay,
to Ackberpoor. B SR -

o “ To Captain Williams, commanding at Gooruckpaor.
(14 olr, ‘ . I S . ' N ‘

. Having received the Vizeer’s Orders to join hith without Delay with the greateft Part of
 the Forees atting immediately under my Authority, I have to defire, that immediately
“ on Receipt of this Letter, or as foon after as pallible, you do. march with the Two
“ Grenadier Companies of your Battalion complete, and your Battalion-Guns, and proceed with
‘“ all pofiible Expedition to Ackberpoor on the Road fram Fyzabsad to Sultenpoor, where
“ you Wwill peceive further Orderss - You will march ‘by-the Route of Gouruckpoer, and ciofs
« the Gyuﬂa: Tauvntich, where you will find Three hirge Pacrallies. ready for your Paflage.
“ The Four Companies of your Battalion Rationed acButty, Daoreapsmsh, Dumreigunge,
*and Baunfy, have alip received Orders to marchis but ds the utmpft Expedition is regpired,
“ they will proceed immediacely under the Command of Lieutenang ifiordon, and not waig your
« Arrival. The Four Cémpanies of your Battalion in Gooruckpoor, and with Hurdial -,,;é,(!ng.
¢ will refnain"under the Authority of Mahommed Shulfy Khany-apd 1 have to defire yoy will
* particularly inftru® the Subadars, commanding them to pay the frileft Astention. to
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¢ fuch Orders as they may reccive from Mahommed Shuffy Khan, during your Abfence
“ 1 know not what Quantity of Ammunition the Four Companies at Bufty, &c. have wih
“ them; but it will be neceflary, if poflible, to bring a Quantity with you fufficient to fupply
*¢ the whole Six Companies of your Battalion under Orders of March, with a Complement of
* T'wo hundred Rounds a Man; and inclofed you will receive a Letter from Mahommed Shufty
¢ Khan, defiting him to yicld you every Affiftance in nis Power, in order to procure Carriage
‘¢ for the Tranfport of ir. What clfe may be wanted to expedite your March, your own Pru-
. % dence and Zeal will fuggeft, and I have only to repeat it is neceffary you fhould make all
¢ poflible Difpatch, ‘
¢ Alexander Hannay."”

On the Seventh he marched with Two Companies and Two Guns, having previoully fent
Orders to the fcattered Detachments to repair to Gongowah, there to remain under the Directions
of the Aumil, agrecable to Colonel Flannay’s Orders,  On the Eighth continued his March ; on
the Evening of the fame Day certain Accounts were brought him, that the Boats on the Rivers
and Nullahs were deftroyed, and the whole Country 1o the Gogra up in Arms; and having
alfo reccived Intelligence that Futtech Saw, Genoo Roy, and Ajeet Mull, with their Banditti, were
encamped on the Road to Burragong, it determined him to return immediately to Gungowah,
and proceed by the Way of Burragong and Chuprah to Buxar, to join Major Crawford’s Regi-
ment with the Two Companies and Two Gunsy by taking which Route, he would have had an
Opportunity of driving off that Party, which would have freed the Country trom the principal
Rebel, On the Ninth he returned to Guagowah; and, as the Commotions in the Country
feemed evidently to increafe, fince the detached Parties who were direéted to repair 1o G ungowah
had been feverally attacked on their Way, as they came in, he fent Orders to Hurdial Sing, Com-
mandant ftationed at ltchmul, to repair with all Expedition to Gungowah with Two Companics
and Guns belonging to the Fougedar of that Place, and in the Evening informed the Aumil
Mahommed Shuffy Khan of his Intentionof proceeding by Chuprah to Banaris, and pave him
Advice refpefing the Defence of the Country during his Abfence. The Detachment was or-
dered to march on the Tenth,  About One o’Clock in the Morning the Jemmadar attached 1o the
Guns came and informed him that the Companies had mutinied, and would not march without
having, their Arrcars paid them. ln the Morning he went to the Parade, and ordered the Men
to fall in; they paraded with Relu@ance and Difficulty, particularly the Left Hand Company,
commanded by Khan Mahommed Subadar. When they were got under Arms, he acquainted
them that he was concerned they were nox paid fo regularly as he could have withed, but if there
were any of them that were diftrefled for Subfiftence, he would advance them as much of his own
Moncy as they required, as foon: as they came to their Ground that Day; but that it was indif-
penfably neceffary that they fhould march with all Expedition to attack a Party of Futteh Saw,
&c.'s Troops, which had taken Poffefion. of the Ghaut in the Jerry Jungle, before they fhould
have Time to fortify themfelves. They were filenty he direfted them ta march off, When they had
gone about One hundred Yards from the Parade, one of the [Ylen ftepped out of his Kile, and
demanded all the Arrears of Pay due to him; he immediately feized the Bayonet of the Muti-
neer, with an Intemtion of pucting him to Death; when Six or Seven Men turned out, fixed
their Bayonets, and made the fame Demand ; the Black Officers remained filent and inaéiive ; he
orderéd ‘his Commandant to march on, and ordered the Mutineers . take off their Coats, as
they were not worthy of being Soldiers, and that his Moonihy vyoq{d pay them their Arrears that
Inftant; many more joined them in a few Minutes, loaded their Picces, laid hold of the Moon-
fhy, and were going w put him to Death, When he found that ro be the Cafe, and thar al.
moft the whole Two Companiea were engaged in the Mutiny, he ordered the Party 1o return,
as it was in vain to proceed. A fhort Time after, the whole Party furrounded him, fome with
loaded Arms and fixed Bayoners, having alfo loaded the Guns with Grape, and with one Voice
demanded their Arrears might be paid off. He remonftrated, that it was impoffible for him
to comply. with their Demands, but ghat all the Money he had, or could get, fhould be diftributed
among(t them, if they would obey his Orders. For about Three Hours they behaved in the moit
licentious Manner, and _me-ptpcccding to break apen the Trcz}fure Chett; at laft, however,
he prevailed upon them 1o receive Three Months Pay, Upon this being given them they re-
turned to their Lines, but kept Centries at the Bungalow. After this he fent for the Two
Subadars, and defired them to found the Men, and try if they could induce them, upon Pro-
mife of Forgivenefs for what they had doac, to return to their Duty,  They came back, and re-

rted, that they would confent to obey upon thofe Conditions. He went to the Parade in the
Evening, and promifed them Forgivenefsy upon which they took an Oath to obey his Orders,
‘wpon Condition that they were not 1o march 10 Banaris; fo that it became impracticable to
profecute the Intentions he had formed. However, in & few Hours more they again matinied ;
and, 1 the beft of his Recolleion,, they, propofed to march to Banaris, and join Cheit Sing and
 Saadyt Ally, who, as they faid, would pay them their Arrcars, and make them great Men
* sdding, shat all the Eurapeans were cuk off, snd that he, meaning the Deponeat, ‘was the only
. Perfon kefe in the Country,  In the _'Eyemng the Two Subadars Khan Mahommed and BuGtour

‘Sing ‘came to him, and propofed to carry him gnfoncr to Baparis. On the Twelith he ;cpre&
‘ ' ’ 3 ente
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fented to them, that if they did not immediately march to attack Futteh Saw, &c. who had already
fted Detachments within Sight of the Cantonments, #nd; as he was mfmrped. was lying near
Juflanpoor with near Seven thoufand Men, they would be diftrefied for Provifion, fimce the whole
Country was in Arms. He fent for all the Black Officers, and begged and intreated of them to ufe their
Influence ovet the Men upon this Occafion; but they wefe deaf to all ‘he could fay. Had they
complied, he was confident of Succefs againft the Rebels, as Dadjoo Sing and Goblndrn.m Mifler
had engaged to make a Diverfion in his Favour upon their Rear, whilft he attacked them in Front.
In the Evening they came to a Detérmination to march to Fyzabad to.‘t‘he Begum ; who t‘ih‘cy'tlfo
declared would pay them their Arrears, and take them into her Service; but on the Thirtegnth,
before they had carfied thefe Intentions into Lixecution, he was joined by Hurdial Sing, with
Two weak fickly Companies; and having borrowed Money fufficient to pay them the Three
Months Pay which the others had received, and thereby render them upon an Equality, they
remained {taunch, though every poflible Means had been taken by the Mutineers to corrupt
them. Shortly after this he received Information, that the Forc of Gooruckpoor had been at-
tacked by near Six thoufand Rebels. There was g Jemmadar and about Fifty Men in the Fort,
who behaved moft gallantly. The Attack commenced near Nine 0’Clock in the Evening.  They
carried the outward Fort, which was too extenfive; and the Party were obliged to retire to
the Citadel, where there were upwards of Two hundred Prifoners confined. They endeavoured
to feize the Sepoys ; in which Attempt Nineteen of them were put to death, and many wounded.
The Attack continued till near Four o'Clock in the Afternoon; when Shawmut Khan, a Jemma-
dar, and Ninc Men, who had been ordered to march there from Puroonah, at the Beginning of
the Difturbances in the Country, arrived in the Town ; the People told them to thrown down their
Arms, and run off 10 the Jungles to fave their Lives; for it was impoffible for them to ger into
the Fort, as it was furrounded by Six thoufand Rebels, who muft carry it in a few Minutes. The
Jemmadar, with admirable Prefence of Mind, geplied, That he was only the advanced Party, and
that the Captain and the Guns were clofe after them; called out to a Man to ran and bring them
up, that the whole of the Rebels might be deftroyed; and immediately fired upon the l%cbels.
The R;gor‘t inftantly fpread; a Panic feized the whole, and they ran off in the utmoft Confu-
fion. He joined the Jemmadar in the Fort with his' Nive Men: They ‘fallied out  after the
Rebels, and cut off about Two hundred of them, - During the Attacks, the Rebels frequently,
calied out o the Jemmadar to deliver up the Place to them, as thev had Perwannaha from rhe
Begum, Cheit Sing, and Saadut Ally, for what they did. . -+ - * -
ﬁ!aving received Orders from Licutenant Colonel Harinay to ‘proceed  towards Him, and
alfo a Letier from Licutenant Gordod, acquainting him' that it was Colonel Hannay’s With
he fhould join him at Amora, informing him of the Lofs of Two Companies of - his
Battalion which were with Licutenant Gordon; on the Fiftcenth he marched ' from Gon-
owsh with the Aumil and Fougedsrs of the: Country, and il the Stores of Mis' Bacwalion.
he March proved . exceedingly fatiguing, on sccount of the Country’s being under Water,
and moft of the Nullahs tinfordabis, and no proper ‘Bosts upon thoim -for crofing, - On the
Twentieth arrived at Gooruckpoor, where tie found Two Companies-belonging to his Batra-
lion, which were direfted 1o 1din m&nm ‘Gordon, "but not_being: able” to effect it, they
had been under the Neceffify of recirning to Gooruckpoot, alfo a' Gompany of Major M<Donald’s
Batealion, which had been obliged 20 retire from Bufty.' On the Ninereenth received a Letter
from Lieutenant Colonel Hannay, which determined him to remain at Gooruckpoor till he re-
ceived further Orders, and wrote & Letter in Anfwer, propofing 20 march by the Route of
Mugger and Bufty, to chaftife Zalim Sing at Amors, o Licutenmt Colonel Hannay thould
advance by the Roore of Muahadea to' ‘Amors, which he thought would be the moft prac.
ticable Means of quicting the Rebellion'in ‘the Countty: He was dnider'a Neceifity of borrowing
Mongy topay his Companies ut Gooruckpoor, and alf Major MDonald’s Company, and to make
ﬁghc‘i&mmqmt‘m that-was damaged b  the Wenther, 4nd repair” the Tambrils and: Licibers
it Bsttalion “being il fornithed with/Arms and Ammiunition, and- the ‘Braft Cattle ‘witry “biad,
which retarded him'much duting his March to Goorveckpoor, 't’hé ivteenth received a Letter |
from- Likutenant Colanel .Hmimm:td‘ wrbte, for Anfwer; that he would fmarch for cettain onthe
Secotid of Ofober ; but the Difficaly. he fourid In proourifig o futficiens Quaatity of Provifiow,
and Cerriege for it, as the whple Countey was hioRiley dndBodies of wmed: Men, to the Amount
of feversl Thoufands, ‘were a&ually in “the "Town ; ‘added’ to the heavy Rain which fell onthe -
Fourth spd Fifth, rendered ft impracticable foé him 6o, simreh vilt, w0 Da¥ing the. Fiie e
remiiped st Gooroukpoor, it way cureily feported anid ‘el
they alted inconfosmity ‘to the Obder: rect
Begum, to taife -an" Infutredtion i 'the
found them,’ Miuny Lty inteie
they were gither deftrayed or g, " Hlavin
reach Biunly ¢f-the
Ninth in thé Evening o ¥
an Moyr's In
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making Bridges, added to the Interruptions he fuffered from the frequent Skirmithes he had with
the People of the different Diftricts he pafied through. On the 23d he arrived at Goondah, and
on the Day following joined Colonel Hannay at Sakrora, with Eight Companies of his own Batta-
lion; and 2 Company of Major M*Donzld’s Battalion. The' Aumils and Fougedars of Gooruck-
oor came under his Prote&tion, and a Number of People in Office in the Colle®ions ; the Gun
longh'g ta the Fougedary he brought with him, being the only one in the Diftrict he command-
ed. During his March from Gooruckpoor to Sakrora, the Rebels who haraffed gave ovr, that
every Meafure they took was in compliance with the Dire@ions they received from the Be-
gum. Saadut Ally, and Cheit Sing. Since thie Time of his being appointed to the Command of the
attalion, in' January One thoufand Seven hundred and Eighty-one, he has only received Twa
Months Pay, on its Account, from his Excellency the Vizeer, to the prefent Time, November the
Twenty-feventh : His Battalion was difperfed in fuch a Manner, and at fo grear a Diftance, that
he hardly ever had abave T'wo Companies with him, till they joined him by Deprees.  During the
Rebellion, he tontinually advifed Coloriel Hannay of hi§ Situation, but it appears few of his Let:
ters reached him, as the Communication was fhut pp. o

Sworn this 27th Day of November * ' . Williams, _
" 1781, before me, Captain, commanding the 1ft Battalion of
E: fmpey ' " his Excellency the Vizeer's Scpoys.
| Num. g. E, |

Affidavit of Captain John Gordon.

John Gordon Efquire, Captain in the Corps of Sepoys of his Excellency Affof ud-Dowlah Nabob
Vizeer, on his Oath faith, That he croffed the Gogra on the 6th of September at Chowrah, with
Four Companies of Scpoys, and about Eighty Hogfe (in all, near 400) under his Command §
that he faw the Country was difaffected, but judged his Force to be fufficient to join Colonel Han-
nay at Akberpoor ; indeed the Deponent did not conceive that his Excellency’s Troops, marching
to join him by his Command, could meet with any Interruption. On the 7th, at Day-break, the
Deponent marched, and about Half a Mile from Chowrah, when croffing a Nullah, he oblerved
great Bodies of Men affembled to oppofe his March; he immediately made what he judged to be
the beft Difpafition of his fmall Corps, and the Behaviour of the Men did them great Credic ; for
though, during the whole of the March of Eight Cofs, they were attacked and often furrounded
by incrcdi&t%umbe'm of Peqpls, yct they conflangly beat them off, killing and wounding many
of them, and ‘arrived, with very fittle Lofs; about Ofte 0’Clock in the Afternoon, at the Tereca
Nultah; which runs by Fattndeh,; bringing the whole of the Bazar and Bapgage in the moft perfect
Safety ; the Deponent thep imagined humfelf in u Friend’s Country, and intended croffing the Nul-
lah, thar hjs People mighc halt for the Day and refreth after their very fatiguing March; for this
Purpofe he ordered the Bazar and Ba%‘guge‘ to be fent over, and Part of the Sepoys to fland to
their Arms, as gredt Numbers of their Eneties were ftill in Sighty but his Surprize was extreme
when he was informed, that the Boats were all on the other Side of the Nullah, and thar none of
them were permitted to crofs. The Deponent immediately wrote a ‘Letter to the Begum’s Aumil,
Shumfheer Khan, sequinting him that he was marching with-the Vizeer's Troops, by his Order,
to join him ;" that he,”the Depohent, was dltonihed ac his Ropping the Ghavt; and defiring Boats
might bé Yent for che Tranfport of the Detachiment, “To this no Anfwer was made, but imme-
diately Three Gans were brought near the!Ghaut, and pointed to the Detachment, and a Number
of Matchlock Men were pofted on the Banks of the Nullah, who threatened to fire if any Bod{y

©d. Thete were then near the Ghaut a great many large Boats belonging to Mr. Scott, whole
Gomaftah, notwithftandirighis utmoft Intreaties, was prevented from fending them by Shumtheer
Khan; who threatened the Plunder of his Faltory, and even his Life, .if he atempted it. This
was told the Deponent by the faid GomaBah repeatedly, and the Deponent believes it to be true,
as it correfponds entirely with évery ‘other Part of Shumfheer Khan's Condu®. = The Deponent,
upon ‘being refufed a Paffage, rook pofiefion of a very ftrang Ground, furrolinded on Three
Sides'by The Gogra, and the” Nullsh ‘on the Fourth Side, whence only he tould be attacked by the
Cuuntty Peopie; he ordered the Sepoys tomake a Breaft Work, by piling up of Plankr, of which
there were & great Numbers and as'he had Ammimition and Provifions, ‘he intended to wait there
uatil he could procure ‘Boass, or difcover &' Ford. " “Wihille the ‘Deponent ‘was thus employed,
Mahommed Ruzza Beg, the Jemmadar of Horfe, had fwam ‘acrofs the Nullah, and procured Per-
miion for his Prople to folluw :him, which they mmediately did. No Aniwer coming trom the
Fougeilar, the Deponent defired bit Moonthy 10 go to Him, and explain the Matter; he accord.,
ingly went to the Ghaut; and Bemantling a‘Paflzge, he was refufed, and infulted in Terms the moft
ibulbie 66 the Englith. e recurned, and relling this, the ‘Deponent ordered him to take an Ele-
hantoand fwWim over; but when'he arrenrpred th-enter ché WiHah with the Animal, the Nupccbs
‘pointet] fiieit Matchlocks at him, ‘end abliged him to defift : “The Sepoys fecing this, and that the
E«ﬁmm itted t0:fwimm scrofs, Hetutally imagined thi the Objetion was to the Englith
onlgd 4ot thetr Adherents ; they thought it Gafeff ta abandon the Deponient, whom they mutt have
- conéhudiid ‘to be devoret], and " th N%&&qq?*twir Caits and -Arms, ithey foliowed the Example
" of ‘the Hotfemen; in fwimming actofi the"Nallah, mdking a ‘Merit wich ‘Shumtheer Khan,

of
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of giving the Deponent up to his Fate. One of the Subadars re .rcfentcd to Two others,
the Folly of fuffering for One Perfon ; and propofed to them to deliver up the Deponent to
' Shumfheer Khan or to the Country People ; but t Propofal was rejected with Scorn, and One of
the Subadars reported the Behaviour of the other immediately to the Deponent: The Defertion,
however, was almoft complete s for in a little Time, of the Four Companies, not Twenty Men re-
tnained, including Officers. It was almoft Evcninﬁ when Mr. Scott’s Gomaftab, with great Diffi-
culty, at laft obtained Permiffion from Shumfheer Khan to fend One Boat, but it came too late to
render any effe€tual Afiftance, for with the few Sepoys who remained, Command was at an End; and
as moft of the Deponent’s Servants had gone off, his Baggage was left a Prey to the Banditti, who
foon carried off and deftroyed ir. Some Things which a few of his Servants brought with them,
they gave in Charge to the Fougedar's Pcoﬁ}c, who promifed to take care of them, but they re-
ferved them for themfelves, or rather for the Fougedar ; and though many of the Deponent’s
Things were feen in his Houfe, he could never recover a fingle Article.  For many Days during
the Stay of the Deponent in Mr. Scott’s Factory it was threatened to be attacked ; and Shumfheer
Khan, though often applied to by Mr. Scott’s Gomaftah, conftantly refufed to grant the leaft
Afliftance : Notwithftanding this, Shumfheer Khan was, and the Deponent believes is ftill, con-
tinued in Office ; and while the Deponent was at Fyzabad, Shumtheer Khan came there, and
was well reccived by the Begum and her Minifters: From sll which Circumftances the Deponent
is ~onvinced, that Shumfheer Khan could not have dared to aét as he did, had he not been autho-
rized by the Begum and her Minifters, or at leaft had he not known that fuch Condu@& would be

agreeable to them,
J. Gordon,

Sworn this 27th Day of November
1751, before me,
E. Impey.

TENTH PARCEL
Num. 10. o . L
Affidavit of Jean Honore Mordelait, Private of tbe Company’ of Chaffeurs,

Jean Honore Mordelait, Natif de Corbell, Province de I'Hle de France, fait Serment, et dit,
Qu’étant malade & Mirzapour il fiit Laiffé en arriére avec Quatorze de fes Camarades, lui inclus,
tous fervant dans la Compagnic de Chaficurs, commandée par le Capitaine Doxat ; lorfque le dic
Capitaine marcha avec les Troupes qui compofoient le Détachement comunandé per Je Capitaine
Mayaffre ; que Jors du Départ du dit Capitaine, Ic Raja de UEndroit.les fit cntrer en fon’ Entou-
rage pour ‘plus de Sureté contre les Voleurs qui, I'envisonnoient; gue fiir leurs Reprefentations
qu'ils a’avoient pas QWamﬁ:‘ ar:fe: fournis des Vivee, il Jeur, ﬁs?ﬁyw 4 manger cliaque Jour
‘pac un Bunnid, qu'il lex confol et les afloraqu'sllant voir ce qui fe palivit & 1'Ensour de fon ter-
rain il chercheroitaprés un Mojien de Jes faire paties 3 Chandernagore ; que desors il ne revine point:
Que le Commandement écantalors dévolu au Second, il les Bt appeller Je Trentiéme, et leur donna
Deux Roupics & chacun pour feryir 3 une Route qu'ils devoient faire de Deux Jours de Chemin ;
qu'il leur fit feavoirque c'éroit fes Ordres de les renvoyer de I3, et qu'l) avoit auffi recu Ordre de
couler tous les Batteavy paffant par Mirzapour : Que pendant ce Temps Cinguante de fes Gens
foreut envoyss'pour's'emparer. de lenrs Armes, et que ces Gens prirept un lnventaire de ce qui ap-
‘partenoit 2 la Compagaie; que le Leademain ils fdrent contraines de fe mettre en Route, leur Sacs
placés'fur des Chameaux, fur lefquelles.ils forenr obligés de monter & grands Coups de Fouér
pour ceuk q{'q“rcfufowm;‘,_,Qx}eu_dmpg Jeur Route ils edrent tovtes ajd‘{mg'fndi’ nités, qu'on feur
- erachoir’su Vilsge, qu'on Jes battoir. ‘Que I feconde Journée un de fef Camarades fit alfez heu-

reux de mourir{ . %l:ck Chemin qu'ils faifoient §migr,:gnmi des Gorges.8e Montaignes, et qu'avec

ley Désours qu'ils firent il croic que le Tewjer jufqu'a Laiciffghur, o il amrivéreat je Deutiéme
de. Sepembre, étoic plus de 40 Cofs: Qu'd 1a.fin’ de la premidre Journée ils s'dirretérent 2
~ un petie Fort dans les Gorges, ou leur mayvais Trajtement fit rex . Quiarrivé & Laltiffghuc
ceux ,qui. vinrenr ave¢ cux fe difperferent i qu'ily ntou ndins deox Hevres'qulils y
. Giéns fent grofliérement, et parti-

e Begjahghurg «queces Gens
baire ) Qe Ie L eademaun Eugme o,
..o o Hommes aemés les B fartir 3. une Porude de FUI de

< Mainy’ derriére leurs Do ' et gu'en tette Palifion’ Js Ieie dricre
-+ Wivres & quelque Diftance dasis - des Corbeilles, . Quleg

m’fe&&"ﬁﬁ:&'éaﬂ’:«f%m Reja &’ mi‘:ir‘n AE leur Camatades, Bommé
f;'“ﬂf‘éé&uf’?‘m”’f&'o?n”p&'ﬂ‘u“““%‘;:M«m{;’ﬁ%{ﬁ"‘&"a;ﬁa‘:ﬁ‘“‘”mf*
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deux de leur Miféres, ces Barbares tirérent leurs Sabres et commencerent le Maffacre : Que e
fufdit cOt une Baonette paffée du travers du Corps, ct an grand Coup de Pied fur les Reins pour
la faire refortir : Qu’en cec Erat il feignit le Mort, et deux de fes Camarades tombant fur lw
cachérent fa Feinte : Que les Meurtriers fe retirant aprés ce Carnage, il edr aflés de Foree pour
fe retirer dans les Jungles A vingt Pas de la: Qu’ 3 la Difcrétion des Tigres il pafla toute la Nuir;
qu’accablé de foif, le Lendemain il defcendit 3 un Ruiffeau pour boire de VEauy qulil for vit
far des Campagnards, et amené 3 I’Endroic d’ou il éroit foru le Jour avant; que les Habirants
e raffurérent contre toute Crainte de fa Vie: Que leur Chet lui donna pour lui et fa Femme
huit Pice par Jour, laquelle Subfiltance lui fit coatinué par moyen d'une Garde qui montoit
et éroit relevé chaque Jour de Laitiffghur : Que parmi les Gens qui ¢uoient 13, 1l ne reconniie
aucun de ccux qui les tcrent : Que le 20, le Jour que le Rajas’enfuic de Laidiffghur, apres qug
lui et fes Troupes elirent paffées auprés de I'Endroit ou le fufdic étoit, il fe rendit ¥ Lanifighur
fans Empéchement, ct méme fut mis au large par les Habitants: Que la Nuit du 20 ou 21 il
fit obligé de fc cacher, pour fe mettre & I'abrt des Gens qui pilloient de tous Coés : Que le
Lendemain Matin 4 ’Fotrée du Major Crabb il fuc découvert et heureulement mis en
Streté de toure autre Pourfuite,

Le fufdic fait Serment er dir, de plus qu'il croit «z'uc le Maflacre provenoit d'un Aé&e de-
liberé, et que ce ne pouvoit érre le Refultat d’aucune Caufe, comme ces Camarade et lui étoient
trop triftes pour démontrer aucun Signe de Joie, s’abandonnant 4 la Mort d'aprés la mauvais
Traitement qu'ils avoient fubits : Qu’au contraire quant ils entendirent le Matin du Jour du
Maflacre, le Bruit des Canons et des Fulils, ils s’entrediloient tout doucement que leur Dé-
ftruction feroit la Conféquence infaillible en cas que les Troupes du Raja perdroient la Bataille :
Que méme, lors de ceite Communication d’ldées, ils n’y avoient aucuns de leurs Gardes ou autres
Gens pour les écouter 3 que leurs Expreffions & ce Sujet fe pafférent, lors du Bruit des Canons
et des Fulils, lequel étoic de grand Matin: Que leurs Meurtriers n’arrivoirent de Laitiffghur
qu'environ les onze Heures: Que deux Heures fe pafférent 3 leur contraindre de tirer Habits,
Chapeaux, &c. Qu'au lieu du Meurtre ils firent conduis en Chemife, et qu’il éwit environ
une Heure aprés Midi, quand cet Acte de Barbarit¢ fGc commife.

Mordclait.

Sworn before me, this 5th Day of

December 178,
E. Impey.

* Tranflation of the foregoing Afidavit.

John Honore Mordelait, Native of Corbell, a Province in the Ifle of Frunce, declares upon
Oath, That being fick at Mirzapoor, he was left behind with Fourteen of his Comrades, himfelf
included, all of whom belonged to the Company of Chafleurs comihanded by Captain Doxat,
when the faid Captain marched with the Troops which compofed the Detachment commanded by
Captain Mayaffre : That upon his Departure, the Rajah of the Place made them come within his
own Premifes, for the greater Safety againft the Thieves which furrounded them : That on their
reprefenting they had no Money to fupply themfelves with Food, he caufed them to be given
fomething to cat every Day by a Bunian: That he comforted them, and affured them, that upon
feeing what paficd round his Seraglio, he fought for Means to tranfport them to Chandernagore :
That from that Time he did not return: That the Command having then devolved upon the
Second, he had them called before him on the Thirtieth, and gave them Two Rupees each, to ferve
for the Journey of Two Days they were to take : That he let them know his Orders were to fend
them from thence; and that he had alfo received Orders to (ink all the Boats pafling by Mirza-

oor : That during this Time, Fifty of his People were fent to feize their Arms; and that thote
i‘coplc took an Inventory of what belonged to the Company : That the next Day they were
obliged te begin their Journey, with their Bagga%c placed on Camels, which they were obliged
to mount; and thofe who refufed, received violent Blows with a Whip: That during their
Route every Sort of Indignity was offered to them: That they fpit in their Faces; and beat
them fo, that on the fecond Day one of his Companions was fo happy as to die: That the Road
they took was through narrow Paffes, between Mountains; and that with the Circuits they made,
he believes the Journey to Laitifighur, where they arrived the 2d of September, was more than 40
Cofs : That at cthe Clofe of the firft Day they flopt at a fmall Fort in the Pafles, where their 1lI-
treatment was redoubled : That'being arrived at Laitifighur, the Perfons who came with them
difperfed : That they were furrounded for Two Hours, and remaincd there, amonﬁ about Two or
‘Thrée thoufand People, who infulted them grofsly ; and particularly accufed them of having
affaffinsted the Rajah of Gwallior : That one of their Companions, named Francois, was taken
before the Rajah, and declared to them, ac his Return, that the Rajah had affured him that in
cafe he broinght the French Company to him, he thould be provided for : That afterwards they
wére condutted out of Laitifighur in the fame Manner as bifore, guarded by fome Sepoys and
other armed Men, to a fmall fortified Houfe beyond Laitiffighur, One Cofs on the Road from
Reejahghor: That thofe People remained there to guard them : That they had nothing either to
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cat or diink given to them : Thar the next Day, being the Third, a Chief of Laitiffighur, with
Ten Sepovs, and about Forty armed Men, made them go out to the Diftance of-a uiket Shot
from the IHoufe : That they tied their Hands behind thewr Backs; and that in this Pofition they
told them to cat; {hewing them Provifions in Bafkets at fome Diftance: That after having
amuled themielves tor an Four or two with their Mifery, thefe Barbarians drew their Sabres and
began the Maflacre : That the Deponent had a Bayonet paffed - through his Body, and a violent
Kick on the Keins to make it come out: That in this Sitvation he feigned Death; and Two of
his Companions falling upon himy covered the Deceit: That the Murderers retiring after this
Carnage, he had Strength enough to retreat to the Jungles, Twenty Paces from the Place: Thac
he pait the Night at the Mercy of the Tigers: ‘L'hat on the next Day being parched with Thirft,
he went down to a Brook to drink : That he was feen by fome Country People, and carried to
the Place which he had lcft the preceding Day : That the Inbabitants affured him his Life was
in no Danger : That their Chief gave him Eight Pice every Day for his Wife and himfclf, which
Subfiitence was continued to him by means of a Guard, which was mounted and relicved every
Day from Laitiffghur. That Le did not recolleét the Perfons of any of the Murderers among the
People here: That on the 20th, the Day the Rajah fled from Laitiffghur, after he and his
Troops had pafled near the Spot where the Deponent was, he went to Laitiffybur unmolefled,
and was even fer at Liberty by the Inhabitants : "T'hat in the Night from the 20th to the 211t he
was oblized to lie concealed 1o fave himfelf from the People, who were pillaging on all Sides :
That . uext Morning, at the Kntry of Major Crabb, he was difcovered, and fortunately placed
in Satery from all turther Purfuit. The Deponent moreover declares upon QOath, That he
belheves the Maffacre procecded from a deliberate A€, and thae it could not have been occafioned
by any Caufe, hiz.Companions and himfelf being too forrowful to fhew any Sign of Joy, as they
had abandoned themfclves wo Death after the 1ll-treatment they had met with: That on the con~”
trary, when onthe Morning of the Maffacre they heard the Report of the Cannons and Muafkets,
they faid to each other foftly, that their Deftruétion would be the infullible Confequenee, in cafe the
Rajah’s Troops thould lofe the Battle: ‘Thai even at this Comununication of ldeas there were
nonc of their Guards nor any other Perfons prefent to hear them : ‘That their Converfation on this
Subjedt paflied when the Noife of the Cannons and Mufkets was beard, when it was broad Day-
light: That their Murderers did not arrive from Laitiffghur till about Eleven o’Clock « That Two
Hours pafled in making them take off their Cloaths, Hats, &c.: That they were led in their
Shirts to the Place where the Murders were committed 3 and thag it was about One o'Clock in the
Afternoon waen this A& of Barbarity took place. ‘

Sworn before me, (Signed) Mordelait.
this 5th Day of December 1781.
(Signed) é. Lmpey.

ELEVENTH PARCEL
Noum, 11,

Affidavit  of Licutenant Colanel Hannay,

Aiexander Hannay Fiquire, Licutenant Colonel in the Service of the Honourable United Eaft
India Company, maketh Qath, and faith, That in the Month of September laft (1781) he com.
manded a Body of T'roops (Horfe and! Foot) in the Service of the Nabob: Vizeer: That on the
voth of that Month, being encamped at Ryegunge, near Fyzabad, employed in tranfporcing the
faid Troops acrofs the River Gogra, in order to act ageintt the Infurgents to the Northward of
that River, in the Evening he received Intimation from a Perfon living in the Zennana, that
the Nabob Begum (Grandmother o' the Nabeb Vizeer Affof-ud-Bowla) had, through her
Agents, prevailed: upon the principal Jemmadar of Horfe, to engageé to détach himfelf from'the
faid ' Deponent, and to abandon him; and further warning the faid Deponent to attendt ro hiy
own_ pecfonal Safety, as:therg was an Intention- of detaining him ‘dt Fysabad ' Thut this Inti
mation way given to the Deponent in the Prefence of ‘Lieutenant Charles Middleton, to' whom the
Deponent-did communicate it dnd” that, during the whole Courfe' of that' Day {the sorh’ of
September)- he ,ttht&ouem‘ had noc been sble to-prevail on any of the Hotlemen 16" crofs
the River—a Matter whith he could;not . untit then account for, but which fetved to ifiiptefs him
fo &ronily ‘with a- Beliof of the Truch of-the Informution be had: received, - that ke fEnt for the
principal Jemmader of Horfe, circumftantially communicated the faid Information oy him, and,
as forcibly as: he. was -able, Rated tohim the Treachery, ‘Difgivece, and Infaimy; “ififépdratle from
fo unqm{y'nmim;v?I’nat;_thc,’,ﬁwidiimmd«o!‘{ ot appesred: much ‘affebted at the Con~
verfation, and sckpowledged that thit Ihformation was' trie in every Cirtumitanice, excepr chir:
of his hwving aceeded: to the Propefsld- thist were mude to dilmy; which e dectared he had ‘pe: -
jeftedy but fnid, they had elfo begn mede tooshe other Jommadars of: Forfe by the Agents’of
both'the Begums ({the Nabob Viseer's Mother and Grandin th w&:

the Truth of it}
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‘tion was afterwards affirmed to the faid Deponent by Two of the fuid Jemmadars, and g
veral of the inferior Officers and private Horfemen.  The Deponent further  declarcth,
That the above-recited Converfation paffed in his the Deponent’s Tent, to the beft of his Recul-
lection and Memory, on the Night of the 1oth of September, in the Prefence of Licutenant
Charles Middleron ; and that, as the faid Lieutenant Charles Middleton did not pertectly under-
ftand the Moorith L.anguage, in which the Converfation was held, he the Deponent explained the
Nature and Subjeét of 1t to him as foon as the Jemmadar left the Tent.  The Deponent further de-
clureth, That he is reftrained from mentioning the Names of the Jemmadars alluded to, from an
Apprehenlion that their Names becoming public, might operate to their Projudice, it not Ruing
but that the Fa&s which he hath depofed are Truth. '

Sworn before me (the Deponent declaring on Alexander Hannay.
his Oath, that the above Affidavit is writ-
ten in his own Hand-writing at Banaris)
this 311t Day of December 1781,
Warren Haftings.

Minute of the Board, entered in the Confultations of 14 January 1782,

The Board having already paffed their Opinion, in Terms of the fulleft Approbation, upon
the Governor General’s Condu@ and Management in the Suppreflion of the Rebellion of Cheit
Sing, ‘and the Regulation of the Province and City of Banaris; they think it unncceflary to
repeat their Opinion of thote Meafures, '

They cannot at the fame Time but remark, that the Explanations which the Governor Ge-
neral has given in foine Parts of his Proceedings, during his firft Difcuffions with Cheit Sing, and
fubfequent to the Convulfion, are rather an open Avowal of the Motives thac a®uated his Mind,
than the guarded Reprefentations of a public Officer, {tating to his Employers the Meafures
which an extraordinary Sicuation influenced, difated, and jullified.

To a liberal and candid Tribunal, fuch was the natural, and certainly the wifett Appeal, The
Generofity and Juftice of a Britifh Tribural looks more to the real Motives and Zeal of their
Agent, than (o the preconcerted Artifice of his Condu&, or the legal Dilcriminations of his
Defence. Even where a public Mrafure is unfuccefstul, the Refponfibility required by the
Agene (if rifqued upon public Principles) is frequently his Juftification, and in many Cafes
entitles him to Applaufe,

In thefle diftant Dominions the ruling Servants of the State attend more to thofe Rules and
Forms which prote& from Refponfibility, than to an ardent Purfuit of the public Intereft; uvnder
every private Rifque, the Hands of Adminiftration may fecure themiclyes againlt Condemnation,
even though the Country (hould be loft through their Mifmanagement.

It was not by avoiding perfonal Refponfibility that the Servants of the Public eftablithed the
Britifh Influence in Afia; nor is it by fuch cold Precautions that our Power is to be maintained,
efpecially at an Hour of general Hoftility againft us. The Board aré 1éd into thefe Obfervations,
from an ingenuous Confideration of the Difficulties in which the Governor General found
himiclf involved at Banaris, and a Convi@tion of the Motives under which he aéted. The firft
were furmounted with Ability and Fortitude : The latter they moft fincerely believe do him real
Honour. 4

Bafy would be the Talk to approve the Suppreffion of the Rebellion, and to ftand difcon-
ne€ted with any Refponfibility, by juftifying thofe A&s which certainly precipitated the Storm
from the Cloud in wnich he had gathered ; Aéts which Judges at a Diftance, Judges onopprefled
with the aGtual Embarrafiments of this Government, may, with great Specioufnels of Argument,
coddemn. But the Board with not, they cannot permit themfelves to proceedsfo difingenuoully,
or guardedly. They are at the fame Time aware, that in a rigid Inveftigation of the whole of
this Bufineis, the following Queftions will be afked.

sft. Where were the Governor General's' particular Inftruétions for fuch extraordinary
Demands upon Cheit Sing ? | - g
~ 2dly. Why was that Chief put in Arreft, when he offered to make every Conceffion?
3dly. Whether there was not 2 Compaét between him and the Company, which fpecified,
that he was only to pay them & certain annua} Tribute ? o )
b Subfequent 1o the Maffacre of our T'roops, #td the Events that followed, no Queftions will
e afked. ‘ '

In anfwer to the filft Queftion, the Board think the Governor General was fully authorized by
the general Tenor of his Inftruétions.  The Governor General having a deciding Vote, could have
written-ont .and approved more particular Inittuions. There was a Delieacy in the Mode he
preferved ;. and it impoled a greater Refponfibility. i

In"rcgard 1o the Second Queftion s it is evident from Cheit Sing’s Anfwers and Preparations,
and the whole Tepor of his Condutt, before and at the Time, that nothing but Arreft could have
coavinced him of the Governor General's Determination, -

har
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That the Arreft was not intended to proceed farther than the Payment of a proper Fine to
the Company, who flood in the Place of his Sovercign and Benefaftors, is ¢vinced by the Go-
vernor General’s Anfwer to Cheit Sing, after his Confinement.

Had a total Revolution in the Adminiftration of the Zemcedary been intended, the Arrelt muft
have been effeted with more Force, and greater Marks of Sevcrity.

That the Officers who went to execute this Service were convinced that no Meafure of deter-
mined Severity was intended againft Cheit Sing, appears from that unfortunate Want of Precau-
tion which coft them and their Followers their Lives,

T he Third Queftion involves much Argument, yet is fully anfwered by that Part of the Gover-
nor General’s Narrative, which difcuffes the Sunnud under which Cheit Sing ruled the Provinces,
and which was fo liberally granted by the Company.

‘I'he Correfpondence with the India States, thews clearly their [deas of the Rights of Zemee-
dars and Rajahs protected in their Zemeedaries by a fuperior Power,  Fad Cheit Sing been an
Ally Sovereign Prince, who paid only a fixed Subfidy, his Military Preparations, and his infidious
Condud, under Pretences of Poverty, in difappointing the Expectations of the Government from
the Army under Major Camac, juftified, together with his Correfpondence with our Fnemies, the
fevereft Exertion of Aid 10 aflift the Company in their Diftrefles, and atone for his Ingratitude
and Treachery to a Power who protefted him, and to whom he owed his Situation.

On the Subject of the Treaty concluded on the 18th of September laft, between the Governor
General and the Nabob Vizeer, and which the Difficultics of the Communication prevented the
Governor General from explaining fo fully before, the Board have to obferve, that the Vreary is
evidently a political Expedient, which forfeits no Advantage, which promifes the Acquifition of
many, and which, properly managed by this Government (as Events favourable, or even unfavourable,
arife), may lead to the final and complete Arrangement of an Alliance with the Vizeer.  Such an
Alliance, beinyg lefs oppreflive to him, may be more advantageous and honourable to the Com-
pany, and may remove that too general but dangerous Impreffion, which the different States of this
Country have received from the doubic Charaéter in which we have hitherto appeared in India—
that of Allies and Conquerors. ,

If the Nabob Vizeer fhould not be able, under the Support of the T'roops of this- Government
ftationed at Cawnpoor, to maintain the Tranquillity of his Domipions, and colleét thofe Refources
which are neceffary to defray even his reduced Expences, and difcharge his heavy Debt to the
Company, a new Arrangement muit follow ; and chat Arrangement neceffarily, ag the exprefs Re-
quefl of the Vizeer, will fecure every Advantage that can be withed or expected from his Provinces
by this Government.

The Reduttion of that heavy Burthen of Expence, which was at once oppreflive to the Vizeer,
and of no Return to the Company (though a Source of Patronage tothis Adminiftration), the Board

approve of moft heartily; and, with a full Senfe of the Credit which a Meafure of fuch Difficulty
and Unpleafantnefs refleéts upon the Governor General, they take this Occalion of pledging to him
and to their Employers their utmoft Support, not only in this, but in every other Branch of public
ccconomical Reformation, which he may propofe,

Upon the Return of the Governor General, the Board refolve to difcufs with him thofe Parts of
the Treaty, which carry the Appearance of a hafty Agreement. The Difaffe&ion of many of the
Vizeer's principal Jagheerdars ; and the Steps which, from the Reprefentations of Colonel Hannay
and other Officers, appear to have bren rapidly caken by the Begums, to fupport the Rebellion of
Cheit Sing ; were probably very early known to the Governor General, and through the Medium
of all thé%ufpidons that his Situation, at the Time he mee the Vizeer, had naturally created.

Axiuch a Moment, and under fuch Sufpicions, and even while the Iffue of the Conteft of

"Cheit Sing was depending, it is not furprizing that fome Parts of the Agreement between the

Governor General and the Vizeer were fpeedily adjutted, and, as the Governor acknowledges, 'in
‘Converfation st their Firlt Interview, L , ' : h

A fhort Time will fatisfy the Board, whether the Vizeer is willing or able to fulfil his Part
of the Treaty: If he is thar, and the Company can recover their Debt from him in the prefent
Emergency and Diftrefs of their Affairs, the Board cannot then buc agree, that the Governor Ge-
neral has a@ed in the Arrangement not only with Zegl, and the belt public Intentions, but with a
mafterly Decifion, that muft entitle him to thegrateful gnd complete Approbation of his Employers.

It remains with the Board to concert with ;hc_quQ)'-ppr General, u‘pqq his Retury, thofe Mea-
fures that may fecure this Government. from any fusure Inconveniencies ot Diftrefs, thag cin be -
fuppofed conneted with the Confidence repofed in the Vizeer, for the Adminiftrativa of the
Affairs of his Revenuc and Military Eftablithments, =~ =

The Governor General delivers in'the following M'i'nuie, in confequence of tbntof the Board,

~ entered on the Proceedings of the 14th ultimo.- * . - -

The Governor General acknowledges his Obligations to' the 'Bourd,;;&'df 2hia repeated Inftance

of the liberal Manner in which they have been pleafed to record aheir Judgmene on his Con-

s

duft.” Had it been exprefled in the fmple Terms of official Approbation, he fhould' have been
pleafed, and fatisfied that it had received fo refpectable & ‘San&ion :ibut by tracing the Sevrces
of it, in the Motives which he has avowed; by their Examination of tholfe Motives with l.!-hmr

| ' relative
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relative Facts and Circumftances; and by the Doubts which chey have anticipated and folved,
on the Propricty of fuch Parts of his Condu@ as might molt obvioully tuggefl them ; they have
juttificd sheir own Approval, and enttled him to expect the fame favourable Sentiments in
their common Superiors.

Nor is he lefs pleafed with the Referve with which the Board have declared their Satisfa@ion
in the Arrangement concluded by him with the Nabob Vizeer; becaufe he thinks it will be re-
ccived as an Evidence of the Deliberation and Sincerity of their former Approval. Hg is
willing to fubmit the Propricty of the Meafure to the Telt ot its Succets.  The Refident has al-
ready intormed the Board, that he had received of the Treafures of the lae Viseer, leftin the
Charge of his Widow, and lately reclaimed by his Son, the Amount of the Bond granted by the
hatter for the Balance of the Year 1178, which ends in September 1580 of our Araand was in the
actual Receipt of as much as would diicharge the Balance of the latt Year, that 1s, of the Year
1179. The firft of thefe Balances is 32,68,613. 11, the laft 12,09,356. 9. 8. The Sum of both is,
R* 44,7%,490. 4. 8. Owd Siccas. The Refident feems 1o have underftood this to be the Whole of
the Nabob’s Debt.  There is,a further Balance of 26 Lacks, which appears to have been by fome
mcans overlooked, or withheld from Mr. Middicton on the Transfer of his Office from Mr Purling.
A rettified Account, drawn to the lateft Period, has been tranimitted to Mr. Middleton by the
Accomptant General, which it is hoped will arrive in Time to prevent his ftopping at the Reetipe
of the fuppofed Balance; and at all Events, the Profits of the refomed Jagheers ought (o yicld a
Fund, more than fufficient both for the complete Liquidation of what may remain of the Nubob's
prefent Debr, and to make up the Deficiency of the Aflignments granted on his Revenue for the
current Year, within the Courle of it

The Governor General expeéts this Service from the Refident, and relies upon his Fidelity for
the Performance of it. But in the Suppofition of the Poflibility of a Dilappoinumnenr, he agan
offers his perfonal Services to proceed to Lucknow, on the firlt Symptom of fuch a Failuiey and,
with the Confidence which he feels in his own Influence, aided by the powertul Support of the
Board, he will venture to promife, that he will not return with their Objeét unaccomplifhied.

He hopes, and believes, that there will be no Neceffity for this lfxtrenuty, but adds it as a Ground
for the Affurance which he ventures to propoie; and withes the Board to pive to the Honourable
Court of Direftors, in the Advices to them now under Difpatch, that there is the taireft Profpect,
amounting as near to a Certainty as can be affirmed of an livent yer in Lxpe@ation, that the Debt
due fron: the Nabob Vizeer to the Company, and even that of the Rohilla Donation, ‘will bercom-
pletely paid off in the Courfe of the prefent Year, and a Supply adied to our ordinary Refources,
which will fully anfwer all our ewn Wants for that Period, and enable us to contribute thill fur-
ther, and we hope effe@ual Aids, to thole of the Carnatic.

The Governor General forbears to include the Prefidency of Bombay in this Provifion. Its Ex-
pences have already contributed more even than thofe of the Carnatic to exhaufl thele Provinces
of the Currency; nor will it be poflible for them to fupport any longer fo pernicious a Drain.
At a certain Point it mult have a Clofe.  For this Diftrefs we muft feek a Remedy in a different
Expedient, in the Conclufion of the War with the Maratta State, and the confequent and moft
neceflary Reduétion of the Armies now employed on that Service. In the mean Time, he truits
that they are not fo devoid of Relources in themfelves, as to make them totally dependant for the
Subliftence on this Government, fince they have a large and rich Terkitory; acquived.by their late
Conquefts in Guzurat, in the Dependance of Surat, and, as we learn only from an allufive Paflage
in General Goddard’s laft Letters, even in Concan, of which we were not before apprifed.
Thefe Diftricts, we are aflured by the fame Authority, were in a State of perfeét Tranquillity, and
unditturbed Collection of their Revenues; and in the fame State they are likely to remain, fince
in the Profpect of a Prace the Maratta Government will naturally look to the Reftitution of
their former Pofieflions, and would eventually be at leaft equal Sufferers with us, by any
Devaftations committed in them,

Such are the Expeéations which the Governor General withes to have prefented to the Court of
Direétors, of the Courfec and 1fue of the Refources of this Government for the prefent Year. He
hopes that Credit will be given to them to that Degree, beyond which it would be prefumptuous
on any Grounds to hazard the Promife of contingent Events; that if thofe which he has predicted
fhall not come to pafs, the Caufes of their Failure fhall be fuch as fhall account for it, and acquit
him of the Reproach of it. g o ‘

Of the Conlequences, as they may affett him perfonally, he is become indifferent; expecting the
forced Cenfures of his avowed Enemies, end affured of the Applaufe of his Superiors, from the in-
ternal Conviction of his own Mind, that he has laboured to the utmoft of his Ability to merit it.

(Signed) Warren Haftings.
3Y
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'ITE Lords being in their Places, the Houfe refumed, the ufual Proclamations
made, and the Defendant appearing at the Bar, the Lord Chancellor acquainted
the Managers for the Commons they might proceed with their Evidence.

Then the Clerk proceeded to read from the printed Copy of the Narrative of the
Governor General already delivered in, beginning at Page 21, where the fame was
broken off Yefterday, and rcad as far as Page 29 of the faid Narrative (7).

Then the Managers for the Commons ftated, that they fhould proceed to point out
fuch further Extracts from the fame, as they particularly defired to call the Attention
of the Houfe to.

Read, the following Extraét, from Page 34 of the faid Narrative:

« On the 20th or 21ft, I forget which, I received a Letter from Rajah Cheit Sing filled with
Expreflions of flight Concern for what had paffed, and Profeflions, but indefinite and unapplied,
of Fidelity. I did not think it becoming to make any Reply to it, and 1 think 1 ordered the Bearer
of the Letter to be told, that it required none.

« On the Morning of the 21(t, a Perfon came to Mr. R. Johnfon, who was One of my Party,
and defired his Interpoliiion with me to receive a Letter and Meflenger from the Rajah in the
Evening, with Uropofals for an Accommodation. The like Application was made by Myrza
Abdullah Beg, the Rajah’s Vakeel, to my Dewan Contoo Bauboo ; and, with my Permiiion,
Contoo Bauboo returncd to his own Houfe to meet the Vakeel by Appointment for that Purpote,
by which Means he mified the Opportunity of going off with me; the Intelligence of my Inten-
tion reaching him too late for him to join me, or his infirm Strate of Body not admitting of his
taking fo hafty a Refolution. The Subitance of the Meflage, as it has been fince delivered to me
by Abdullah Beg, in Writing, was to exculpate himfelf from any Concern in what had pafled,
which he charged to the infolent Behaviour of a Servant of the Refident, who was prefent, and
the Refentment of his own People, and to profefs his Obedience and Submiffion to my Will in
whatever Way I fhould dictace (*).”

Read, alfo, from Page 46, as follows:

« It would break the Attention, and perplex the Thread of the Narrative, to relate every diftinc
Event in its exalt Order of Time: I have therefore, in the minuter Points, endeavoured rather to
arrange them according to their Relation to the greater, or to find a Place for them in the vacant
Intervals and Paufes of it. It may be proper in this Place to mention, that during the Time of
Inattion which fucceeded to my Arrival at Chunar, I received feveral Leuers from Cheit Sing,
befides Letters from Mr. Barnet, and One from Contoo Bauboo, who were both his Prifoners ag
Lutteefpoor, which were written by his Order. Thefe were all alike in Subftunce, containing
Acknowledgments and Profeffions of Submiffion to my Authority ; Affertions of his own Inno-
cence, charging the Maffacre at Shewallah to the Chubdar, whofe Infults provoked the Refent-
ment of his Servants, whom he could not reftrain; and claiming a Merit from his having in the
Three paft A&ions been the fuffering Party, though fuccefsful, and in none the Aggreffor; adding
general Offers of Accommodation; and in the Letters written by his Ovder, & pompous Difplay
of his inexhauftible Wealth, the Multitude and Bravery of his Forces, and thg devoted Affection
and Fidclity of all his Subje@s. I refufed to anfwer them, letting him know that they were
written with too much Prefumption, in the Style of Equality, and with inapplicable Profefions,
which were no better than none.  Some of thefe Letters will appear in the Appendix; the rett
were loft (£).”

Read, alfo, from Page 49, as follows :

« The News of thefe concurrent Succefles being conveyed to the Rajah at the fame Inftant of
Time, alarmed him exceedingly for his own perfonal Safety, His Fears were excited with 2 more
forcible Impreflion by the Surprize of the Advance of fo great a Force, from a Quarter where he
had not expected any. With his Face turned towards Chunar, and his whole Attention, and
that of his People, direfled to the Movements which we made on that Side, they had no Sufpi-

(*) See the Whole of the fuid Extrat fupra, from Page 109 to Page 120, inclofed within the Brackets, and
dw’ Hands poimingpthcrcm. (*) Vide thie Narrative fupra, Page 12g.
v ) Vide fuprs, Page 127. ‘

cion



( 272 )

tion of any Defign being formed behind them.—The firft Intelligence which was received of Ma-
jor Crabb's Party defcribed it as confifting of the Followers of Owfan Sing, and only ‘Threc Com-
panies of our Scpoys; the Hircarrahs who conveyed the News, poffibly miftaking the advanced
Guard for the whole Force, and reporting it accordingly ; nor was the real Strength of the Party
knnwn, cven by that which was detached t oppote it, until the Inftant of the A&ion, This
Circumitance was related at the Time, and has fince been confirmed to me by an Officer named
Myher, who commanded a fmall Body of the Rajah’s Sepoys, and the Guns, in the A&tion, No
Defign could be more judicioufly planned, or more happily executed.  Even the Impediments
and D .fappointments  which attended i, ferved but to promote the Coincidence of the final
Movements of its Operations, with fo well tmed an Effie@, hat the Difference of the Time
which pafled between the Eneagement at Lora and the Conqueft of Pateeta, was little more than
that which would be required by the Difference of the Diftances of each from Liuteeefpoor, for the
News ot cach Succefs o reach Lutcefpoor at the fame Inftant. B

« Cheit Sing inftantly preparcd tor Flight.  His Road to Bidjeygur, which was his laft Refuge,
lay through the Pafs, which he durft nor attempt. He left Lutteetpoor abeut Thiree or Four in
the Afternoon, and making a Circuit over the Hills, gained the High Road at the Diftance of
fome Miles beyond the Pats, and proceeded with a few Followers to the Neighbourhood of Bids
jeygur: Some others followed and re-joined him; the reft, left without Orders, ftayed but to plun-
der the Place, and evacuated it.  The Gaung-Wallahs, or Militia, compoicd of the Hufbandmen,
who irad been fTummoned to attend him, all fled to their own Houfes.  So tapid was the Report of
this Event in 1t’s Communication, and fo decifive in it’s Effeét, that the Fort of Sutteefgur, which
lies about Seven or Eight Miles to the Northward of Lutteefpoor, and the Palace of Ramnagur,
were evacuated on the fame Evening; and the Allegiance of the whole Country reftored as com-
pletely, in the Courfe of a few Hours, from a State of univerfal Revolt to it's proper Channel, as
if it had never departed from it (2).”

The Managers for the Commons informed the Houfe, the next Extrat they fhould
read was to prove the Appointment of the Rajah Mehipnatain te be Rajah of

Banaris.
Read, from Page g1 of the faid Narrative, as follows :

« My firft Care, after my Return to Banaris, was to determine the Succeflion to the Zemeedary
and Rauje, vacated by the Forfeiture of Cheit Sing,  The Right of the Company to the Diipotal
of it certainly had not {uffered by the patt Events.  The Territory had been wholly loft to their
Dominion, and wholly conquered by thew Arms. Yet the Relt ot the Family who formerly pet-
fefled it had not merited, by any Alt of theirs, to be involved in the Punithment of a Man whe
had been equally their Enemy, und whom they regarded as the Ufurper of their more legal Rights 5
nor perhaps would it have been prudent to put the Submiffion of the People to the Teft of a
new Species of Dominion.” 1 rherefore refolved, in virtue of the full Powers which I poffefied
from the Board for that Purpofe, to beftow it on the nexc lineal Heir.  This was Bauboo Me-
hipnarain, e was the Grandfon of Rajah Bulwant Sing, by a Daugliter harried to Bauboo
Doorgbijey Sing. The Widow of Bulwant Sing, named Ranny Goolaub Kooer, was ftill living,
and in an extreme old Age. By the Hindeo Law fhe might claim thé Iihieritance ; her Daughter
alfo, the Wife of Doorgbijey Sing, might affert the like Pretenfion. Had it become a Matter of
Conteft, 1 had refolved to leave it to thé Decifion of the whole Body of the Pundits of Ba-
naris. But this Reference was unneceffary. Dochb‘iie ' Sing yielded up the Pretenfion of his
Wife, and the old Ranny her own, by a Writing, calcc?’ ‘with gcr Name, and acknowledged in
the Prefence of a confidential Perfon, Whoin 1 depuited to her for chat Purpofe; declaring it to be
her Wifh and Requeft, that the Rauje might be conferred on her Grandfon Mehipnarain, He
was accordingly invefted and proclaimed on the goth of September, His Father Bauboo Doorg-
bijey Sing was 4t the fame Time invefted with the Office of Naib, and is in Effeit the fole acling
Manager. e is about Thirty-five Years of Age—his Son Nireteen ()."

Read, élfo, from Pagg 52 of the faid Narrative, as foilqw)s :

"« After having gained Pofieffion of Lutteefpoor, Major Popham loft no Time in profecuting
his March to Bidjeygur. Cheit Sin% did not wait his Approach, but fled, taking with him as
much Treafure as his Elephants and Camels could carry, which has been reported 1o me o have
confifted of One Liack of Mohgg, and Fifteen or Sixteen of Silver (¢), befides Jewels to sn unknown
Amount.  His Wife, a Woman eof amiable Charatter, ‘his Mother Pauna, and afl the other
Women of his Family, and the Survivors of the Family of his Facher Bulwane Sing who were
connedted with his, were ieft in the Fort of Bidjeygur. - He took ‘the Rout.of Rewa, snd from
thence proceeded fo Panna, the Capiral of Boondelcund, paying and plindering s he paffed. He
was by the laft Advices in that Couyntry, the Rajah profefling in his Letzérs to me a Refolution o

wittidrgw his Protettion from him, -end fecretly- favouring him (4).” o L
(‘) Vide fupra, Page 128 to Page 129. ) Vide fupra, Page 120. f
E' ) Amounting t:%ouuoo,o:%l. Sterling. ((')) Vide rufm, Pag'z-_gb. oy
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Then the Managers for the Commoris acquainted the Houfe, they fhould next read
dn Affidavit of Major Palmer, to prove the Allegation in the Firft Article of the
Charge, which ftates the Intention of the Defendant to extort a large Sum of Money,
by way of Fine, from the Rajah Cheit Sing. (%)

Read, Appendix to the Narrative, Part IIL. p. 157.
 Second Parecl,
( Num. 2. A.)

Affdavit of Major Palmer.

& William Palmer, Major in the Service of the Honourable che Edft India Cormpany in Bengal,
maketh Qath and faith, That about the latter End of the Month ot June lifl, the Fonourable
Warren Haltings Efquire, Governor General of Bengal, ditrourling with this Deponent on the
Subjet of his intended Journey to Banaris and Lucknow, declared one of the principal Objetts of
it to be, to exa& from Rajah Cheit Sing a Fine or Contribution of Fifty Lacks of Rupecs, as &
Punithment for Breach of Engagements with the Government of Bengal, and for A&s of Mifcon-
duct in his Zemeedary. The Governor General further declared to this Deponent, that he knew
the Ability of the Rajah to contribute fuch a Sum o the Iixigences of Government; and that he,
the Governor General, was determined to convert the Faults committed by the Rajah into a public
Bencfit. The Governor General further declared to this Deponent in the lame Canverlation,
That an Offer from the Rajah, but indire@ly, had been made to him of Twenty Lacks of Rupees
for the public Service, as a Retribution for his Failure of Engagements; but that he, the Gover-
nor General, was refolved to infift upon the firft mentioned Sum of Fifty Lacks of Rupees, and
if the Rajah fhould abfolutely refufe the Demand, that he, the Governor General, would de-
prive him of his Zemeedary, or wansfer the Sovereignty thercof to the Nabob Vizeer,

‘ W. PALMER,
Sworn before me, this 4th Day of December, 1981, L. IMPEY. (*)”

To prove the fame Falts ftated in the Affidavit of Major Palmer, and alfo the Tranf-

aftion charged in the Firft Article to have pafied between Mr. Haftings and the Viaier,
relative to the Province of Benares ;

Read, Appendix, p. 158,
“( Num. 2. B.)
Autcltation of David Anderfon Efquire,
 To the Honourable Warsen Haftings Efquire.

* Honourable Sir, ‘ ,

¢ In Obedience to your Commands conveyed to me through Major Paliner, 1 thall endeavour
to repeat, as well as I can remember, the Purport of what you were pleafed to inform me before
your Departure from Calcutta, of your Intentions regarding Cheit Sing » but as fo long an Interval
has fince elapfed, my Recolleion, which has never been ftrengthened by a Communication, muft
neceffarily be fomewhat imperfect,

« After enumerating fome of the Refources which you expeéted to find up the Country for
the Relief of the Company’s Exigencies, you mentioned to me the Conduct of Cheit Sing.

« You obferved, that he owed his Elevation to the Company ; that he was allowed to enjoy
a very confiderable Income, the Revenue exafted from him being much inferior 1o the Produce
of his Diftricts, and that his Territories were maintained and defended by the Englifh Army ; that
on thofe Confiderations it had been reckoned equitable, that he fhould contribute on an Emer-
gency to the Support of Wars carried on by that Government under which he held his Zemeedary,
and to which he was indebted for its Prote¢tion.  Accordingly you mentioned that a Sum had been
demanded from him; that, after fome Difficulties, he had agreed to pay it at a certain Period that,
trufting to his Promifes, you had made an Aflignment on him for the Ufe of Colonel Camac’s De-
tachment; and that Colonel Camac, relying on his Punéluality, had returned a Bill for a lefs Sum,
which had been fent to him by Mr. Middleton ; but that this Confidence had nearly proved fawal
t6 the Detachment, and alually did prove the Caufe of retarding the Expeditiony that Cheit
* Sing, in Spite of all the Reprefentations which were made to him, delayed fo long the promifed
Payment, that the Officers of the Detachment were reduced to the Neceflity of felling their Plate;
thdt you thercfore determined to call him to an Account, and oblige him to make an Atone-
shent for his Condu& in this Inftance, and the Want of Attachment he had in general fhewn to
our Gowernment, by payiog & confiderable Sum of Money to the Relief of the Company’s Exi-
‘genciesy thar if he confented, you were defirous of eftablithing his Pofleffion on the moft perma-
negt and eligible Footing 3 but, if he refufed, you had in your Power to raife a large Sum for the

(* )Vnda pxihnd Articles, Bottom of P 5 and T°§ of p. 6. (®) Vide fupra, P. 232.
3 Z Com-,
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Company, by accepting of an Qffer which had been made for his Diftrict by the Vizeer. You minuted
the Particulars of Cheit Sing’s Conduét in an Account which you drew up in Calcutta, of the State
of the different Powers of Hindoftan, though I do net belicve that in that Paper you cxprefied
the Tntentions you had formed: And I remember you told me that you had communicated to
Mr. Wheler your Intentions regarding Cheit Sing ; and I believe (though I cannot pofirively
recolle@) you faid he had concurred in them. '

. I am, with the greateft Refpedt, &c.

Mahdajee Sindia’s Camp, near Dutteah, D. Anperson.” (")

the 14th January, 1782,

Then the Managers for the Commons acquainted the Houfe, they fhould next pro-
ceed to read feveral Affidavits of Natives. That the Firft they thould produce particularly
refpected the Efcape of the Rajah Cheit Sing, and what happened upon that Efcape ;
and all of them went to prove the Malfacre and confirm the Narrative in other Parti-
culars.

Read, Appendix, Part III. P. 163, as follows:

¢ (Num. 3. E.)

« TRANSLATION of the Depofition of Jewan Ram Moonfhy, in the Scrvice of the late Lieu-
tenant Stalker.—TheDeponent fworn before Chief Juftice Sir Elijah Impey, December 2nd, 1781,

« After the Arrival of Mr. Markham at Shewallah, I went in and paid my Refpeéts to my
Mafter ; who afked me, If I knew whether Mr. Markham would come there or not? I replied,
It was reported fo; but that it depended on his Inclinations. Mr. Stalker then told me I might
g0, but afterwards ordered me to ftay., 1 continued there, and faw Doorglijey Sing fitting with
the Rajah in the Centre Apartment, and Suddanund Buxey and others whifpering to the Rajah.
Shortly after, News was brought to the Three Gentlemen fitting in the adjoining Room that there
were Difputes without, Mr. Stalker went without the Jauli (or Firft Wall), and afked the Subadar
Bithun Sing, Why he had ordered the Bayonets to be fixed ¢ The Subadar replied, That Numbers
of the Rajah’s armed Servants had come in, and that they paid no Regard to the Company’s Orders.
After which, Mr, Statker advanced further out, and afkchof the younger Mowllavy and me, Who
amongft thofi: People was the Chief ? T anfwered, Bauboo Munnear Sing. Mr. Stalker fent for Mun-
near Sing, and ftrongly enjoined him to appeafe his People, and enquire why they attempted to
difpute and fight with his Sepoys ? Munnear Sing replied, *¢ What Power have they, that any one of
them thould prefume to fight? We Two, Father and Son, are defirous to go to the Rajah,” Mr.
Stalker antwered, ¢ Very well; but you muft ftay here between your People and mine, that they
may not come to Blows.” fAfter that a Letter arrived from the Governor to the Rajah, which Mr.
Stalker, having quieted and foothed the People, prefented to him. The Rajah then got up, and went
out of the Burradursy to the adjacent Baftion to perform his Devotions. - At this Time {nformation
was brought to Mr. Stalker, that the Rajah’s People oppofed and refuled Admittance to another
Company of Sepoys, who had brought Provifions, a Table, &c. for the Gentdemen. = Mr.
Stalker again went out, and calling to Suddanund Buxey, afked the Caufe of this Oppofi-
tion ; and told him to fend Direttions (to the Rajah’s People). Suddanund faid, he would go
himfelt. Mr. Stalker replied, ¢ No, fend One of your Servants.” While the Man was going out to
filcnce the People, Mr. Stalker returned within the Jauly. Doorgbijey Sing was gone from
thencey no one knew whither. Cheit Ram, Mr.- Markham’s Chubdar, informed Mr. Stalket
that he bad a Meffage to deliver to the Rajah from the Governor General. M. Scaltker faid,
« Deliver it.”  He the Chubdar faid, at the Place where the Rajah was at his Devotions, * the
Governor fays your People want to quarrel and fight; it will be better if you forbid them, for
cevery Scpoy is an Buropean, and every European is as a (or the) Company : If a Drop of their
Blood is fhed, you fhall be plundered and deftroyed.”. At this Period there was a Report of Guns at
the Gate of Shewallah, The Aftion was commenced. At this Time Mr. Stalker and Cheit
Ram went towards the Rajah. Munnear Sing and others cut down Cheit Ram, pulled Mr, Stal-
ker back, and puthing him on one Side, began the Slaughter. The Rajah efcaped through a
Window by a Rope made.of Turbans, got into a Boat, ‘and went off. " His People, by the fame
Means, drew up Swords and Shields as a Bucket is drawn uajrom a Welly and began to engage.
1 ftood 'near the Jaulibehind my Mafter. When my Mafter was killed, I fled toward:the Place
where the Rajah's Victuals was drefied. T continued  there a fhort Lime, ‘and faw ithe Ruajah's
People jump gom the Walls:and the Trees, ‘with their Shields and Swords, and:advipee.' Afier
ghis 1 affamed the Charatter of Oneof Cheit Sing’s Servants, fled with .his Peopley and came 1o
the Prefence. ‘The Gentlemen after this went 1o Chunar, and ] fhould hawe srrived the next Dayy -
but 1 was plundered an the Road, and confined in the Fort of Pindera. ' Diuram. took away from .
my Houfe Two Tangon Horfes, and placed ‘his Seal end a Guard upen the Door. . After ¢he.
Flight of the Rajah, the Zemcedar of the beforg mentioned Fort fet e’ #t Liberty.  Withouta

(*) Vide loprs, P.aga.. e
S ‘Matter,
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Mafter, every Way diftonfolate, to whom can 1 communicate my Diftrefs ? [ now liope for Favour
and Support from the Almighty and from you.
Jewan Ram.”

Read next, Appendix, Part III. P. 189, as follows:

“ (Num. 5. E,)
¢« Depolition of Ruggoobur Sing, Orderly Sepoy to Lieutenant Stalker.

* The Deponent (upon his Oath) fays, He went with Lieutenant Stalker and Mr, Markham to
Shewallah, where the Rajah Cheit Sing refided ; and that he went with them into the Frefence of the
Rajah ; that hortly after Two Companies of Sepoys arrived with Two Gentlemen, whofe Names
the Deponent does not remember, being a newly inlifted Sepoy ;5 that thole Two Oficers came in
and continued with the Rajah and Lieutenant Stalker; that he, the Deponent, was dircéted by
Lieutenant Sralker to attend, with Three other orderly Sepoys, in the Apartment where the
Ofticers were fitting with the Rajab; that the reft of the orderly Sepoys remained without the
Purdahs, which were let down in the I'ront of the Apartment; that he is wnacguainted with
what paifted without the Gate where the Two Companies were, or what People were there on thie
Part of the Rajah. The Deponent does not recollect, nor can he, he fays, relate the Circum-
ftances which pafled before the Attack commenced; but in reply to a Queflion put to him,
Whether Mr. Markham’s Chubdar Cheit Ram fpoke to the Rajah ? he fays, that faid Chubdar
brought a Note to Licutenant Stalker, at the Time when the Rajah’s People without were en-
deavouring to enter; that he delivered the Note to Licutenant Stalker; thatat this Time the Noife
and Confufion at the Gate-way was very great; that the Chubdar went from Licutenant Scalker
toward Cheit Sing, who was then fitting at the Place where he performed his Devotions; that he
told him to order his People to defift; that he, the Chubdar, was Cheit Ram, and that the Rujah
was but Cheit Sing, and that if he did not make his People defitt he would confine him.  Says, he
was an Ear-witn fs to the foregoing ; that it was at this Moment the Firing was heard and the Attack
began; that Licutenant Stalker's Hircarrah had his Sword; that he called to chis Depanent
to give him his Sword, which he did, and ftood brhind Lieutenant Stalker, by his Orders, with
the Scabbard in kis Hand, until that Officer fell; that he was foon after cut down himfelf; that he
was deprived of Senfe, and knows nothing of what pafied afterwards,

< Sworn before me, the Contents being firft The Mark of
explained to the Deponent, by W. Davy, Elig; Ruggoobur Sing,
this 3d Day of December 1781, Sepoy.” (V)
E. Impey.”

Then the Managers for the Commons acquainted the Houfe, that they wifhed to
point their Attention to Two other Affidavits of Natives; the One an Afhidavit of
Sheakh Hoflein Oolla, Jemadar, Havildar and Orderly with Licutenant Stalker, at
the Time of the Action at Shewallah Ghaut, in P. 186 of the Appendix, marked
(N° 5. C.) (°); the other, an Affidavit of Bifhen Sing Subadar, (marked N° 5. D.)
P. 187, of the faid Appendix ('), and which they meant to have produced, as being
ftrong to the fame Point as the two Aflidavits laft read: But as they were to the fame
Effect, in order to fave the Time of the Houfe, they fhould omit reading them; and
proceed next to prove the Submiffion of the Rajah Cheyt Sing, by certain Letters
which they ftiled Letrers of Submiffion, and which Letters were written by him fubfe-

uent to his quitting Benares : The Letters hitherto rcad in the Courfe of the Evi-
ence were all prior to that Event,

Read, Appendix, Part II, P. 106, as follows :

« N° 72. The Two following Letters were fent from Ramnagur by Teckchund to Govind
Ram Pundit at Banaris, and dclivered to the Governor General by Bencram Pundit, on the 5th
September 1781, ‘ ‘

« Tranflation of an Arzee from Rajah Chei Sing to the Honourable Governor General.

« When I waited vpon your Highnefs in your Pinnace, I reprefented to you every Thing
which was proper 1o be reprefented s that my Life, my Country, and Property, belonged to
your Highnefs ; requefting that you would order whatever was your Pleafure, and 1 was ready to
obey it with Pleafure. 1 befides performed all the Duties of Obedience and Humility ; and
reprefented all the Particulars, with a View to the prefent Timey for I well knew thaz, as foon as
Owfan Sing fhould be introduced to your Highnefs, Mr, Markham and the Moulavies, &c. hav-
ing festled this- Plan, would make you conceive Difpleafure againft me. At that Time your
Highwefs anfwered,. that you had no Bufinefs with my Life or Property ; that you had nor given
Admiffion to Owfan Sing or any- of his People; that you had no Connetion with any of my

(*) Vide fupra, P, 235. (*) Supre, P.281. -~ (¢) Supra, P. 249,  (¢) Supra, P.250.
| 6 | | Relations.
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Relations. What Crime did I afterwards commit that, by the Advice of my Enemies, you
fhould relolve to confine me with fuch Difgrace ¢ However, I remained until Evening in Con-
finement, and behaved in no Inftance otherwife than with the greateft Humility and Obedience,
1 addreffed feveral Arzees, exprefling my Readinefs to obey your Orders, and that 1 was your
Slave, and was ready with my Life and Property. Obferve, that Cheit Ram Chubdar came to
me, and reviled me, and with a loud Voice gave both me and my People the vileft Abufe. The
People of the Sirkar rt fired Balls from their Guns, and dilcharged their Mufkets : Immediately
the Tumult arofe, and notwithftanding my moft earneft Requeft for them to defift, no one would
hear me.  Myfelf, after being wounded by a Sword in the Hand of the Captain, cfcaped with
Lite fiom that imouncnt Danger, and withdrew mylelf.  1f you will examine with an Fye of
Juftice, and without lLiftening to Talebearers and Informers, you will find no Crime in me; and
your Mind, which is the Mirror of the World, will, I am certain, approve of it. I have before
addrefled Arzees to you, but have not yet been honoured with an Anfwer. Owfan Sing has not
yet ceafed from ruining the Affairs. Should now my Life and Honour be left to me, 1 am your
Slave. Beneram Pundit will have reprefented my Situation to you, and will continue to do fo,” (*)

Then the Managers for the Commons ftated, that to fave Time they would pafs
over Two other Letters, and proceed to N° 76. Appendix, P. trog.

T he fame was read, and is as follows,
¢ N* 46. From Cheit Sing to the Governor General.

« Before this, the Arzees, which I have repeatedly addrefled ro your Prefence, will have been
erufed by you, but to this Time 1 have not been honoured with an Anfwer to any one of them.
?am in every Way ready in my Allegiance and Duty, and have obeyed all your Highnefs’s
Orders, and never have 1 been negligent in any one Point; and your Highnefs, from your Good-
nefs and Juftice, has always been }nlcafcd to prote&t and fupport your own Slave, and to fhew him
Favour. All this Time when, from the unfortunate State of the Times, the Reports of felf-
interefied Perfons have met with Reception at the Prefence, I humbly reprefent that the Words
of evil-minded, fclf-interefied Perfons be not attended to, but that your Highnefs, looking upon
me as a Slave raifed by yourfelf, will be favourable towards me, becaufe I am your Slave, and
am ready in my Duty and Allegiance.  Although I have been guilty of no Faule, yer the Slave
is by all Means criminal, and the Bufinefs of the Mafter is Pardon. By the Blofling of God, your
1lighnefs i3 the Mafter, and is juft. Let him confider, that in all the Three Battles the Army of
the Sirkar was the Aggreflor. Now Matters have paffed the Kxtremities,  Should you even now
beftow Life upon me, it would not be foreign from the Duty of a Mafter.,” (") ”
Datec the 21t of Ramzaun.

‘I/‘.h{trthc Managers for the Commons ftated, that having brought the Matter to
that-—Pqrt of the Charge which relates to the Storming and Sorrender of Bidjey-
ghir, they fhould prefently proceed: to call Evidence upon that Head. And in the
mean Time they would fill up the Evidence which was left unfinithed Yefterday,
‘owing to the Accident of not having the Records of the Eaft India Company at Hand.

And firlt, With refpett to the illegal Delegation to Mr, Haftings, the Houfe
would be {?leafcd to recolle€t that they had produced the Minutes of the Council
of the-21ft of May 1781, and the Minutes of the Council of the 3d of July 1741,
by which they had (hewn Mr. Haftings’s Motive for defiring that” Delegation, the
Appointment of himfelf (Mr. Haftings) to conduét the Bufinefs of the Supreme
Council, with all the Authority of that Supreme Council, wherever he (hould be ;o
The Authority*to Mr. Wheler to condutt all the Bufinefs of the Supreme Council,
with all the Authority qf the Supreme Council at Calcutta, and in the Provinces of
chmlgal, Bahar, and Qriffa; and Mr. Haftings’s Credentials, That they had referred
to the Stat, 13 Geo. 1L ¢. 63. fe&. 7. which attaches upon the Two Standing Orders
of. the Company, the One of 1702, and the other of 1736 ; and that the Situation
of the Evidence, with refpett to thofec Orders, was as follows : They had prody
the Original Drafts of thofe Orders fent out to Bengal by the Court of Direftor
and the Names of the Ships in which they were fent out, docketed upon théPapers
“That an Objeftion had been taken, that there was no Proof of ’th‘e_gQi,'dm\."héving'ar-
gived ar Caleutta; and therefore the Managers, without waving thélt Right to infift
‘upon that as {ufficient Evidence, were now to prove that thefe Docaments did arrive
at Bengal, which they fhould do in the following Manner; Fiuft, as to the Oyders
.af 1702, they thould prove the Tranfmiffion of the Standing Orders from Bengal-to.
“Europe, in confequence of the RequeR of the Court of Dmreftors: And, Secondly,
Fhey would fhew the Arrival of the Standing Orders of 1436 at Caleutta. - Having -

©(») Vide fopra, P. 204, . (%) Vide fupra, B 206,
6 e

done
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done that, they fhould next requeft the Attention of the Houfe to the Claufe of the
A& of Parliament attaching upon thefe ftanding Orders; and, laftly, to conclude
the Subject of the Delegation, they would produce a Paragraph of a Letter from the
Court of Direttors, in the Year 1798, to fhew that thofe Parts of the Authority con-
ferred by the Delegation, which regarded the Command of the Military, were parti-
cularly rendered illegal by the Orders of the Dire€tors contained in that Letter.

Then Mr. Robert Hudfon was again called, and produced Book 59, indorfed as
follows, ‘¢ 1702 to 1727, Bengal Standing Orders.”

Then the Witnefs was afked,

Q. Is that a Letter from Bengal to the Court of Direétors ?

A. No.

Q. What isit?

A. The ftanding Orders tranfmitted from Bengal at che Requeft or Order of the Court of
Direttors.

Q. Were they tranfmitted by Letter from the Council of Bengal to the Court of Directors ?
A. They were.

Q. What is the Date of that Tran{miffion ?

A. 3d February 1728-9.

Q&Was there any fubfequent Tranfmiffion of the ftanding Orders of Bengal to the Court of
Dire

ors here that you know of ?
A. There was a fubfequent Tranfmiffion of the Orders in the Year 1737.

Q. Do you know of any other Tranfmiffion fince the Year 1737 ?
A. There is another Book of the ftanding Orders, brought down as low as the Year 1753.

Q. Were thofe likewife tran{mitted from Bengal ?
A. From Bengal.

Q. Has there been any Tranfmiffion from Bengal fince the Year 17532
A. 1 believe not.

The Counfel for the Defendant ftated, That in the Year 1756, when Calcutta was
taken, every Muniment of this Sort was, as they underftood, deftroyed. They
withed therefore to know whether, at the Time of Mr. Haftings being appointed to
the Government, there remained fubfifting on Record at Calcutta any fanding Orders
of this Sort denoting his Duty. )

The Counfel were afked, whether they meant to found upon this any Objection
to the reading of thefe ftanding Orders. -

The Counfel replied, they did not; that they had no particular Objeftion to read-
ing the ftanding Urders, if taken with this Explanation——that Mr. Haftings had no
Notice of them.~—In. other Words, that-the Orders having .been deftroyed in 1756,
and no.Renewal of them fent to the Governor and Council at Calcutta, the Ma-
nagers ought to prove Notice to Mr. Haftings, or they could not affeét him.

The Houfe obferved, that it appeared the ftanding Orders had been tranfmitted
from 1402 to 1753, at the laft of which Periods it would appear, when they came
to be read, what the ftanding Orders of the Company to the Governor and Coun-
cil at Bengal were; and that the Queftion, whether they came to the Notice of Mr.
Haftings, was a Matter for after Confideration. .

Then the Managers for the Commons, in anfwer to the Objetion taken by the
Counfel for the Defendant, defired to obferve, thar the Seventh Seftion of Stat. 13
Geo. I11, c. 63, by which Mr. Haftings was appointed Governor General of Bengal,
is to the following Effeét, * That the whole avil and military Government of the
~Prefidency, and alfo the Ordering, Management, and Government, of all the terri-
torial Acquifitions ‘and Revenues, &c. arc thercby vefted in the faid Governor
General and Councll; &c. in'like Manner, to all Intents and Purpofes, as the fame

" now.are, or at any Time heretofore might have been exercifed by the Prefident and
Oouncil, or Seleft Committee, in the faid Kingdoms.” That as there was nd Difpute
_at all concerning the Produttion of the Book by which the Exiftence of thofe ftanding
" Osders. bad been proved, the AR of Parliament attaching upon them was complete
.and abblute Notice of them to the Defendant. | .
PVONER A Upon
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Upon which the Counfel for the Defendant were again afked, whether they did
or did not mean to objett to the ftanding Orders, that were fent to the Com any
antecedent to the Year 1 ({56 being rcad ? The Counfe] replied, that they did not objett
to their being read, under the Obfcrvattons they had before taken the Liberty of fub-
mitting to the Houfe. Whereupon the Managers for the Commons were informed
they might proceed to read thofe ftanding Orders.

Read, the following Extralt from Book 59, Page 183.

« Fort William Standing Orders, N* 23.
Received per Stretham, 1oth September 1724.

Inthe Com-  * Par. 4. Having heard Complaints of fome Irregularities in fome of the Factories of either Com-
;‘é‘t‘::;':b“;;g‘: panies, we do ftri&tly enjoin that all our Affairs be tranfacted in Council, and ordered and managed
' as the Majority in Council fhall determine, and not otherwife upon any Pretence whatfoever, and
to that End, that all of the Council do refide upon the Place; and though we hope you will be
unanimous in the Purfuit of our common Intereft, yet if on Occafion it happen that your Votes
are cqually divided, the fame muft be determined by Lot, as we by our new Charter are directed

in fuch Cafe to do.”

Then the Witnefs produced Book 57, indorfed, ¢ Fort William Standing Orders,
Colleted for 12 Years, No. 6. Received 7th Auguft 1739, per Wager.”

Read, the following Extratt.

¢ Per Ship Nottingham,
Dated gth February 1736-7.

All the Com- « Qur Orders are, that all our Affairs fhould be regularly tranfmitted ®* in Council, and every
pany’s Afairs M dul ar
to be tranf. ember duly fummoned to atten

adted in Coun-
i The Managers for the Commons obferved, That the Word < tran/initted” was a
Miftake, and fhould have been ¢ tranfacted.”
Then the Managers for the Commons defired the Witnefs might be afked,

Q. Whether the Orders which had been read, are not now confidéred by the Eaft India
Company as the ﬁandu‘;g Orders for the Direction of their Scrvants in Bengal ?
A. We always confider them fo.

Q. Do you happen to know if they have been varied by any fubfequent Orders ?
A. 1 do not know of any.

(dl_ (?Craf: exmzmd ) Have you made any Search to fce whether there were any fubfequent
Orders

A. 1 have not; but I have gone through the Correfpondcncc fo frequently, chat if there had
I muft certainly have known it.

. Whether there were not Qrders contraditory to thofe Orders, namely, to the Order in
:7oz, that all che Councit thould refide upon the Spot; and to the Order. of 1736—7, that every
Mcmbcr thould be duly fummoned to attend ?

The Houft obferved, That if there were fubfeduent Orders of the Company in any
Manner varying from the Orders that had beon read, the proper Evidence of that wonld
he to.produce them, .and then the Fat would appear ; but the meefs could not give
diftinct Evidenoe of what is in Writing.

» The Countl for the Defendant faid, They did not alk the Qge&son for the Purpofe
of iving Evidence of the fubfequent Orders, but to impeach the Memory of the Wit~

s by leading. his Recollettion to Orﬂcxs w}mh varied th; former Onders, uhmgh

he had faid there were none. = o
The Houle obferved, That nothm would N qcluded hy whnther the WM d:d
of the Ealt, Jﬁdm Ge th

or dwd not remember the Whole, pf the Records o
ng tucned ’npbn i there were other qum thzy m dces

the F would appear. _ S v
- 'Then ghe W.xm{a pnoauw Dmk 58 mnm!ad; . Becgtl D_1 avihis
1774 to 15th December :775. L SRR

R

: w.

. S Orig._Ser the AbRal ' the Margim, 208 alfo the r.xmaof"’
‘Gcml Letter to Bengal, of the gthy Febmry 2736, fupra, Page 106. :
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Read, the following Extralt, beginning at Page 49.
¢ 2gth March 174,

« P. 49. Inftru&ions from the Court of Diretors of the United Company of Merchants of
.England trading to the Eaft Indies—To Warren Haftings Efquire, Governor General ,
Lieutenant General John Clavering, the Honourable George Monfon, Richard Barwell
Efquire, and Philip Francis Efquire, Counfellors, conftituted and appointed the Governor
General and Council of the faid United Company’s Prefidency of Fort William in Bengal,

by an A& of Parliament pafitd in the laft Seffion, intituled, ¢ An At for eftablithing

¢ certain Regulations for the better Management of the Affuirs of the Eaft India Company,
¢ as well in India as in Europe.’

Read, from fame Book, Page 7o.

“ Par, 39. It is alfo our exprefs Diretion, that you not only ftrictly attend to the fanding Orders
of the Company, communicated to their Prefidency of Fort William, but to all fuch Orders
and Inftrutions as the Court of Dire@ors have tranfmitted to the Governor and Council, or Select
Committee of the faid Prefidency, and in an efpecial Manner to thofe which any Ways relate to
forming proper Statements of our Revenucs, and to the keeping of our Treafury Accounts; and if
any of our Orders remain unexecuted, you are to take care that the fame be carried into Execu-
tion in every Inftance wherein they have not been annulled by the before mentioned A of
Parliament, or fuperfeded by our prefent Orders and Inftructions.

(Signed at the End)

George Cuming, Edw* Wheler,
Jofeph Sparkes, John Harrifon,
London, Pet. Lafcelles, Jn° Woodhouie,
29 March 1774, Cha' Boddam, Sam' Peach,
Jn° Michie, Fred* Pigou,
Cha’ Chambers, junior, Daniel Wier,
R* Hall, Wm James,
John Smith, T. B. Rous,

George Tatem.”

Then the Witnefs produced Book 41, * intituled, Bengal Difpatches, 3oth January
1778 to 28th December 1778."

Read, from Page 378 of the faid Book, the gth Paragraph of a Letter from the
Court of Direttors to the Governor General and Council at Fort William in Bengal,
dated London, the 7th May 1778, and figned,

Wm Mills junior G. Wombwell,
Cha* Boddam, ‘W= James,
Sa;ln' Pcl:ch. Ben. Booth,
Tho* Chesp, Jofeph Sparkes,
G. Tatem, . lg.lrling.

R* Hall, n° Michie,
Rob* Gregory, Rich® Becher,
Jn® Woodhoule, W. Devaynes,

- L. Sulivan.

« Par, 9. As we do not intend that our Governor General thall at any Time exercife Military Com-
mand beyond the Limits of the Garrifon of Fort William, it is our Order, that whenever the
faid Governor General fhall find ic neceflary to be abfent from the Prefidency, his ufual and ac-
cuftomed Body Guard only fhall attend him, and remain under his Command during fuch Ab-

fence as aforefaid ; and the fame Rule is to be obferved refpecting every Prefident and Governor at
our.other Settlements,” o -

Then the Managers for the Commens ftated, That there was another Chalm left
in the Evidence of Yefterday refpefting the Recall of Mr. Fowke, and the Appoint-
ment of Mr. Markham to be Refident at Banaris, which they fhould now fupply, in
order to thew the Intention and View of Mr. Haftings in making that Appoittment,
and in his fubfequent Journey to Banaris. - ' S

Then the Witnefs produced Book 54, intituled, ¢ Bengal Secret Council, from 4th ja-
nudry to: 29th March 1781.” o ‘

Rewd,



* Sic in Ong.

( 28 )

Read, the following Extra& from a Confultation of 14th January 1781, beginning
at Page 133 of the faid Book., _ . o
¢ Fort William, 14th January 1781.
« At a Council; Prefent, ‘ o
The Honourable Warren Haftings, Governor General, Prefident;
and Edward Wheler Efquire.
Licutenant General Sir Eyre Coote, K. B. ablfent on Command at Fort St. George.

¢ The Governor General delivers in the following Minute. :

s ‘Governor General.—While this Government 18 charged with fuch extenfive Concerns, and
hath to contend with Difficulties equal perhaps to thofe in which even the fupreme Adminiftration
of the Britith Empire is at this Period 1nvolved, it may at leaft claim as a Right what, under any
other Syftem of Government that hath ever yet exifted, would be impofed on it as * indifpenfable
Obligation, to employ and exercife the Powers which are inherent in its Conlticution, and which
are immediately neceffary to the Support, and eventually to the Exiftence of thofe effential Interefts
which it holds in Charge. On this Principle 1 claim the Right of nominating the Agent, of my
own Choice, to the Refidency of Benares. It is a Reprefentative Station, and cannot, without a
Contradiction, be the Charge of a Man not preferably chofen to it, by the Members of - the aGtual
Government, and holding it by an Authority independent of theirs. Speaking for myfclf alone, it
may be fufficient to affirm, that Mr, Francis Fowl:cc is not my Agent; that [ cannot give him ry
Confidence; thar, while he continues at Benares, he ftands as a Screen between the Raja and this
sovernment, inftead of an Inftrument of Controul; and that the Raja himfelf, and every Chief in
Hindoftan, with whom we are in Connection, will regard it as the Pledge and Foundation of his
Iadependance. , _

« T'o Mr. Fowke himfelf I have no perfonal Objeétion: I approve his Conduét, and efteem his
Charaéter ; and I believe that T might depend upon his exaét and literal Obedience and Fidelity in
the Yxecution of the Funétions annexed to it. R’ly Objection [ have ftated above, and it is infu-

crable, :

B The Perfon whom I have chofen to fucceed him I conlider as ftanding in the fame Degree of
Confidence and Eftimation with Mr. Wheler as myfelf. I adopted him (if I may fo exprefs myfelf)
from bis Family and Patronage, and affigned him an Office of the higheft Truft near my own Per-
fon, with Mr. Wheler’s Approbation; and from a Forefight of the ﬁvent which has fince made us
the Copattners of this Governmenr, and which fuggefted to 'me the: Prapeiety 'of - employing fuch
Agents as would be agreeable to him, while they pofiefied the other Requifites for my own Con-
fidence. I therefore think him, on every Confideration, the fittelt to fill the Office in Queftion.

« | thergfore: move that Mr. Francis Fowke be immediately removed from the Refidency of Be-
naras, and that Mr. William Markham may be appointed to it in his Stead. '

« While I thus acquit myfelf of what I conceive 1o be a public Duty, it is my Defire at the fame
Time to indemnify Mr. Fowke from the Confequences perfonally attending it towards him.

« I therefore move, that he be at the famie Time anvefted with the Appointment of Agent for the
Provifien of" all Boats 1o be employed Yor the Military. Services of this Eftablifhment, with an
Allowange 6f a Commiffion of 15 per Cent. apon il -his Difburfements in this Office; that the
exccutive Charge thereof take Place from ‘the Period of the Expiration of Colonel Morgan’s prefent
Contraét, andam until that Time, and for Three Months following it, he be allowed to draw his
prefent Allowance of yooo Rupees per Month, ’

« | propofe this Method in ‘pr‘cfercn‘g; 1o a Contra®, becaufe I am convinced from Experience,
that the Sérvice will be better performed by this Alteration, alchough it. is liable to one material
Obiection in its natural Influence on his E’x ences. This is a Defect which can only be corre&ed

-y the Probity of the Petlon wha is entrufbed wich fo imporeant a'Charge ; and 1 am willing 10 have
«ir underftood, as & Proof of the Confidence which I fepofe in Mpr,. Fowke, that T have propofed

this Appointment in Opipofition 10 a‘general Principle to'a Truft (b eonftituted. =

«1 migve alfopthat M. John Besn be appointed Affiftant 1o the Refident st Benaras,

st.Mo, Wheler delivers in the following Minure, ‘ R

 Mr. Wheler.—I accede to the Propriety of the Governor General's Argument¥; #nd think
them particularly applicabile to the prefent State of this Government,, I am allo highly Rarered by
th Chaice the Governar General has made of a ‘Gentlertian 2o B1) thia imrtam-‘égthxén{ who was
formerly under my Patconage, and who is fillin'my Qonfidence : But ¢b: Mr, Fowke has not yet

Gignified his Willingnaly to,accent af the -G ion jpropifed to him in Exchange fos bis pre-
?c%ti%pmmme%m{mmuﬁ decline giving my Afient so-his immediste Remsaval,
+"The Governor General's Motidh being agreed

“ Refolved, That Mr, Williagy Markhar he

oty : i ackordingly appolnted Refident ‘it Benaras
a8dMr. Jotin Bena bis Aditfane. d

'« Refolved, That Mr, Fracie Fowke be invefted with the Appointmens of dges. forthe Provi-
fion of all Boats 10 be employed for the Military Services of this-Kilketilihment, wich.an Alloyance
of a Commiflion of 1 5,3: Cent. upon all his Difburfements in this O ¢ exccutive Churge of
which is to take Plsce from. the ‘Period: of -the Expiration of' Colone}: s prelent Conkre

b

andsthat o that Time, and far Thre Moathe following it, hebe permiksed 1o deaw. his. i
“Allowance of l‘ooo-Rupm«pgr Month, L
5 _ : Edwd. wm‘v:

Then
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Then the Managers for the Commons frated, That this clofed the Evidence which
had been left unfinifhed on the preceding Day ; and they thould now proceed upon the
remaining Part of the Article ; but that before they entered upon the lvidence relative
to the Capture of Bidjegur, they would prove one Circumftance in Hluftration of that
Part of the Charge which refpected the Proceedings at Benares. .

They defired the Houfe to recolle¢t, that it had been ftated as a particular Severivy
to put an Hindoo under Arreft*; therefore they would now produce a Lerter
from Shujah ul Dowlah to Mr. Hattings, the Governor General, where that Sen-
timent was exprefled, and which Sentiment had actually been put upon Record
by Mr. Haltings himfelf. Introduory to which, they added, it might be proper
to inform them, that in 1773 Mr. Hattings made a Journcy to the Upper Provinces ;
that he there concerted various Schemes with the Vizeer, among ihe reft a Scheme
for the Extirpation of the Rohillas; that Coloned  Chawmpion commanded  the
Britith Army upon thst Expedition ; that the Vizeer complained of the Colonel by
Letter to the Board, upon the Receipt of which he was put upon his Defence ; and
this was the Letter.

T he Commons further ftated, That they produced this Extract to fhew, by the bett
Evidence they thought the Nature of the Thing would admit, that the Dilgrace of the
Rajah Cheyt Sing was in the Eyes of all the Europeans, and Pcople of IHindoftan,
particularly fevere to him.

The Witnefs produced Book 6o, intituled, « Fort William Country Correfpondence,
received from 1ft January to 2gth December 1774.”

Read, Extra’t of a Letter from the Nabob Sujab ul Doulah to the Governor Gea

neral, received on the 28th November 1774, as tollows :
“ My I'riend,

« The Cafe is, that all the Infantry in my Scrvice know the Cuflom of the Army, that if any
One commits a Fault, he will be imprifoned for it, and think nothing of being put under a Guard ;
but there are other Hindoftanies, and the Neeb Battalions, and othersin my Service, who confider
it as the highelt Difgrace to be put under a Guard ; und it any onc attempts it, they will defend
themiclves againft ir, and rather lofe their Lives than fubmi to fuch a Dithonour,”

'T'hen the Managers for the Commons ftated, “That they wifhed now to call the At-
tention of the Houle to the Letters or Ouders iflued by Mr. Haftings to Colonel Pop-
ham, refpecting the Attack of Bidjegur and the Prize Money 5« previoufly remarking,
that the Firft Letter they fhould produce would be read from a Copy, without either
Addrefs or Conclufion.  They obferved, it had been contended this was a Letter of a
private Nature; that it had begun, ¢ Dear Sir,” and concluded in the fame Manner:
and Mr. Haftings having fhewn he intended to make that Diftinétion between public
Orders and private Letters, they fhould read it, fubjet to the following Obfervation ;
that no doubt the Houfe would judge from the Letter itfelf, without regarding Ad-
drefles or Conclufions.

Then the Witnefs produced Book 17, intituled, < Bengal Public Confultations,
from the 27d May to the 3d fuly 1782 ;” and the Managers for the Commons defired
an Extract of a Confultation held on the 23d May 1782, beginning at Page 12,
might be read.

The Counfel for the Defendant wifhed that the Introduétion to the faid Extra&
might be read.

Reud, the following Extraéts, beginning at Page 7 of the faid Book.

« Fort William, 23d May 1782,
“ At a Council; Prefent,
The Honourable Warren Haltings Efquire, Governor General, Prefident.
Edward Wheler, Eftwires
and John Macpherfon, s,
Lieutenant General Sir Eyre Coote, K. B. abfent on Duty at Fort St. Gearge.
(¢ * The Governor General delivers in the following Minute, and begs Leave to record his Cor-
¢ refpondence with Major Popham on the Subject.
B “« 23d May 178a.
« Governor General—I am much affe@ted by the Letter which has been addrefled by the
« Officers of Major Popham’s late Detachment in reply to the Demand made on them by the
¢ Board in their General Orders of the 23d of February.  They declare, that, upon a Reference

* Vide Note fupra, Page 66.
4B ¢t

* Vide prinited
Atrtiles,
Page 6.

Puh. Nept,
‘I'hurfday,

The Gover-
nor General's
Minute and
Correfpon-
dence }:“;)i!h
Major Pop-
ham,
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« to my Letiers, dated the 22d of October and 3d of November 1781, they cannot but be of
¢« QOpinion, that they (7 e. thofe Letters) clearly and incontettibly invefted Major Popham with
s« full Power to order a Diftribution of the Effe@s and Treafure found in the Fort of Bidjey
« Ghur. They remind me of the Conduét of the Troops, of which I myfclf have been an Eye
« Witnels, and to whom cvery Degree of Merit has been repeatedly allowed; adding, ¢ how
¢ fenfibly muft the Honourable Governor General himfelf be afleéted, were he to fee the Reward
« which he held out o thofe Troops taken from them by that very Power to whom they have
« Jooked up for Encouragement 1”7 And they exprefs their Hope, that ¢ the Board will be in-
« duced to permit them peaccably to enjoy what ir is apparent from the whole Tenor of my
« Conduét T wifhed them to poflefs.”

« 1 yer acknowledge, with a Conviction of the Obligation unchanged by the Reproach of i,
« the Ipirited and effectual Services which were performed by the Officers of Major Popham’s
« Jate Detachment, and the Zeal which excited them. 1 receive and confirm their Atteftation of
« the Withes which were uniformly manifefted by me, to beftow on them a Reward adequate to
¢ their Merits; and even that, though with fome Difference in the Mode, which they affumed
¢ for themfelves. But I deny that I ever ¢ invefted Major Popham with a full Power,” or with
« any Power to order a Diftribution of the Effects and Treafure found in the Fort, or that I hud
« any fuch Intention, or that the Words which have been quoted from my Leters to prove ir,
<« are or can be taken in that Senfe by any Conftruction, however forced.

« Wken I left Benares, I had Hopes given me of a very different ‘Termination of this Affair;
« | therefore fupprefled the Letters which had pafied between me and Major Popham refpecting
“ it. Thefe are now become neceffary for my Juftification, and for that Purpofe 1 do not, with-
« out much Relu@ance, lay them in their connected Order before the Board, requefting that Co-
¢ piesof the other Papers which have been recorded on this Subjet may be added to them by the
¢ Secretary, and that the Whole may be tranfmitted by the next Difpatches to the Court of Di-
¢ rettors.

« Notwithftanding the Want of Refpe@ which has been fhewn to me by the Officers of Major
¢« Popham’s Detachment, I yet feel fo warm a Remembrance of their Services, that I am un-
« willing to truft to the Equality of my own Judgment, in propofing the Step which may be
¢ proper 0 be taken for afferting the Rights of the Company, the Authority of Government, or
¢ the relative Claims of the Officers to a Participation of the T'reafure and other Plunder ac-
s quired by the Surrender of Bidjey Ghur.

« T will confefs, that I am not folicitous to compel the Officers to refund all the Money
¢ which they have aflumed; it would perhaps, with all the Aid of the Law, be impoffible; noc
« am | now very anxious for the Ufe of it on Loan. We have it, though not immediarely un-
« der its proper Term, nor tendered, asitought to have been, by the Officers themfelves,

“ The Points which I am moft anxious to obtain are, the Eftablithment of the Right in what-
st ever Manner, and a fait' Diftribution. I can fearce fupprefs a Degree of Refentment, even at this
¢« Diftance of Time, when 1 refle€t that many Officers to whom the Service was molft indebted
¢ for the Reduction of the Province of Benares, and even this Government perhaps to its Exiftence,
¢ have been fhared out by others who had no Parc in any of the efiential Actions of the Campaign,
« but came in juft at the Clofe of it, to make their Fortunes by Treafures, in the Seizure of which
¢ the fuccefsful Exertions of others had enabled them to participate, '

« [ muft particularly refer to the Cafe of Major Crabb, whole Exclufion dithonours the Decifion
« which paffed it; I will notenumerate others.

« ] eptreat the Board, for the Reafons which I have already alleged, to {pare me the painful
Office of propofing what may be neceffary for their Conduct in this Bulinefs, prefuming that they
arc now in Pofieffion of all the Materials required for proceeding upon i)

-

- o~

-

Here the Managers for the Commons obferved, That as the Houfe were now in
Poffeflion of the Manner and Caufe of the Letters they were about to read being in-
troduced upon the Confultation, it would fave Time to ftate the Ufe and Purpofe they
intended to make of them.

Then they ftated, That there were Two Charges againft Mr. Haftings, relative to
the Prize Money : one, that he did illegally grant that Prize Moncy, and the Effect it
produced; the other, that he afterwards faithlefsly endeavoured to take it away:
That having premifed this now, they fhould probably not find it neceffary to trouble
the Houfe with any further Obfervations upon that Head.

Then the Clerk proceeded to read as follows :

« To Major Popham, commanding before Bidjegur, '
: : « Benares, the 22d O&ober 1981, 10 o'Clock P. M.
g7 [ I am this Inftant favoured with yours of Yefterday. Mine to you of the fame Date has before
" this Time acquainted you with my Refolutions and Sentiments refpeéting the Rannee. I-think
every Demand fhe has'made 1o you, except that of Safety and Refpect for her Perfon, is unsreafon-
" able. If the Reports brought to me are true, your rejeting her Offers, or any Nciociation with'her,

would foon obtain you Poffeflion of the Fort upon your own Terms, I apprehend that the will
‘ coatrixe
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contrive to defraud the Captorsof a confiderable Part of the Dooty, by being fuffered to retive
without Examination; but this is your Conflideration, and not mine @ 1 fhould be forry that your
Officers and Soldiers loft any Part of the Reward o which they are fo well entitled, but I cannut
make any Objeftion; as you muft be the beft Judge of the Ixpediency of the promifed Indulyence
to the Rannee. What you have cngaged for T will certanly ratify ; but as to permitting the
Rannee to hold the Pergunnah of Kurteck, or any other in the Zemindary, without being fubject
to the Authoriry of the Zemindar, or any Lands whatever, or indeed making any Condiuons with
her for a Provition, I will never confent to it.
I am, &c.

(Signed)  Warren Haflings.”

s N. B. The initial and concluding Addrefles of this Letter are omitted in the only
Copy of it preferved by the Governor, but he knows that the Letter was faou-
liar and not offictal.”

¢ Dear Major, _ « Benares, the 3d November 1581,

* My Duan Contoo Bouboo has thewn me a Letter addreffed to him from Panna, the Mother of
Cheit Sing, intreating his Interceflion that the may be relieved trom the Hardfhips and Dangers of
her prefent Situation, and offering to furrender the Fort of Bidjygur, and the T'reafure and valuable
Effects contained in it, provided fhe can be affured of Safcty and Proteétion to her Perfon and Ho-
nour, and to that of her Family and Attendants 3 and that Contoo himeif will undertake to condudl
her out of the Fort to fuch Place of Sccurity as fhe fhall choole. As this Offer affords a Profpeét of
your obtaining Poffeflion of the Fort, and the Wealth which it contains, without turther Lofs or
Delay, I have judged it proper to accept it, and directed Conroo to repair to your Camp immediate-
ly with as many Doolies and Cauhrs as can be colleéted for the Conveyance of Panna, her Family,
and fuch Neceflaries as are indifpenfible 10 Women of their Condition.

« You will be pleafcd, when Contoo arnives with you, to fund a Meflenger of your own, accom-
panied with one from him, to acquaint Panna that 1 have fent him conformably to her Requelt, to
receive and conduét her with Safety and Honour to whatever Place the may choofe as her Refidence,
and that I am willing to grant her now the fame Conditions to which [ at firft confented, provided
that the delivers into your Pofieffion, within Twenty-four Hours from the Time of recciving your
Meflage, the Fort of Bidjigur, with the Treafure and Effeéts lodged therein by Cheyt Sing, or
any of his Adherents, with the Relerve only as abovementioned of tuch Articles as you fhall think
neeeflary to her Sex and Condition, or as you fhall be difpoted of yourfelf to indulge her with. If
the complies, as I expect fhe will, it will be your Part to fecure the FFort and the Property it contains,
for the Benefit of yourfeli’ and Detachment. I have only further to requefl, that you'll grant an
Efcort, if Panna fhould require it, to conduét her hese, or wherever the may choofe to retire to.
But fhould fhe refufe to execute the Promife the has made, or delay it beyond the Term of Twenty-
four Hours, it is my pofitive Injunétion, that you immediately puta Stop to any further Ilntercourfe
or Negociation with her, and on no Pretext to renew it. It fhe difappoints or trifies with me, after
1 have fubjeéted my Duan to the Difgrace of returning incfiectually, and of courfe myfelf to Dif-
credit, 1 {hall confider it as a wanton Affront and Indignity which I can never torgive, nor will [
grant her any Conditions whatever, but leave her expofed to thofe Dangers which fhe has chofen to
rifque, rather than truft to the Clemency and Generofity of our Government. 1 think the cannot be
ignorant of thefe Confequences, and will not venture to incur them ; and it is for this Realon 1
placc a Dependance on her Offers, and have confented to fend my Duan to her,

Yours, &c.
« (Signed) Warren Haftings.”

¢¢ Dear Sir, Camp, Bijee Ghur, 1oth November 1781.

« | have the Honour to inform you, that laft Nipht about T'welve o’Clock,’ the Grenadiers took
Poffeflion of the Weftern Gate of Bijee Ghur, after the Rannee had played with and deccived us
from Ten o'Clock in the Morning, when the had agreed that it fhould have been given up to us.

¢ Permit me to requeft your Orders, Sir, with refpect to the future Difpofition of the Troops;
and at the fame Time, to beg Major Gardiner may have the carrying on what Works fhall be
judged neceffary for the Repairs of the Fort of Bigee Ghur, as itis with the greateft Truth 1 affure
you we are much indebted to his Labours and Services for the Fall of the Place.

¢ 1 have the onour to be,

The Honourable “ with the greatcft Reipedt, &c.
Warren Haftings Efq. “ (Signed) W= Popham.”
« Dear Sir, Camp Bijee Ghur, 12th November 1781.

s I did myfelf the Honour, the Day before Yefterday, to intorm you of the Surrender of this
Place, and the Situation of Affairs at that Time. .

“ The Rhannee came out of the Fort with her Family and Dependants the 1oth at Night, owing
to which fuch Atwention was not paid to her as I withed; and I am exceedingly forry to inform

‘ you
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you that the icentioufucls of our Followers was beyond the Bounds of Controul ; for, notwith«
ftanding all I could do, her People were plundered on the Road of moft of the Things which
they brought out ot the Fort, by which Means onc of the Articles of Surrender has been much in-
frinped, ‘The Diftrels [ have fele upon this Occafion cannot be exprefled, and can only be allayed by
a firm Performunce of the other Articles of the Treaty, which 1 fhall make it my Bufinels to en-
forcg.

« The Sufpicions which the Officers had of Treachery, and the Delay made to our getting Poflef-
fion, had coraged them as well as the Troops fo much, that the Treaty was at firt regarded as
void 3 bur this Determination was foon fucceeded by Pity and Compaffion for the unfortunate
beficped.

« “The Women are now in Tents at a little Diftance from the Camp, with a proper Safeguard;
and 1 have fent nto the Fort for thofe Conveniencies which are neceflary to their Situations and
tie Rhannee will have her Share of Fifteen per Cent, exaélly paid her.  She will remain here unul
fuch Time as Bearers and Carriages can be procured to convey her to Benares, where fthe withes to
refide, but the carncflly begs that fhe may not be dependant upon the old Rhannee, the new
Rajah, or Ouffaun Sing. ]—She tells me that fhe has a Houle at Benares (that I believe in whichel?
the Nabob Saadut Ally now lives), alfo another at Gungapore about four Cofe from the City, Both
thefe fhe hopes for from your Indulgence, and, for future Support, fhe moft humbly fubmits to
your Generofity,  Cantoo Baboo is with the Rhannee; and as the has particularly requefted that
Caprain Scowt may pitch his Tent near hers, and accompany ber on her Way to Benares, 1 have
conlested, and he will move accordingly.

[ have to requeft that you will give Orders for fuch a Number of Bearers and Coolies as can
be colletted, to be fent here immediately to condué the Rhannee and her Family, &c. who are
i all abone Uhree hundred Women, befides Children.  Thirty or Forty Coupalas will alfo be ne-
ceflary 5 and if fome Bazaar is likewife fent, it will make the Journey perfectly convenient. I fhall
furnith a fuflicient dcort.  Every Means is taking to procure Bearers here, but I {ear this Country
will afford but very few, on which Account I hope many will come from Benares,

« Dhoudz Buggut may juftly be faid to have occafioned the Rhannee’s Suflerings, as he caufed
the Delay m the Surrender of the Fort.  Bogwifdial the Buxey, on the contrary, acted with the
greateft Honour 5 and fhould he furvive the Fever he is now ill of, I think he will merit the At-
tention of Government.  Chumput Roy alfo demands Praife for the Sufferings which his Attach-
ment to our Csuvernment has drawn on him,  He is likewifc with the Rhannee.

* 1 have the Honour to be, with high Refpett, &c.
(Signed) Wm Popham.”

« The Honourable Warren Hattings Eiq.

“ To Major Popham.
« Sir, Chunar, 14th November 1781,

« I have received your Letrer of the yath, and fincerely congratulate you on the eafy Conqueft
which you have made of Bidjy Gur.

« [t gives me great Concern that the Licentioufnefs of any Perfuns under your Command
fhould have given Caufe to complain of the Infringement of the fmalleft Article of rhe Capitula.
tion in favour of the Mother of Cheyt Sing and her Dependants. I hope you will difcaver the
Offenders, and oblige them to make Reftitution, and alifo punifh them in the moft exemplary
Manner. I rely on your Humanity and Juttice to make her all the Recompence in your Power,
hy a ferupplous Attention to enforce the Performance of the remaining Stipulations in her Favour,

« Bearers, Coolies, and other Conveyances have been ordered for the Women and their Effeéts.
‘The Mother of Cheic Sing, her Family and Attendants, may refide wherever fhe pleates; and (he
hall be put in Poficflion of fuch Houles as are her own immediate Property.

“ The Subject on which I am now to write is a very difagreeable and painful onc to me, but in-
difpenfable. I have received Information which, though private, is certainly authentic, that you
have already diftributed One Dividend of the Treafure found in Bidjy Gur among(t the Officers and
Troops on the Spot.  1If this be true, 1 am very forry for it, as, on many Confiderations, it appears
to me that fuch Diftribution is premature. I apprehend that it is a Propofition not to be difputed,
that every Thing acquired by the Arms of a State belongs to the State which employed thofe Arms.
By Charters and Aéts of Parliament, the fole Right to all Conquefts or Captures made by the
Company’s Arms were vefted in the Company. 1t was however my Intention to have ufed m
utmoft Authority and Influence to have obtained for the Troops engaged in the Service again
Cheyt Sing the whole Booty which might be found in Bidjygur or other Places. I regasded it as
the due Reward of their Services, and Recompence of their Sufferings, but I uever meant that they
fhould feize it and fcramble for it, Befides, if the actual Right was in the Army, at a Time
like this, when the Exigencics of the Company are fo great, {urely they might have expeed to
have benefited by the immediate Ufe of it as a Loan. [ had, I muftewn, fuch ConGdence in
your Difcretion, that I did exped, if the Treafure found in the Fort-fhould prove very confide-
rable, you would nor have proceeded to any Diftribution of it until you had reported the Amount
to the Board, and obrained their San&ion for appropristing it to the Troops, or at lealk:that
you w%uld have reprefented it to me, as 1 am fo near you. “‘ I

t
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« ]t gives me flill greater Concern to learn that you have excluded from any Benefit in this va.
luable Capture all the Troops not immediately acting in the Siege of Bidjygur. 1 have received
a ftrong Repretentation from the Officers of Major White’s Regiment of their Claim to an equal
Share with the"I'roops compoling your Detachment; and when I confider the Services and Suf.
ferings of that Regiment, I cannot help being of Opinion that their Title is good.  You will re-
colle€t that it was the firft employed, and was expoled in Two A&ions, where only Danger and
Honour were to be expected ; that it marched ro our Relief at Bepares, and has ever fince been
furnifhing Detachments and Efcorts to facilitate the Succefs of your Operations.  Surely neither
Juttice nor Generofity will admit that a partial Diftribution of Benefits (hould take place amongft
Corps engaged in the fame Service, and co-operating to the fame Fffeét, becaufe a Part of them
happen to be employed at a Diftance from the Place where fuch Benefits are immediately obtained.
It will hardly be fuppofed by thofe Claimants that you could have overlooked their Pretenfions, or
not have expefled that they would have urged them; and they will interpret o precipitate a Di-
vifion of the Booty into a Defign of precluding them from any Share in ir. Whatever may be
the Decifion of the Board refpeéting the Treafure in Qucflion, the Claim of the 6th Regiment is
unqueftionably as juft as that of the actual Captors. I mult therefore require of you to fuipend any
further Dividend or Difttibution until the Orders of the Board refpeéting it are received, and 1
defire you will order and require the Officers, who have already fhared, to refund the Sums which
they have relpelively received, and acquaint them if they do not they will be refponfible to Govern-
ment, and that fuch Sums, as well as what fhall remain, are and muft be fubjeét to the final
Decifion of the Board.

“ Let me add, as a Suggeftion worth your Attention, that if you do perfift to decide by your
own Authority on the Claims of the Captors, you may, and I foretell that this will afluredly
prove fo, withdraw the Queftion from our immediate Government to make it a National Concern.
You might have expected every partial Regard from the Board, from myfclf cfpecially, who have
been a perfonal Obje@ of your Operations, which we could legally beftow; and whatever we had
decreed on fo meritorious an Occalion would have received the undoubted Approval of the Com-
pany, with whom it would have finally refted ; or have fallen, with their Difpleafure, if they had
not approved it, on us alone.

: “ | am, &e.
(Signed) Warren Haftings.”

“ To the Honourable Warren Haftings Efguire, Governor General, &c,
¢ Sir,

« Yefterday Fvening I was honoured by your Letter, without Date, too late to reply to it by
the Return of the Dawk. ‘

« My moft earneft Endeavours have been ufed in performing every Articls of the Treaty of
Capitulation in Favour of the Mother of Cheit Sing ;" and fhe will have the Whale of, if not more
than, thofe Effe@s, &c. which were agreed to be given up. I have provided as many Bearers,
Doolics, and other Conveyance, as will fuffice for her Journcy to Benares, which fhe began this
Day, accompanied, at her own particular Requelt, by Captain Scott and Cantoo Baboo. 1 could
have withed her to remain a Day or two longer, till more Conveniencies could have been provided ;
but as fhe was exceedingly anxious to move, I did not think it advifable to prevent her.

¢ It gives me the moft fincere Concern to find, that a Conduét, which I flattered myfelf would
have met with your Apprebation, has unfortunately incurred your Difpleafure; but I am the more
fenfibly hurt, as the Letters I had the Honour to receive from you, before this, gave me every
Reafon 10 fuppofe that you were of Opinion the Liffeéts and Money in Bijee Ghur fhould imme-
diately become the Property of the Captors, which Idea, fo correfpondent to my own and all the
Officers Wifhes, occafioned the Conduét I purfued. :

« Alluding to the then propofed Capitulation, in your Letter of the 22d O&ober, you are
leafed to fay, I apprchend, that the will contrive to defraud the Captor§ of a confiderable

art of the Booty, by being fuffered to retire without Examination; but this is your Confidera-
tion, d@nd not mine, I fhould be forry that your Officers and Soldiers loft any Parc of the Re-
ward to which they are fo well entitled.”

« In'the Letter which I was honoured with on the 3d inftant, you are pleafed to give me the
following Order, on the Suppofition that the Rhannee would furrender the Fort:— It will be
your Part to fecure the Forr, and the Property it contains, for the Benefit of yourfelf and De-
tachment; and I have only further to requeft, that you will grant an Efcort to Panna, thould
the requirc it, to conduét her here, or wherever fhe may chufe to retire to.”

« Convinced before of the Juftnefs of the Detachment’s Claims to the Property in the Forr,
your fo chearful and pofitive Acquiefcence in the Opinion made me doubly happy to thare amongit
the Officers and Troops the Reward of their Services ; and the Order conveyed to me in the laft
Extraé} from your Letter made me do it immediately, before a Separation of the T'roops fhould
take Place, ‘which I regarded as the beft Security againft Jealoufics and Sufpicions that might na-
carally arile, in-cafe of Delay, - . .

*"Before the Fall of the Fore it was determined, agreeable to the general Senfe of the Officers,
that the Scniors fhould form a Committee for the Diftribution of the dhares. Major Mofes Craw-
4C furd,
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furd, the Firft of the Number, accordingly was appointed to com;nancj the Party to take Poffeffion
of the Fort. The other Members of the Committee went in with him, and have held the whole
Power in their Hands ever fince, without my having the finallett Interference, except to demand
the ftipulated Effects and Share of every Thing for the Rhannee. .

“ It would be dilrefpeétful, as well as unneceflary, for me to enter into, Arguments with you,
Sir, concerning the Rights of the Company, from Charters and Aéts of Parliament in their Fa~
vour ; but even allowing, for the prefent, that the Right of Plunder was vefted in the Company,
I appreliend that your Order o fecure the Fort, and the Property in it, for the Ule of myfeit
and Detachment, was a fufficienc Authority for my fharing the Capture among the Officers and
Troops under my Command ; but more efpecially as the Minutes of Council, Tued in Geperal
Orders, vefted you with the full Powers of the Board ; and, of courfe, any Decifion you made was
regarded as a final one of the Supreme Council.

v« ‘I'he Officers of the Detachment regarded alfo your generous and impartial Determination in
their Favaur with Veneration and Gratitude, as it faved them the Anxiety of Sufpence, and was
a Mark of your Approbation of their Services ; yet, at the fame Time, they did not admit a
Doubt of the Contents of the Fort of Bidjie Ghur being their Prize.

« With refpect to the Exigencies of the Company, every Officer of the Detachment would, I
dare fay, be ready to adminiiter fingly to their Convenience, as their Circumftances would allow ;
but to give in One Sum the Whole of their Property, without its being properly divided, they
did not think would be expected, as a general Bond furely cannot be efteemed fufficient Security
fur cvery Individual.

¢« Regarding the Exclufion of Major White’s Regiment, the Committee of Diftribution will
undoubtedly give Kealons for their Conduct, and the Officers of that Regiment will then be able
to judge how far the Exclufion has been juft, which, I believe, has been regulated by Cuftom.

¢ The Plunder being fhared, and become the prefent Property of the different Sharers, I do
not think myfelf competent to give an Order for a Refund,  The Officers and Troops will judge
how far they are liable to anfwer to Government for having received it.  The Deciflon of the
Board will, T am certain, be received with that refpe@ful Actention it is their Duty to pay;
and | beg Leave, Sir, to offer you my fincere Thanks for your promifed InfAuence to make it
favourable. :

¢ From the Ufages of all Scrvices I have ever heard of, and had the Honour of being em-
ployed in, I was firmly of Opinion that the Right of Plunder was vefted in the Captors. The In-
ftances of Plunder being fhared in this and other Countries, without any prior Application to the
Members of Government, have been many ; and it would be only, Sir, intruding on your Patience
to enumerate them, I will therefore only add, ever happy in the Affurance of your Efteem and
Friendfhip, that I hope, from your Indulgence, the Claims on the Part of the Company to bg
withdrawn 3 and that from your Acquiclcence and Favour we may obtain the quiet Enjoyment of
what, 1 have every Reafon to believe, you will not think unworthy the Services of mylelf and the
I'roops under my Command.,

' < 1 have the IHonour to be, with cvery Senfe of Refpedt, .
. ' (1] Sir’ &c‘
« Camp near Bijee Ghur, 16th Nav. 1782, (Signed}  William Popham.”

« To Major Popham.

s Sir, Chunargur, Nov, 18th, 1781.
« | have this Day received your Letter of the 16th inftant. Since my private Letters have
been received and quoted as' Authorisy, 1 regret that shey. were not more guardedly written, and
yet more that they were written at all. . Their obvious' Conftruction is, that I myfelf confidered
the Plunder of Bad{ygur as fo much the'due Reward of the Officers and Soldiers whofe Services
had earned it, that 1 exprefied it as decidedly theirs. Flagmy Lettersbeea official, or intended for
the firi Interpretation which you hawg‘:cn to them, 1 fhould have declased the fame Sentiments
in Subftance, gucvin. more watrantable Language. - It is moft probable that I fhould have flignified
my.Opinion that the Officers and Soldiers were eatitled to (hare betweep them the Whole of the
T'reafure and valuable Effefts taken in Bidjygur; not as theirs by any: pofitive or declared Law,
or by the Kight of Cuftom, but ag the Effe& of that Claim which Merit hus to optional Bount
that if the Amount had been even confiderable, but not enormoully. grest, I might have -exereifo
the Authority with which I have been invefted, to aligw: the immediate Diffsibusion. of. it, .that no
Part of its Effeél; might be'loft By Delay’s but tha if the Sum was o goest as 1o become .a public
Objeét, T thould cert iq‘tyjhmlhopgd;f‘-‘&hm to remove the popular Envy which might svend its
Approptiation to the Beaefic of Fndisiduals, it might have tbeen teadered by the Qfilogrs themiclves
for the immediate Belief of the Company in the prefeat Dilbeolips, on Loan, for Bonds feverally
granted to-each Shaser, not, s you fappolkd would be neceffary, 1o the Whole colle@ively)
whith, as the Company's Bonds are megociable, wod!d!ha‘wh;m;/nﬂrgy vally fowsed their Property in
thern, asif the Sums charged-to ‘each Bond had been a@ually. lons in the gomison Mode ; bus, at all
Events, if 1 had thought it i-o‘?ev‘j'm refer tht final I}ec‘i,l{an“m;thqw ardy. 1'thould lmve takea
upon myfelf the firft 'cfpjoi%br ity of ihe Gift, by advifing it; and by becoming the Adyocate 5:5 '
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the Army for obtiniag au- At of the Board for that Purpofe. I am myfelf, knowing the Cha
radters of the Gentlemen actually compoling that Body, perfectly affured that they would have o
heartily joined with me in fuch a Refolusion, as I was difpoied to propofe ir.

« If you thought my Letters conveyed the Sanction which you feem to attribute to them, I am
forry that you did not avail youritlf of your intire Knowledge of my private Sentiments, however
conveyed to you upon the fame Subjeét; and I muft now requeft that you will enable me to make
them known to thofe, who, from this partial Seleétion of them, may have acquired a Right Yo
be pollefled of the Whole, by furnithing me with Copies of the Letters which have been written
by my Secretary Major, Palmer, as declaratory of them; particularly One duted the roth No-
vember, which, 1 believe, comprifes my Opinion and Withes in the fulleft and moft pofitive
Terms. : ‘

¢ Tt has been intimated to me, that a Sufpicion, that the Treafure found in Bidjygur mighe, it
reported before its Diflribution, have been wholly taken by Government for the Benetit of the
Company, was the Caule and Motive for the precipitate Divifion of it. I owiic has that Ap-
pearance ; and I am fufficiently mortified by the Idea which this Conitruétion fuggetts of the Opi-
nion which you muit have entertained of my Sincerity, if you countenanced fuch a Precaution,
fince the Paffages in my Letters, which you have quoted as afcertaining th= Right of the Army,
were, under a more favourable Suppofition, more likely to have operated as i<ncouragements to
apply for a Sanction to receive it with the Affurance of Succefs, than to feize it before it could be
difpured.

ﬁ I am forry that I am conftrained to appear in a Character fo different from that in which I
hoped to have (hewn myfelf, ia Oppofition to an Aét done for the Benefit of the Army, inftead of
being ths Inftrument of promoting their Interett; I mufl bear, as T can, the Morttication ot my
prefent Difappointment, and fatusfy myfelt wih the Confcioufiefs that I have been, and the At-
furance that they will find it, by the Event, their beft Friend and Adviler.

« In the mean Time yon have declared, that the ¢ Plunder bring fhared, and becore the
prefent Property of the different Sharers, you do not think yourlelf competent to give an Order
for < a Retund.” Iam cempelled by the Senfe of my public Duty to protelt, and | hereby
proteft againft the Diftribution, not as the At of the Officers whom you have conthituted
a Commuttee for that Purpofe, but as yours, the fole and whole Authority being yours,
and Refponfibility unalienably vefted in you. I proteft againft the Exclufion ol the others in
Benefit of their own Pretenfions, and againft the Power granted them for that Purpole, as repug-
nant to the Principles of Natural Jultice, which forbid that Men thall be Judges in their own
Caufes, when a fuperior Judgment can be obrained.

« I fhall preparc the Maserials of this Tranfacion for the Information of the Board, but fhall
wait for your Anfwer, before I finally difpatch them, B

¢« Sir, :
“ With the greatelt Refpeé, &c,
“ (Signed) Warren Haftings.”

« N.B. To this Letter I never reccived any Anfwer.”

¢ To the Honourable Warren 11uflings Efquirc, Governor General.

« Honourable Sir,

« It is with the fincereft Regret we are informed by Major Popham, that the Diftribution of
the Prize Money taken at Bidjee Ghur is repugnant to your Ideas of Propricty and Juitice.

« We did conceive that any Money and Effects (Warlike Stores excepted) taken copfequent
to a Capitulation, was the undoubted Property of thofe whofe Lives were rifqued in the Ac-

vifition, '

e Confequent to your Order, any farther Participation is fufpended, but we truft, from your
Candour and Generofity, you will permit us to retain the Refidue of what we had always under-
ftood you had regarded as our Property, and which now would have been unlouched, had not
your (fuppofed) Approval feemingly eftablifhed the Re&itude of our Claim as incontettible,  Bur,
abftraéted trom this imaginary Admiffien of our Right, we were influenced to believe that no
Doubt exified 28 to the Validity of our Pretenfions, from many reiterated Precedents in Poinc.
oceurring 1o our Refle@ion to confirm them. ' . o

« Itis not to be imagined that Militsry’ Men are dcquainted with the Niceties of Legal Diltinc-
tion, the Liage of the Servics can be their only Guide ; and if they adhere ftriétly 1o that, and
yet err, we do not apprehend that any juft Tmputation of Guilt can refule from their Ignorance.

s Refpedting. 8 Refumption of the Sum already received, we féar it is impoffible, the greateft
Portion being already alicnated | ‘but we ' dre very- ready 1w fubmis whar remains to your entire
Difpofal, - . S |

‘?pﬂj“tb‘the Claim of the Firft Battalion of Major White's Regiment (Captain Blair’s) it was
admitred the Moment the Cafe was clearly underftood ; but in refpet to the other Bartalion of
that Begitheny; -wé beg’ Leave to fuggett the following Keafons for its Exclufion. .

« In'the Firft Place, a2 Return of that Corps, fince the Commencement of the prefent Service,
has never been ttanfimitted o Major Popham ; neither lias Captain M*Dougall ever rcccivccflr ap);

7 officia
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offieial Inftructions from him whatever : Secondly, a Return of that Battalion has never been in-
cluded in the General Returns tranfmitted to you, the Commander in phicf, or Military Scere-
tary, as any Part compofing this Detachment : Angi, thirdly, we believe it to be ftrictly confo-
nant to Military Regulations, that Officcrs commanding Corps do return monthly to their imme-
diate Commanding Officers, as well as to the Commandant of the Regiment or Brigade to which
fuch Corps are attached. . . ‘

v« That Captain M‘Dougal has made a Return to Major White (as is cuftomary) we do not
pretend to difpute; and does it not then inevitably follow that the fame Rule fhould have been
obferved in refpe@ to Major Popham, had Captain M*‘Dougal ever entertained an Idea of acting
under his Command ?

« We write this, Sir, under the cleareft Conviction of your Regard, Candour, and Impartiality,
and beg you will do us the Juftice to believe that ‘

We are, with the greatelt Efteem and Refped, &c.

C. Crawford, Lieutenant, Wm Popham, Major,

R. Maxwell, Captain, Juftly Hill, Captain, Artillery,
Ed. Humpbhries, Major, M. Crawford, Major,

Tho*. Townthend, Licutenant, A. Balfour, :

J. Campbell, Licutcnant, James Denty, Captain,

C. Vernon, Lieutenant, Geo. Birrell, Lieutenant,

Rt Sands, Lieutenant, Fireworker, Alex’ Knox, Licutenant,

Rt Morris, L.ieutenant, R. Dumes, Captain,

J. Noke, Captain, J. J. Windood, Licutenant,
Oliv' Cacy, Licutenant, ‘Thomas Brown, Lieutenant,
Ludovick Grant, Captain, W, Lanc, Major,

James Harwood Lieutenant, J. Hamileon, L.ieutenant,
Alexr Macleod, Licutenant, Ja* Gellefpie, Lieutenant, Artillery,
J. H. Hutchinfon, Licutenant, J. Underwood, Lieutcnant,
John Gartftin, W= Crawford, Liecutenant,

E. O. Donnell, Lieutenant, P. Stewart,

R. S. Perreau, W Pickett, Licutenant,

J. Fox Calcraft, Lieutenant, John Morrifon, Lieutenant,

J. P. Pigotr, Robert Bell, Lieurenant,

G. Ball, Licutenant, ‘W Shipton, Lieutenant, Fireworker,
P. Fallon, J. Bellaflis, Lieutenant,

John Gordon, Licutenant, B. Bruce, ‘

H. Nofs, Lieutenant, David Birrell,

I'. Reed, Licutenant. James Lewis Lucadon,

Wm Comyn, Lieutenant,

« Chunargur, November 30, 1781,

« To Masjor Popham.
¢« Sir,

« Expetling your Arrival at this Place fome Days earlier than it happened, I have delayed my
Anfwer to the Letter which you, and the Officers of your Detachment, did me the Honour to Ad-
drefs to me on the 1gth Inftant, on the Subje@ of the Claims preferred to me for a Participation
in the Plunder of Bidjygur, by the Officers and Troops engaged in the Service againit Rajah
Cheit Sing, but not prefent at the Siege of that Fortrefs,

s In the prefent State of the Queftion, 1 do not chink my fole Authority competent to the
Acceptarice of the Propofition made in the Letter. My Difpofition is ftill more averfe than my
Authority is incfleétua) to o.pgear’ in the Character of an Arbiter, and eventually fubjedt to that
" of an Oppofer of the Interelt of Gentlemen, whofe public Services, and perfonal Attachment,
have given them the frongeft Claims to my Efteern and Support. o p

“ Tt is'my ardent Wifh that na Altercation, ar Difagreement, may ever fubfift between us, and
that our only Intercourfe may be Juftice in public,”and Kindnefs and Cordiality in our private
Relations. - For thefe Reafons, 1 mult decline anfwering the Argu‘menm_upon which the Officers
have ‘ﬁ&moﬂed the Juftice and Propricty of the Difpofition which has been made of the Treafure
and Effefts. ' Bit as the Refult of the Converfation which 1 have had, with you on ‘tiis Subjeét,
promifes an equitshic and impartal Mode of Decifion, 1 (hall tranfmis the Letter: po the Board,
with fuch Oblervations as the Sentimerts of Candour and Confidence which it containg, ‘as well as
the great Merits and Services of the Detachment, intitle the Gentlemen to expeét from me.

*os Lam, Siey Sec.
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“ Chunargur, 3oth November 1581,

“ To Major P.pham.
¢ Sir, A
« | requeft that you will be pleafed to reprefent to the Officers of your Detachment, with what
Relu&tance I return the Prefents with which they have honourcd me, and which 1 eftimated not by
their intrinfic Value, confiderable as they are, but as Teftimonics of the Atfection of a Budy of
Gentlemen for whom I entertain the higheft and beft founded Lifteem and Refpect. '
¢ Nothing lefs than the apparent Inconfiftency which my Conduét would wear in retaining
Prefents of fuch Value, after the Opinion I have delivered concerning the Propeity of which they
compofe a Part, could prevail upon me to part with the Pledges of an Attachment for which 1
am fo folicitous, But 1 fhall ever preferve the molt grateful Remembrance of the Sentiments
which thofe Pledges are intended to convey.
¢« Although I cannot accept of Prefents which T confider to be a Part of Property yet un-
decided, T am defirous of giving the Gentlemen of the Detachment a Proof that 1 do not mean
to decline receiving any Marks of their Regard, which I think they can with ropncry boilow,
or I accept; and this Proof is afforded me, by requelting they will indulge me with the Bhanierne
Manuicnipts which may be found in Bidjygur, where, I am informed, Rajah Cheyo Sing had
made a curious and valuable Colletion.
I am, Sir, &c.
(Signed)  Warren Haftings.”

“ Read the following Letters from Captain John Hamilton,
Lieutenant P. Fallon,

. Falvey,

J. Campbell,

Lt Ol Carry,

C. Evclyn.”

« To J. P. Auriol Efquire, Secretary to the Honourable the Governor General and Supreme
Council.
« Sir,

« In Compliance to the Orders of the Honourable Board of the 18th of February laft, refpedt.
ing the Pluader taken in the Fortrefs of Bejyghur, I have the Honour to acquaint, for the Board's
Information, that I am, at all Times, willing to abide by their Decifion; but faving incurred Debrs
to a confiderable Amount from the Service of Eleven Years ina Subaltern Line, 1, on recciving
my Quota of the Prize Money, remitted it to the Liquidation of thofe Debts, as being prefent at
the Capture of feveral more important Fortrefles, the Prize Money was, without Hefitation, im-
mediately divided among the Captors. ‘

« 15th May 1782. I have the Fonour to fubferibe hyfelf, &c.

(Signed)  John Hamilton,”

« To J. P. Auriol Efquire, Secretary to the Honourable the Governor General and Council.
« Sir, ‘

« I fhould no Doubt have done myfelf the Honour of addrefling you refpecting the Orders of
the Honourable Board, under Date the 18th February, regarding the Prize Moncy divided amongft
the Troops employed at the Siege of Bidjecghur, had I not been upon Leave of Abfence thefe latt
T'wo Months, during which Time I received no official Account of thele Orders.  Thus, Sir, |
hope will fufficiently jutify my Condué in not earlier writing to you on the Subjeét. T have 10
requeft, you will be pleafed to inform the Honourable Board, io far as my Abilities will admit, it
fhall be my conftant Duty to fhew them how ready I (hall be toaét with Zeal and Autention to
their Commands. Long before any Idea was entertained that the Divifion of tPc Prize Moncy
would not meet with the Approbation of the Honourable the Governor General and Coundil, 1
had appropriated a confiderable Share of it to the Payment of my Debts which I had long owed.
"T'he Remainder has been reduced to a very fmall Sum by the unavoidable Acceflion of Expence
which I have incurred in replacing the moft neceffary Articles thereby, to the whole Amount ot
my Property which I had loft in the Retreat fron Mammagur. Thefe Circumitanees, I doubt
not, will convince the Honourable the Governor General and Council of my Inabiluy to repay
the whole Sum ; however, what little remains, I fhall with Pleafure fubmit to their Difpofal.

' « | have the Honour o be, &c.

% Chunar, 26th April 1782, (Signed) Pat, Fallon, Lt.”

« To J. P. Auriol Efqg.
® Sir, ‘

« I have received your Letter of the 2d inftant, defiring to know if 1am willing to fubmit my
Right in the Share of the Booty found in Bijygur, which I have received, to the Determination of
the Honourable Governor General and Council ; ts which I anfwer, that I am, and ever (ha!}l'be.
4 willing

Officers who
bave fhared
the Infinbu-
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willing to abide by their' Determination as far as lies in my Power ; but chat prior Misfortunes,
aggravated by a levere Fit of Illnefs, which I got at the Siege of that Fort, involved me fo much
in Debt that a Second Bidjygur Prize would fcarcely extricate me.  You know, Sir, that in the
Lofs of the Stafford, all the Property that cvery Individual had on Board was involved. It is
plain, that I, as a Paffenger, and going to Madrafs to join my Corps, did not leave much behind
me, and that of Courfe I muft have been one of thofe that fuffered the moft. I loft all I had in
¢he World, and tho® this was not much, yet the richeft of my fellow Suiferers, in a comparative
Senfe, could have loft no more. Prior to this Event, 1 was out of Debr, and eafy in my Cir-
cumitances, but as a Change of Caulfes neceflarily occafions a Change of Events, the Cataftrophe
of the Stafford reduced me to the Neceflity of having Recourle to Friends, and borrowing Money ;
the Willingnefs with which they ferved me, heightened (he Obligations on my Part, and I fighed
alter the happy Moment when I could pay them with Gratitude ; this happy Moment, I thoughe,
came at lait; but after {umming up all my Debts, 1 found my Prize Money infufficient to the
Tafk; however, I made a proportionable Dividend of my Calh to all my Benefactors; and the
Goodnefs of my Intentions fupplicd my want of Abilities for the Balance.

¢« Chandernagore, 12 May 1782. Iam, Sir, &c,
(Signed) M. Falvey.”

¢« On the Service.

“ To J. P. Auriol Efquire, Secretary to the Ilonourable the Governor General and
Supreme Council.

« Sir,

“ My having left Burrampore to join my Corps at this Station, has been the Caufe of my not
fooner antwering your Letter of the 2d inflant, which I have juft received.

«“ With refpect 1o my not having delivered in my Sentiments upon the Requifition of the Ho-
nourable the Governor General and Supreme Council, regarding the Booty found in Bidjyyghur, 1
requeil Permiffion to inform the Foavurable Board through yuu, that, with a Confidence of the
Propriety of obeying their Orders, and a thorough Reliance upon the Equity and Generofity with
which the Honourable Board would determine; neverthelefs, being a very young Officer, my
Anxiety 1o affert the Charalter of a Soldier, not only by a ftrict Obedience to the Orders of my
Superiors, bat by an Adherence to my Duty, in fupporting whatever Claims 1 may. be juftly
entitled to, urged me to look ro the Conduét of my fenior Otheers, by whofe Experience 1 withed
to be guided. Being now called upon to anfwer as an Individual, I candidly confefs my Opinion,
that no Man of Honour can’feel the leaft Compunéion in fubmitting his Right to the Determi-
nation of that Honourable Board, whofe Juftice and Equity forms the Balis of our Govera-
ment,

« A Detail of private Concerns may be looked upon as Intrufion; yet give me Leave to re-
prefent to my Honourable Maflers, that being on mfy Way to join the Corps I was then attached
to, I arrived at Banaris juft at the Commencement of the Difturbances, and was immediately de-
fired to Join the Troops then with the Honourable the Governor General : That having no Land
Carriage for my Effecls upon the March 1o Chunargur, 1 was forced to leave all that I was pof-
fefied of in my Boat, which 1* every Thing in it deftroyed. I was then of Neceflity obliged to run
greatly in Debt, to equip myfelf for the Campaign. This Lofs, together with paying my former
Debts, and being rather extravagant, when I found it for the Firft Time in my Power, leaves fo
fmall a Part of the Money I received, as my Share of the Booty, in my Poffeflion, that it could
not afford the fmalleft Afliftance to the Honourable Cempany in their prefent Sitvation.

« TFhefe Circumftances, the Generofity of the Honourable Board, and their Promife of liberally
confidering the Honourable Governor General’s Letters to Major Popham, induces me to hope
that the Decifion of the Honourable Board will be in my Favour, as it is evident, from the above
State of my Affairs, that the contrary muft prove fatal to me.

‘ e ¢ I have the Honour to be, &c.
“ Midnapore, 14th May 1782. (Signed) John Campbell, Lieutenant,
‘ 2d Battalion 17th Regiment.”

¢ Peter Auriol Efquire, Secretary to the Honourable the Supreme Council.

s Sir, _

« I take the earlieR Opportunity to acknowledge the Receipt of your Letter, whercin you
complain of my not having given an Anfwer yet to the Requifition of the Honourable the Go-
vernor General and Council, 1 their Minute ofv the 18th February laft, refpecting the Booty found
in Bidjygur, alfo of your being direéted to_call upon me,. to know if I am willing to fubmit my
Right in the Share I have received to their Determination. .

“ 1 now acquaint you, for the Information of the Honourable the Supreme Council, that I
have, in Obedience to their Requifition of the 18th February laft, given my Anfwer in Whiting,
dised 26th laft Manth. Whether it hath mifcarried in the Dawk, or had met wich an Accident
through my Servant, after § had fent it there, 1 know not. i v - The

;l
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« The Purport of my Anfwer, both there and now is, that the Share of Prize I got at Bidjy-
gur was given to me as my legal Right, and that by the exprefs Authority of Major Pophans
therefore 1 do not mean to relinquifh any Parr ot it, nor is it in all my * Power, though I fhould even * Sicin Orig.
be inclined at this late ‘Fime; my having but a fcanty Mite remaining, after irfl difcharging all
the occalional Debts which I incurred previous to my recciving it add to that, the hafly Ex.
travagance thac fuch a Thing generally leads are 4 Officer of my volatile Rank into, upon his { S in Orig.
coming to it in that Chance Way. , '

s Pleale, Sir, to affure the Honourable the Governor General and Council, that 1 retain the
higheft Senfe of Refpeét and Efteem for them; and 1 hope to be henceforth able, through a pro-
per Attention, to fhew the great Duty and Obecdience 1, as an Ofhicer in the Honourable Com-
pany’s Service, owe to their certain Wills and Plealure,

« I have the Honour to be, &c.
¢ Borhampore, May the 15th, 1782, (Signed) Obe' Cary, Lieutenant,
L0th Regiment Scpoys.”

« To J. P. Auriol Efquire, Secretary to the Honourable the Governor General and Council,

« Sir,
<« | have received your Letter in the Name of the Honcurable Board, and in Anfwer 1 muft
beg leave to inform you, that it s out of my Pover to lay the Dividend of the Prize Money 1
received at Bidjyygur to § the Determination «f the Tlonourable Board 5 the greateft Part of it was 3 sic in Orig.
required to difcharge the Debrs I had unavoidably contradted.  Fiad 1 been acquainted betore the
31it of March, that the Committee had no Intentions of fending an Anfwer in the Name of the
Whole of Major Popham’s Detachment, I would have fent in a teparate one before.
<« 1 have the Honour to be, &c.
¢« Berhampore, May 13th, 1782. signed) C. livelyn, Licutenant,
25th Regiment Sepoys.”

« Agreed that a Committee, confifling of all the Field Oflicers at the Prefidency, whether on
Duty or otherwife, who have no Intereft in the Booty taken at Beejygur, nor Pretenfions thereto,
be appointed to confider the Claims of thofe Officers to fhure in the faid Booty, who, in confe-
quence of their Exclufion by the Committee of Officers in the Divifion made by them on the
Spot, have applied to the Board to be admitred ;—that all the Papers concerning this Bufinefs in
the Poffeffion of the Board be laid before the Committee now appointed, in order to guide their
Confideration; and that they be defired to report their Opinion, cither cltablithing or rejeéling the
Pretenfions of . fuch Officers whofe Cales may be fubmicted to them by the Board.

"« And in order to eftablith the Right of the Company to the Property found in Beejygur upon
the Surrender of that Place:

¢ It is refolved, that a Suit be commenced againft Major Arthur Balfour, whofe Name is firfl
figned to the joint Letter, recorded in Confultation 25th April, from feveral of the Officers con-
cerned in the Receipt of the faid Booty, refufing to fubmit their Rights to the Determination of the
Board.”

Then the Managers for the Commons acquainted the IToufe they would next pro-
ceed to lay before them Extracts of Two feparate Letters, from Mr. Haftings, and from
the Board in general, to Colonel Champion in 1774, to prove that Part of the Article
which charges Mr. Haftings with having made a Demand of the Prize Money con-

trary to his Knowledge of what was right, and contrary to his own former Declara-
tion *, * Vide printed

e . e . . . Articles, P
The Witnefs produced Book 18, intituled, *¢ Bengal Secret Confultations from 7, par.s. ©

the 3d January to the 1gth September 1774."

Read, the foflowing Extradts of a Confultation on the 3d June 1774, beginning at
Page 276. '
“ Fort William, 3d June 1774-  secret Dep.
« At a Confultation; Prefent, Fncay.
« The Honourable Warren Haftings Elquire, Prefident,
Philip M. Dacres,
James Lawrell,

John Graham, Efquires.
Nicht. Grueber,
& . {# Extratt of a Letter from the Honourable the Governor to Colonel Champion,

dated May 21, 1774.

* Hitherto every Part of your Conduét has met with my moft cntire Approbation ; but therc 13
“ One Subjet which in fome Meafuré alarms me ; the very Idea of Prize Money fuggefts lto my
: ¢ Remembrance
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-
-

Remembrance the former Diforders which arofe in our Army from this Source, and had almoft
proved fatal to it.  Of this Circumftance you muft be fufficiently apprifed, and of the Neceflity
¢ of difcouraging every Expectation of this Kind among the Troops. It is to be avoided like
Poiton. However, in cafe any confiderable Capture fhould attend your future Operations, I
« think you cannot purfue a better Conduct than that which you mgcn@cd ; to determine nothing
¢ yourfelf, bur acquaint the Board with the Circumftances, and wait for their Decifion.”

“ (A true Extratt.)

~ -

-
-~

~

« (Signed) James Browne,
“ Aid-de-Camp.”] £

¢« Lxtra® of a Letter from the Honourable the Governor to Colonel Champion, dated May 28th
1774.

« ] have received a Letter from the Vizier, complaining of the Claim you made to fearch for
Treafure in Pelibeet.

« 1 have already expreffed my Sentiments upon the Subject of Prize Money to the Army ; the
only Inftance wherein our ‘Troops, in the prefent Service, could have any Pretenfions to it by the
Cultoms of War, would be in the aétual Affault of a Place by Storm; in every other Cafe it is
clear, that the Capture becomes the fole Property of the Power carrying on the War.  In the In-
ftance of Pelibeer, which made no fort of Defence whatever, but fell with the whole Rohillah
Coun'ry into the Plands of the Nabob, in Contequence of the Victory, we had no more Right to
fearch or interfere atallin the Riches it contained, than we had to ranfack every defencelefs Village
or Ioufe in the open Country for Plunder,

<« [e1s true, that our General obtained that Vi€ory, and our Troops bore the Brunt of the
A&inn ;3 but fuch was the T'enure of our Engagement with the Vizier, in Confideration of which
he fUupulated to pay a certain Sum to the Company, and to bear the whole Expence of the Service.
His own Argument is unanfwerable on this Subject ; if we deprive him of the Fruits of his Con-
queft, weintringe the Agreement upon which the Expedition was fet on foot; and he has a Righe
on his Side, to refule the Payment ftipulated to us, becaufe he depended on the Fruits of his Con-
queft to enable him to make that Payment. I muft here remark, that the Particulars of this Tranf-
action, as mentioned by the Vizier, bear a very different Appearance from your Account of it; and
that when I approved of the Condué you intended to have purfued, it refpected only your Intention
of delivering up whatever might be taken to the Vizier, and waiting for the Board’s Determination.

“ With Refpect to Pelibeet, however, and to every Capture in the prefent Service, except
perhaps, in the Cafe of Plunder taken in an actual Affaule, tEe'Right is clearly the Nabob’s, and
will admit o' no Difputation,  This is my politive Decifion on the Subje&, which muft be regarded
by you as ar Inftruction for your Condult, until you receive the Sentiments of the Sclet Com-
mittee, in cufe you thould judge it neceflary to apply to them on this Subjeét.

“ (A truc Extract)

 (Signed) James Browne,
© ¢ Aid.de-Camp.”

Conntrs Care %¢ The Prefident alfo fubmits to the Board, the Tranflation of a Letter from the Vizier to him,
refpondence.  ariving an Account of the Claim of the Army to the Treafure fuppofed to have been in Pellybeet;
which is read for the Information of the Board, and returned to the Prefident, :
¢« Read the gth Paragraph of the Company's Orders in their general Letter of the 24th of De-
cember 1765, which are as follows

« Extra of a General Letter from the Court of Direftors, dated 24th December 1765.

Company’s « Par, gth, 'To prevent this difhonourable Practice of ftipulating for Services that are but the
Ordurs. Duty of a Soldier’s Profeffion, we pofitively forbid all future Stipulations by Treaty or otherwife,
with any of the Country Powers, for any Donation or Gratification for Services to be performed.

Reply to co- ¢ Agreed thata Copy of thefe Orders be tranfmitted with the foliowing d.etter to Colonel
‘p‘;g;‘ Cham- Champion. _ , C :
« To Colonel Alexander Champion, Commander in Chief of the Forces under the Pretidency. "

« Sir,

« The Letter which you addrefled us from Biffonly, of the 16¢th Ult®, was duly received, :

« It gives us great Concern to find a Claim urged by the Army and fupported by you with no
inconfiderable Degree of Warmth, which we deem equally improper, and at this Time ili-founded.
We cannot admit of any Right in the Troops to a Share of the Trealures which the Vigier may
acquire in the Rohilla Country. He'is the Principal in the War, and to him:-every Acquifition
of li?ht belongs, Treafure and Effeéts as well as Territory. - Weknow that by the Ufage of War,
the Plunder that falls immediately under the Soldiers Hand, in the Storming of .any City or Cagipy
is left with them, but we believe thas in no Country or Seate there is a Right scknowledged jin ghe.
Army 't any further Share of the Fruits of Conquelt.  There are indeed Inftances ;nhmc %
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Spv;rql%n, in ~,art,l":lc,:ul;n: Services, grants a Share of the general Plunder to the Troops, and pre.
vioufly fertles the Mode of dividing 1t3 but in'this Cafe the Vizir made no fuch Grant, nor did we
ftipulate for any fuch from him. '

« We obferve, Sir, that after cnumcrating the immenfe Spoils which the Vizir is faid to have
gathered, you teftify your Belief that we did not forefee thoie Circumftances, otherwife, you are
pgrf\iadgd, we' thould have made further Conditions for the Company and the Army in our Treaty
with him, To th'i's_ we reply, that we certainly did not forefee what we cannot yet even give Credit to
upon the Strength of Reports, although we find they have been fufficient for procuring the implicit
Belief of che Army. An lnftance which we think almoft demonftrative of the Exaggeration of thefe
Reports, is that reipefling Fiezulla Khan. We cannot conceive that this Nabob, trom a Country
yielding only a yearly Revenue from 6 to 8 Lacks, which has befides been the Seat of War, or in
the clofe Neighbourhood of it, for two Years paft, fhould be able to amafs a T'reafure of 75 Lacks
in ready Money,’ ’

« But ftill were thefe Acquifitions to prove real, and were we to have forefcen them, we do not
knaow that we could have exacted better Terms for the Company. At any Rare, RefleQions of this
Kind are of no Ufe. = Arguments introduced in Oppofition to Mcafures already decided, can only
be confidcred as Accufations, and we doubt not in this Inftance to juftify ourlelves fully to our
Employers,

{* It is however certain, thatin no Event either would we, or could we, have made any Stipulation
for the Army. The bad Lffe@s of a fimilar Meafure were but too plainly felt in a former Period ;
and our Honourable Matfters did not fail, on that Occafion, to reprobate with their Cenlfure, in the
moft fevere Terms, a Praftice which they regarded as the Source of infinite Evils, and which, if
cltablifhed, would in their Judgment neceflarily bring Corruption and Ruin on their Army.

« This being their Opinion on the general Practice, they doubtlels mult have ftronger Oljec-
tions to a partial Diftribution among the Troops immediately employed, wiich could not fail of
exciting Jealoufy in the others, and carry the Appearance of Injuftice to them.

« Further, Sir, for your more particular Information on a Subjeét, concerning which it ap-
pears you have fo widely mitunderftood both our Motives and Sentiments, we think proper to
communicate to you, as a Member of the Adminiftration, an Extra@t of the Paragraph of the
General Letter of 24th December 1765, in which you will find (what it would frems you did not
fufpect) a pofitive Prohibition from the Court of Diretors againft all fuch Stipulations for the
future.

« This Plan, independent of Argument, muft appear conclufive on the Point. You will there-
fore take the proper Method to convey a pofitive and firm Declaration to the T'roops, that they
are not to exg:ee’t any Share of the Riches acquired by the Vizir in this Conquett. Indeed, the Con-
fequences which you fignify to us are to be apprechended from our refuling this Gratification are
fufficiently alarming ; but, at the fame Time, were there no other Reafon, the very Appearance
of fo dangerous a Spitit in the Troops would determine us to oppofe it in the Beginning; and
we rely on your Condu@ and Firmnefs, and that Subordination and ftri€k Difcipline, which Ex-
perience has taught us it has been always your Pride to maintain, for enforcing, with the Support
of your Second in Command- and the other Field Officers, thefe Orders, and procuring a complete
Acquiefcence in them from all the Officers and Soldiers of the Army. Indced, we are per-
fuaded that the general Difpofition is to Obedience, however a few unruly Spirits or unthinking
Men may have expreffed different Sentiments, '~ -

% We ace forry to'find you imegine the Viair does not entertain ﬂ:fropcr Senfe of the Service of
the Army'in this Campaign. - Although he ‘may not have teftified it dire@ly to them, we can
affure you, that he has'not been wanting in his Letters to the Prefident in Expreflions of the
warmeft ‘Sort, "both ds to' their Behaviour and the Services' which they have rendered higi. It is
not in the Manners of the Eaftern Princes to fignify direétly to the Troops their Satisfaction in
them’; and very probably the Rumours which prevailed of the Treafures which he had' acquired,

revented the Vizir from exprefling his Senfe of it in private Converfation, left he fhould raife
g‘xpe&mom which it was not in his Power to gratify, ,

w We ednclude*with recommending, in the warmeft: Manner, that you exert yourfelf in bringing
the Tioops to a proper Difpofition on the Subjeé in Queltion ; that you difcourage in future thole
occafional Reports of Riches and Treafure found by the Vizir, which are generally founded on,
idle Rumour, and the Cupidity ‘or Self Intereft of Individuals, and ‘which ean: only tend to mif-
lead the Soldier into Hopes whith can never be realized, and inftil Notions into him very incompa-
tible with his Duty and Profeflion, ‘
I S We are with Efteem, &c.”] Woaw),

« Fort William, 3d June 1774, '

" Then the Managers for the: Commons acquainted the Houfe, That the Subjeét of
the P¥imé Money was finifhed for the prefent,” That the next Allegation in the Article* ()Vide princ-
‘wilich refpeéts the Nomination and Appointment of the Rajah Mchi‘gnarain had been p.;. par. 3.
irewed by & Part of the Narrative befors read to the Houde (4), and that therefore tth (ovide upra,
oilld ‘proceed to the next Allegation, namely, the Defendant’s Exattion of a‘]muc “ge 272
| & LEF arger
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larger annual Sum of Money than had ever before becn paid, and larger than the
Province of Benares could afford, viz. 40,00,000 Rupees per Annum as a Tribute.

The Managers for the Commons further ftated, That the Letter which proved.this
Allegation would likewife prove feveral other Matters; and therefore, to fave Time,
they fhould direct thofe Parts of the Letter to be read altogether, ftating firft (hortly
the different Allegations of the Articles which the Letter went to prove; namely,
Firft, the Advancement of the Tribute to 40,00,000 Rupees per Annum : Secondly,
T'hat Mr. Haftings himflf thought that Tribute too high: Thirdly, To fhew the
Grants and Penfions out of the Property of the Inhabitants of Benares: Fourthly,
That certain Duties were laid upon Goods by his Authority without the Interference
of the Council ; and, laftly, To fhew the Amount ot the Revenues of Benares, as
ftated by Mr. Haftings himfelf; to which Statement they wifhed particularly to call
the Attention of the Houfe, in order that the Houfe might better underftand the Pa<
role Evidence that would be given to that Point.

Read, from the Narrative of the Infurre@ion which happened in the Zemeedary of
Benaris, (before delivered in), the following Extrafts, beginning at the Appendix,
Part 1. Page 28. (°)

« Lerrer to the Governor General and Council, dated the 211t of November 1781, refpeting the
Scutlement of the Zemeedary of Banaris, &c. (Signed) Warren Haltings,

* To Edward Wheler and John M*Pherfon, Efquires, Members of the Council of Fort William,

¢ Gentlemen,

« In a fhort Leuer dated the 5th of this Manth, I informed you that I had on that Day con-
cluded the Settlement of this Zemeedary, for the fixe and perpetual yearly fummah of Forty
L.acks of Tlupees, with a Deduction of Rupees 6,66,666 : 10: 10, being the Amount of Two
Months Colleétions, cftimated in equal Divifions for the current Year. have now the Honour
to fend you the following Papers which comprehend all the Accounts and Deeds appertaining to
this T'ranfaétion. o b BT ‘

“ Althovgh I am convinced that with proper Management the Zemeedary might yield
an Amount confiderably excceding that which T have taken as the Eftimate of its Value, yet
I muft exprels my Apprehenfion, that unlefs the Naib can find Means to avail himfelf of better
official Affitance than he at prefent poflefics, his real Profits will fall below their allowed
Amount; and on that Accountl have encouraged him to hope that if he thall prove himfelf dili-
gent in his Office, and punctual in the Difcharge of bis Kifts to the Company, he may hereafter
obtain, from the Indulgente of the Board, fome Remiffion from the Ripulated Jammah,; whenever
the aCtua) Demands of the Company fhall be leffened, and the Stare of their. Treafury will | admic
of it; and this 1 fhall recommend as an A& of ‘Generofity becoming sheir. former Relation to this
Province, and equally warranted by the Principles of gowd: 'Policy ; for there are certain Lines
beyond which the Exaétion of a public Revenue, will not only defeat its'own Purpofe, but ope-
rate as effectually to a Redudion as an intentional A& of ‘Boumty could do. But it is not my
Wifh to engage the prefent Attention of the Board in a Difcuffion upon this Subjeft ; ‘my Delire
being ‘onl¥ to premife what I may hereafter find, neceflary to introduce -to their further, Confi-
d;rgtion,‘" o that any future Propofition may not appear 10 arife wholly: from the inftant Occafion
of 1t. L S e ‘ v ( ’ ST
4 I now proceed to the Explanation of the Particulars of ‘the Settlement, as contsined, in the
Account N° 3, H. The firft Dedu&int?n‘.audﬁfmmlf the. grofs -afkimated: Jummah of Rupees
53,06,002 : 12 is the Sum of Rupees 61,406 ‘granted a0 Jagheers and other Alienstions, The
firlt is a Jagheer granted to Beneram Pundit, of the yearly Amount of .\ Rupecs-25,00a. I have
already acquainted the Board with the faithful Services.of this Man snd -his Family during the
late Troubles 3 which I can take upon me to affure the Board, whatever was our Qpinion of them
at the Time, and how repugnant it may be to our national Charaéler 10 regard any Situasion of -
Afiairs with the Eye of Delpondency, were copfidered usiverfally. by sil ;but ourfelves, cqually, by
Friend and by For, as urterly delperate. ' To the Merits of Beneram Pundix and his. Brather, on
this Occafion, I muft add’'a Jong g:'rics of Artachmeht and effe®ual Service, from: the Y 1773
to the prefent Time” (*)

. ‘7 M_w e o . ) ) i , - e

Hert'the Managers, for the Commons acquainted the : Houde, that.she

- Extradt, abont to be read, “was to.thew the Jagheers upan, the Proy

~ P 1. % Theusext Article wifl réquire linle Explenarion sad oo & '
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fought 4t Pateet1; ahd was of much 'Service to that Officer on both Occafions, by his Knows
ledge of the Ground, and by a natural good Uniderflanding, which enabled him to apply thag
Knowledge to the Incidents before him, This Man fuggcfted the Expedition, which was after.
wards formed, to take Poflefflion of the Pafies lying behind Lutteefpoor by an unknown ard fe-
cret Route, and was himfelf the Guide of the Detachment. Although his former Services, and
that which he offered upon this Occalion, were gratvitous, yet as the Succels of the Enterpaize
appeared to me, from his Defcription of it, likely to prove the Crilis of the War, I thought it
advifeable to fecure his Fidelity, and animate his Exertions by fuch Incitements as were likely to
operate with the greateft Power on a Man of his Rank and Srwation in Life. I promifed him a
Jagheer in any Part of the Company’s Dominions, of which he fhould make Choice, to the
Amount of One thoufand Rupees clear yearly Rent, if the Enterprize fucceeded. The Event
proved the Jufltice of his Advice, and the Truth of his Reprefentations, and his Conduét in the
Courfe of it obtained the moft favourable Teltimony of  Major Crabb, the Officer who com-
manded the Party. On his Return to Chunar, 1inftantly prasted him a Perwannah for the Vil-
lage of Jalaulpoor, of which I had allowed him to make Choice, fituated in the Pergunnah of
Patcera.  He himfelf told me, that it yielded a Revenue exceeding 1500 Rupees, and to preveac
Difputes it it were more, I have inferted it at the round Sum of 1T'wo thoufani

Page 32. ¢* Jaggernaut Sing, late Commandant in the 3d Regiment of Sepoys, having been
ftrongly recommended to me by Coloncls Muir, Auchmuty, and other Officers of Rank, whofe
Recommendartion at this Time had particular Weight with me, for a Provifien in his declining
Years, after having pafled Thirty of his Lifc in fatchtul and meritorious Service, 1 procured for
him a Jagheer, in the Zemeedary, to the yearly Value of 1200 Rupees. I am perfuaded the Board
will admit the Expediency as well as the Juftice and Humanity of making a more comiortable
Provifion than our ordinary invalid Eftablithment allows for fuch native Soldiers as have merited
the particular Attention of their Superiours 3 and I flatier myfelf that the prefent Inftance, as well
as the Principle on which it is founded, will meet with their Approval.” (*)

Then the Managers for the Commons informed the Houfe, That what was next about
to be read, was the Account of the final Settlement with the Rajuh Mchipnarain ; and to
render itdntedigible they would ftate the Nature of it.—That it was an Account de-
livered in by Mr. Haftings, annexed to the Narrative and to the Appendix, No. 3. A.
That he takes the total Amount of the Revenucs of Benares at §3,06,002 : 12
Rupees.:~That he makes Deductions for Jagheers, amounting to 61,496 Rupees,
leaving ‘a net Balance of 52,44,500: 12 Rupees. That he then deduéts the Charges
of the ColléGion ‘in the’ Aumaunee Mehals, &c. amounting to 1,343,717 1§ Ru-
pees,” which left a. Balance of §1,00,788 : 13 Rupees. That ‘he next deduéts
for Kheiragur, of which the Maulgoozary is appropriated to,the Sircar of the Na-
bob Vizier, to the .annual Amount of 1,908,046 :14 Rupees, leaving a Balance of
49,02,741 : 15 Rupees. The next Deduction is for the Provifion for the Rajah's
Family,: ftating it to be for different Purpofes, in feveral different’ Pergunnahs: One
Sum of 1,58,341 Rupees, another: 60,000 Rupees, another of 54,000 Rupees, and
another. of ' 6,30,400.::35 -Rupees, for the Rajah and the Expence of his Family ;
which laflimentioned Bum of 6,30.400 : 15 Rupees, the Managers for the Commons
defired the Houfe to. obferve was ‘the Sum to which their Attention was meant to be
particularly direSted., That thefe Three make together 9,02,741: 15 Rupeesy 'which

ing dedufted from'the’ laft Remainder, -left a net Balance of Forty Lacks; namely
the very Sum of the Tribate' Mr. Haftings thought fit to exatt-of the Province of
Benares, after the Expltfion of the Rajah Cheit Sing.

P. g8t Num, 3. H.

~« FORM of the General Settlement ooncluded by the Govemor General with Rujah

‘ " Mehipnarain. A
Jdmmah;-ai‘ perAccoupt .~ — O — — 49,606,602 12 ==
W»V?mﬁu ‘enjoyed by the qu&bm;"‘:iiﬁich? may ‘now: be refumed, calcu- | '

r
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- Carry over 53,06,002 12, —
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Brought over §3,08,902 12 —
Dedu& Atricles of Revenue now alienated : (viz.) :

Beneram’s Jagheer —_— e — — 25,000 m— -
Bundoo Khan's Jagheer — — 2,000 — =—
J rnaut’s Jaghecer — 1,200 = o
Hag)gfcof the Maafh and Charity conﬁrmcd by Mr T
Marriot, afterwards refumed, and now reftored 33,296 =— —

61,9'6 —

Rop*  52,44,506 iz —
Deduét slfo Charges of Collettion, as per Account; viz.

In the Aumaunce Mehals — — 41,119 6 }
In the farmed Mchals allowed to the Farmers 1,02,598 1
‘ ‘ 143,717 35 —
. ! Q0, 88 13 ~—
Dedud Revenue paid for Kheiragur to the Vizeer = — o K 298 g45 ,i e

4903741 15 —
Deduc Jagheers and Allowances for the Support of the Rajah his Family,
and Dependants ; viz,

Jagheer of ; Buddovee belonging to the Rajah  — 1,58,341 ~ —
Ditto Mahaytch Doorgbijey Sing 60,000 = =
Ditto Seidpoor Owfang Sing 54,090 = —
Allowance Erantcd for the Support of e Rajab, his B
“Houthold Expences, Family,’ Sew&ry, 8c. 6.30,4100 15 =—

- 9»‘“«74' '5 -
Ruma mom "3

’I“hen the Managcrs for the Commons defired Lcavc to ftate to the ngfg;, ;I'ha; an
Omiffion had been made in the Evidence relative to the Procccdmg; at Buﬁggm, which
they thought extremely smatguial to. e fupplied. A

Rcad accordmgly fram Appench_x Part 1 Page 138, as ﬁollows.

LEES r‘? g
# N 18, Tmauion vfm thie Berfinn of . oo . flued by the Gavprnor Geness)
asqh ofﬁcpwmw\uﬁ-z. , ) tho
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that Ghisie Sing and his Brather
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further Right or Intereltin the Zen “

punithed accordingly. And whereas'by the Sedition of Cheit, Sing the meq badnllen nto Confufion
ufual Occupations in perfe& Security, And left any thould encertain - Apprehenfions-on Accaunt af

Compaty; who were unarened, lmf xl 1 his ﬂwg’m 29 the' Pemendury of -Banars,, frc.
! '\ﬁ ‘
9 D

~and Alurms, Affurances of Protettion are hereby given to the Zem and other l;:h itangs of xhh

audd become apacaable: £ the Jnllioe wl ohe “Gomg:%g &tmachq ﬁ@g\n nd,
Reyots arc requived to withhold their | ediciice w5 mmon f&hﬁ i, otheri ‘q. ih&y wd?g
Courtry, and they are hereby invited to repair to their former Places n% Relideticd, and Ffume the

their Milderaranatay.it:ig deciared shatihie: pagt iffonchi f all the, of ;
thall conform ta this Orderyare pardoned, m fup ,.M’f!’t‘;&izxgmé‘ 'l‘mﬁum?}’t m& :h:o

the Space of One Mantb, rcpw 10 the Prefence ‘Governor Gentral, or to’ Major: Willi
Bophying-Sommander. af-the Forees dn the Fi ield, and make. their Submamm, Jhall

an gson: Accoumt-of the Dilaace of the | 'oud, or any. other valid Retm, attend
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l}ﬂut&tder c;n peaceable Paffengers, fhall be rendered accountable for the fame in the due Courfe of
ice (*).

Which being read, the Managers for the Commons acquainted the Houfe, they
fhould return to the Part they had interrupted, and next produce Evidence of the

oppreffive Duties which were laid by the Defendant upon Goods and Merchandize

in the Province of Benares.* * Vide printed
Articles, Pagg

Then the Witnefs produced Book 45, intituled, * Bengal Council, from the 8th 7 "™ ¥
April to the 20th May 1782.”

Read, the following Extra& of a Confultation of the 8th April 1782, beginning
Page 103 of the faid Book.

« Fort William, 8th April 1782, o,

« At a Council; Prcfent, prit 17 i:i?‘d'a?."'

The Honourable Warren Haftings, Efq. Governor General, Prefident,
Edward Wheler, and Efoui
John M<Pherfon, g quire.

| Lieutenant General Sir Eyre Coote, K. B. abfent on Service at Fort St. George
> [ Read, the following Letcers from the Refident at Benares.

« Honourable Sir and Sirs,
« I do myfelf the Honour of tranfmitting you, according to the Orders of the Honourable Redent at
Governor General when at Benares, Account Particulars of the Cuftoms as defigned to be levied, Benarey, auth
and of the Duty as levied by Rajah Cheit Sing, March,
“ You will perceive that, 10 preferve Uniformity and to point out whatever Difference there
may be between the prefent Duty and that propofed to be levied in a more ftriking Manner, 1
have rated the Three Iaft Columns on a Tungay, or Six Maunds, the Load which a Bullock is
fuppofed to carry, as the former Method of collefting the Duty was on the Weight, not on the
Value of the Goods.
¢ [ fhall truft to the Candour of your Honourable Board for my Excufe in pointing out fome
‘Articles on which a Duty of 5 per Cent. will be too heavy, and by which the Collection would be
required, viz. Mace, C‘Z'»m, Nutmegs, Cinnamon, and Silk.
« The People who priacipally trade in thefe Articles are the Maratta Merchants, and a religious
Sett called Ahteets, who generally land their Goods at Mir2apore, and from thence carry them by
Land and Bullocks into the Decan, or to Delthy ; and they will find it more profitable to unioad
sheir Boats at Patna, and carry their Goods through Ramgur, than to pay fo heavy aCaftom as
5 per Cent. will amount to in the Road from Patna to Miraapore, :
« I know for certain, that on the Rumour being fpread, in December laft, that 5 per Cent. was
tobe levied on every Article, by the Direftions of ¢he Honourable the Governor General, that
the principal Houfes in the Decan immediately ordered their Gomaftaks o ftop all cheir Boats at
Pataa, and to fend their Goods by the Rout above mentioned, if she Duty of 5 per Cent. was continued.
“ | beg leave w lay before your Flonoursble Board another Propofition ; Whether it will not
be judicious 1o reduce the 5 per Cent. to 2§ on our own fRaple Comenodities, viz. Broad Cloth,
Europe Iron, Swel, and Copper,
S \ o «1 have the Honour to be, &c.~~°
« Benares, the aoch March 5782, (Signed) W= Markham.
« P, S. 1 have not been able to bring fome cerrain Articles within the accompanying State-
ment, on Account of their indefinite Value and Weight, You will obferve that Cloths more par-
ticularly are in the abore Predicament. ‘
(Signed) W. Markham.”] £#
« Refolved, That the Duties of 2§ per Cent colletted by the Aumeen be abolithed.
« Agreed that the following Letser be written to Mr. Markhem,
- Si"’ " ‘
s W have received your Letter of the aoth altirmm, with the Account of Duties defigned 20 be 1, e pes.
levied by the Governor General's late néw Arrangement, aad of thofe cxadted by the lam dent at Be-
“ Aswe agree with you in Opinion, that the Duty of 5 per Cent. bem%: greac | ypon nares
the formier Rages on fome Asticles would be wo hdavy, we dire&t thax it be reduced to 3¢ per
Cenc; dpon the following Gaods, viz. o

(*) Vide fupsa, P. 322,
4 F ' Nutmegs,
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Nutme
Cochingl’,
Raw Silk,
Broad Cloth,
Yurope Iron, .
Steel,

Copper. .
« Fort William, the 8th April 1782. We are, &c.”

Then the Managers for the Commons acquainted the Houfe, That the Evidence
they were about to produce, related not only to the Points ftated in the Letter read
from the Appendix, No. 3. A, fupra, Page 294, but likewife to fome other Points, which;
for the Sake of Perfpicuity, they would fhortly ftate; whereupon they defired the
Houfe to recollect there was a Charge in the Firft Article againft Mr. Hattings of his

» Videprinted having carried on a clandeftine Correfponderice with Mr. Markham *. ,

Articles, -7, There were other Charges in the fame Article as to the Removal of Doorgbijey Sing
from his Office, the confining of him in Prifon, and the Exaltions made upon him by

4 Vide printea the Defendant +. ‘There was alfo a further Charge relative to the Appointment of

priicles, P Jagger Deo Sing (called in the Charge jagicr Deo Seo) to the Office of Adminiftrator

Par. 4. 5, 6. . . " .
1 Vide printed Of the Province of Benares § : All which Charges in the Article the Papers about to be

prtickes, -8, produced would prove to be true.

Par, 2. : _ N
Then the Witnefs produced Book 19, intituled, ¢ Bengal Secret Council, from
23d September to 31ft December 1982.” . ‘

Read, the following Extract of a Confultation of 4th December 1782, beginning
Page 711 of the faid Book. ‘

' « Fort William, 4th December 1782.
« At a Council; Prefent, o o

Edward Wheler, . -
. John ‘%gh‘erfon. } Efquiresy.
. John Stables, ,
The Governor General and Sir Eyre Coote indifpofed..

> [ The Proceedings of the 25th ultimo read-and approved. ~ - - © -
“ The Secretary haying received the following Minute, with the Zueteer inclofed in it, from the
Governor General, they were circulated agrecable to his Inftrutions.: v - _ |
el e R e s g aeh Novetnber 1482,
Governar . Governor GeneralmI defire the Skeretary.to lay the uccotnpmyin‘g‘ﬁhme,m from Mr.. Mark.
Generals  ham- before the Board, and requeft that Orders ‘muy be immediately” fent to him converning the
' Subje@s contained in them. It may be neceflary to inform the Board, that.on repeated’ Informa-:
tion from Mr, Markham, which indeed was confirmed to me beyond » Doubt by other Channels,
and by private Affurances-which I could truft, thatthe Affairs of that Province were likely to fall
into the greatcft Confufion, from the Mifcondu& of Baboo Doorkbijey Bing, whom T had appoint.
ed thteeaib: Fearing the' dangerous Confequences of a Delay, and being at too great ‘a Diftance
o confilt the Members of the Board, who I knew’ conld vepole ‘thar Confidente -in’ my local
Governor  Knowledge as to admit of this occafional Exercife of my own ,lepagqt:crgjw_thgt’rtx -1 wrote to Mr.
ﬁf{;ﬁ{ﬁf‘ Markham the Letter to ‘which he sliudes, dated % tfh September 1af, of 'which I now lay before.
’ the Board'a Copy. The firft of the ‘actompanying Létters frorh Mr. Markham atrived ar a Time
“when a fevere Return of my late Hinefs obliged me, by the Advict 'of my Phyfliciling, to leave
*Caleutta for the Benefit of the Country Air, and prevénted me from bringing /it eailier before the
Notice of the Board, It had indeed been my. Intention, but for the fame Caufe, o have regueft-
ed the Inftrufions of the Board for the Conidudt'of M. " Maskhne in the Diﬂji_‘(’ﬁlc‘its:f@v'zvi)‘cﬁ}hd had
to encounterimmediately after the Date 6f thy Liecier tohinh,. and 1o -have récommertied e Sub-
ftance of it “for an Order of the' Board, of which intided I had given him Expectation’and this
will account for -his Letrer of the 24th O&ober, fiating the S:g.t&:‘#it;hoﬂt a‘ny;{ﬁ” Sreiet to the
Grders which I twd-given bim, ‘wod for'his fubfequient‘hoetvers, referring o my.Ordérefoc
had derie 3 Obedicnce 10 them, and it Defavlt of ‘Ovdérs.from the Boand. {6y
has made, and: to diret him’ to. exit:from Bahoo  fdorkbijey Siag,
every Rupee of the Colleftions “which it thall appear than’ e g s
count, and either €o'confine him /st Benares, or to feed hivty.d Prifoner oGl
in Confinement vntil he finll v difcharged the Whole af the K ddakime fac
o & Tfeel myfelf,’ and may be llowed on fuch in Ocixfion to skkilawledge
the Ingratitude of this Man, and the Difcredit which s itl Candd ?
of kim,. .In my own Juftification, it will be.ullicieht 1e!
Motive for his Appointment. - The Rajsh hirofclf, fearctly
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in Underftanding but little advanced beyond the Term of Childhood, and it had been the Palicy of
Cheit Singto keep him equglly fecluded from the World and from Bufinels. It was therefore indifpen-
fibly neceflary to depute fome Perfon for the Management of his Affairs ; and no one certainly could
appear fo fic for this Truft as his own Father, whole external Appearance and Behaviour, and the
Mode of his Education, which Q’)‘alities were all thar could be yet known,of his Characiery
feemed befides to qualify him for that Charge.  He has deceived me. He has offended 3gaint
the Government which I then reprefented, and merits ac leaft the Punifhment of a rigid Exac-
tion of its Dues, and, in my Opinion, a Forfeiture of its Bounties. As he was allowed a Jag-
heer of a very liberal Amount to enable him to maintain a State and Confequence fuitable both to
the Relarion in which he ftood to the Rajah, and the high Office which had been affigned to him,
and fufficient alfo to free him from the T'emptation of little and mean Peculations, it 1s theretore
my Opinion, and I recommend that Mr. Markham bz ordered to diveft him of his Jagheer, and
re-unite it to the Maulguzary, or the Land paying its Revenue through the Rajah to thie Com:
any.}]

Y %’hc Oppofition made by the Rajah and the old Rannee, both c‘(‘ually incapable of judging
for themfclves, do certainly originate from fome fecret Influence, which ought to be chiecked, by
-a decided and peremprory Declaration of the Authority of the Board, and a Denunciation of their
Difpleafure at their Prefumption. If they can be induced 1o yield the Appearance of a chearful
Acquicfcence in the new Arrangement, and to adopt it as a Meafure formed with their Participa-
tion, it would be better than that it fhould be done by a declared A& of Compulfion; but at
all Events it ought to be done. In the Management of this Bufinels, 1 would recommend that
the Board eruft to Mr. Markham’s Difcretion for the Execution of their Orders.

“ I muft beg leave farther to recommend that Mr. Markham be authorifed to grant the Khelaut
for the Niabut to Baboo Jagger Deo Sing, and to carry into Execution the other Points of my
Letter of the 29th Seprember, ‘ .

« The Inftitution of the new Offices therein recommended will effctually guard againft the
Embezzlements and concealed Practices which the Example of Doorkbijey Sing may tuggedt to

others entrufted with that Charge. A
Warren Haltings.”

r o _ ‘ o [% Nia Serai, September 29, 1782, f«w of a
s I have received your Letter of the 8th inftant, and am no lefs pleafed with your Condu@ o'

than I am diffatisfied with thar of Doorbijey .Sing. 1 am thoroughly convinced of his Inca- Generalto
pacity, and of the Neceflity of removing him. Your Recommendation of Ally Ibrahim Khawn Ji Mukham,
gives me Pleafure, I confider it as a Confirmation of his Worth, and as an additional Proof Benaris.
of yours, that you have conceived a Friendthip for the Man who, from the Nature of his Office,
might poflibly have been to many others in your Situation an Objeft of Jealoufy.  For the Rea-
fons you have afiigned, I think he cannot, with Propricty, acccpt the Niabuty and for the
fame Reafons I fhould be unwilling to make him a Sezawul. It is an invidious Office, inferior
in Point of Dignity even to that of Naib, and invariably expofes the Perfon who poffefies it, to
the 111 will not only of his immediate Superior in his Diftrict, but of all over whom his Au-
thority extends., The Poft he already fills is as laborious as it is ulefyl and important. Not
only perfe@ Lcifure, but popular Efteem, is in fome Meafure neceffary to the perfe&t Difcharge
of 1ts Duties 3 and I fhould be very forry to give him an Employment that might contribute to
rab him of cither, . Avail yourlelf, however, of his Experience and Abilities upon all Occafions,
where they can be of Service to you in your public Bulinefs, and particularly upay«he Arrange-
ments which this Letter will authorife you to make. :

<« 1 need not tell you, my dear Sir, that I poffefs a very high Opinion of your Abilities, and that
Ircpo{e the utmoft Confidence in your lnte%rity.- The Whole of your Conduét fince our Ac-
quaintance has ferved to imprefs me with thefe Sentiments; and mine, I hqpe, has proved, that I
entertain them? From your Jong Refidence at Benaris, and from the Part you have had in the Bu-
finefs of that Zemindarry, you mult certainly belt know the Men who are moft capable and de-
ferving of public Employment. From among thefe, I authorife you to nominat¢ a Naib to the Ra-
jab, in the Room of Doorbijey Sing, whom, on account of his ill Condu, 1 think it necefiary
to difmifs from that Office. It will hardly be neceffary to except Ooffann Sirg from the Delcripe
tion of Mgen to whom I have limited your Choice 3 yet it may nat be impropgr to apprize you that
I will on no Terms confent to. his being Naib, In forming the Arrangements confequent upon
this new Appointment, I requelt you will, s far as you can with Propriety, adopt thofe which
were in ufe during the Life of Bulwant Sing, fo far at Jealt as to have diftinct Offices for diftin&t
‘Purpeles, independent of each.other, and with proper Men at the Head of cachy fo that One Of-
fie may dete@ or prevent any Abufes or Irregularities in the others, and together form a Syftem
ol recamroca): qmﬁ; ‘Upon.thac. Priociple, -1 defire you will in particular eRablith under what-
jes one Office of Reoeipts, and another of Treafury. . The Officers of both muft be re-
k. forithe, Truth and Regularity of their refpective Accounts, but nos fubjeét insthe Stace-
oF, them gn the Coptrou) or Interference of the Rajah or Naiby nor thould they be removeable

%. bt for manifc® Mifconduct only. At the Head of one or other of thefe Offices, [
ez the Jags Boxey Rogoober Dyall; his Condué in his former Office, his Behaviour
' o on
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on the Revolt of Cheit Sing, and particularly at the Fall of Bidjeygur, together with his general
Charaler, prove lim worthy of Employment, and of the Noticc of our Government. It is pof-
fible that he may have Objections to holding an Office under the prefent Rajah; offer him one
however, and let hiin know that you do fg by my Direétions. In forming thefe Arrangemeats, do
got,wholly neglect the Rajah; confult with him in Appeatance, but in Appearance only. His

ituation requires that you fhould do that much; but his Youth and Inexperience forbid that you
thould do more. ‘

“ With refpet to Doorbijey Sing, he has difhonoured my Choice of him. It now oaly remains
for me to guard againft the ill Effeéts of his Mifconduéty to dete@ and punith it.  To this Ead §
defire, that the Officers to be appointed, in confegquence of thefe Inftrutions, do, with as much Ac-
curacy and Expedition as poflible, make out an Account of the Receipts, Dilburfements, and
Tranfactions of Doorbijey Sing, during the Time he has afted as Nuib of the Zemindar of Be-
naris ; and I defire you will, in my Name, affure him, that unlefs he pays at the limited Time
every Rupee of the Revenué due to the Company, his Life fhall anfwer for the Default. I need
not caution yoli to provide againft his Flight, and the Removal of his Effeéls.

“ lam, &c.
& (Signed) Warren Haftings.”]  £#§
& The Letters which follow were allo circulated with the above Minuite.

¢« To the Honourable Warren Hattings, Efq. &c: &c. &ec.

o , * Benares, 24th Otober 1782,
Tothe Ho. « Honourable Sir, ahd Sirs, ‘ ‘ _
nou s’ * 1 have delayed fending to ﬁu the Accounts Treafury for the Month of September, as I have
Efquirc, trom yet only received frorh Rajah Myip Natain the Sumh of 1,55,000 Rupees in ;Part Payment of the
Mr. Markham. Kift of Bahdown due the 21ft ultimo. . ‘ ,
“ The Month of Affih is now elapfed; and I fee no Probability of his fpeedily completing the
Balance due on account of the Malguzzarry of the lalt Year. I have in the ftrongeft Terms repre-
fented to the Naib Durbeetzy Sing the Impropriety of his Condu&, and the Ruin which muft atiend
him, if thus a@ing contrary to thy Advice, he will fully abufe the Truft repofed in him by your
Honourable Baard. He cannot plead Inability, for I am confident that he has ready Cath now by
him more than fufficient to anfwer every Pewtand, . o
“ I am forry that my Duty obliges me to mention to your Honourable Board my Apprehen-
fions of a fevere Lo accruing to the Honourable Company, if Baboo Durbeetzy Sing is continued
in the Naibut during the prefent Year. I ground my Fears on the Knowledge 1 have had of his
Mifmanagement : ‘The bad Choice he has made of his Aumils, the Miftrult which they have of
him, and the feveral Complaipts which have been preferred to me by the Ryorts of simoft every
Purgunnah in the Zemindarry. 1 did not choofe to wafte the Time of your Honrourable Board in
liening to my RepreRmations of his Inatckntion to the Complaints of OppreBion, which were
made to him by his Ryotts, % 1| that & Letcer he received from the ¥onourable Governor
General would have hwd Woight fufficient to have made him mere regular in his Bufinefs,
and more careful of his Sons Intereft. 1 am forry to obferve that it was but a temporary Re-
medy to the Evil, x c ‘
* During & Courfe of T'wo Months Ilines, he was incapable of tranfaling any Bufinels what-

foever, Inthe molt Letrers, 1 sepeatedly enjoined bim to appoint either One of his Bro-
thers, ‘of fome.senfidential Servant, for the feccli Accounts of hrs: Aumils, and for receiving
the I(Ai;t}nidoe from them, 1 imagine he will find himfelf a very conliderable Lofer by negledting
% An innave Sloth in his Difpdfition, and a fudied Procraftination in every Buifinels where Ap-
lication and - Difpatch are neweffary, mark him as unfit for ‘the prefent Station, 1o which e has

n clevited by his Alliatice with the cid Family of Bulwant Sing, snd ‘the Refard which the
Honoumble the Governor Gencral puid to the obvious Idea of the Fashér's being the mokt' pro-
per Perfon for the Managemen bf the Son’s Affsirs. g T

« I intended to have teprelentect thefe Circamftances o 'your Honoursble Board fome Waoekd
agn, but was preventad by a fovere imermittent Fever, which confined mevo my Bed, 7'

“ I scquainped Mr. Day, the Pagmalier to Sir John Comming’s Detachment, that 1 had your -
Dire&tions for sdeancing Three Months Payy but he nz_:mamny Two Lacks ‘of Ropees, Sor
which T have takeo his Deafts on the Military Paymafter Genesal. . . o

%

nourableWar: jygan walieny has obliged whe v put in ftee the Orders which § reciived
e & Goverpof Geners), in & /Litster 0t sgth of Sepreniber, st wiiol |
do. e from . shat.the Differatior of & fow Tiags wonld ocoafion o Diceriwiras by
Benaris, Nov, - L beiuhie to pefunde the Nalb Dusbeerzy Sing 'ob'‘pay uph thi
nth ol - Mualgusaey. 1 bave bueon dectived dn the lavrer of Ty Enpedaciniie w
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more obftinate than ever in withholding the Balance of his Bahdoor Kift, T'wo Lacks of which
only have as yet been received. It is neceffary that I fhould make One Obfervation to you, that |
am confitmed in an Opinion which I formerly had, but which I could not with Propricty mention
to your Honourable Board, that it never was Durbeetzy Sing’s latention to hold the Country
longer than throughout the 'Fuflilee Year One thoufind one hundred and eighty-nine. My
Reafon is ay folows: He has often exprefied a Difgoft that the Country fhould be given to hin
on harder Terms than thofe on which the late Rajah Chyet Sing held it and you will obferve that
he has this Year only piid Twenty-feven Lacks Twenty-feven thoufand Rupees, which is nearly
the Amount of what Rajah Chyer Sing’s Tribute was, after the Five Lacks on his Contribution
towards the Kxpences of the War was-devied upon him. I am confident, and hope 1 fhall be able
to prove, that he has colletted at leaft Forty Lacks from the Rije. I have therefore, in confe-
quence of the Honourable the Gowernor General’s Orders, fent him a Letter, informing him that
he is ditmiffed from his former Kmployment; a Tranflation of which I have the Honour to inclofe.
I thought it proper that Durbeetzy Sing fhould be put under a gentle Confinement until I fhall re-
ceive your Honourable Board’s Orders for any future Meafures,

* As the Honourable the Governor General has given me an Authority to fele@t a proper Perfon
for Naib, and as Baboo Naibul Sing and Baboo Jagger Deco Sing are the only Two of the Family
of Rajah Bulwant Sing who are fit tor fuch a Truft, I recommended the latter to the Honourable
the Governor General 3 and as his lllnefs has prevented me from receiving further Inftructions, 1
have appuinted him Naib, : " ' ‘

« The Honourable the Governor General alfo ordered me to eftablith Offices, which might not
only be a reciprocal Check upon each other, but mighe alfo prevent any Collution on the Part of
the Naib, I fhall therefore appoint a Dewane; One Office for Receipts of Revenue into the
Treafury ; & Treafury; and a Fourth Office, .in which are to be kept all Ditburfements from the
Treafury. If Ihad waited for further Directions from the Honourable the Governor General,
or your Honourable Baard, the Colleétions on the Khareef Fuflii would have been entirely loit, -
and a Deficiency perhaps. happened in the Forty Lacks, which is the Malguzarry from Rajah
Mehipnerain this Year, as a moft unufual Draught has been univerfally felt over the Country, no
Rain having fallen fince the latter End of Auguft, which may prove very detrimental to the
Rhabbee Fuffil, ‘ ]

« Babbao Durbeetzy Sing has certainly Money by him fufficient to pay u]) the Arrears of the
Month Bhadoon, and it would be proper that fome ftricter Confinement fhould oblige him to part
with it for that Purpole; yet, let me affure your Honourable Board, that I will exert myfelf as
much as poffible to recover any Balances which may be' due to him from the Country, and that
it thall be my moft earnelt: Endesyour :to avert any Lofs from the Honourable Company, which
his obftinate Conduét and impolitic Dithonefty might otherwife occafion,

« ['hope -that your Honourable Board will approve of my Conduct in this Bufinefss and that
you will believe: . o v -

: ¢ 1 am, ‘
s Bchnris, Nov. 12th, 178e, “« Honourable Sir and Sirs, &c. &c. &c.
S | W* Markham, Refident”] £
« A TRANSLATION of & Petfian Letter to the Naib Durbesty Sing. Tranfiation of

“ Af:té‘r'C‘o.m liments—The Imprapriety of -your Condudt, and intentional Delays in paying up A e

your Bhadoon Khift, have at length determined the Honourable Nabob Imaud ul Dowlab, &c. Durbectzy
&c. &, to remove you from the high Station to which he formerly raifed you, from s Inter- *%
ference in the Affairs of vour Son, and confequently in thofe of this Zemindarry,

« You have fince the Firft of Aflcen of the Fuflilee Year 1189, paid no more into the Treafury
than Twenty:feven Lacks Twenty-feven thoufand Rupees, It is impoffible,. from p Country by
your own Account affording an cafy Revenue of ‘Forty.nine Lacks, that no mor» fhould be col-
lecred "1 therefore recommend it to you' moft carneftly to make. up the Balance due, and avoid
the Difhionoyr and Shame, snd perhaps even worfe, which will inewitably purfue you, if you difs
regard :;l‘\,ejfc‘lflp.‘_un&ionsﬂ In the mean Time I have ¢hought proper to keep a Guard upon your
Perfon. 1 defire that you without Delay give me a Paper, containing the Names of all your Mut-
zuddies, Writers of Accounts, &c. &, &c.; that you in the Courfe of this Day fend me a Lift

“of the Balances due 1o you from the Aumils whom you: have employed ; that you give the moft
pofitive Orders to your Mutzuddies, 8. &c. &c. torender me a juft Account and Information
of the prefent Staze of the Country, and to attend-me whenever I fhall call 'wpon them. - '

« W= Markbam.”

P bhsg.lgﬁamélfhs Honour of ' y the 3ath inftant, I informed To the H
-fitter which I did mykelf the Honour of writing to you on the 12th inftant, 1 informed Ta the Ho-
ol ‘:‘BaﬁoO"qu’gp'r‘D‘ef'eb"Sﬁag"thc 'Apégi;gncn{oof Najb. He could not st that ;;’,}’;‘}f}f,nw:"
reofbediwitl the Khalaar, #s the Bramins progrofticated it'a Day of ill Omen ; and the Efquire,
War'the Ceremiony, =~ g e Mk
i 4G “ Since Benares, Nov.
o R 14th 378
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« Since that Time the old Rannee and the Rajah, inftru@ed by Durbeetzy Sing, have moft ve-
hemently declared to me, that they will by no Means give their Confent that any other Perfon
thall be appointed Naib. I therefore have deferred the Ceremony of granting him the Khalaat till
1 receive tusther Orders from your Honourable Board. |

« It is neceffary to be remarked, that Baboo Jagget Deco Sing and Baboo Nechul Sing are the
only Two of the old Family of Bulwant Sing, and indeed the only Two Men with whom I am
acquainted in the Zemindarry, to whofe Hands fo high an Employment can be entrufted; and I
gave the Preference to the tormer, as Age and Deafnefs are great Impediments to Bufinefs in
the latter.

« T have the Honour to be, &c. &c. &c.
« Benares, Nov, r4th, 1782. - W" Markham, Relident.”

* The following Minute was returned with the foregoing Papers, and the Letter which is en-
tered after it written to Mr. Markham :

¢« In Circulation.

« A Minute from the Governor General,

« ‘Three Letters and One Inclofure from the Refident at Benares.

* Copy of the Governor’s Letter to D°, dated 29th Seprember.
« Thurfday, 28th Nov. 1782.

« Mr. Wheler.—1I approve of the Meafures recommended by the Gowernor General's Minute
relpeting Baboo Doorkbijey Sing, and of the Mode of carrying them into Execution through the
Refident of Benares, which is his official Duty; and alfo of the Appointment of Jagger Deco
Sing to fill the Office of which Doorkbijey has been difpofeffed ; and of the Appointments recom-
mended in the Governor General's Letter of the 2gth September, The fevere Indifpofition with
which the Governor General was affli¢ted when thefe Letters were recéived, and his Abfence from
the Prefidency, are Subjects well known to every Member of the Board,

« (Signed) E. W,
J. M<P.
J. S."

«“ Sir, .

ToMrMark. = * We have now before us your Letters of the a4th Odtober, 12th and 14)‘th November. The

bain,

! RS i
-« Adminiftration mifcondudfed ;  the

Governor General has likewife communicated to us a Copy of the Letter which he wrote to you
on g29th September from Nia Serai. .
: % The Meafures which you have taken with Baboo Doorbijey Sing are perfe@ly right and pro-
per, fo far as they go; and we now direct that you exact from him, with the utmoft Rigour, every
Rupee of the Colle@iom which it fhall apnear that he has made and not brought to Account,
and cither confine him at Benares, or fend him a Prifoner to Chunar, and keep him in Confinement
until he fhall'have difcharged the Whole of the Amount due from him. -

« We likewife dire&, that for the Offence which he has been guilty of you divelt him of the
Jagheer which was affigned him, and re-unite the Property of it to the Malguzarry, or the Land

- paying its Revenue through the Rajah to the Compan

*“ We approve and confirm your Appointment ofy Baboo Jagger Deeo Sing to the Office of
Naib of tire Zemindarty, in the Room of Doorbijey Sing, and defire that you will inveft him im.
mediagly with the ufual Khelaat in due Form. ‘

-« ‘Wealfo dirett you to carry into Execution the other Points of the Governor General’s Letter
to you of the 2gth September, which remain to be accomplifhed.

* Fort William, 4th Dec. 1782. | “ We __ai'e, &c. B &

o [ T . . e Co : .
. Then the Managers for the Commons acquainted the Houfe, That they had now
read all the Letters they propofed to give in Evidence relative to this Part of the Charge;
and that what was not. completely made ont by thofe Letters would be fupplied b
parole ‘Teftimony : That they fhould now proceed to the Cenclufion of ‘the fir
Atticle of the Charge, which i{ney fhould read from the Article itfelf, in order to ggmt
out to the Houfe what the remaining Pert of the' Proof would apply to, viz, ¥ That
« the Confequence, of all thele violent ‘Changes and arbitmrz A&s were the toté} Ruin
* and Defolation of the rCé@ntiz},.dnd the Flight of the Inhabitants ; ¢he fuid"Warren
* Haflings having found every Place abandoned at his Approach even by the. Officers
*« of the very Gavernment which he cftabliflied, and feeng W%W Traces' of
the Province in Effeft withdnt 4 Goveérnment ;; the
. mifcondudted ;. the People-opprelled ; Trafié iicsiraged ; and the
* o "Revenue ip denger of woapid Pecline.®” T e T
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This the Managers ftated would be proved by a Lettet of the 2d of April 10y
(already alluded to in the opening of this Article) from Mr. Haftings at Lucknow to
the Council at Calcutta upon his fecond Expedition, giving an Account of the Situation
of the Country from his own ocular Infpeétion ;~but before they produced this Letter,
it might be more in.order to read the Petitions or Arzees from the Rannee the Widow
of Bulwant Sing, and the Rajah Mechipnarain, and then proceed to the abovemention¥d
Letter, which would be the laft Piece of written Evidence they fhould have occafion to
produce upon this Article of the Charge.

Then the Witnefs produced Book 46, intituled, « Perfian Correfpondence, Public
Department, Letters received in the Year 1782.”

Read, the following Letters to the Governor General, both received on the rgth
Deccember 1782, No. 46 and No. 47 in the faid Book. ‘ '

“ From the Ranny, Widow of Raja Bulwant Sing.

. ) ‘ “ Reccived 15th December 182,
« No, 46. I and my Children have no Hopes but from your Highnefs, and our Honour and
Rank are beftowed by you. Mr. Markham, from the Advice of my Encmies, having prote@ed
the Farmers, would not permit the Balances to be collected.  Baboo Dirgbejey Sing frequently be-
fore defired that Gentleman to thew his Refentment againft the People who owed Balances, that the
Balances might be colletted, and to give Eafe to his Mind for the prefent Year, conformably to the
Requefts figned by the Prefence, that he mighe complete the Bundobult. But that Gentlemnan
would not liften to him, and having appointed a Mutefeddy and Taveeldar, employs them in the
Colletions of the Year, and fent Two Companies of Sepoys and arrefted Baboo Dirgbejey Sing
“upon this Charge, that he had fecreted, in his Houfe, many Lacks of Rupees from the Collections,
and he carried the Multeteddies and Treafurer, wich their Papers, to his own Prefence,  He neither
afcertained this Matter by Proofs, nor does he complete the Balance of the Sircar from the Jaidads of
the Balances; right or wrong he is refolved to deftroy our Lives.  Aswe have no Affylum or lope
except from your Highnefs, and as t‘hg Almighty has formed your Mind to bcaa Diftributor of
Juftice in thefe Times, [ therefore hope, from the Benignity of your Highnefs, that you will
enquire and do Juftice in this Matter, and that an Amcen may be appointed from the Prefence, that
having difcovered the Crimes or Innocence of Baboo Dirgbejey Sing, he may report tothe Prefence.
Further Particulars will be made known to your Highnels by the Arzie of my Son, Kaja Mchipoa-
raine Bahader.”

* Arzie from Raja Mchipnarain Bahader.

‘ “ Receivedst sth December 1782.
« N° 44, I before this had the Honour of addrefling feveral Arzies to your Prefence, but, from
my unfortunate State, not one of them has been peruled by your Highnets, that my Sitwation
might be fully Jearnt by you: The Caie is this ; Mr. Markham, from the Advice of my Enemies,
having occaftoned feveral kinds of Loffes, and given Protetion to thofe who owed Balances, prevent-
ed the Balance from being colle€ted ; for this Reafon, that the Money not being paid in Tiume, the
Baboo might be convitted of Inability.  From this Reafon, all the Owers of Balances refufed to pay
the Malwajib of the Sircar: before this the Baboo had frequently defired that Gcntlenwn to fhew
his Refentment agsieft the Perfons who owed the Balances, that the Balances might be ;}:axd, and
that his Mind mght be at Eafe for the prefent Year, {o that the Bundebult of ;l;nc:‘p'fc.m: Year
might be completed ; adding, that if next Year fuch ku;ds of Injuries and Protection of the Far-
mers were to happen he fhould not be able to fupport it.  But that Gentleman did not reprove
the Owers of Balances; and with refpe@ to the Satisfaction for the prefent Yea), he fad thac he
could not at this Time do it.  From this Reafon fo great a Balance to the S‘;rpar {till remains.
Befides this, upon the falfe Reprefentations of my Enemics, that Gentleman faid to the Baboo,
« You have fecreted in your Houfe feveral Lacks of Rupees from the Collections, and do not pay
the Balance to the Sircar.” “The Baboo requefted that this Matter might be 'prope_riy inguired into;
but that Gentleman, without afcertaining it, appointed a Muteieddy and a Treaturer from his own
‘Sircar, for the Colleftions of the prefent Year. Afterwards, on the 4th of Zelwidja he fent «n
Englith Gentleman with Two Companies of Sepoys who put the Baboo }mder Arrelt, at the fame
~ Time he threw the Mutefeddies and Treafurer, wath their Papers, into Confinement, and brought
¢hem to his own Prefence, and rold me that Orders had come from the Prefence tor a new Nalb,
aik that | muft appoint Jugdeo Sing Naib to finith the Bundebult of the prefent Year, and thae
 havinig fersled this Point with the Ranny, I fhould return, 1 gave him a proper Anfwer, and
; aq.zm wens 1o the Prefence of that Gentleman, and conformably to the Directions of the Ranny, I
" fmd 10 him, @ That, with refpeé to the Neabut of Jugdeo Sing, which he had ordered, T was now
. m‘(mwﬂtﬁ #eend to and manage the Affairs ® the Sircar, and that the Ranny did not ;onfcnt or
approveof s Naib: that it would have been incumbent on him, firft, to have proved the Crime’of Ba-
bt Divggbejey Sing, and then confined him : That this would have been proper, becaule, in the Room
ofall the Ranks and Honours beftowed upon him by the Prefence, from the Event, legralce' and
e o : ‘ njury,

* ic in Qrig.
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Injury, without Bounds, have come upon him:. That now, from the cmymg the Mutefeddies and =
"Treafurer, with their Papers, to the Prefence, no Seerecy remained, It this Matter fhould be

carricd to the Proofs, the Baboo is entirely guilty; but in cafe of his Innocence, let the Guard be
taken off, and then the Affiirs of this Year may be fully difcuffed.” Mr Markham repilcd that

he would again write this Matter to-the Prefence,
« My Mafter, I do not know what he may have written to your Prcf‘cnce, Lhave therefore re.

prcfcntcd fully my diftrefitd Situation s my only Hopes are from your Hlﬁhncﬁ aty Honour and:
Rank are beltowed by you, Mr. Markham having written falfe Complaints to your Prefence,
has brought me to this Situation, and has thrown the Concerns of this Ym into Incompletion and-
Ruin.  ['am therefore hopeful that an Ameen be appointed, who having enquired into the Crime
or Innocence of the Baboo, may inform the Prefence, and may compel the Owers of Balances to
pay- the Balance of the Sircar. You have approved of the Concerns of the prefent Year being com-
pleted by me ; favour me {0 far as to prevent the Injuries, and Prote&ion of the Farmers from that
Gentleman, and that 1 may remain firm, conformably to the chucﬁs ﬁgned by the Prcfcnce. that
I may complete the Malwajib of the Sircar wich Eafe.”

'The Managers for the Commons faid, They would in the ncxt Place fhew that thcrc
;ivas but One Month in Arrear at the Time of Doorbidjey Sing's bcmg put into Con-
nement.

Then the Witnefs produccd Book 61, intituled, « Bcngal Councxl, from 2d Ja-
nuary to r1th February 1782.”

Read, Extra& of a Confultation on 5th February 1782, beginning at Pagc 387 of
the fame Book.
. Fon leimm, 5!!\ Febr X Bc.
@ At a Councﬂ; Prcfenc. ““\’Y 7
The Honourable Warren Haftings, Governor Gcnerul, Preﬁdent 5
' Edmrdn'g‘lhﬂcr, B
L . 3 W iFes.
‘ Johin M‘Pheffon,} '
Licutenant General Sir Eyre Coote, K. B. Abfent on Scmcc at For.St. Gecrga.
s Extract of 3 Latter to.the Gowsraor Gerieral i %%ﬁt, dited Benares, a5t Jan. 1782,

“#Received the following Letter from the Refident at Benares,

« Honourable Sir and Sirs, ‘ ’
« ] herewith have the Honour to tranfimit you an Account of the Receipts and Difburfements at

this Treafiry, from the’ xﬁ:ﬁmn, anfwering to the 14th-of September 1781, to the 20th of January
1982, . ;:‘y which you will pammvc. that: Rajah Myspnartm bas: lxqmdm:d :ha Three ﬂﬂt K;ﬁs of
AUt

Amn, xck lnd :\ugm\
Thcn Book 4 5, mmtuled, “ Bengal Councd from the 8th- Apnl to the: mth May-'
1782,” was dehvercd in, '

Read, the following. Ektra& of a Confultatxon held on zoth May 1782, begmmng
at Page b m of t'hc fuma Bﬂok |

‘ , “ Fon thlum. zoth Mny :78:.
-« At a Cooncil; Prefent,
Th&tlommbh 'Wamn Mw Efqm, \Gowmor General, Prefident;’

. ,iﬁﬁﬁim. |
n Service at Fort St. Giorge.

" John Mf‘ ’gcrfon,
Limemt Gcnm S;r Eyw(?oom,

. B, a5
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' Read, Extract of a Confultation of goth Scptember 1782, beginning at Page 2
of the faid Book, as follows : 3 P : 75 DEINNTE S
‘ - « Fort William the goth September 1782,
: t¢ At a Council y Frelene,
Edward Wheler, and \ Efqui
‘ . John M<Pherfon, g quires.
The Governor General indifpofed.
Lieutenant General Sir Eyre Coote abfent on Command at Fort St. George.
* Honourable Sir and Sirs, '
. 1 herewith have the Honour to tranfmit you an Account of the Receipts and Ditburfements at
this Treafuty,” from the 30 Auguft 1782 to the 3d September 1782, by which you will perceive,
that Rajah Myipnarain has liquidated his 11 Kitt for Saween.”

Fuh 1)»:,,
Mouduy .

Extradt T.ot.
ter from v,
Mukham to
the Guoverngr
and Counal,
Suted from
Bonaves 2ad
‘ . - .. ‘ Sept. 1781
Then the Witnefs produced Book 64, intituled, ¢ Bengal Council, from ad Ja-

nuary to the 1oth of February 1783.”

Read, the following Extrat of a Confultation, 27th January 1783, beginning at
Pagc g10 of the faid Book.
: « Fort William, the 25th January 1783,
The Honourable Warren Haftings, Governor General, Prefident;
- “Lieutenant General Sir Lyre Coote,

Fdward Wheler,
- Jobn Macpherfon,

John Stables.

« Received the following Letters from Mr. Markham.

« Honourable Sir and Sirs,

« T herewith have the Honour to tranfmit you an Account of the Reccipts and Difburfuments
at this T'reafury from the 3d of O¢tober 1782 to the gd of November 1982, by which you will
perceive, that only 2,00,000 Rupecs of the Bhadoon Kift, duc the 21t Seprember, has been
received, and that a Balance of 6,06,33:: 51 10 yet remains to be liquidated.

.« T am in Hopes of ubtaming this Balance in a few Days from the late Naib Durbectzy Sing,
who, according to your Orders, itill remains in Confinement,

‘ ¢ Benares, I have the Honour to be, &ec.
~ goth September 1782, (Signed) Wm. Maikham.”

Pulr Dept,
Monday.

-« Ionourable Sir and Sirs, -

« 1 herewith have the Tlonour to tranfmit you an Account of the Difbyrfements at the T'rea-
fary from the 3d September 1782 to the 3d October 1782,
, ¢ Benures, I have the Honour to be, &c.

goth December 1782, (igned)  Wm, Markham.”

« Honourable Sir and Sirs,

« | have the Honour to enclofe you an Account of the Receipts and Difhurfements at this Trea-
fury, from the 3d December 1782 to.the 3d January 1783, by which you will perceive thut Baboo
Jagger Devo Sing has liquidated Rajah Myipnarain®s 1t Kutt for Affin, due the 2+{t October. |

-6 L expedt to receive the 2d Kift for Kautich in the Courfe of Four or Five Days. e
« Benares, I have the Honour to be, &c.
8th January 1983, (Signed) W Markham.”

Then the Witnefs produced Book 6 5, intituléd, ¢ Bengal Council, fron/t ath May
to 3d July 1783.”
Read, the following Extract from a Confultation of 19th May 1783, beginning at
Page 142 of the faid Book. . <
. ' S R « Y¥ort William, 19th May 1783,
- “ At a Council; Prefent,
The Honourable Warren Haftings, Governor General, Prefident.
Lo ‘Edward Wheler,
‘ }Efquircs.

. Joha Macpherion,
the. Relident at Benares,
: Letter from

e Yohn Stables,
% Read'the following Letters from
4 T the Honourable Warren Haltings Efquire, Governor General, &c. Council.

rable Sir,. and Gendlemen,

ﬂdcacy.mgrmhh .tq:yphgbgdcrs, having prcvic;;ﬂy delivered the Public Letters, ‘Accounts, and

4

hamy;, the lite Refident at Bcnafes, has lef:'cf this Station to §hc . provccd to the Pre-

other

Mr. Bern to
the Governor
s and Council,

% Fac fimile
Of ori‘v
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ofher Documents, belonging & the Appomtment of Refident, to me; i Ghavgt, rilk:che Atival
of Mr. Fowke. ‘ S SR
« Mr. Markham’s Letter, inclofihg the Public Accounts, would inform your Honourable Board,
that the Kilts for the prefent Year, and the Balarice due from Baboo Decrbidzy Sing, on account
of the latt, have been received into the Company’s Treafury, excepriuch Sums as your Honour-
**uble Bo.ird may not think jult, and confequently not ademit in the Glaitns which Baboo Durbidzy
Sing has aiade for Deductions. o S .
“ I havethe Flonourwbe . . .
 Benares, . Your moft ob}dicm Bhumblc Scrvant,
Apid 12, 1783, (Signed) John Beonn,
» 1793 ) ‘ Afliftant l‘:\o‘th:: Reéfident at b‘cfmrcs."”

Then the Managers for the Commons defired the Witnefs mig’h{‘ produce the Letter
cf Mr. Haftings from Lucknow befare alluded 0. = Ce
The Witnefs produced Book 47, intituled, ¢ Bengal: Secret Counicil, fiota 18ths
March to 3oth June 1784.” R ‘
Read, Extraét of a Confultation on 20th April 1784, beginning Page asy of tha
faid Book, as follows : o ,
, « Fort William, the éo:h.April 1784,
“ Ara Council; Prefent, ‘
The Honourabie Edward Wheler Efquire,
and :
- Jobn Macpherfon Efquire. .
The Honourable the Governor General abfent on a Vifit to the Nabub Visiss,
John Stables Eiquite indifpofed. : o

. g [« Read, the following Letter from rhe Honourable the Governor Genetal.

Gorrmor
Geneval,
Tucknow,

ad Apr. 1784,

* Bi¢ in Orig.

~if- they had haown' thiat chikit Rulers, from whoin

. theinfclves thix volontary andsextraordinary Liabour, and not uparten: ed ‘with Fxp

Edward Wheler Efquire, Council, &c. 8c. dc. Fort William,
- Gentlemen ‘ Lucknow, the 2d Aptil £784,

« Iaving contrived, by makip, mms‘,;% while the Troops of sy Riosst mavctied at the
ordinary R;n%c, 1o make 2 ftay ofpﬁ*‘iv‘c Days at Be t‘x"i%si:' T mé‘fﬁf&w%ﬁm& ‘with rhe Means
of -acquiring fome Knowledge of the State of the Province, which T am anxious to- communicate
to you: indeed, the Enquiry, which was in a great Degree obtruded upon me, affeéted me with
very mortifying Refle€tions on my own Inability 1o apply it to any ufeful Purpofe, - From.the
Confines of Buxar to Benares, I was followed and fatigued by the €lamours of the difcontensed In-
habitants ; it was what I expefted in a Degreé, becaufe it 15 rare chat the Exercifé of Authority
fhould prove fatisfactory to all whoe are the Objeéts of i,  The Diftréfles whick wete prodiced by
the long cohtinued Drought, unavoidably tended to heighten the general Diftontents yet, I have
Reafor to fear, that the Caufe éxifted principally in & defeétive if not a esrrupt and opprefiive
Adminiltration, Of a multitude of Peritions which were prelented to me, and of which I took
Minutes, every one thar did not relate to a perlopal Grievance, contifiued the Reprefentation of
one and the fame Species of Oppreffion, which is, in its Nature, of an lnHuenée thoft fatal to
the fature Cultivation, The Pradtice to which 1 allade is this. It is affitmed, that the Aumild
and Renters exalt from the Propgia&‘ars of the aflual Harveft, a large Encreafe it Kind on cheir
flipulated Rent, that s, from thofe who hold their Pottahs by the T'ehute of payifig One Half of
the Produce of their Crops, either the Whole without a Subserfuge, or a large Propbrtion of it by
thli&Mea%c_lne’nt, ot cther Pretexts; and from tholk whofe Engagements dre for'a fixed Rent in
gﬂonc\y,ﬂm alfy ot a greater Proportion iw taken: in Kind, . This iy, in ¢ffedt, a Tax upon the

nduftry of the Inhabirtants ; finte there i fomrct a Field of Geain'it sHe Prowinte, ¥ nnghe (ay
not'one, which has sot been preferved by the inceflant Labour ‘of the Cultivatbr, by d*ggihg
Wells for their Supply, oc wateting them from the Wells of  Marioniey ®, jrieliwhiob: this Coun-
try abpunds, or from:the neighbouring Tanks, Rivers, and Nullahs, Fh¢ Péople whe im ,mfed‘ on

nence, did it in

they wosld ‘nac e done i,

the Expectytion of reaping the Profits of vy and it s as cermain’

- take from them what they had. Jo hardly earaed, . §F. iftration contimes, and the
‘Cauntry,, Tha)l agam labour uhder 8 Waat of the R d ‘Wit o ‘abandoned,
the Revenye fail, dnd Thoulwnds-perith thaough ¥ ok st will labour for
the fole Benefic of K roimake: hipiel g Pratices are not
to be impated to “employed in. fotielt. T he avowed

to be impuied to the Aumils ¢rployed in ¢
Frinciple on which’he' alti W which be

Rah

. hich i bl ok WBiCH: b ¥ o whole Som fixed
*for the Reveiive of the  Provinee: muft. W Puipole, . 1

;‘ el :‘u"’“m'DQ‘ "

fcidricy atifng N Pliets Winre. the: Congs. iave, failed deit ahcukivad,
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the Seafon, or the Indultry of the Cultivators more fuccefifully exerted; a Principle which,
howewer ‘fpecious and plaufible it may at firlt appear, certainly tends to the moft pernicious
and. deftructive Confequences.  If this Declaration of the Naib had been made only to
 myRlf, T might have doubbted my Conftruftion of it; but it was repeated by him o Mr,
Anderfon, wha vnderflood it exadtly in the fame Senfe. In the Management of the Cuftoms, the
Condutt of the Naib, or of the Officers under him, was forced alfo upon my Attention, The
‘exotbitant Rates exatted by an arbitrary Valoation of the Goods, the Praétice of exaéting Dutics
Twice on the fame Goods, firlt from the Scller, and afterwards from the Buoyer; and the vxa-
tious Difputes and Delays drawn: on the Merchants by thefe Cppreffions were loudly complained
of ; and fome Inftances of this Kind were faid o exitt at the very Time when 1 was in Benares,
Under fuch Circumftances we are not to wonder if the Merchants of forcign Countrics are dif-
couriiged from reforting te Benaris, and if the Commerce of thar Province fhould annually decay.
Other Evils, or imputed Evils, have accidentally come to my Kinowledge, whizh 1 will not now
particularize, as 1 hope, that, with the Afliftance of the Refident, they may be in part correéted.
One however I muft mention, becaule it has been verified by my own Oblervation, and is of that
Kind which refle@s an unmerited Reproach on our general and national Character,  When 1 was
at Bukar, the Refident, at my Defire, enjoinad the Naib 10 appoint creditable People o every
Town throvgh which our Route lay, to perfusde and encournge the Inhabitants to remain in
their Houfes, promifing to mive them Guards as 1 approached, amd théy required it for their Pro-
teftion 3 and that he might perceive how carneft 1 was for his Oblervance of this Precawtion
(which I am certain was faithtully delivered) [ repeated it ta him in Perlon, and difmiffed him,
that he might precedde me for chat Purpofe; bug, to my great Difappointment, 1 found every
Place through which I pafled abandoned ; vor had there been a Man left in any of them for
their Protection. I am forry to add, that from Buxar to the oppofite Boundary, 1 have feen
nothing but the Traces of complete Devaftation in every Village, whether cauled by the Followers of
the 'l“rooKs which have lately paffed, for their natural Relief, aud [ know not whether my own
may not have had their Share, or from the Apprehenfions of the Inhabitants left to themielves,
and of themf¢lves deferting their Houfes. I with to acquit my own Countrymen of the Blame of
thefe unfavourable Appearances, and in my own Heart I do acquit them; for at One Encamp-
ment near a large Village, called Derrera, in the Pergunnah of Zemaneea, a Crowd of People
‘éame to me, complaining, that their former Auniil, who was a Native of the Place, and had long
been eftablithed in Authority over them, and whofe Cuftom it had been, whenever any Troops
“pafled, o remain in Pecfon on the Spot for their Protection, having been removed, the new Au-
~ #il, an the Approach of any military Detachment, himfelf firft fled from the Place, and the In-
habitants, having no One to whom they could aprly for Redrets, or for the Reprefentation of
their Grievances, and being thus remedilefs, fled alfo; fo that their Houfes and Liffeéts became a
Prey to any Perfon whe chofe to plunder them. T he general Conclufion appeared to me an in-
evitable Confequence from fuch a State of Facts, and my own Senfes bore Tettimony to it in this
fpecific Inftance ; nor do I know how it is poffible for any Officer commanding a military Parry,
how ateentive foever he may be to the Dilcipline and ForbearanceYof his People, to prevent Dif-
orders, when there is neither Oppolition to hinder, nor Lvidence to deter them, Thefe and
- many other Irregularities I impute folely to the Naib, and I think it my Duty to recommend his
inftant Removal. I would myifelf have difmiffed him, had the Controul of this Province come
within the Line of my Powers, and have eftablithed fuch Regulations and Checks as would have
‘been moft likely to prevent the like Irrcgularities. 1 have faid Checks, becaufe unlefs there is
~ fome vifible Influence, and a powerful and able one, impended over the Head of the Manager,
no Syftem can avail.  The next appointed may prove, from fome Defet, as unfic for the Office
as the prefent 3 for the Choice is limited to few, without Experience to guide it, T'he firfk was
of my own Nomination : His Merits and Qualifications fteod in equal Balance with miy Know-
Jedge of thofe who might have been the Candidates for the Office, But he was the Father of
the Rajah, and the Affinity furik the Scale wholly in his Favour ; for who coyld be fo fit to be ¢a-
trofted with the Charge of his Son’s Interelts, and the new Credit of the ridng Family ? He de-
. eeived my Expectations, Another way recommended by the Refident; and, at my Inftance, the
. ‘Board appainted him, This was Juggerdeo Sing, the prefent Naib, 1 knew him not, and the other
‘Members of the Board as little: : - : ‘
-« While Mr." Markham remained in Office, of whom, as his immediate Patron, he may have
ftood in Awe, 1 am told that be reftrained his natural Difpofition, which has been defciibed to me
‘a$ rapaciousy unfeeling, haughty, wid to an Kxtreme vindictive. I cannot avoid remarking, that
excepting the Cisy of Benares itfelf, the Province. depending upon it is in effect without a Go-
vetnmient; the Najb exercifing only a dependarnit Jurifdiction without a Principal. ~ The Rajah is
‘without Authofity, dhd even Kis Name difofed in the Official Infruments iffuéd or taken by the
Magager: - The Repreferitation of bis Sitsation’ fhall be the Subjet of another Lerter: 1 have
“stiache this. alveady too lorig, ‘and fhall Eonfing it to the fingle Subjedt, for the Communication of
bty was begun: This permit me to recapitvlate. The Adminiftration of the Province is
mil¥ntafed, and the People appiefied ; Trade difcouraged, and the Revenue, though faid w be
‘exceeded in the adual Colleftions by many Lacs (for 1 have a minute Account of it, which
Razes the-negs Amount, including Jagheers, at fomething more than Fifty-one Lacs) in Danger 9:
a rapi
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a rapid Decline, from the violent Appropriation of its Means. The Naib or Manager is unfit :
tor s Office s A new Manager is required, and a Syftem of official Cenrroul;in 2 Word, a
Conititution y for neither can the Board extend its fuperintending Powers to a Difkriet o remote -
fiom its Obfervation ; nor has it delegated that Authority to the Refident, who'is merely the Re-:
prefentative of Government, and the Receiver of its Revenue in the lalt Proceis of it; nor:indeed
would it be poffible o render him wholly fo, for Reafons which 1 may hereafrer detail, “If,
eentlemien, you fhall think it proper to entrult me with Powers for this Purpofe, 1 will chear-
fully*tindertake the Reformation of the Country, and will Le anfwerable for its Effelts; but I
envreat that your Refolves may be inftant: for from the Hour that it is known, thar fuch'd De-
fipn i in Comemplation, and it will be known in Ten Days after your Receipt of it, the Autho-
nty of the Manager will fink with his Influence, unlefs it is preferved by fome immediate Pledge
of Confirmation 5 and fuch 1 would advife, if you fhall deem it improper to yield to my Recom.
mendation. | have the Happinets to find all Men fatisfied and happy inthe excellent Admini-
firation of the City of Benares, and have experienced, what few Men of the firft Station have
known in the Intercourfe with the Natives of India, if of any other Country, the Voice of Adu-
lation diverted, even in my own Prefence, from myflf, in the Fagernefs of beftowing a better’
merited Praife on another.  Such is the Tribute which the Wifdom and Integrity of Ally Ibra.
him Cawn have extorted from the Hearts of thofe who have been fubjeéted to his Jurifdition 5 and
I dare truft to the Relule of your own Enquiries, let who will make- the Report of him, for a
Confirmation of mine. ‘ .
I have the Honour to be, &c, &&. &ec. -
(Signed) Warren Haf’cings.“

«« P. S, The above Letter was written immediately after my leaving Benares, but the Inter-
ruptions of travelling occafioned a Delay in tranferibing it until the prefent Day.  This Delay has,
however, given me an Opportunity of afcertaining more fully the Informations I recewcd at Be-
nares, and of confirming the Opinion 1 before entertained.

(Signcd) W.H.] .@

-« Ordered, That the forcgoma Lcttcr do lie tor Conﬂdcratlon until there fhall be a full Meeting'
of the Council.”

'Then the Managers for thc Commons. . defired. John..Stables Bfquire mnght
called. :

Then JOHIN STABLES Efquire was called, and being fworn, was cxammcd as
follows :

Q. Whether you were not in ’the Province of Benaris in the Year 1564, durmg the Pcrmd of
Bulwant Sing’s Zemindary ?
A. T was, in the Year 1764,

Q In the Year 17642
. Yes.

Q. And Bulwant Sing was at that Time Zemindar ?
A Bulwant Sirg was at that Time Zemindar.

. In what €pacity was you in the. Province of Benaris at that Time ?
A. An Officer in the Army.—I had the Honour to be Aid de Camp to thc (_ommandcr in
Chicf, and ated thep as an Officer in the Service.

Q. Whether ‘you Med any Intercourfe w:th Bulwant Sing, and what ' your Opxmon wubf chc
State and Rank of Bulwant Sin{g

Al thmxg;n him a'very conliderable Pnnce ~THe was in Paﬁ‘cmon of a very ﬁnc Coun:ry. and
had a large dy of Troops, - ,

'Q. Whether you ever was in Campany with Bulwant Sing in any Progrcﬁ thmugh the'
Country, or upon any other Otcaﬁon, which’ gave you an Opportanity of abicrvmg the, Aﬁ’ec—"
tions of his Subjedts to him? U

A. 1 had the Honeur once of ridin \g out wu:h him, and 1 hal’ great Pleafure in obfcrvm' %c
Affeftion of his Subjects to hnm; his :lhgcq were full, -and they all came out to‘ mm h:m

Qe "What State ‘did the Ooumry of ‘Benuris ‘feem to be in &t the Time: ‘of
‘f oken with refpest to Cultivation and Fruitfulnef, m r.be Ycar x;-64 ?---It mny be

firft how, long yon ftid st Benaria.ina784 ¢ ) ;
AT cmuoz exally fpeak to the Time we were therc; lauwld fuppofe m ﬁW‘*md Thﬁe 5

Mont Ay
o Qg Ing
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Q. In what Part of the Year?
A. T think in November.  The Battle of Buxar was the a3d of OQober. We marched

afterwards to Benares, and we ftaid from thence it mighe be about Three Months—not quite
Three Months.

CoOH.‘ Durir;g }t]hccTime thP;.it you was there, had you any, and what Opportunity of obferving the
ndition of the Country ?

A. The Country appeared to me in high Cultivation,

Q. What Part of the Country had you an Opportunity of obferving?
A. The Army marched from Buxar to Benaris, and round Benaris.

Q. What is the Length of that March ?
A. I do not recolleét exactly.

Q. I do not mean exadtly ; how many Days march ?
A. T cannot recollect.

Q. That was the Part of the Country you had an Opportumty of oblerving ?
A. Yes,

Q. And you thought it in high Cultivation and rich?
A, It appeared o to me.

. Who was Commander in Chief at that Time, under whom you ferved as Aid de Camp ?
A. At the Time I fpeak of, Major Ileétor Manro, now Sir Hector Munro.

Q. During the Whole of the Time you fpeak of ?
A. Yes, during the whole Time.

. The Witnefs {uid the ’I‘rooils went round Benaris, I with to know whether the Troops, or
thole under the Command of the Englith Officers, were permitted to enter the Town of Benaris ?
A. I believe not: a Chain of Centinels and Guards were fet round it.

Q. Do you mean ftationed round, or marched round?
A. We were encamped at fome little Diftance from the Town of Benares, and fet Guards to
prevent the Troops from getting into the City and committing Irregularities.

Q. Whether there was any Reafon, peculiar to Renares, that made it neceflary to place thofe
Guards upon the Troops to prevent them entering into the Town?

A. Benares is an open defencelefs Town, the Fabitation of People of Religion, and of great
Property, and they were not molefted, and were requelted to remain quiet in their Houfes,

Q. They were not molefted ; but it was enjoined them to remain quict in their Houfes ?
A. They were requefted to remain quiet in their Foules. ‘

Q. By your Commander in Chicf, I fuppole ?
A, Yes,

Q. (By a Lord.) What was the State of the Population of that Part of the Country you
faw ? '

A. The Villages appeared to me full of Inhabitants.

Q. Werc the Villages near to each other, or remote from each other?
A, T thought there were a great many more Inhabitants than in our Provinces whigh adjoined
to it.

Q. Which Provinces do you particularly allude to ?
A. Gauzepore and Buxar.

?Q At what Diftance, upon an Average, and generally fpeaking, are the Villages in that Part
f the Country vou went through ?

~A. They are feattered about here and there, about a Mile, fome perhaps two Miles diftant
from each other.

Oé (Crofs examined.) Whether you had any Opportunity of knowing and being acquainted with
the Conftitution of the Country, except from your cafual Refidence of ‘Three Months ?

A. I was as an Officer of the Army, and had no Opportunity of inquiring into the Particulars
at that Time.

Q. You were with the Army, and had not fo good an Opportunity of enquiring ?
A. Not at that Time. '

- Qv Wiwether you had ever been in the Country before the Period of 1764 which you fpeak to,
or ever have.been there fince the Time that you returned ?
“A2:No, Inever have. :
‘ - 41 Q. How
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Q. How long had you been in the Service of the Company in India when you, went to Benates ?
A- 1 arrived in India the latter End of the Year 1759 ; this I am fpeaking of was in 1764.

. In what Part of India did you arrive at in 1759?
A. Firft at Madrafs, afterwards in Bengal.

v« Q. Can you recollect what Time it was you came to Bengal ? ' o
A. 1 cannot fpeak particularly to the Diftance of Time we arrived. 1 fuppofe it was either in

September or October 1759.

Q. In Bengal ?

A. In Bengal.

. Whether you had any Opportunity of knowing the precife Relation in which Bulwant Sing

then ftood to Sujah ul Dowlah ?

A. No, I had not.

Q. Whether you can take upon yourfelf to fay whether Bulwant Sing was at that Time an
Aumil under Sujah ul Dowlah, or had any independent Rights of his own beyond the Office of

Aumil ?
A. 1 confidered him as a Mun of very great Confequence.  'We had taken every Step the Year

before to bring him over to our Intereft,

. (By a Lord.) We have taken your Anfwer to be, that you underftood him to be a Man
of great Confequence, and that the Englith had taken every Means the Year before to bring him
over to their Intereft ¢

A. Yes,

Q. The Queftion beyond that is, whether you know any Thing of the Manner and Conftitu-
tion of his Office beyond what you obferved, namely, that he appeared to have greac Confe-
quence belonging to him 3 his particular Situation you had no Means of knowing ?

A. His particular Situation 1 had no Mecans of knowing, but I underitand he paid Tribute to
Sujah ul Dowlah; but that he had by fome Meatures rendered himfelf rather Iudependent. A
particular Inftance was, that he refufed to go to the Prefence of Sujah ul Dowlah, as I heard, when
he was particularly called for.

Q. Do you know any Thing yourfelf of. that, Refufal,to, go to the Prefence of Sujah Dowlah ?

A. He was afraid, 1 fhould apprehend, for his own' Safety.

Q. Daes it fall within your Knowledge that he refufed 1o go to the Prefence ?

A. It was a general Report in our Camp, and of the People who brought us Intelligence from
the Enemy. .

. Whether Bulwant %ing was not, at the Time you have been fpeaking of, ferving in the

Army of Sujah ul Dowlah ? -
A. In Ofober 1 believe he wasy but T faid before that we endeavoured to draw him over to

our Interett.  Our Army was forced to retreat, and, of Courfe, he would not afterwards join us,
Q. Do you happen to know how long it was that Bulwant Sing was ferving in the Army of Sujah

ul Dowlah?
A. I don’t recolle&t the precife Time when he joined Sujah ul Dowlah; but for a long Time he

kept aloof while Sujah ul Dowlah was making his Preparations to attack Bengal.
. Was you in the Army with the Englith Forees at the Time that Bulwant Sing ferved in the
Army of Swjah ul Dowlah ? '
A, Yes, I was.

Q. At what Time was that ? : _
A. When Sujah ul Dowlah came down to invade the Provinces of Bengal, Ag came down wiiﬁ

him, as we heard, | | | ‘
. Do you mean that ‘he was in the Service of Sujah ul Dowlah, orthat he was in our Ser-
vice at the Time that Sujah ul Dowlah was defeated ? L o
A. At the Time Sujah ul Dowlah was defeated he was in Sujab ul Dowlah’s Service.
- Q. At what Time was he defeated ? | IC A
A. On- the 23d of Oftober 1764.
Q. When did he join our Arms?
- A. At our Arrival at or near Benares, LT e e
o % At what Time before the 23d of Ofober 1764 was it he was Rrving it 5
0 : | ¥ : TR T '

ot

-

Army of Sujab

wlah? - _ e L
A.*'I don't recolle&t how many Months. He was there for fome Time arofs the Rivery and

would not go to join Sujah ul Dowlah. S
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Q. At what Time was he in the Army of Sujah ul Dowlah?

A. He was in the Army of Sujah ul Dowlah on the 23d of O&ober 1764; and I cannot ex-
altly fay how long before. '
Q. Can you go to any general Average of Time ? :
A, Early in the Year 1764, or the latter End of 1763, when our Army lay at Buxar, we were

in Treaty with Bulwant Sing to join us.

% g‘cﬁwccn thathirl::c a&d the 23d of O&ober, had you any Thing more to fay?
. The Treaty broke off.

Q. Do you recollcét when that Treaty broke off?
p A. It broke off immediately upon our retiring : We were obliged to retreat from Buxar to
atna.

Q. Can you recollett what Time of the Year that Retreat was?

A. T cannot exaltly fay; it was early in the Year 1964, T think.

Q. At that Time you underftand the Treaty hroke off ?

A. We underftood he would not come 1o join us, becaufe he would not join an Army that
was retreating.

Q. (By a Lord.) Whether, when Bulwant Sing was ferving in the Army of Sujah ul Dowlah, he
was employed to command any of the Troops of Suy b ul Dowlan, or to command his own Troops ?

A, We underftood in our Camp, that e raued o large Body of Troops, and had joined Su-
jah ul Dowlah with near 10,000 Cavabry; we tpeak n round Numbers; we cannot exaltly
well.

Q. Whether thefe Cavalry under Bulwant Sing, that joined Sujah ul Dowlah, were Troops in
his own Pay, or whether they were in the Puy or Sujah ul Dowlah ?
A. I believe they were in his own Pay,

Q. Whether, when a Tributary joins the Army of his Prince at the Head of his own Troopss
he does not always command his own Troops, and thofe T'rops only ¢ ‘
A. 1 believe in general that is the Cafe ; but Sujah ul Dowlah uffigned, as we heard, a dit-

ferent Command to Bulwant Sing—a feparate Commund,

Qi' Whether you know of any pecuntary Afliftance afforded by Bulwant Sing to Sujah ul
Dowiah at the Time of the Treaty of Mahabad in Augull 15642

A. 1 left the Army in the Beginning of the Yecar 1764, and confequently could know nothing
of what paffed afterwards.

Q. The Witnefs has fpoken of having been prefent when the Inhabitants of the Villages came
out to meet Bulwant Sing; I with the Witnefs o he atked, Whether the fame Circumftances
would not have taken place, if an Aumil or Colle€or of the Provinae, and particularly an Au-
mil, or any other Perfon of great Authority, had come in the fame Manner.

A. I thought their coming out proceeded from their Affettion to himy it had that Appearance
to me at that Time, :

Q. Bur what the Manner of the Country would have been to any other great Perfon, you do

not undertake to know ? , _ ,
A. They generally come out to any great Man; but I thought their coming out and fpeak-

ing to him as they did, was from Affection.

Q. Befides the Ceremony to other great People, there was a Manner of Affetiort in“the Beha-
viour of the People to hini ?

A. T thought fo at the Tlime.

% Whether Bulwant Sing did or did not command a Part of the Army of Sujah ul Dowlah at
the Bactle of Buwdr?: .

A. I believe he commanded his own Troops ; a Parr of them had croffed over the River to
invade the Provinces to the Eaftward of the Ganges, and Bulwant Sing was to have gone with a
Detachment beyond the Ganges to invade thofe Provinces ; but the Battle of Buxar puc an End
to that Scheme. '

. Then, except the Troops‘ which had croffed over the River, his Troops in general made a
Part of the Army of Sujah ul Jowlah at the Battle of Buxar? ‘
- A. I believe fo.~—What Part they made I cannot fay, but they made a Part of the Troops.

): ‘Do you know whether the Cavalry you mention to have been in the Service of Bulwant Sing
at_the Period you have been fpeaking of, and making Part of the Army of Sujah ul Dowlah, were
all* raifed'in the Province of Benares?

4. Treally do not know where they were raifed,

Q: Do
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. Do you confider yourfelf as having had an Opportunity of bemg well acquainted with the
Province of Benares during the Time you mentioned before, from your Refidence there, and

your March ?
A. [ipoke a litde of the Language at the Time, and the Hircarrahs or Guides were undcr my

Direction,

. Q. Which Language did you fpeak?
** A. Hindoitan.

Q. What were the Hircarrahs ?

A, Guides.

Q. But who did they belong to?

A. They belonged to the Army, and were generally under my Diretion.

Q_ Were they Hindoos, or of what Caft?
A. They were of all Catts.

The Queftion put to you was, Whether you confider yourfelf as well acquainted with the
Province of Benares, from the Circumflance of your Relidence and your March ?
A. I have mentioned the Time I was there, and the Obfervations 1 made during that

Time,
Q. Whether, from your Knowledge of the Cuftoms of India, a Vaffal is not always obliged in

Time of War to be atrendant upon his Sovercign ?
A. T fhould fuppofe that he vught 1o attend him.

(\ What Part of India is it that your Knowledge leads you to fpeak of ?
A. Bengal.

Q. You fay you fuppofe a Tributary attends his fuperiour Lord ; why do you fuppofe fo? for
what Reafon —Upon what Foundation do you go, in faying a Zemindar is obliged to be at-

tendant upon his Sovereign ?
A. I believe the Superior always gives him Orders to attend, and many do attend.

Q. IT:TI ave you any Knowledge upon the Subject at all but what arifes from general Reputation ?
A. Nore.
Q. Whether you looked upon Bulwant Sing.es.a Veflal to . Swjsh ul Dowlah, “and did he

ftand in that Relation to him-dt that T'ime?
A. I never confidered him as a Vafful

. In what Relation did you confider Bulwant Sing to ftand to Swjah ul Dowlah?
A He was originally, I belicve, a Zemindar under Sujah ul Dowlah ; but he had, by every
Means almoft, endeavoureq to render himfelf independent.

0 Burt ¢id he confider himfelf as independent ?
A, Mo; bwt he endesyoured to render himfelf mdcpcruicnt.

Q What do you mean by his holding of Snjah ul Dowlah under the Mogul ?

A, He was tribomary, and paid a Tribute to Sujah ul Dowlah, under whom he held; but
what “T'ribute he pa:d or on what ‘T'erms he held the Zemindary, I am not acquamted
with.

Q. The Witnefs has faid, he thinks a Zemindar is bound to attend hxs Superior in Ttmc of
War does fe think the Confequence of a Zemindar vefuling t attend him would be a For-

feiture of his Tenure ?
A. 1 am unacguainted what would have been the Confequente.

Q. 'l‘)o; you krdw any thing of the Laws or Rules of that Country but from Converfation or,,
Rumour

A. No, I am not acquainted with’ dm

Q. What do you underftand to be the Situation of a Zemmdar?

A. A Pofleflor of & Diftriét under a Sunnud. ~ ‘ .

Q, What Alseration. was made n that, Sinistion a&cmard:, when you I'ay the Rajah bagm to
grow independent?  What were bis fiadeavours to make himfelf independent ?

A.. He raifed a- large Body of ‘Troops, end ticated to join:us while Sujsh ul Dowlah m makmg
Preparations to invade the Provmcea. R canﬁdercd that s a Mark nt hwcndcavoumg 0 obgin
!udependcnce. S : ,

Q. What do you undemand the Menmngbf thc 'Wora Sunnud 10 bc, L ekt 4% yoi tan £x-
plain-it, in Englith?

A. A Grant. L :
Q ‘And. as apphed to 4 Zcmmdary. a Grant of a Diftrict of Land?
RnR Qs

A Yes "7
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lahof At what Period was Bulwant Sing invited or ordered into the Prefence of Sujah ul Dows

A, I believe it might have been early in the Year 1764, or the latter End of the Year 1763,
when our Army retired from Buxar, ?

Q. Whether he at that Period was in the Service of Sujah ul Dowlah ?
A. He was Zemindar of the Diftrict of Benares.

Q. You have defcribed Bulwant Sing as having the Command of a Body of Troops attachéd
to the Army of Sujah Dowlah: Was it at the Time when he was fo commanding, and attached

to the Army of Sujah ul Dowlah, or before that Time, that he was ordercd into the Prefence of
Sujah ul Dowlah ?
A. It was before,

Q. You faid he refufed to go?

A. There was a Story univerfally believed, that Sujah ul Dowlah was obliged to fend his own
Son to him before he would come into his Prefence.

Q. The Whole of this you fpeak from the Relaticn that was current in the Camp at the
Time ?
A. Yes.

. Do you know or believe that Sujah ul Dowlah had any Right to punith Bulwant Sing for
refu mF to come into his Prefence ?
A. I do not know.

Q. You were fpeaking of the Duty of a Vaffal to be attendant on his Superior—\Whether
you know any Inftance of fuch Vafial fo bound commuting his Scrvice for a T'ribute or a Sum of
Money ?

A. 1do not.

The Witnefs was dircted to withdraw,

Then HENRY FOX CALCRAFT Efquire was called in, and being (worn, was
sxamined as follows :

Q. Whether you ferved in the Army under the Cammand of Major Popham at Bidjeygur ?
A. Yes, N

Q. In what Rank did you ferve ?
A. As Colonel Popham’s Aid de Camp.

Q. Was you prefent at the Surrender of the Fort #
A. Yes, 1 was prefent.

Q. Whether the Treafure found in the Fort was divided amongft the Detachment of the Army ?
A. It was,

. By what Authority was it fo divided ? o
A. Under the immediate Order of Colonel Popham; as I underftood.

. What Opportunity had you of knewing by whofe Orders they were divided ?
A. After the Capture of the Fort, the Officers were defired to fend for their Shares.

Q. Who fent them that Order ?
A. The Order was circulated in the ufual Military Form.

Q. You were Aid de Camp at that Time to Major Popham ? Did you circulatt that Order ?
A. I believe it was written by the Brigade Major; 1 do not know whether it went, through me,
but I faw ic.

Q. What is the ufual Militarx Form of circulating Orders ?
A The Order originates in the Brigade Major’s Office ; it is copied from thence by the feveral
Seijeants, and circulated through the Camp to the Gentlemen of the Detachment.

Q. Whether you know under what Authority Colonel Popham iffued any Orders upon that
Head ? : '

A. On the Day of the Surrender, Colonel Popham fhewed me a Letter from Mr. Haftings, which
he deemed an Order, or I believe he would not have permitted it to be done.

‘Ob;a&ed by the Counfel, that the Witnefs ought not to give Evidence of a Paper
in the Poffeflion of Major Popham ; if the Paper exifts, the Managers for the Com-
mans ought to have given Major Popham Notice to attend, and produce it.

The Managers for the Commons anfwered, that the Queftion did not go to the
Contents of the Paper.

4 K Q. The
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0. The Quettion is, whether the Divifion was by the Order of Major Popham ?
A. The Divifion was under the Order of Major Popham,

The Counfel objcted, that the Letter faid to have pafled between Mr. Haftings and
Major Popham ought to be produced and thewn to the Witnefs.

Notice was taken by the Houfe, that the Witne(s had ftated that the Governor Ge-
neral wrotce a certain Letter to Major Popham, and that an Order for the Divifion of
“ihe Prizc Money was given by Major Popham ; and the Managers for the Commons
were atked, whether they could carry that Point further ?

The Managers for the Commons anfwered, “ They could not.”

Q. Whether you were fent by Colonel Popham with the News of the Surrender of the Fort of

Bidjeygur to Mr, Haftings, the Governor General ?
A. Yes.

%_ IWh:I:thcr you acquainted Mr. Haflings with the Divifion of the Plunder ?
. Idid.

Q. Did Mr. Haftings exprefs at that Time any Diffatisfation at that Divifion?
A. Very great Diffatstaétion,

. Perhaps it may be better to afk, at what Time it was after the Plunder.had been divided
that the Witnefls acquainted Mr. Vaitings with it ?
A. Lthink I went the fame Day the Money was divided, and arrived the next Morning at
Chunar.

. How long was it between the Divifion of the Money and the Capture of the Fort ?
A. To the beft of my Remembrance the Money was divided the fucceeding Day after the Fort
was taken.

Q. Do you recollet the Day of the Month upon which the Fort was taken ?
A. 1 think it was either the gth or 1oth of November. I don’t fpeak pofitively as to that.

Q. Upon the Day after the Capture of the Fort, the Money was divided; and upon that Day
or the next you went and acquainted Mr. Hattings with it, and a¢ which Iufurmtion you fay he
exprefied great Diflatisfaction ¢ -

A. Yes.

Q. What Converfation pafled between you and Mr. Haftings at the Time you acquainted him
with this Tranfaction, and at which he exprefled his Diffatisfaction ?

A. A lirtle while after 1 was introduced to Mr. Haftings, 1 begged his Acceptance of a Sword,
in the Namc of the Gentlemen of the Detachment, as a T'eftimony of their Refpe@ and Efteem
for him. M. Haftings faid,  As fuch I accept it.” He then afked me whether it was true
that the Money had been divided ; as a Rumour of that Sort had preceded my Arrival? I an-
fwered, It was true: At which Mr, Haftings expreffed the moft vehement Difapprobation,
After fome Converfation refpetting it, which, from the Diftance of Time, I cannot detail fo circum-
ftantially as I could with, 1 retired. About a Quarter of an Hour afterwards Mr. Haftings fent
for me, and afked what could have impelled Major Popham, when he was at fo fhort a Diiftance,
to fuffer this Divifion of the Money, at a Time when the Company ftood fo much in Want of it
1 anfwered, that 1 had feen a Letter which, according to my Conception and Conftru&ion of it,
did authorize phe Participation of the Plunder. Mr. Haftings faid, that he had been referred to
in every confequential Operation of the War, and it was very odd that a Bufinefs of this Magni-
tude thould have been concluded without his Concurrence; ahd that the Letter I alluded to was no
Authority : He then faid the Officers muit refund. I believe 1 thould have ftated, that, with the
Sword, 1 gave a Letter from the Gentlemen of the Detachment, profeffing what, I mentioned be-
fore. He faid they muft refund. 1 faid 1 believed it would be impoflible, for‘the Money was
already too generally diffufed. Mr. Haftings faid, if the Gentlemen would refund, he would ufe
his Influence with Mr, Wheler and Mr. M‘Pherfon to. give their Sanétion for a Divilion after~ .
wards; but the Company wanted it now, and they muft have it.—I mean to fay, that at this Dif- -
tance of Time it is impofiible I fhould recollect very circumftantially ; it is near Eight or Nine
Years ago. What 1 now fay are the' Heads of the Converfation, as it recors to my Memory,

Q. Was that all the Converfation ?
A, No. : o

The Witnefs faid he was enﬁ%ivdﬁring to recollect further Heads, and then pro-
ceeded as follows ; ‘ o o - ST TR
A, T then rold Mr. Haftings, that one Mutive for the Precipitancy was il
the Rohjila Gratuicy, or Prize Mancy, Kot yet paid. T hat Moncy, Mt |
‘Troops had 0o Right to; and fnally fent me back with & Letser, the Cantels of whick Lam not

5 - scquainsed

Haltings fid, the

g
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acquainted with; but it occafioned an Order from Major Popham to the Gentlemen to tefund §
which, however, none of them did.

Q. Whether any Prefent was fent from the Detachment to any Perfony and what it was ?

A. I thould have mentioned, there were a few Articles of ornamental Plate which they defired
Mrs. Haftings’s Acceptance of. I mentioned this Circumftance to Me. Haftings ; but 1 do not
believe the ever faw them; they were left there. 1 do not exattly recolle@ what Mr. Hattings:-
faid, but think it was, He would fettle that. There is one Circumflan.e more I fhould have
mentioned, which is, that Mr, Haftings, before I went away, faid, his Acceprance of the
Sword was conditional upon the Gentlemen retunding ; and it they would not refund, then he
would not accept it, or the other Prefents.  When I went away with the Letter, the Sword and
the other Things were left in the Cultody of Mr, Markham ; what became of them afterwards I
do not know.

Q. You faid Mrs. Haftings never faw them.
A. No.

Q. What Converfation had you with the Governer General upon the Subjet of the Tetter
authorizing the Plunder ?

A. Mr. Haflings denied it was any Authority 5 and, as I recolle&, made fome Diflin@ion be-
tween a private and a public Letter; he faid it was a private Letwer; and I faid it could not be a
private Letter, becaule it contained public Matter,

Q. What Converfation pafled upon that ?
LA, The Converfation is not fuffi.iently imprefled upon my Mind to recolle@ any more of it

Q. (Crofs-examined) The Witnels having faid, that the Acceptance of the Sword was condi-
tional, I with to afk, did Mr, llaftings retain the Sword?
A. Certainly not.

Q. Do you know whether Mrs. Haltings ever was in Pofleffion of the Plate ?
A. 1 am fure the was not.

Q. Having flated that you were prefent at the Surrender of the Fort of Bidieygut—do you
know whether any Plunder was committed upon the Perfon of the Rannce herfelt ?
A. None to my Knowledge. 1 do not fay that nonc was, but I do not know of ay.

. Do you knaw ar what Time of Night sha Eoaee wvan evacuated ?
A. It was at the Clofe of the Day ; 1 do not exactly recollect.

Q. What Hour ? o ‘
A. I cannot name the Hour; fome Time in the Evening.

. Whether the Plunder that was committed upon the Perfons who, attended the Rannee was
committed by the Soldiers of the Army, or the Followers ?
A. Every Atempt was made to difcover who it was done by, bur it never could be -
difcovered : I never heard any Perfon was punifhed for it ; though Major Popham did his utmoft
to difcover it.

Q. Whether any Officers were called upon to refund, or did afterwards refund the Money ?
A. They were called upon, and did not refund.

Q. Whether at the Time the Rannee left the Fort every poffible Mark of Refpe& and Attention
was not fhewn to her ?

A. I do not recolle& any particular Circumftance of Refpet or Attention; but they had Palan-
quins and Cooleys, and every Thing of that Kind for their Accommodation,

’
Qa._ (By a Lord) The Witnefs faid, the Rannce herfelf was not plundered; 1 with him te be
afked, whether any Efcort was given to the Ladies when they left the Fort ? .

A. 1 fhould fuppede there was, but 1 do not know whether there was or not, but I think there
muft have been. , ‘

Q. Whether before the Surrender of the Fort it was not generally underftood by the Officers
of the Army that the Plunder of the Fort was to be divided amongft them ?

A. I can only fay what I thought of it myfelf; I thought if there was a large Sum of Money
Mr. Haltings would take it for the Company, if a fmall one it would be divided.

Q. Do you know the Amount of the whole S8um that was divided amongft the Army ?
A, The Rannee had Fifteen per Cent. upon it, and I believe Twenty-four or Twenty-five Lacks
were divided.

Q. You have faid, that if it were a great Sum of Moncy you thought the Company would
have &, if a finall one you thought it would be divided : Whether you do not conceive Twenty-four
or Tan;y,ﬁvé"Lacks of Rupees come within the Defcription of a large Sum of Money ?

A. Doubtlefs it is a large Sum.

Q. De
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Qi'x Do you know whether the Money was. equally divided amongft the Officers and Soldiers, of
in what Shares ? :

A. It was fettled by a Committee of Officers—a Seapoy got 100 Rupees; it was thought to be
a very fair and equal Divifion,

Q. Whether it was by Order of Major Popham that the Ladies lest the Fort at fo late an
Hour; was it their own Aél, or the Order of your Commander ? Do you know any Thing of it ?
A. T do not.

Q. Can you ftate what was the Value of the Sword in Queftion ? ‘
A. I have no Idea of it; it was fet with very bad Jewels’; it was of no very great Value.

Q. Whether you had any Converfation with Major Popham upon the Remarks Mr. Haftings
made on the Divifion of the Plunder ?

A. 1detailed the Converfation to Major Popham very circumftantially, but I do not recolle®t
any particular Converfation between him and me upon it. I thought Mr. Haftings’s Rejection of
the Right did not agree with the Purport of that Letter, and Major Popham and I thought we
had a Right to keep ir.

Q. Whether the Receipt of that Letter was generally known in the Army ?
A. Icannot tell.

Q. You faid it was your Opinion if the Sum found in the Fort was a fmall one, thc Governot
General would give it up to be divided; if it was a large one, he would fecure it for the Ad-
vantage of the Company : At what Time did you form that Opinion ?

A. 1 cannot fay when I formed the Opinion, but it was exaétly what I would have done myfelf,
and that is the Reafon why 1 entertained that Opinion.

Q. Do you recollett whether you formed that Opinion before or after your hearing of that
Letter ?
A. 1 confidered the Letter as a palpable Admiffion of the Right.

Q. After you had feen the Letter, did you then retain that Opinion ? )
fA}; I ]{bi?k I have anfwered the Queftion by faying, I confidered the Letter as an Admiffion
O the Kight.'

Q. The Quettion put to you is, after you had fecn that Letter avhich you fuppofe to be an
Admiffion of the Right, Did you continne. 1a. entestain.an Qninion shar.» Liffererice viould be
made between a large and a fmal"Siim ?

A. Mott certainly not.

Q. Whether Mr. Haftings faid any Th'm% to you about the Right that any other Officers or
Soldiers befides thofe prefent at the taking of the Fort had to a Divifion of the Plunder ?

A. Yesy 1 now recollet that Mr. Haftings faid the Divifion was a Scramble rather than
a Divifion, and if there was any Divifion Colonel Blair and Major White ought to have been
included.

Q. 'Who were they ? What Part of the Army did they command ?
A. Colonel Blair commanded at Chunar, and Major White (who commanded a Regiment at
Chunar), had waved his Right to Major Popham,

Q. How far is Chunar from Bidjeygur ?
A. 1 believe about 40 or 50 Miles.

Q. (By the Managers) The Witnefs faid firft, he did not know what the Value of the Sabre
was, and, afterwards chat it was not confiderable ; I with to know whether he has any Knowledge
of the Value of the Jewels?

A. :Tgat Sabre was ornamented with 3 particular Sort of Jewels called L.atks, an inferior Sort of
Diamonds.

Q. Do you know the Difference between Lafks and proper Diamonds ?
A. A Lafk is a very thin cutting of a Diamond, and thofe are of little or no Valuc,‘

Q. When you laft Chunar, in whofe Pofleffion did you leave the Sabre and the Plate ?
A. I was afked in whofe Pofleffion I left the Sword and other Things; the Anfwer is, I left
them with Mr, Markham, : S

% lgid you ever fee them afterwards, or hear any Thing of them? ,
. No. . _ b
Q. Then how can you take upon yourfelf to fay pofitively that they never came int the Pofficf-
fion of Mr, or Mrs. Haftings ? ‘ o B LA
“A, Becaufe they were carried out of the Room by me, and 1. gave them into Mr, Mark-
‘ham{s Hands; I fpeak only to my Belicf of the Subjed, that Mrs; Haftings oever faw the Riate,
Q. Who was Mr. Markham ? ' :
A. Refident at Benares,

Q. At
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Q. At that Time?
A, Yes.

Q. Did Major Popham exprefs any Surprize at Mr. Haftings’s Difapprobation of the Divifion
of the Plunder?

A. 1 do not recollect what paffed between Major Popham and me upon it.
The Witnefs was directed to withdraw.

Then JOHN BENN Efq; was called in, and being fworn, was examined as follows :

Q. In what Situation was you at Benares?
A. Inthe Year 1783 and 1783, I was Alliftant to the Refident at Benares.

Q. When was you appointed Afiiftant to the Refident ag Benares ?
A. In January 1781.

Q. Did you go to refide there then?
A. No; not till fome Time after.

Q. When did you go to refide at Benares ?
A. In the Month of April 1782 : In March or April.

Q. I fhould wifh the Witne(s to be afked, Whether he had any Opportunity of examining into,
or knowing what Rent or Revenue the Country of Benares was able to pay ?

A. I refided there for fome Time, and made fuch Linquiries as I thought would afcertain it.

Q. Did thofe Enquiries, or did they not, furnith you with an Opportunity of knowing that Fa& ?

A. Not as a Certainty, but as a Matter of Opinion.

Q. What was the Refult of your Opinion from the Enquiry you made?
A. I thought that the Country would not continue to yield Forty Lacks of Rupees.

Q. Whether he has any Means of knowing what the Country did yield in the Time of Bulwant
Sing ?
A. No certain Documents.

Here the Queftion and Aniwer were, by Lienire of the Managers for the Commons,
read over to the Witnefs by the Clerk.

Then the Witnefs was afked,

Q. Have you any other Means of knowing befides certain Documents ?
A. I have enquired of fome of the Servants of the Rajah, employed in his Offices.

The Counfel for the Defendant objeted, That this was not Evidence to afcertain
the precife Sum. )

The Managers for the Commons ftated, That there was an Account before the
Houfe, by which it appeared there was an Allowance to Rajah Mehipnarrain of Six
Lacks of Rupees, and defired the Witnefs might be afked,

. Whether that Allowance was annually received by Mehipnarrain ?
A. I believe it was not.

Q. Do you know the Reafon why it was not received ?
A. I underftood the Rajah claimed it from the Naib, and it appeared the Country would not
yield it '

Q. Whac Manner of Underftanding had you of it? How did you underftand it ?

A. From the Naib himfelf; he told me fo,

Q. Who was the Naib?

A. Doorgbijey Sing, and Jagger Deo Sing,

“The Counfel for the Defendant objefted, What Jagger Deo Sing and the other
Naib faid was no Evidence. '

Q. Do you know at what Time Doorgbijey Sing was put into Confinement ?
A.>The Tatter End of Odtober or November 1782.
Q. How Io:? did he continue in Confinement ?
A. Till April following, 1783.
Q. § would with to know whether he was ever again put into Confincment after that Aprif?
Was he difcharged it April ?

A. He was.e

4 L Q. Do
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Q. Do you know of his being put in Confinement after that ?
A. He was.

. When was it ?
A. About the March following, 1784.

Q. Do you know of the Fa of his being confined ?
A, T do.

. How long did he continue in that Second Confinement ?
A. I believe till March 1785.

Q. Was he then releafed fromn his Confinement ?
A. He dicd, 1 believe, in Confinement, in that Month,

(\ Do you know any Thing of his Confincment; where was he confined ?
. He was confined at Benares.

(\ Do you know of his having died in that Confinemnent ?
. Yes,
Whether any Complaints were ever made to you, in your Situation as Affiltant Refident, that
the l(a).uh did not reccive the Stipend allotied to him of Six Lacks of Rupees ?
A. None~—no Complaints.

Q. Do you know of any fuch Complaints being made to any other Perfon, and to whom ?

A. No.

Q. 1fhould wifh that he was defired to recollect himfclf, and anfwer the Queftion, Whether
he does not know that Rajah Mchipnarrain made Complamts, that his Allowance was not paid to
him, to the Officers of the Britith Government, and to whom ?

A. @do not recolled that he made any Complaints to any of the Officers of the Britith Govern-
ment at Benares.

Q. Do you know that the Naib Doorgbijey Sing complained he could not collet the Revenues
of ;th l(ﬁ;;mntry, to any of the Officers of the Britifh Government ? ”
. 1.do not,

The Counfel ob)c&ed to this as no Evidence, unlefs the Complamts were aftcrwards
reprefented to Mr. Haftings.

Q. Do you know whether Doorgbijey Sing made any Complaint to any of the Oﬁiccra of the
Britith Government that Be could not colle¢t the Revenue ?
A. 1 do not recolleét he did. '

The Managers for the Commcm faid, They were extreme\y forry to put the Queftion
again to the Witnefs, to defire he would inform the Houfe,

Qd Whether Doorgbijey Sing complained to any Officers of the Britith Government that he
could not colle& the Revenue ? .
A. ldo not reculleét he did,

Dld he ever complain to any of the Officers of the Bricfh Governmcnt, and to whom, that
he could not colleét the Sum of Six Lacks, which was allowcd to the Rajah ?
A. I nevertheird that Doorgbijey Sing did make that Complaint,

QhDo you gr de you not know. whether the whole Sum of Six Lacks annuully was paud to
Ra) Mehipnatrain ? ‘ A
. 1 belicve it was not. ‘

Q_ Do you know any Thmg of it—was it Part of your Buﬁnefs to know \vhx:ther it was or

was not paid,?
A. No, it was not, -

Q. (Crafs examined) Whether you' had any Opportumty of rcemg Doorgb ch Smg dnring the
Time he was in Confincent 2
A. 1 never did fee him during the Time he was in Confinement.

Q Do you: know: whﬂe he was. Mcﬂ, and how he was tmtcdi‘ Do

‘He was confined in 8 Houfe s Benares belonging 1o this Rajab, fitwared i 8 Garden, ghich,

1 behcvc, mnght be about Six Acresof Ground ; the Houfe was in the Centre, s6d furrounded by a
high ' Wall. "He had Permifion to walk sbout that Garden, and ahc Gmrd placed to fecure him

was on the Outfide .of the Wall of the Garden. : _

1t hiving beeh fuggetted, this Confiement was' fheﬁau&& ﬂm Death of Doorgbmy S‘mg.‘
I *%uld with- d%e Witnets to fay whist he knows was the Caute.of Doarbedy Sifles Death 2
-A. { believe Difealc was the Caufc of his Death, ‘

QDo
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Q. Do you know any Thing of his Death, or what occafioned it?
A. He had been longill, and died of that Illnefs.

Q. Whether the Subjet of the Demand, relative to the Arrears of Rent, was not fubmitted to
Arbitration, on the Part of the Company, to Ally Ibrahim Cawn, and whether Doorgbijey Sing did
not fubmit to that Arbitration ? ,

A. It was fubmitted to Arbitration,

. By whofe Confent ?
% By mutual Confent.

Q. Of whom?

A. Of Doorgbijey Sing and Jagger Deo Sing:
Q. To whom?

A. Ally Ibrahim Cawn.

Q. Whether Ally Ibrahim Cawn awarded any Thing, and what to be due to the Company ?
A. I do not know the ¢Xa& Sum, but think he awarded to the Company about 1,50,000 Rupees.

Q. Was the Award made in Writing ?
A, Tt was.

Q. What was the Character of Ally Ibrahim Cawn, and in what Efteem was he with the Natives ?
A. In very high Eftimation.

Q. Whether it was ufual to have a Mahometan in the Situation of Chief or Supreme Magiftrate
before this Time ? §

A. In 1781 he was Chief Judge of Criminal and Civil Matters; I Believe before the Country
was ceded to the Eaft India Company, and while it was under the Vizier, Juftice was adminiftered
by 2 Mahometan. When it %was given up to the Britih Government, it was adminiftered by a
Hindoo, put in by the Rajah ?.

Q. Whether, in all the Time you was at Benares, you ever heard a fingle Complaint made
againft Ally Ibrahim Cawn? -

A. 1 never heard One. .

¢ In whas Siesarinn, in point of Cultivation and Population, was Benares when you faw it laft

anglwhat Part of the I)iltrliél:potl Bcnarc: hg'a o ; P . Y ’

A. 1 have feen nearly the whole Diftriét, -

Q. When did you fee it laft?
A. I left Benares in the Year-5786; I believe in February in that Year.

Q. What was the ConciitiﬁﬁJof Benares when you faw it latt, in point of Cultivation and Population?
A. It was both well-cultivated and peopled, the Parts 1 faw.

Q. Did youffee Benares in 1783, and in what Condition of Population or Cultivation was it then ?

A. In 1% 3 I travelled from Benares to Buxar, on One Side of ‘the River, and we travelled

the fame-Bhiftance upon the other Side of the River. I alfo travelled through the Diftri&t of

~A5€ia7es to Chaundpore, which was rather a circuitous Way over that Diftni@, and I found it
both populous and well cultivated. '

Q. Do you know any Thing of it in the Years 1784 and 1785? ‘
A. I refided in the Province of Benares in the Years 1784 and 17853 and the Defcription that
I have given appears to be as applicable to thofe Years as the others. .

Then the Managers for the Commons defired Permiffion to put a few Queftions to
the Witnéfa which they had omit;cd ; and firft, D

Q. Under whofe Direction the Mint at Benares was, during the Time of his Refidencc there ?

A. Under the Diretion of the Refident, ,

Q. How were the Profits arifing from the Mint applied ; do you kriow ?

A. As a Perquilite of the Refident's Office, ’

Q. Do you know whether there was any Mohopo]y of Salt Petre 5 in the Province of Benares
while you were there ? 2 ,

~ Thig Counfel for the Defendant fubmitted, That before this Queftion was anfwered, the
Manageys for the Commons fhoyld point out whether it had any Reference to the Charge.
*The Managers for the Commons were afked, To what Point of the Charge the

Q;};&im applied ? . - .
*Tliey made Anfwer, That it was ftated in the Charge, that Mr. Haflings arbi-
trarily'gicpg d Rajah Cheyt Sing, and gave the Government to Rajah Mchipn_arrair;.
3 : t
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It was further ftated, That the Mint belonged to him, and that the Queftion was
put with a View to fhew how Mr. Haftings fettled the Government after he placed
Mehipnarrain there. ‘

“The Counfel for the Defendant replied, That the Charge ftates the Inftances in
.which he did tyrannically fettle the Government *: That he did of his own mere Au-
thority raife the Tribute to 400,000l and that he wantonly and illegally impofed
certain oppreflive Duties upon Goods and Merchandize, to the great Injury of Trade
and Ruin of the Province; and did further difpofe of as his own the Propert
within the faid Provinces, by granting the fame, or Parts thercof, in Penfions to fuc
Perfons as he thought fit: And therefore fubmitted that the Managers for the Com-
mous ought to bring the Queftion within thefe Specifications.

The Managers for the Commons maintained, That to prove the Defendant guilty
of great Mifdemeanours in having depofed Cheyt Sing and fetting up Rajah Mehip-
narrain, it was neceflary to fhew how and upon what Terms he had fo done; and
therefore, among(t other Things, they fhould fhew that he gave the Monopoly of
Trade to Perfons belonging to himfelf.

The Managers for the Commons were afked, Whether they prefled that particular
Queftion ? To which they anfwered, That they did not mean to give up their Right
to put the Queftion ; bur fhould not at that late Hour trouble the Houfe-to go to the

Chamber of Parliament,

The Managers for the Commons then propofed to put this Queftion to the Wit-
nefs, viz. Whether he was examined before t}lfne Committee of the Houfe of Commons ?
The Counfel for the Defendant ftated, that this was a new Queftion, and that the
Managers for the Commons had np Right to put it, unlefs it arofe out of Matter in
the Crofs-examination,
The Ceunfel, being atked, If they had any Objection to the Queftion now propofed
being put ¢ Made anfwer, ‘That they had not, except that it was a new Examination.

Then the Queftion was put.

Q. Have you ever been exdbiifed Betore the Commitsce of the Houfe of Commons ? -

A. 1 have. e | |

‘Q, Whetker you did not before that Committee anfwer the following Queftion in the follow-

ing Manner ; * Who was to pgy Mehipnarrain the Allowances ftipylated for him by the Governor
General? - Anfwer. Doorgbljey Sing.” : '

.The. Counfel were atked, If t.he& .ohje&cd to that Qx;&ion being pu” )
‘The Counfel anfwered, That they muft object to that Quettion, it béipg perfettly

‘new in Judicature for a Party to undertake to impeach his own Witnefs ;\and were
heard in Support of. the faid Objection.

The Managers for the Commons were heard in Anfwer to the fame, and, in the Courfe™
of their -Argument, acquainted the Houfe, that the Queftion and Anfwer which they -
“had px‘or‘bfcd.«&m ‘Witnefs to fpeak to, were only introdudtery to a further Queftion
put to the Witpefs, and his Anfwer thereto, before the Committee of the Houfe of
‘Commons, which they meant to infift upon, and tated the fame as follows:

' Q. Did he not alledge he never received what was allowed him? | o

A. He fays he hiad not received the Sum that was to be allowed him, ‘He did not recéive his
Monvy Allowance, -becaufe the Receipts of the Country could not afford it; they being eftimated
at.a Standard of*g9 Lacks, whereas they cannot produce above 44 or 45 Lacks, nor that, unlefs -
good Care is taken of the Qountry. The State of the Country depends on its being well nurfeds
The Country has been made by Care, and.withoot'shut ‘Care would foon fall of, It never
yielded in Bulwans Sing or Cheit Sing’s Time above 43 Tiatke.” B

| | Tl‘mﬁ the Houfe adiourned to the“Ohamber of 'ff?h‘ngli#n-xcnt'.






